G60/148

MONASH UNIVERSITY

THESIS ACCEPTED IN SATISFACTION OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

on...... 2 November 2004......

Sec. Research Graduate School Committee

Under the Copyright Act 1968, this thesis must be used only under the normal conditions of scholarly fair dealing for the purposes of research, criticism or review. In particular no results or conclusions should be extracted from it, nor should it be copied or closely paraphrased in whole or in part without the written consent of the author. Proper written acknowledgement should be made for any assistance obtained from this thesis.

ERRATA

- p. 9: delete first two lines (repeated from previous page)

- p. 16 1st para, line 9: remove comma after Siebert
 p. 54 1st para, line 1: should read "In 1966.."
 p. 59 1st para, line 1: "May", change upper case to lower case
 p. 62 1st para, line 1: change "is" to "are"
 p. 62 1st para, line 2: change "impacts" to "impact"

- p. 78 1st para, line 8: insert end parenthesis after 1995:37-8
- p. 78 1st para, line 10: delete parenthesis after immersion
- p. 106 2ndpara, line 1: replace "is" with "was"
- p. 121 2ndpara, line 8: replace "that" with "for"
- p. 122 1st para, line 2: add comma (,) after Monamona
- p. 122 1st para, line 4: the words "in English" should be shifted to follow magazine
- p. 122 1st para, line 7: change comma (,) after Good News to a semi colon (;)

ADDENDUM

- p. 54 2nd para, last sentence: "church" should read, Adventist Church
 p. 111 2nd para, line 1: insert "the" before *Review* p. 119 3rd para, line 10: should read "Malay, Fijian, Tahitian, Cook Island and Maori languages (Hook, 1998:74).
- p. 119 3rd para, line 11: delete "Hook could have added Maori to his list" p. 121 2nd para, line 7: insert "it was" before case p. 121 3rd para, line 2: insert "Church" after Adventist p. 124 2nd para, line 1: add comma (,) after affirming

- p. 326 2nd reference: add 1995 after "Brannen, Julia,"

Publish or Perish: A Study of the Role of Print in the Adventist Community

Submitted by

Bruce Manners (BA, Grad Dip)

A thesis submitted in total fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy

School of Humanities Communications and Social Sciences Faculty of Arts

Monash University Gippsland Campus

June 2004

Contents

Abstract	1
Statement of authorship	x
Acknowledgments	xi
Chapter 1: Introduction	!
Print in organisations	2
Print in the Adventist community	4
Theoretical context	4
Questions that undergird the study	•
Motivation for the study	7
Structure of the study	8
SECTION ONE: RESEARCH CONTEXT	10
Chapter 2: Factors Influencing Print Media	11
Influences impacting on print media	12
Power of print-media ownership	12
Pressure from those with authority	15
Impact of advertising	20
Role of the audience	24
Effect of societal values	27
The five influences in summary	30
Print in nonprofit organisations	30
Print and the act of reading	37
Summary	40

Chapter 3: Print Media, Communication and Community	44
Understanding community	45
Church-sect typology and the Adventist Church	51
The sect type	57
Time and place	58
Summary	61
Chapter 4: Research Methodology	64
Overview	64
Qualitative and quantitative research	66
Interviews	70
Focus groups	77
Surveys	84
Content analysis	85
Insider versus outsider	87
Advantages as insider	88
Limitations of being an insider	90
Summary	93
SECTION TWO: THE ADVENTIST CHURCH AND PRINT MEDIA	97
Chapter 5: A Print-Driven Church	98
The emergence of Seventh-day Adventism	99
Key doctrinal developments	101
Developing an organisational structure	104
The place of publishing	107
Adventist print media enters the South Pacific	113
An illustration of Adventist use of print	120
The influence of Ellen White on Adventist print	122
Summary	126

Chapter 6: The Role of Adventist Print During Crises and Change	130
The challenge of the Second World War	130
Support for the war effort and noncombatancy	131
Heading toward Armageddon	133
Noncombatancy and Sabbath-keeping	134
The personal impact of the war	135
Reassuring the membership	136
Restoration, religious liberty and the Vatican	138
The end of the war	139
Print and the second world war	140
A revolution called the sixties	143
Signs of the Times	147
Record	148
Alert	151
Good Health	151
Telos	152
Reacting to a revolution	153
The downfalls of Ford and Folkenberg	155
The dismissal of Desmond Ford	155
A General Conference president resigns	161
Comparisons from the Ford and Folkenberg situations	163
Summary	165
SECTION THREE: A CASE STUDY OF ADVENTIST PRINT	169
Chapter 7: Maintaining Community Through Print	170
Print and community building	170
Boundary maintenance and print	172
Print as a tool for linking people	177
Group definition and print	180
The role of print for non-attenders	181
Print within a spiritual community	185
Summary	188

Chapter 8: Making Connections Through Print	
Connecting through the text	192
Searching for news connections	194
A forum for issues and opinions	197
Group solidarity	202
Print and ritual	204
Print and community	210
Print as icon	211
Summary	214
Chapter 9: A Diverse Readership	218
Diversity in organisation	219
Church administrators and members: perceptions about Record	220
Finding "ownership" of Record	220
Perceived roles of Record	222
Identifying differences among Record readers	225
Conservatives and liberals	226
Conservatives and liberals, and disagreements	232
Areas of disagreement	233
The conservative-liberal continuum in relation to Record	239
Limitations of Record	239
Summary	244
Chapter 10: Continuity and Change	247
Transition as seen through social research	248
Reader surveys of Record	254
Strategic role of the editor	256
Three Record editors	257
Editors as agents of change	262
Keepers of the traditions	264
Summary	269

SECTION FOUR: CONCLUSION	272
Chapter 11: The Role of Print in a Changing Adventist Community	273
Research process	274
Print and organisation structure	275
Continuity and change	276
Ownership and control of print	278
Voice for members	279
Promoting core values and beliefs	281
Strategic role of the editor	283
Manifest and latent functions of print	284
Nurturing community	285
Implications for Record	286
Implications for the Adventist Church	287
Print as a promoter of community	288
Limitations of the study	289
Appendix A	291
Record Survey	
Appendix B	296
Demonstrations of Spirituality	
Appendix C	300
Tables Measuring Differences on a Conservative-Liberal Continuum	
Appendix D	304
A Study of Record Surveys	
Appendix E	316
Planning for Change in Record	

在我们的时候,我们就是我们的时候,我们就是我们的一个人的,我们就是我们的一个人的,我们就是我们的一个人的,我们们也是我们的一个人的,我们们也是我们的一个人的,我们

Appendix F	318
James Coffin Responds to Reader Concerns	010
Bibliography	321

Tables

List of ta	bles in the body of the text	
Table 4.1	Numbers interviewed by area	71
Table 4.2	Age comparisons (in percentages) between the general population, Adventist population, those interviewed and those involved in focus groups	3 74
Table 4.3	Number of focus groups conducted by area	79
Table 4.4	Response rate of surveys from pastors, focus groups and those interviewed	84
Table 6:1	Signs of the Times (1961-1975) in relation to issues of the sixties	148
Table 6:2	Record (1961-1975) in relation to issues of the sixties	149
Table 6:3	Alert (1961-1975) in relation to issues of the sixties	151
Table 6:4	Good Health (1961-1975) in relation to issues of the sixties	152
Table 7.1	Record as it builds a sense of "family"	172
Table 7.2	The spiritual role of Record	187
Table 8.1	What readers habitually look for in Record	193
Table 8.2	The Record as a forum for discussion and opinions	201
Table 8.3	Perceived role of the Record in promoting Adventist beliefs	204
Table 9.1	Record and perceptions of upholding fundamental beliefs	236
Table 9.2	Record and perceptions about the promotion of Adventist lifestyle	237
Table 9.3	Record and perceptions about the orthodoxy of letter writers	238
Table 9.4	Perceived ownership of Record	238
Table 10.1	Comparison of sectarian tendencies in Record (1970-75, 1990 and 2002)	253
List of tab	oles found in appendix C	300
Table 9.1	Formal involvement in church	300

Table 9.2	Amount of involvement in church	300
Table 9.3	Attachment to church	301
Table 9.4	Feelings about being an Adventist	301
Table 9.5	Record and unity of faith	301
Table 9.6	Record and discussion of issues	302
Table 9.7	Record as a forum for discussion	302
Table 9.8	Record and enthusiasm for Adventism	302
Table 9.9	Record and expression of opinions	303
List of tab	les found in Appendix D	
Table D.1	Age comparisons in Record surveys from 1983 to 2004	308
Table D.2	Gender comparisons in Record surveys from 1983 to 2004	309
Table D.3	Comparison of contributions to spiritual and Christian life	311
Table D.4	Articles in Record are generally perceived as relevant to present needs	313
Table D.5	Record perceived to report church news accurately	314

Abstract

Despite the proliferation of various forms of media, print remains a popular choice for communication among voluntary, nonprofit organisations. The Seventh-day Adventist Church, with its print-rich heritage and a continuing print emphasis, proves ideal for a study of print in these kinds of organisations. Because of its emphasis on voluntary organisations, this study of print differs from most, which tend to investigate print within commercial mass media.

大多人的 我不是我是我不到了一人人也是我们

This study of the Adventist Church underscores the various ways print comes to embody the life and character of the organisation producing it. It shows that the major influences brought to bear upon print come from those who have been given authority within the church. During times of crisis or change, Adventist print tends to emphasise traditional beliefs and positions, with the strength of the response dependent on the perceived threat to the church. Print is found to aid in the development of a sense of community within a group, but this is dependent both on the print maintaining the core values of the group and the attitudes brought by members to its media. As the Adventist Church has grown and become more complex, there has been an attempt to position its print to the middle ground. This draws criticism from members outside the middle ground, particularly among those who could be called conservative Adventists.

This thesis presents its findings with reference to the Seventh-day Adventist Church, but the principles are relevant to a broader context, that of print within voluntary, nonprofit organisations. The salient findings are presented to encompass this broader context.

Statement of authorship

Except where reference is made in the text of the thesis, this thesis contains no material published elsewhere or extracted in whole or in part from a thesis presented by me for another degree or diploma.

No other person's work has been used without due acknowledgment in the main text of the thesis.

This thesis has not been submitted for the award of any degree or diploma in any other tertiary institution.

Acknowledgments

This study was pursued as an own-time study project while working as chief editor at Signs Publishing Company. "Own-time study" sounds as if you work in isolation and without support. Nothing could be further from the truth. In fact, while agreeing to support me in this study, Signs added pressure in its own workplace, particularly on the editorial team. Only in allowing me the flexibility to take time when needed did this project become reality.

First, though, the idea of a study of print within a voluntary nonprofit organisation came in discussions with Harry Ballis. Insights from Harry's personal and research background were important in developing and strengthening both the research and the conclusions drawn. His and Parimal Roy's encouragement and critical expertise kept both myself and the thesis focused. Their supervision helped extend my thinking and challenged me to look beyond surface issues and responses.

I am grateful to the 31 Seventh-day Adventist church pastors who assisted and allowed me access to church members in their churches. For 21 of them that help extended to selecting the 41 who were interviewed and they then agreed to be interviewed and surveyed themselves. Thanks also to the 41 who were interviewed and the 78 who participated in focus groups. Their willing spirit was appreciated.

The study, was undertaken with the approval of Signs Publishing Company and its board. Signs also took responsibility for most of the cost involved and allowed itineraries within Australia and New Zealand that either served double purposes in

combining work and study, or allowed me to extend itineraries helpful for my research. The managers of Signs during this time, Dale Williams, manager for most of the time and particularly through the research stage, and Warren Jones have both encouraged this study. Lester Devine guided an application that gained approval from the Advance Study Committee of the Seventh-day Adventist Church.

Arthur Patrick's interest in and review of my work was appreciated. His suggestions and encouragement have been invaluable. His understanding of Adventist history not only saved me from embarrassment a couple of times, but helped bring greater balance in that area and meant he was able to direct me to several useful sources.

Fraser Jackson provided food and lodging, but also guidance and direction in areas of statistics and surveys. His advice early on, during the formulation of the survey for this research and then, later, in comparing surveys from earlier times proved incredibly helpful.

Robert Wolfgramm's insights and suggestions helped create a stronger, more complete document. His enthusiasm for the topic and his encouragement helped to also ease the burden of the final steps to completion.

The theory was that, because Signs Publishing Company works a 38-hour, four-day week with Fridays off, it should be fairly easy to complete an academic degree by working at it on Fridays and Sundays. The theory may have been sound if the work could be contained to 38 hours. The editorial team often held the work together, especially during the few months of completing the first draft of the thesis. I pay tribute and give thanks to Graeme Brown, Lexie Deed, Lee Dunstan, Kellie Hancock, Meryl McDonald-Gough and Brenton Stacey.

Jean Bedford's interest was welcome and her offer to act as a proof reader was enthusiastically accepted.

Kristel Rae's willingness to check some factual material proved more important than I had expected.

Ethan and Ashton Goltz helped bring me back from my ivory tower to the realities of the everyday. The birth of Talyah Ellyse Manners near the end of the study became a delightful distraction. These are my grandchildren and may not belong here, but if they do not seem to fit, just be thankful I resisted the urge to include photos.

Then there is Margaret. I am grateful for her support. She has endured the loneliness of a wife whose husband seemed endlessly distracted. If this study was an Everest, we climbed it together. She loved, encouraged and listened as I worked through various issues related to the study. What follows is dedicated to her.

Chapter 1

Introduction

The Seventh-day Adventist Church has been described as "the sect with the largest and most diversified literary output" (Wilson, 1990:137). All churches in one way or another have used print as a medium of communication; however, few other organisations have made it such a significant mode of communicating with its members and with the public. Adventism grew out of a movement with a reliance on print media, developed print for its own purposes and adopted a print-heavy approach upon its arrival in Australia and New Zealand. From a historical perspective, print was the favoured means used by the church to influence people outside its church borders and internally. Butler (1987:204) suggests, "The history of Adventism had been a matter of 'publish or perish." His tongue-in-cheek comment actually articulates a truth that print has been a primary strategy of the church used to expand and establish a presence around the globe, and to inform and educate its own members.

Since its beginnings in Australia in the 1880s the Adventist Church has produced a variety of magazines and journals to promote its cause and continues to do so. Given its fascination with print, the Seventh-day Adventist Church provides an ideal setting to explore the role of print in a voluntary, nonprofit organisation. The church has had a long-term commitment to print, from its beginnings. *Record*, the case study in this research for instance, celebrated its 100th year in 1998. With this kind of history there is a chance to investigate the uses of print over time and to identify different strategies that

the church has used through print to respond to internal and external issues affecting the membership.

Print in organisations

Print is an obvious choice for communicating within a nonprofit organisation. This is despite the fact that there are now so many other forms of media available that have greater flexibility and even greater appeal. Considering the broad range of nonprofit organisations, from local clubs (such as sporting clubs) to international humanitarian organisations, even if they have email newsletters or web sites, print still plays a significant role. That role ranges in complexity from photocopied pages of a tennis club to regular magazines from an international aid organisation. For nonprofit organisations, print involves only a small investment in technology in preparing a document or magazine for publication, with a relatively low cost per copy. Print also has the advantage of becoming an easy reference source that can be simply and repeatedly referred to. A photocopied page can be hung on the fridge, or a magazine left on a bench.

Other communication media are more at the cutting edge of communication theory and practice, and most of them could be studied within the context of the voluntary, nonprofit organisation that is the focus of this research, the Seventh-day Adventist Church. However, print has a long history and the growth in the number of magazines and the continued publication of printed books suggest it has a future. Our world may be "one of digital communications, of computer mediated communication" (Lyon, 2001:23), but that has not made print obsolete. A 2001 report on e-books in academic libraries made this point, "Our task force concluded that all the elements that would make the e-book market viable are not quite in place" (Snowhill, 2001). The

report indicated a decision to wait for further development of technologies and standards before e-books would be "viable and sustainable." Lynch (2001) notes that "a whole group of disparate, long-simmering issues are converging around e-books." The fact that some web sites are turning to a printed version to increase income demonstrates some kind of linked future to print media (as does the reverse situation as magazines develop web sites). Then there is evidence of the continuing desire for print media. Skimial (2002) points out that "even though college campuses [in the United States] are some of the most wired places on Earth, printed versions of college newspapers remain far more popular than their online editions." That print still has a role is illustrated in Australia's Rural Women's Network and its newsletter *Network*, which has seen growth from a circulation of 4000 in 1987 to that of "around 13,000" in 1996 (Bailey, et al, 1996:18). In the Adventist Church in Australia and New Zealand, *Record* is the main means of communicating across the breadth of the churches. *Record* provides an opportunity to reflect on the role of print in voluntary and nonprofit organisations generally.

There are some 700,000 nonprofit organisations within Australia ranging from local clubs and football teams to international organisations. Many of them use some form of print media to communicate with their members that may range from a handwritten, photocopied note to a glossy annual report. What is attempted in this study is to discover what is effective through print in contributing to group connectedness and facilitating group cohesion and a sense of belonging.

The media has a huge impact on modern life. McLuhan's (1994:5) concept of the global village through the media, particularly electronic media, is more a reality now than when he first published it in 1964. The mass media, says McQuail (1994:1), is of "considerable, and still growing, importance in modern societies" not only for

skill, part art, and part science" (Severin and Tankard, 1992:3) in its production, but it also has significant outside influences that help form the final shape of the communication form. This study takes theoretical considerations of influences on print media to understand them in the context and reality of a particular print-media product within a community to assess the role it plays.

Print in the Adventist community

The primary purpose of this study is to understand the role of print in the Seventh-day Adventist Church, and by implication on nonprofit and voluntary organisations. The qualifications "nonprofit" and "voluntary" are important because they assume some voluntary commitment by the reader to the organisation producing the magazine or newsletter and highlight that economic concerns may not be a priority. Using *Record* as a case study, this study outlines how print contributed in the development of the Seventh-day Adventist Church in Australia and New Zealand, and the role it continues to perform in the Adventist community. *Record* is a weekly production that is distributed free to members in Adventist churches within Australia and New Zealand. Using data gathered from interviews, focus groups and a questionnaire survey completed by respondents, the study aims to discover the part print plays in connecting members to their church and whether it plays a role in consolidating the dispersed membership into a community.

Theoretical context

Little research has been conducted exploring the role of print within a voluntary, nonprofit organisation generally and the Adventist Church specifically. Many

references exist that focus on the history of print, but with c. 'v passing observations about print in the Adventist community. Wilson's (1990:137) claim that Adventism is the "sect with the largest and most diversified literary output" is important in this context. Hansen (1985:60) notes, "Seventh-day Adventists have always believed the distribution of denominational literature to be one of the most effective methods of sharing their faith." Butler (1987:204), in his "publish or perish" comment, further suggests that:

The history of Adventism had been a matter of "publish or perish" since Mrs White envisioned "a little paper" that would cast its "streams of light" throughout the world. Such lofty spiritual vision, however, had led to the practical consideration of organization. As far as ecclesiastical bureaucracy was concerned, in the beginning was the word.

When the church entered the South Pacific, print continued to have a significant impact, as Lineham (1985:34-5) notes:

At the outset the early Adventist preachers held few meetings. Their priority was the distribution of literature arguing their case. . . . So they began extensive distribution both of pamphlets and the two great Adventist apologiae, Mrs White's Great Controversy and Uriah Smith's Thoughts on Daniel and Revelation. These books were often sold from house to house before meetings were begun in order to arouse interest in their message. The books did not always sell well but magazines had a ready market, and Stephen Haskell was able to persuade secular newsagents in all the towns he visited to stock the new Australian Adventist magazine, Bible Echo and Signs of the Times. By 1892 one critic admitted that Adventist literature had achieved blanket coverage in the north [of New Zealand].

This print emphasis was not limited to the early years of Adventism, as discovered by Ballis (1985:70):

World War I provided a new impetus to both Adventist journalism and evangelism. A new Adventist literary genre came into being with the proliferation of books tracts and articles interpreting world events as the fulfilment of prophecy.

What is lacking, however, is both research and the development of theory of print within the Adventist Church. Knight (1977), with his analysis of several Adventist magazines as a part of his doctoral thesis, has provided seminal research in the area, but this was not his main thrust. While there has been ready recognition of the importance of print within the Adventist Church, the present study takes up the challenge of attempting to understand its role within the church. There is much research and theory for the mass print media or the commercial press, what this study does is add to the knowledge about print within a niche area. At the same time, the study has drawn on the wealth of literature produced on the role of print in the mass market to help identify salient features that influence and drive the commercial press. Attempts are then made to understand the research findings by drawing on this literature. Of necessity, then, the study is descriptive in orientation rather than seeking to test a particular theory about media. For this reason the study is qualitative in focus even though it draws on data gathered by means of a questionnaire survey.

Questions that undergied the study

A series of questions form the backdrop for this study. They include: What role does print play within the Adventist Church? Has a strategy been adopted that made print the preferred means of communication? What is the church's policy on the role of editors? If there is one, how did it develop? How has the church used print to respond to issues outside the church that are seen as threatening the church? Are there illustrations of these? What can be learned about the church's use of print as it deals with issues affecting the church internally? In what ways can print enhance a sense of belonging? Ultimately, print is a depository about the church. What can be learned about the church, its members and its values, and what implications does an analysis of print have

for the church and its future? Further, what can then be extrapolated about print within organisations generally, and in particular in voluntary, nonprofit organisations?

Motivation for the study

the second of th

As someone nourished and nurtured by Adventist print, interest in this topic has increased with the 16 years, until March 2004, I worked as an editor in the Seventh-day Adventist Church. For 12 of those years one of my roles was as editor of *Record*, the case study for this research. The present study comes from a desire, as a practitioner of print communication, to understand what impact print has on readers who are members of a voluntary organisation. Of particular interest is the fact that print such as *Record* has a specific target and a specific purpose. The target is members of the group. The purpose is to unite them for the cause, whatever that cause may be. The target audience, as members, already have some kind of commitment to the cause, so should be sympathetic to print produced by *their* organisation. This, I have found, is not always the case. The question that began this quest is this: In what ways can print enhance a sense of community or belonging? Another followed this: How come it works for some and not for others?

As an insider, I bring familiarity to the task. I understand the processes, at least within the case study. I have first-hand experience, which helps to understand both the scope and limitations of preparing and producing a print product on a regular basis. This provided a strong base to attempt to understand the areas I lacked, the theoretical material and literature available, and to develop an in-depth understanding of the perceptions of readers.

The scope of this study covers the breadth of Adventist print with a particular emphasis on Australia and New Zealand, and specifically on the case study, *Record*.

While the research among members was conducted while I was editor of *Record*, almost all discussion and analyses of editorial or church administration decisions concerning print come from before my appointment to that role. This limitation is in place for two reasons, the first to distance myself and keep my involvement in these types of decisions to a minimum. More importantly, the second is that James Coffin, my immediate predecessor, brought change to *Record* and set a template that has seen little change since. At least from the editorial and church administrative involvement in the print process, print activities and emphasis in the Adventist Church in Australia and New Zealand are studied up to and including Coffin.

Structure of the study

The thesis is divided into four sections. The first section consists of three chapters that highlight the influences that shape print media and the methodology employed in this research. This section reviews the literature to demonstrate the kinds of influences brought to bear on the content of print-media products. The study draws on both quantitative (questionnaire) and qualitative (interviews and focus groups) analyses to present a broad overview of members' attitudes to *Record* and the individual meanings they bring in their reading of print material.

The second section, of two chapters, presents a brief history of the Seventh-day Adventist Church and shows the significant role print media has played in its development. This section notes that just as Adventism grew out of a movement with a reliance on print media, it developed print for its own purposes and adopted a print-heavy approach upon its arrival in Australia and New Zealand. The section outlines the variety of publications produced by the Adventist community over the years in Australia and New Zealand.

variety of publications produced by the Adventist community over the years in Australia and New Zealand.

The four chapters in section three focus on *Record*. This publication is used as a case study to investigate the role of print in the Adventist community. The chapters highlight the range of views among church members and examine the extent to which this publication is perceived to address the needs of the diverse membership. The section also highlights how a voluntary organisation's print is a window into the organisation itself.

The final section draws together conclusions and implications from the research.

SECTION ONE

Research Context

This study is about print and community within nonprofit organisations. In this first section the focus is on theoretical perspectives that drive the research and the methodology used. A number of influences are studied that place pressure on print media, particularly on its content. A significant influence is the type of organisation that produces the print product, in this instance, a voluntary, nonprofit organisation. Readers then add further complexity by bringing their own interpretations to the text derived from their own experience and connections to the organisation. "Community" is an emotive word that brings a sense of warmth and wellbeing between people, but it proves to be more easily described than defined. Almost as difficult is taking the sociological concept of church-sect typology and applying it to the Seventh-day Adventist Church to give definition to the kind of organisation or community involved in the case study. The methodology adopted makes readers central to the study as it aims at gaining a better idea of print's impact on those within a community.

Chapter 2

Factors Influencing Print Media

公司 人名英格兰 教徒 人名英格兰人 医牙足病 医多种性病

Print is not and cannot be value neutral. Before ink meets paper a variety of forces and decisions are brought to bear on the content, design and purpose of any print product. Print is also found in a variety of forms and styles designed to meet different needs. The national, state or city newspaper is quite different from that of the annual report of a major corporation or a regular club newsletter. Yet there are a number of common influences that are brought to bear, to a greater or lesser extent, on the content of print-media products. In this chapter the focus is on mass print media where these influences are most easily identified and best understood through the literature. In doing this, a norm is established from which comparisons can be made of other print-media products, in particular of *Record*, the print product in the case study.

This chapter is divided into three parts to investigate these influences. The first is the most extensive and examines five influences brought upon the content of mass print-media products: the power of print-media ownership, the pressure from those with authority, the impact of advertising, the role of the audience and the effect of societal values. The second part investigates nonprofit organisations and recognises that this type of organisation will bring its own influence to its print media. The final part considers the influence the reader brings to text. The aim of this chapter is to build a theoretical base and an understanding of general principles to better understand the specifics involved in this research.

Influences impacting on print media

Before a print-media product arrives at the production stage a whole range of decisions have been made about its content and look. Some of those decisions are based on mechanical processes and limitations imposed on the project (the type of press, the size of paper, cost and design are examples). These decisions will have their own influence on a print-media product, but in this part the influences under discussion are not related to the processes of printing, although they may have some impact on those processes. Five influences are readily identifiable as having at least a potential impact on print media: the owner(s), those in authority, advertising, the audience and societal values. They are each investigated here.

Power of print-media ownership

Chadwick (1989:xx) claims: "Media owners tend to own their empires personally, so their authority can be absolute if they choose." The suspicion of the truth of this statement is reflected in concerns in Australia that if ownership is limited to a few, the temptation to use that influence to serve their own ends will be too hard to resist. A Joint Parliamentary Standing Committee in 1942 met in response to "the danger of monopoly control that should be watched" (cited in Osborne and Lewis, 1995:74). Sinclair (1987:139) maintains there is a "notorious concentration of media ownership in Australia," and Brady (1989:v-vi, viii) senses that freedom of expression is endangered by those who control the media.

Windschuttle (1987:xi, 140-1) does not share these views. He believes media content is audience-driven rather than "proprietor-ruled," and argues that the concentration of ownership in the hands of a few powerful and rich "ruling-class"

figures" has not led to a media filled with "ruling-class ideology." He sees market forces pushing a large volume of "working-class culture" onto its pages and screens, Henningham (1990:x) finds several influences with journalism "fettered and restrained by institutions, including defamation laws, parliaments and proprietors." It would be naive to believe owners have no influence, but the influence should not be overstated. In its report News & Fair Facts, the House of Representatives Select Committee on the Print Media (cited in Hurst and White, 1994:237) found the key issue is the separation of the legitimate business interests of the proprietor or management to run a business for profit from the editorial process of the fair selection and presentation of news. This separation may not be possible. Owners and managers give general editorial direction of the paper, and select editors who in turn have responsibility to maintain or increase circulation figures. The concentration of power has a "potential for harm" (Wallace, 1990:195), but the media must run as a successful business, or die. It is rare for a businessman to support a long-term, loss-making business. Even Windschuttle (1987:264) admits that preprietors can influence news in various ways, especially in the kind of news being reported, because they determine: the target audience, the general editorial approach, print runs, distribution patterns, promotional campaigns, and pricing.2

Commercial media organisations are driven by two goals: revenue and non-revenue. There is general acceptance and a "high degree of unanimity" over the revenue goals, audience revenue or advertising revenue. Non-revenue goals are vague and can cause disagreement, particularly if they are cultural. "Revenue and non-revenue goals are mixed throughout the organisation and provide bargaining currencies between such groups as news gatherers and news processors differently involved in successive stages of news production" (Elliott, 1977:157). Revenue goals could be seen as one reason for

"monopolies" within the press as the capitalistic desire to expand and grow takes over (Windschuttle, 1987:93), especially with some newspapers being marginal concerns (Henderson, 1990:201).

Shortfalls in profitability can result in a re-evaluation of editorial policy. Barr (1977:60) illustrates this with the changes made to the *Australian*. Beginning in 1964, it claimed it would print "impartial information," "independent thinking" and be "tied to no party, to no state, and [have] no chains of any kind." Financially the newspaper made disastrous losses. In mid-1971, the managing editor was dropped. "Stories and features were cut, editorial became harmless, international coverage became bitty, issues were out and sport was in. Its editorial independence had been lost. Its financial performance had been disastrous." Barr (1977:60) admits this is an extreme case and adds: "Proprietors are, in fact, only rarely involved in the daily operation of the newspaper, which is how their staff want it to be."

A significant influence media owners may have is through their relationship with politicians and the political process. Media owners tend to have open access to politicians who are feted for business and political advantage. Yet it can be a love-hate relationship. The politicians need the media for their profile. Proprietors offer politicians potent, credible "propaganda tools," and often the politician will go over the heads of journalists and editors to owners (Chadwick, 1989:xix). There is distrust, but overall the history of government and media proprietors shows collusion. Media owners have found government support for their interests to a degree that few others could emulate (Windschuttle, 1987:140).

The influence of owners highlighted in a 1992 survey by the Australian Centre for Independent Journalism survey found that one-third of 105 business journalists agreed they would "not pursue a story that was potentially damaging to [their]

employer's commercial interests as actively as a story about an unrelated company." Another third rejected the proposition (Hurst and White, 1994:250). Conflict of interest can create a problem at the reporting level and journalists pick up a sense of what is and what is not acceptable (Chadwick, 1989:216).

The public may not receive an impartial coverage of a story where the proprietor has an interest. This is where the influence of the owner is found rather than in absolute, authoritarian control. Owners can certainly bring pressure to bear on editors and journalists, but they will be in trouble if they take no heed of financial realities. Profit expectations, as illustrated with Rupert Murdoch and the *Australian*, can bring stronger pressure to bear than the will of the owner. The influence of the owner is tempered by that of the audience and advertising, particularly when they impact on the bottom line, for profit or loss. Added to this is the influence already hinted at, of those with power in the community.

Pressure from those with authority

Those with power in society, in politics or business (and, to a lesser extent, celebrities) have influence over the media. These people are often newsmakers and sources of statements or opinions that appear in the media. Because they tend to have authority in an institution, hold public office or some other position, the media may accept a message in the form of a direct statement. The media may also request an interview or statement about a specific incident or plan. The fact that the message comes direct from someone in authority gives strength to this approach and adds credibility. A weakness, though, is that the report is not neutral. Mass communication has often been seen by those with power as an efficient device for getting a message to many people, whether as advertising, political propaganda or public information.

This "top-down" influence is not new. Soon after the development of printing during the late Renaissance, those in authority, not media owners, had the greatest influence in mass media. Truth was an issue and the "product" of a few wise men in a position to guide and direct their fellows. "Thus truth was thought to be centred near the centre of power. The press therefore functioned *from the top down*" (Siebert, et al, 1963:2). Siebert, et al (1963:17) show how this approach was used by church leaders at this time in their roles as "shepherds of mankind." Monarchies adopted this approach with the early history of mass media revealing thrones or rulers as the source of truth. Information was controlled. Siebert, et al, (1963:105-146) find a modern example of this approach in the media system under the communist government in what was the USSR, but the temptation to control media still operates.

The control of information is a vital cog in the mechanism of social discipline. A top-down definition of information is a disciplinary one, and it hides its disciplinarity under notions of objectivity, responsibility and political education (Fiske, 1992:49).

Fiske (1992:45-6) further suggests that, in fact, the "power-bloc" of the West has taken over the media through various legal and fiscal measures to suppress "undisciplined news" with the economics of capitalism bringing the power-bloc and the media into close alignment.

The capacity of the powerful to control news is illustrated at its best (worst?) during war, when defence needs are universally recognised as important. Truth is a first victim of the propaganda machine as several case studies demonstrate. Fifty years after the sinking of the *Lusitania*, more information has become available that suggests the incident was a set-up (Severin and Tankard, Jr, 1992:102ff). The Falklands War and the Gulf War are more recent examples of how those in authority can put their own spin on the news (Eldridge, 1993:13).³

Herman and Chomsky (1988:2), in their "propaganda model," focus on the use of wealth and power to "filter" the news to allow the "government and dominant private interests to get their message across to the public." Their model is worth noting even if it has its critics. Schudson (1992:146) contends the "propaganda model' is a blunt instrument for examining a subtle system, a system with more heterogeneity and more capacity for change than they allow." He argues that Herman and Chomsky can paint the news media in liberal societies as if they were being produced in authoritarian societies only because there has been a lack of serious study of the media in authoritarian societies. Lester (1992:51) admits the propaganda model gains support from evidence that shows more space devoted to news favourable to government and big-business interests. "But specifically omitted is a concrete discussion of the discursive strategies that make it so."

Herman and Chomsky (1988:176-177) claim that five filters⁴ occur naturally in media, and news people are convinced that they are working objectively. However the constraints are so powerful that alternative bases for news choices are hardly imaginable. They illustrate their argument with specific instances during war or foreign policy crises where the media had not challenged the official line taken by the United States government. Media firms are large businesses controlled by the wealthy who have common interests with other corporations, banks and the government. "They are among the powers that be, and so have interests in common with them" (Lichtenberg, 1992:226; cf Lester, 1992:51). The fact that they are among the power groups will affect news choices (Herman and Chomsky, 1988:14).

The media may attack the government and the government may endeavour to curb the media. However, disputes are most often limited to issues that appear to depart from the principles that underwrite the allegiance of (usually unspoken) interests (Fiske,

1992:45). The government (and business) also "go to great pains to make things easy for news organisations." The government provides facilities for news gathering, gives out advance copies of speeches, schedules press conferences geared to news deadlines, writes press releases in usable language and organises photo opportunities. Accepting these news releases is, in a sense, entering into a business relationship because the supplier subsidises the cost of acquiring news materials (Herman and Chomsky, 1988:22). Supplied material is naturally biased toward the group giving out the information, but there are other pressures that make this "easy" news acceptable; in blunt terms, "the deadline and the news hole" (Tiffen, 1993:174). The "mechanical pressures" of work are significant and make it attractive to run with easy news (Schudson, 1992:142). If an editor is left with the option of a hole (blank space) or running a press release, there really is no choice.

Herman and Chomsky (1988:18) see the mass media "drawn into a symbiotic relationship with powerful sources of information by economic necessity and reciprocity of interest. The media need a steady, reliable flow of the raw material of news." Links are formed between reporters and officials (Schudson, 1992:148) and the best use of resources dictates that news gatherers concentrate in areas where news information can be found. Windschuttle (1987:266-275) calls this the bureaucratic model where "the needs of newspapers for regular supplies of news from predictable sources lead to journalists developing rounds." The advantage is that "government and corporate sources also have the great merit of being recognizable and credible by their status and prestige." This not only helps "to maintain the image of objectivity, but also to protect [news gatherers] from criticism of bias and the threat of libel suits, they need material that can be portrayed as presumptively accurate" (Herman and Chomsky, 1988:19).

The heavy reliance on official sources for news is not a "conspiracy theory of the media," warns Eldridge (1993:10), it is "the very mark of professionalism that it has access to these sources." These links, though, limit dissent and create bias as news gatherers work to maintain a good relationship with authority figures, to keep access open. Preferred coverage is granted to institutional authorities because they have the resources to provide information (Lake and Scrunger, 1993:123). This gives these authorities influence on news content because of their position or through publicity strategies. Tensions and conflicts arise when one with authority wants positive coverage, but the newsworthy point is negative (Tiffen, 1993:173-6). A journalist's approach to the problem necessitates objectivity, and the journalist may use the information from one in authority in a negative way to overcome the appearance of bias. Credibility is largely dependent on confidence that the information is not influenced by partisan or vested interests (McQuail, 1992:73).

While there is evidence that those in authority have influence on the media, there is no longer the control evident in the early history of mass media. Control is still used during times of crisis (war, for instance), but Herman and Chomsky overstate the case in their propaganda model. The powerful within a community have greater access to the media because of who they are and, often, the impact of what they do. Skewing information within the media is under greater threat from the ease and cost-efficient process of using press releases or obtaining the quick quote from someone with authority than from power figures using their influence. The use of people with authority as sources may have "notions of objectivity, responsibility and political education" (Fiske, 1992:49), but if overused, or used in a way that causes a loss of credibility it could threaten the viability of the media product.

Impact of advertising

Two-thirds of mainstream newspaper revenue comes from advertising. This is an immediate and obvious influence. The main difference between a newspaper and most other products is that the purchaser pays only a fraction of the real cost (Windschuttle, 1984:3, 275; Sinclair, 1987:67). While advertising lowers the cost of a print-media product, there is the danger of another cost:

Advertising being the lifeblood of commercial publishing, major advertisers are in a position of some potential power, particularly in relation to smaller media enterprises. Country and suburban newspapers and local radio stations are typically dependent on relatively few advertisers for their bread and butter. It is a brave, arguably foolhardy, country editor who consistently runs an editorial policy that threatens the interests of the blokes in the Rotary Club. A sustained advertisers' boycott could spell ruin for the paper and unemployment for the editor (Peter Cole-Adams, cited in Hurst and White, 1994:239).

Critics have a valid concern that advertising might place pressure on editors to suppress news unfavourable to their business (Sinclair, 1993:87). The Adelaide News lost advertising when reporting a controversial case (Barr, 1977:62). Businessman Alan Bond withdrew several million dollars worth of advertising from John Fairfax publications in 1986 because he objected to the Sydney Morning Herald's coverage of his activities. The Australian Press Council criticised both the New South Wales Wran and the Queensland Bjelke-Petersen governments for banning advertising in certain media outlets (Hurst and White, 1994:239-40). The loss of revenue is a threat to a media product's viability. At the same time, whether pressure to conform to their will comes from governments or business, "it is not in the interests of an editor to accede to such pressure because of the loss of credibility which the newspaper would suffer in the long run" (Sinclair, 1993:86). Credibility is necessary in any successful news medium.

Advertising, particularly persuasive advertising, by its nature attacks credibility. While there is some disagreement about the beginnings of persuasive advertising, it came into place at the beginning of the twentieth century (Craig, 1992:162; Sinclair

1987:6-7). Since then it has become "one of the most important cultural factors moulding and reflecting our life today. They are ubiquitous, an inevitable part of everyone's life" (Williamson, 1978:11). In her "classic text" (Windschuttle, 1985:196), Williamson (1978:8, 13, 48, 64) identifies the purpose of advertising as designed to make us feel we are lacking and can rise or fall and be given value through what we are able to buy: "Instead of being identified by what they produce, people are made to identify themselves by what they consume." Advertising "sells a way of life and as such forms part of the instrumental and material culture of twentieth century capitalism" (Lester, 1992:75). Williamson (1986:13) concedes that "consuming products does give a thrill," but says (Williamson, 1978:174) society is not naive about advertising, for advertisements are generally regarded as lies and "rip-offs." The consumer's response fits somewhere between the "playful willingness to be temporarily seduced and a hardened scepticism about every kind of communication in view of the selling job it is probably doing" (Wernick, 1991:192). That scepticism could impact on the media in which the advertisement is placed.

Advertorials can also impact on print media. First appearing in the 1960s, they fall into two categories: the promotion of a product sponsored by the media product; and advertisers using editorial space to promote their wares. When something is sponsored by a media organisation, the problem is not in publishing this kind of material, but in giving it the appearance that it is not advertising. Credibility and confidence in the media organisation is lost through this process. In the other form of advertorial, the advertiser presents articles in the style of the newspaper or magazine to give the impression it is a part of the normal copy. Because of the extra copy, these advertisements "bloom in times of economic recession" when newspaper staff numbers are limited (Cook, 1992:32). Again, the credibility of the newspaper or the magazine

comes into question and the media product could be seen as an extension of advertising, as Wernick (1991:100) found in his study of some television programs. Specialist magazines can have strong commercial pressures toward the creation of a "suitable environment for advertising," which can include layout and editorial ways of endorsing advertised products (Sinclair, 1987:76-7).

While the "best ads are successful bandits, raiding the borders of their accompanying discourses, but with the sense not to stay too long" (Cook, 1992:32), an experience from radio provides a prime example of blurring the edges between advertising and regular programming in the 1999 John Laws/Alan Jones/2UE "cash for comments" furore. Rebecca Harris, lecturer in Public Relations at Sydney's University of Technology, told *The Media Report* (1999:4) she recognises there may have been short-term gain for those involved, but in the long-term, "the public could end up being more distrustful of the company in the future; certainly the public would regard the company differently."

Advertisements are positive in their approach to their topic (Wernick, 1991:42). They do not reflect on the negatives, nor do they give other options for the consumer to consider. It is the very nature of advertising to persuade, not inform. While many advertising eulogists admit that the more informative the advertising, the more persuasive it will be, says Barr (1977:178), this has not led to accurate information. "There are few ads on TV today [and other media] that even pretend to inform rather than persuade, cajole and manipulate." There is a basic lack of trust in advertisements to give accurate information: "promotional culture is radically deficient in good faith" (Wernick, 1991:194). If these "bandits" raid the borders of the other information in newspapers and magazines, there is danger that the other information, too, will be

distrusted. The influence of advertising in media, then, is not limited to a financial impact.

The financial impact is significant where advertisers seek a market that will respond positively to their product or service, which has a profound influence on media development (Sinclair, 1987:71-2). If advertisers feel a particular part of the media is not communicating with their market, they will not advertise, or will withdraw their advertising. London's Daily Herald was lost because, even with a readership of 4.7 million in its last days, it did not have advertising support (Curran, 1977:225). A Guide to Advertisers from 1851 claimed: "Character is of more importance than number. A journal that circulates a thousand among the upper or middle classes is a better medium than would be one circulating a hundred thousand among the lower classes" (cited in Curran, 1977:218-9). Westergaard (1977:102-3) agrees, claiming that the most important influence advertisers have on newspapers is to pay more to reach a body of wealthy readers. It is too simplistic to say all advertisers will naturally want to appeal to the wealthy, for that does not allow for the huge amount of marketing research undertaken to find, or create, a market. Some advertisers make no attempt to reach the wealthy. The variables in the selection of the advertising medium include geographic, demographic, socioeconomic and sociopsychological characteristics of potential consumers (Sinclair, 1987:97). Even then, advertisers still have a deep "bias towards the conventional and the most widely diffused." Advertising "meta-messages" affirm that the "pseudo-totality of a utopia" has already arrived. "In such a world, the safe compromise, the false unity of irreconcilable perspectives, is represented as our deepest and most natural desire. The soft sell which prevails in the market would enfold everyone in its happy embrace" (Wernick, 1991:42-3).

In one sense, the role of the media is to develop an audience for advertisers. If a newspaper or magazine can convince enough advertisers that they can supply them with their target audience, they will have financial viability. If they are unable to hold their advertisers, or if advertisers boycott them, the print product will suffer. In the ultimate, advertisers' choices influence both media prosperity and survival (Herman and Chomsky, 1988:14). Tension arises when, having captured the audience and the advertisers, the media must continue to meet the audience expectations to hold these audiences "for sale to advertisers" (Sinclair, 1987:75). In a promotional culture "deficient in good faith" (Wernick, 1991:194), if the boundaries between advertising and what is supposed to be objective information are breached, there is a resultant loss in credibility. It credibility is compromised too much or too often, the readers may no longer support the print-media products.

Role of the audience

A media product will fail without an audience. Once an audience is established, the media product will want to keep it. Further, there will be a desire to increase this "collection of spectators, a group of individuals who are gathered together to attend a performance and 'receive' a message 'sent' by another" (Ang, 1991:33). Windschuttle (1987:405; xi) maintains that the audience is the main factor and influence on the media: "The media operate within a market situation and, by that very fact, the first criterion of their existence is that they satisfy the demands of their audiences." Under Windschuttle's (1987:262) "free market model," newspapers are in the business of satisfying the demand for news. The principal criterion of selection is public interest, what the public is interested in, and what is in the public's interest. The news media

have to "give the public what it wants," usually "human interest" or "largely trivial material," and to fulfil their duty to record the important events of the day.

Janowitz (cited in Stamm, 1985:74) recognises different types of audiences when he classifies readers of community newspapers as: fans who pay attention to the bulk of the paper, regular readers who read the bulk of the paper on a weekly basis, partial readers who pay attention to portions of the paper or read it periodically, and non-readers who give it partial or no attention. Media managers have a vested interest in their audience, which is often treated as a set of consumers whose behaviours are monitored for qualitative (ratings) and quantitative (content appreciation) research. Communicators, however, do not gain much from formal research, but tend to prefer to find their own informal "ways of coping with uncertainty, especially by way of self-constructed audience 'images' and personal contacts" (Stamm, 1985:74). Lobby groups that claim to speak on behalf of the audience or groups within it add to this information. The value of spontaneous feedback (mail, email and phone, for instance) is unclear, but probably has value for local media and for "small-scale media for special audiences" (McQuail, 1994:323-4).

During times of uncertainty within a community, such as change, disorder and conflict, the people's dependency on media information is high. Individuals also have degrees of interest in the media. Sports fans are likely to use the media for sport information; others will have more interest in the stock market, and so on. "To a large extent the user of mass communication is in control" and serves as an "antidote to the emphasis on passive audiences and persuasion that has dominated much earlier research" (Severin and Tankard, 1992:262-3). Financial realities and the natural desire to increase profitability will lead to endeavours to increase the size of the "paying

audience" from the "potential audience" and to keep the "paying audience" (McQuail, 1994:299). This can impact on the style of the newspaper.⁶

The "popular" press, Fiske (1989:186) argues, has more "relevance" to more people and is thus popular. More people are able to relate to the situations they read about, not only in the type of stories, but the "manner of their telling." The trend toward entertainment and the popular (away from education and social responsibility) has been defended: "After all, there is little point in applauding a socially responsible news service that nobody chooses to watch" (Fiske, 1989:192). The popular, by definition, belongs to "the people," and without considering the audience, "there is a greater likelihood that receivers will ignore the message, misunderstand the content, reject applicability to self, challenge claims with counter-arguments, or derogate the source" (Atkin, 1981:273).

Ang (1991:17-23) argues for two alternative, diverse configurations of audience: audience-as-market, and audience-as-public. He sees the audience-as-public fitting more the "transmission model" of communication where audiences are receivers of the message and there is an "ordered transference of meaning." Public-service broadcasting fits this category. The audience-as-market concept goes beyond that, it wants to attract attention for there's a market to be won. Audience measurement becomes an important indicator of success and, further, it gives advertisers some kind of guarantee they have not spent their advertising dollars for nothing. They need to be reassured that their messages have reached those for whom it was intended (Ang, 1991:53). In turn, the media has an interest in "delivering audiences to the advertisers" (Ang, 1991:ix).

Dervin's (1981:75, 76) "information-as-construction" concept maintains that information is a creation tied to the time, place and perspective of the receiver, and that more emphasis must be placed on the audience as individuals, if the audience is to be

reached. To help the audience, Dervin (1981:76-8, 84) suggests that the objective approach used by journalists may not aid the communication process because to do this, they remove themselves from the information. What could be more helpful is for "subjective clues" so individuals may be able to "determine the applicability of the message to their own context." This helps individuals in the audience become involved in "seuse-making instances." The most important aspect of this approach is that "it looks through the eyes of the user (audience/receiver) rather than from the eyes of the source" (Dervin, 1981).

This emphasis on the audience calls for understanding how messages are received rather than how they are sent. Connecting with the audience is important and impacts on the style (and here is found a valid reason for tending toward the popular style, to connect with the larger audience). It has been well demonstrated that even a heavy flow of messages is not enough, on its own, to attract attention, and to get the message across. Whatever form of media is used, if the needs and personality of the audience are not considered, it will struggle. The influence of the audience will always be strong as the media attempts to maintain or increase audience size. Media management, which looks for profit, and advertisers who want to reach the broadest possible audience means the audience will have a major impact. This impact will force continual audience assessment even if there is difficulty in knowing how to measure exactly what the audience wants.

Effect of societal values

In 1989 the Bulletin asked the question, "Why is our media 'on the nose?" The Bulletin asked editors, journalists, politicians and business people the question in an

attempt to discover the answer. Hurst and White (1994:252) suggest that if they had asked the people, they would have received an answer something like this:

Because they smell of hypocrisy. They say they work on our behalf. They say they tell the truth. But what they really do is give us the half truth. They sensationalise things, just to get us to buy papers and wat h their shows. They talk about how to fight corrupt politicians and crims but they'd sell their grandmother for a good story. They barge in wherever they want to without so much as a by-your-leave. You could be injured or half-dead and they still won't leave you alone. They reckon they are the voice of the public. But when we complain, they don't want to listen.

While the media may push at the boundaries, it cannot go too far from what society considers an acceptable standard for it to still be credible and acceptable. Journalists do not deliberately insert values into the news, says Gans (1982:40-2), these values can be inferred although, as different people within the audience come to the news, they may infer different values from what they see or read. He notes that even when a news story deals with activities considered undesirable and whose descriptions contain negative connotations, the story implies what is desirable. For instance, a politician charged with corruption suggests immediately that corruption is bad and politicians should be honest. Gans (1982:40-42) suggests two types of values: First, topical values, the "opinions expressed about specific actors or activities of the moment. . . . These manifest themselves in the explicit opinions of news magazine stories and television commentary, as well as the implicit judgments that enter into all stories." Second, enduring values are found in many different kinds of stories over a long period of time. While these values can and do change, they change slowly and they help to shape opinions. Among these values are the desirability of economic prosperity, the undesirability of war, virtues of the family, love, friendship and the ugliness of hate and prejudice, sometimes called "motherhood values."

These values are enduring because the news judgment concerning them has not changed significantly over time; they are assumed societal values. The values are often not stated, but when the values are broken there is a story to report (Gans, 1982:197). Attitudes can change. "The cycle leading from opposition to defusion, from resistance to incorporation encloses each successive subculture. We have seen how the media and the market fit into this cycle" (Hebdige, 1979:100). Hebdige, however, refers to subcultures becoming accepted in the mainstream. Being accepted as an alternative within the mainstream does not make that subculture a part of the mainstream. While society's basic attitudes can change (the acceptance of new roles for women over the past 20 to 30 years, for example) these changes fit within Gans's proposal that these enduring social changes take time to be accepted.

For both advertising and the media, the audience is a critical factor. Both have to reach the audience in terms and with the societal values acceptable to the audience if they wish to gain a continued positive response from that audience. In their propaganda model, Herman and Chomsky (1988:298) argue that the "societal purposes" of the media are to "inculcate and defend the economic, social, and political agenda of privileged groups that dominate the domestic society and state." The media does this, they say, through the selection of topics, distribution of concerns, framing of issues, filtering of information, emphasis and tone, and "by keeping debate within the bounds of acceptable premises." From Gans (1982:40-2), though, it appears that if there were a conflict between a privileged person or group and the values of a society, the values would eventually win out (the Watergate situation and President Nixon is a prime example). In this instance, while the privileged group may influence society's values they cannot control them.

The media may nudge at the edges of society's values, but if they attempt to challenge societal norms on a regular basis they will find themselves out of step with the public, their audience. These values may rarely be spoken, but they are understood. They may change, but the change will come slowly and if the media push too hard they will lose their readers. Often it is only when these enduring values are broken that there is a story to report, and by reporting the story, the media affirms the values. There is risk involved if the media wishes to challenge enduring society values.

The five influences in summary

Each of the influences examined above brings pressure to bear on mass print-media products. A successful publication will tend to see these influences as challenges to be addressed while at the same time keeping in mind the need for the appearance of objectivity and a healthy bottom line. For the audience, objectivity is a recognised essential, as is not straying too far from societal values. For owners, the need of advertisers and an audience for profitability helps temper their power. For those in authority, their need for exposure in the media does hold risks when issues of objectivity are considered. In a healthy mass print-media product these five influences tend to bring balance. Within a for-profit organisation, as seen in the case of the *Australian*, lack of profit will drive decision making. That is why, for this study of print media it is important to have an understanding of nonprofit organisations.

Print in nonprofit organisations

Understanding the differences between for-profit organisations, in particular, the type of organisation that produces mass media, and nonprofit organisations is important for understanding the different motivation and purpose between the two, which, in turn,

bring their influence upon print. The tenn "third sector" refers to organisations that are not part of the business or public sector. This term covers a diverse group of private not-for-profit organisations. "Private," "non-government" or "community" are terms often used in health and welfare. "Private" applies to education. "Charity" is sometimes used in the welfare field when, in its legal meaning, it encompasses religious, educational and public benefit organisations as well. "Clubs" or "associations" are used in sport and recreation, while "association" and "society" are used in culture and the arts, and to describe professional and trade bodies and advocacy groups (Lyons, 1994:1). There could be 700,000 third-sector organisations in Australia (Lyons, 2001:17).

Anheier and Seibel (1990:8) say "third sector" is "applied to all those organisations which, for one reason or another, do not readily fit into the dichotomy of for-profit sector versus public sector." They argue that the term "nonprofit" is less precise and refers to a "relatively well-defined organizational universe in the United States and perhaps the United Kingdom." Thus all organisations that are neither profit-making businesses nor government agencies or bureaucracies fit the "third sector" definition (Anheier and Seibel, 1990:7). Wolf (1984: 2) adds that the term "nonprofit" suggests what the organisation is not, not for profit, not what it is. To add to the confusion, nonprofit can be a contradiction in terms because a nonprofit organisation is not barred from making a profit (Crimmins and Kiel, 1990:315).

While appreciating these points, the term "nonprofit" still has value and will be used here (as does Lyons (1994:1) although, later Lyons (2001:30) also sees nonprofits as a subsection of the third sector). However, in this study, nonprofit will have another descriptor, "voluntary," which gives better definition to the types of organisations under consideration. Having noted that, nonprofit is a useful term that helps identify the fact that a nonprofit organisation has as its goal something other than profits, usually to

provide service (Anthony and Young, 1990:216). It also helps in understanding a major difference in purpose between the media used as business and media used to communicate within these organisations.⁹

Nonprofit organisations tend to differ from for-profit organisations in several ways: Market behaviour does not influence decision making, and income is typically derived from multiple sources and not related to performance but fund-raising ability. Values, ideology and public policy have great influence on governance and management. The authority structure is an ambiguous hybrid of bureaucracy, voluntary association and informal social systems. Unpaid governing boards and executive leadership have more influence on policy than their clientele, with a potential for a power struggle between board members and staff. There is dependence for virtually all resources on the external environment. Their four major roles are: specialisation, advocacy, consumerism and service delivery; their principle vulnerabilities are: institutionalisation, goal-deflection, minority rule and ineffectuality. Unlike for-profit organisations, the nonprofits can suffer from the vagaries of public opinion and the whim of supporters. Dependence on voluntary help means limited control over their work (Kramer, 1990:261-2).

While an organisation may be not-for-profit, income is still vital for success and the primary sources are: private sources, such as gifts, foundations, contracts and payment for service; the general public, for instance, community fund-raising and subscription drives; members, membership fees or donations; and the public sector through grants, contracts and subsidies. "All of these influences affect the nature of the nonprofit organization, its management needs, and the type of manager who will succeed in it" (Gies, et al, 1990:207). Some nonprofit organisations operate business ventures to raise funds. Lyons (2001:179) illustrates this with the Seventh-day Adventist

Church in Australia and its Sanitarium Health Food Company. Another significant difference in the financial area is in depreciation, "Where many concede the relevance of accrual accounting, others stop short of full accrual for 'non-business' entities because they regard depreciation accounting as entirely inappropriate" (Hagan and Staunton, 1994:9).

A major difference in marketing between a for-profit and nonprofit organisation can be in the role and philosophy of creating a demand. While a toy company may hope to see one of its dolls in every household in the country, a nonprofit organisation caring for disabled children would not expect a time when they could serve every family. "Since much of the nonprofit world is devoted to dealing with the problems of humanity, it is not appropriate in many cases to think of creating a market for one's services" (Espy, 1986:58).

Measuring success and accountability in a profit-making organisation where the mission is clear, is relatively simple. In a nonprofit organisation "it can be a bewildering task to find the proper yardstick by which to measure success" (Wolf, 1984:4). Clotfelder (1992:9) asks, how do you measure or place value on those services provided by nonprofits for which there are no comparable services to be purchased in the market? The list of characteristics of a successful *voluntary* organisation developed by O'Connell (1976:195) shows that several characteristics are subjective and immeasurable. The list reads: A cause worth getting excited about, an ability to generate funds to do the job, programs that could do something for the cause, adequate attention to morale to keep the undertaking spirited and vigorous even when the immediate tasks were not, appropriate emphasis on increasing the number of citizens involved, ability to keep volunteers in charge even after the operation is staffed, flexibility to respond effectively to new problems and opportunities and to fit the profile of "ad-hocracy" that

must increasingly characterise the useful ongoing organisation, a capacity to keep the real mission in focus no matter how frenzied things become or how great the pressure to move into new areas. All important decisions are made with the organisation's reason for being clearly in the forefront: vision to see beyond the horizon, along with sensitivity to feel human needs, coupled with toughness to build an organisation capable of translating the vision and sensitivity into change.

Added to the problem of measurement of success is a less focused organisation in danger of a voluntary organisation's government by the "bright idea" (O'Connell, 1976:64) and a "notorious" lack of efficiency and responsiveness in nonprofit organisations (Seibel, 1990:107-8, 115). However, Seibel is not opposed to this inefficiency, arguing that this "peculiar organizational behaviour" is a prerequisite for nonprofit organisations even if it is not inevitable. In some cases, inefficiency is essential to the task, for instance, a nonprofit day-care workshop for handicapped people will not solve the problem, but it helps the situation. Because of these grey areas and the impossibility of measurement in terms of results in several areas, accountability becomes important in areas of: the proper use of money, fiscal accountability; following proper procedures, process accountability; quality of work, program accountability; and relevance or appropriateness of the work, priority accountability. This accountability must be managed by "funders, workers and committees" simply because it is often difficult to "hear" the voice of the users (Leat, 1990:152).

The nonprofit provision of health, education and social services have historically come from religious or other ideological groups. Their interest stems from their "hope to maximize faith or adherents rather than profits" (James, 1990:23). While there may be truth in that statement, there is evidence that church members, who make up various religious groups, are more disinterested in their giving than the comment suggests. US

figures show that more church members give to nonreligious charities than nonmembers (Biddle, 1992:122).¹⁰ At the same time, religious groups have difficulty deciding on programs to be undertaken and in measuring the value of the services given (Anthony and Young, 1990:233).

Members of nonprofit organisations have a more permanent relationship with the organisation than an audience or consumer. These organisations (such as churches, unions and trade associations ist to serve their members, who are their major distinction between the "helper" and the "helped," between the service provider and consumer. In a sense this is "consumerism in its purest form" (Knapp, et al, 1990:209). Congregations, for instance, rely on volunteer labour, although Kotler (1982:411) suggests that probably only about a third of members are "highly involved" and a small fraction of the membership will do most of the work involved in running any organisation. There is difficulty in calculating a volunteer's value in monetary terms and little incentive to adopt an efficient mix or to assign volunteers to tasks in which they would be most beneficial. Within the church situation, as a result of this expenditure of time and money, buildings are built, furnished and heated; hymns are sung, sermons preached, religious doctrines disseminated; the hungry are fed, the poor provided for, and the troubled are comforted; and opportunities are created for people to socialise (Biddle, 1992:107, 92). The "benefits of participation" (Knapp, et al, 1990:208) are found in the involvement, the opportunity to contribute and the satisfaction in the service offered.

A nonprofit's newsletter is usually created to help unite members and to identify how the organisation's goals serve the members. It provides information about what the organisation is doing. It shows volunteer and staff involvement. These members share a specific purpose. So it helps members understand the significance of their efforts. The newsletter can be a "powerful and important tool" (Maddalena, 1981:184, 24). Much of the success of a voluntary, nonprofit organisation depends on effective communications among the people who care about the organisation (O'Connell, 1976:121). Effective communication is even more important during times of change, to help counter rumours and misinformation (Wolf, 1990:253).

The differences between for-profit and nonprofit organisations are quite marked, beginning with volunteers serving on governing boards. Income is dependent on fundraising or membership fees. Success is less easily calculated and the dependence on volunteer labour brings with it an inefficiency that would be unacceptable in a for-profit organisation. Even Leat's (1990:152) attempt at accountability does not take into account the customer (who has, traditionally, always been *right* within for-profit organisations), but those working within the organisation. The added classification to a nonprofit organisation as a voluntary nonprofit indicates more precisely that members choose to be a part of it and it functions with mainly volunteer help.

Maddalena (1981) identifies purposes for a nonprofit's newsletter that have a different objective than that for a for-profit magazine or newspaper. This will influence the newsletter, but there needs to be recognition that a nonprofit's newsletter also has many similarities to a for-profit print product. There may be a temptation to say newsletters produced by voluntary organisations tend to be self-serving, specifically aimed at building the organisations that publish them. Yet profit is also self-serving, and those working on a nonprofit newsletter will have a serious interest in the bottom line as they work within a budget. A voluntary organisation's newsletter may target a smaller, more finely-defined audience than, say, a state or national daily, but so do niche publications for profit (for instance, fishing, surfing and music publications). The

voluntary, nonprofit's newsletter comes from an organisation with a different structure and purpose to the for-profit magazine and newspaper. It is important to recognise that this, too, will have some influence.

Print and the act of reading¹¹

Whereas various influences on the media affect the content or message of print media, another factor that has a bearing is how the audience reads the print, that is, the influence brought by the act of reading. While related to the audience influence already considered, the focus on the reader is not about how the audience may influence the shape and form of the print-media product, but how the act of reading is a factor that brings shape to print for the individual. Individuals who make up the audience are an active part of the communication process. "Social cognition theories generally assume that the person is mentally active, organising and processing stimuli from the environment rather than simply responding directly to them," but an individual within the audience will not have a "consistent disposition" and will be affected by prior experiences (Reeves, et al, 1982:289). Rather than being a blank upon which a media impression can be made, or a group of individuals who will respond in the same way to the same message, a real attempt must be made to see the individuality of those who comprise the audience.

Several centuries ago Nicholas of Lyra recognised that texts (biblical texts in this case) were open to four levels of interpretation: *litera, moralis, allegoria,* and anogogia; the literal, the ethical, the historical and the mystical (cited in Bruner, 1986:5). However, the interpretation of text by an individual is more complex than this. Readers do not have a "neutral relationship to the text that they read," but bring meaning to and create the text read (Denzin, 1989:131-2). The reading process is a

"dynamic interaction between text and reader," where "successful communication must ultimately depend on the reader's creative activity" (Iser, 1991:107, 112). Text is a product produced in the absence of the reader and read in the absence of the writer and those who read a text enter into a relationship with the agent who produced it (Schirato and Yell, 2000:149, 115). "For the reader, all is to do and all is already done . . . [the reader] reads and creates. . . . The writer appeals to the reader's freedom to collaborate in the production of his work" (Sartre, 1981:32). Foucault (1994:ix) searches for his "ideal reader" and (1989:294) sees the reader as an auditor of a course (who can tell when the writer has worked and when content to "talk off the top of one's head"). Kleinman (1999:28) invites "the reader in as a collaborator . . . to complete the story." Bruner (1986:36-7) has the reader construct a virtual map while embarking on a journey without maps, but with a map that gives hints.

No media product is free from the "corruption of culture" (Carey, 1992:31) or from the "specific social-historical contexts" of the reader (Thompson, 1995:39). Media reception, adds Thompson (1995:39, 40) is "fundamentally a hermeneutic process" involving an interpretative process by those who receive it where "individuals make use of symbolic materials for their own purposes." That the reading of text can bring different responses is shown in the Milton controversy between C S Lewis and F R Leavis. Wrote Lewis (1967:134), "It is not that he and I see different things when we look at *Paradise Lost*. He sees and hates the very same that I see and love." In this case, Lewis claims, "We differ not about the nature of Milton's poetry, but about the nature of man, or even the nature of joy itself." In understanding the impact of the text on a reader, the "actualisation" (Iser, 1991:21), "is clearly the result of an interaction between the two."

Having considered difficulties involved in understanding the reception of text, Umberto Eco offers some helpful theoretical insights. "In a communicative process there are a sender, a message, and an addressee" is how Eco (1979:10) simplifies communication. Often, the sender and addressee are grammatically linked with the message: "I tell you that. . . ." Of interest here is the relationship between the "I," the author, the "you," the receiver, and the message. Eco (1992:24) has no sympathy with modern theories of interpretation that assert that the only reliable reading of a text is a misreading, that a text, quoting Todorov, "is only a picnic where the author brings the words and the readers bring the sense." Even if it were true, Eco maintains that the words cannot simply be passed over "in silence" and suggests that between the "intention" of the author (which is difficult to discover and frequently irrelevant for interpretation) and the interpreter (who will beat the text into a shape to serve his/her purpose) there is a third possibility, the intention of the text (Eco, 1992:25).

The text's intention is not displayed by the textual surface. Or, if it is displayed, it is so in the sense of the purloined letter. One has to decide to "see" it. Thus it is possible to speak of the text's intention only as a result of a conjecture on the part of the reader. The initiative of the reader basically consists in making a conjecture about the text's intention (Eco, 1992:64).

Eco further argues that a text is a "device conceived to produce its model reader." Eco (1979:7) defined a model reader as one "supposedly able to deal interpretatively with the expressions in the same way the author deals generatively with them." A model reader is not one who makes the "only right" conjectures, but is entitled to try infinite conjectures. Eco theorises that the intention of the text is to produce a model reader able to make conjectures about it, and the "initiative of the model reader" is in "figuring out" a model author and that, in the end, coincides with the intention of the text (Eco, 1992:64; 1990:58).

Eco (1979:8-9) also develops the concept of open and closed texts that add to this a helpful dimension. Closed texts are those that are "immoderately 'open' to every possible interpretation." He illustrates closed texts with Superman comics and Ian Fleming's spy thrillers. Open texts occur when the author can see the "ideal reader" who is "able to master different codes and eager to deal with text as a maze of many issues." However, "you cannot use the text as you want, but only as the text wants you to use it. An open text, however 'open' it can be, cannot afford whatever interpretation." Further, while one can guess what kind of readers the authors of a Superman comic or a Fleming novel had in mind, it is not possible to define the requirements for a "good" reader. With open texts, though, one can extrapolate from the text itself the profile of, say, a "good *Ulysses* reader" "because the pragmatic process of interpretation is not an empirical accident independent of the text *qua* text, but is a structural element of its generative process" (Eco, 1979:8-9).

In following Eco, his theoretical perspective is helpful in a study of print media, in two ways. First, the concept of the "intention of the text" and "open texts" are closely related and should prove particularly helpful for a study of print media within nonprofit organisations, which would tend to have a more defined purpose or intention than mass media. Second, his thought that one can develop a profile of the reader from open texts raises interesting possibilities in relating readers to the text.

Summary

This chapter has looked at a variety of influences brought upon print media. The five influences brought upon the mass print media come from an abundance of theoretical material available in the literature and help establish norms that are useful for comparisons and contrasts in the study of the Adventist Church's *Record*. The five

influences give an understanding of print media generally to aid in understanding Record specifically. Nonprofit organisations have a different structure and purpose than for-profit organisations, and this introduces another influence with the expectation of differences to be found in print media within a voluntary, nonprofit organisation to that within mass print media. Perhaps the expectation of difference is of the kind that one editor felt within his voluntary organisation, the Anglican Church in Western Australia. The Reverend Canon Greg Harvey, long-time editor of the Anglican Messenger, said:

I think the mainstream press's role is to report the church with its warts and all. But I don't think that's part of our place. I think [the church press] is a more comforting press (cited in Osborne, 2002:2).

Readers then bring their own influence to the text as they allow "the significance of each [word] to be understood" (Sartre, 1981:30).

This chapter provides background material as the study moves away from the usual macro approach to media, to a micro consideration of print media within a voluntary, nonprofit organisation, and the impact it has on readers in their place. This chapter helps provide a theoretical base for the study, the next considers print and community.

Endnotes

¹ To his credit, Rupert Murdoch supported the Australian for several years before it began to make a profit.

² Chadwick (1989:xxxiv, xxxv, 88, 168, 213-4) cites several examples.

³ In this context, it is worth noting that George Orwell's description in 1984 of the minds of the masses being controlled by the few came out of his own experience as a reporter of the Spanish Civil War (Eldridge, 1993:6-7).

⁴ Herman and Chomsky (1988:2) identify five filters: "(1) The size, concentrated ownership, owner wealth, and profit orientation of the dominant mass-media firms; (2) advertising as the primary income source of the mass media; (3) the reliance of the media on information provided by government, business and 'experts' funded and approved by these primary sources and agents of power, (4) 'flak' as a means of disciplining the media; and (5) 'anticommunism' as a national religion and control mechanism. These elements interact with and reinforce one another. The raw material of news must pass through successive filters, leaving only the cleansed residue fit to print."

⁵ On July 12, 1999, the ABC's *Media Watch* program revealed a memo that Laws was being paid \$1.2 million to comment positively about banks. The Australian Broadcasting Authority investigated whether there had been breaches of the Broadcasting Services Act (1992) where "advertisements broadcast by a licensee must not be presented as news programs or other programs" (Lyons, 1999b:32).

⁶ The editor of an Australian daily (unfortunately, not identified) described how they attempted to become more popular after World War II: "We changed its format and contents, its type dress and its concept of news. We reduced its solid news, particularly overseas news, in volume. We introduced a more popular slant. We increased the human interest content of stories. We sought out the unusual personal story. We pepped-up makeup, increased size of pictures and size of heads. We went in for campaign stories—graft, corruption, civic betterment. We told the story of little people, families without homes, their little joys and triumphs, their big defeats and their terrible tragedies" (cited in Holden, 1962: 32). Barr (1985:86) notes how Rupert Murdoch has used a popular style to increase the readership of struggling newspapers: "There is a consistent formula to his approach. Buy a struggling paper, slash its expenses, replace staid news with sport, sensationalism and more 'readable' items, then embark on major advertising campaigns and add the News Corporation management style." Of course not everyone has been happy with this process. When Murdoch took over the Chicago Sun Times in 1982, one of its columnists, Mike Royko, left with the classic line "no selfrespecting fish would be wrapped in one of Mr Murdoch's papers."

⁷ A well-researched United Nations campaign flooded Cincinnati USA (about 1950) with messages. There was no question about the quantity, but there were questions about the quality. Atkin (1981:267-8) concluded that "the use of dull stylistic approaches and unimaginative slogans simply did not engage widespread attentiveness among uninterested segments of the audience." They did not connect with the audience.

⁸ Lyons (2001:195) refers to third-sector organisations "or their various aliases: nonprofit organisations, NGOs, voluntary organizations, civil society or the social economy."

⁹ Because there has been no consideration of government publications in the proposed models of the media, I have not considered the government sector in the discussion on nonprofit publications.

¹⁰ A 1988 US survey found 57 per cent of church members gave to nonreligious charities compared to 48 per cent of nonmembers. A 1990 survey showed 66 per cent of church members gave to nonreligious charities compared to 58 per cent of nonmembers. Biddle (1992:93) adds that religious congregations are philanthropic organisations, using member contributions of time and money to provide or support the provision of goods and services to fill the needs of people who may have no formal association with the congregation.

¹¹ The title for this section is adapted from Iser's (1991) The Act of Reading: A Theory of Aesthetic Response.

Chapter 3

Print Media, Communication and Community

Communication is essential for community. Beavis (2002:10) takes an even broader view: "Without communication there can be no such thing as society." It can be said that "community forms, as it were, along the trade routes of communication" (Horsfield, 1999:152). This immediately takes away any understanding that the concept of community must be limited to a group of people living within certain geographic boundaries. Groups and individuals separated by even great distance can have a sense of being part of a greater whole that could be termed community. Other ways, outside geographic boundaries, have to be found and defined to fit this circumstance. A trade route of communication fits all forms of communication, from that of the spoken word between individuals to that of mediated communication forms, but all have the potential to help build community. Over distance, it is the mediated forms of communication that have a significant role to play in linking individuals with each other.

As a form of communication, print cannot be understood in isolation. As seen in the previous chapter, print media has a number of influences brought to bear upon it, but within voluntary, nonprofit organisations it has strong connections not only with the people producing it, but also with those addressed because of the expected commitment made by those who are a part of voluntary organisations. The objective in this chapter is to explore the notion of community and to bring greater definition to the Seventh-day Adventist Church as a community.

This chapter is divided into two parts. The first examines the concept of community as found in the literature. The second looks at church-sect typology to help gain a sociological understanding of the Adventist Church.

Understanding community

The concept of community has been defined by social scientists in a variety of ways. Bell and Newby (1971:21) note that while the term has been with us for more than 200 years, a satisfactory definition in sociological terms appears to be as remote as ever. They quote an unnamed editor stating that "community tends to be a God word. In many circumstances, when it is mentioned, we are expected to abase ourselves before it rather than attempt to define it" (Bell and Newby, 1971:15). Hamilton (1985:7-8) adds that in the 1950s there were more than 90 definitions of community, and that people believe in the notion of community either as an ideal or reality, sometimes both. This is not limited to the 1950s, though, with Hillery (1982:15ff) attempting to classify 94 types of community. The word itself "glows" with favourable connotations (Tinder, 1980:1). The notion of community retains an enduring appeal, even if it becomes an "empty vessel into which we can pour our images of the Good Life" (Crow and Allan, 1994:xi). However, it may be that community is one of those things we recognise chiefly in its absence (Cobb, 1996:186).

The appeal of community is enhanced in an age that insists on the freedom of the individual, but with a desire to enter into interpersonal relations with others (Kirkpatrick, 1986:137) and the emphasis on global control and systems for the management of global production (Sassen, 1991:324-5). Tinder (1980:1-2) warns that the ideal of community is alluring, but unattainable. However, he speaks about an ideal

of unity as represented in Plato and Jean Jacques Rousseau. On the other hand Weber (1947:41) suggests that the family is the type case for communal relationships.

In his classic study, Tonnies (1959:265, 270) sees community (Gemeinschaft) limited to the "house, village, and town" (all of which can be replicated within society (Gesellschaft), as seen in a city or state). Tonnies (1959:48-9) writes of community by blood (or kinship), community by location (neighbourhood) and community of mental life (friendship). The third "type of Gemeinschaft represents the truly human and supreme form of community. . . . The common bond is represented by sacred places and worshipped deities." He allows that those who travel may take a worshipped deity with them and that those who have a common faith feel, like members of the same craft or rank, united by a spiritual bond. At the same time Tonnies argues that the three types of community are closely interrelated in "space as well as time." Yet his argument for the traveller attacks the boundaries of space he wants to maintain. Add to the recognition that community is a "living organism" (Tonnies 1959:39, 253), with his emphasis on the mental or intellectual union, and those boundaries of space are even weaker. It should be noted that Bell and Newby (1971:16) argue that Tonnies' Gemeinschaft-Gesellschaft dichotomy revolves less around place than around the degree of human involvement.

It is boundaries that make communities. Chekki (1997:36) points out that the Latin root of the word "community" means "that which is surrounded by the walls." Some boundaries will be local, and this has been the area of most studies in community. For instance, in their New Zealand study of country communities, Hall, et al, (1983:171-2) discovered three sets of social relations in each locality that can provide a "basis for communion": relations to property, relations to propinquity (proximity) and relations of kinship. Two of these bases for communion are limited to local areas, only

kinship could break that boundary. Informal ties of solidarity, including kinship and friendship, occur over such a wide area that geographic conceptions of community cannot explain people's incorporation into the social realm (Crow and Allan, 1994:181). In fact the breakdown of traditional communities has made self-identification in non-geographical ways increasingly important (Cobb, 1996:188). Social boundaries (Barth, 1970:15) become more important than those that are geographic. This is well illustrated in Tall's (1996:107) experience when she describes her community as a widely scattered one where she has close friends all over the world, none of whom know each other. "Communities vary to the degree to which they are geographic, are interest based or imagined, or meet regularly" (Bouma, 1995:295).

The basis of community can be shared characteristics such as a common ethnic origin, religion, occupation or leisure pursuits, a "community of interest" (Willmott, 1986:83) or a community of meaning (Berger and Luckman, 1995:22). These groups can develop a "sub-community" (Hughes, et al, 1995:103) within a geographic community as, for instance, churches and professions (Goode, 1969:152-3). Cornwall (1987:46) maintains that the boundary of a religious group is best defined by the amount of "belief system commonality." Fairholm (1997:175) adds, "Community develops out of shared vision, beliefs, and values." In some denominations that is the local congregation (a congregational community within a denominational community). Within Mormonism, Fairholm says the belief system is "more appropriately delimited by denomination than by congregation" (a community larger than the congregational community). Those within the community are people with shared values who will tend to act in accordance with the way they expect one another to behave (Mills, 1970:39). Lee and Newby (1983:57-8) look to a sense of "commonality," "common identity" in their use of the word "communion." They claim that most references to a loss of

community point to a loss of communion or meaningful identity with other people and shared experiences.

Cohen (1985:12, 74) adds that community implies both similarity and difference. The members of a community have something in common with each other, but that which they have in common distinguishes them in a significant way from members of other groups. This creates a boundary that represents a mask by the community to the outside world, the community's "public face." However, those looking at a community group from without may attribute stereotypical features to those within the group that may be distorted, superficial and unfair. Those within the group who have the "private face" know the complexities within. Cohen (1985:117) notes that the decrease in the geographical bases of community boundaries has led to their "renewed assertion in symbolic terms," and any perceived differences between the community and the outside world can be rendered symbolically as a resource of the boundary.

The boundary is elastic and will stretch, but also pervious, allowing movement, more like a teabag than a balloon (Wallman, cited in Crow and Graham, 1994:187). Chekki (1997:38) not only suggests that membership in multiple communities may be fluid and subject to change, but the boundaries themselves may only be illusions necessary for our understanding of experience. Bouma (1996:71-2) reinforces the multiple communities concept: "There is no one community which observes me in all my dimensions." Community boundaries are a "fuzzy reality" (Wellman, et al, 1988:137).

Defining community then may be impossible; describing it has a better chance of success. Crow and Allan (1994:1) take the word "common" from community when they say, "Community ties may be structured around links between people with

common residence, common interests, common attachments or some other shared experience generating a sense of belonging." Kirkpatrick (1986:2, 207) develops a "trinity of models" that show a progression toward an increasing investment in human association. He starts with an "atomistic/contraction" model that sees individual atoms contracting with each other. Then he has the "organic/functional" model with independent organs functioning and serving the organic whole. Finally the "mutual/personal" model is idealised as individuals mutually relate through intentional love for each other. Shaffer and Anundsen (1993:10) travel a different path by arguing that community is a

dynamic whole that emerges when a group of people: participate in common practices; depend upon one another; make decisions together; identify themselves as part of something larger than the sum of their individual relationships; and commit themselves for the long term to their own, one another's, and the group's well-being.

In its local congregational setting, the Seventh-day Adventist Church can be seen as being part of a broader geographic community. The congregational church's boundaries are quite different to the local professional community, academic community or table tennis club community. At the same time it will be connected to those communities through local coalitions and membership networks (Ammerman, 1997:360-2). The Adventist Church also qualifies as a community not limited by geographic boundaries, but by symbolic boundaries that make it a nationwide and a worldwide community. Munoz (1981:158) describes the ideal of communion and community within a church group in this way: "Christian people should find [communion] in a web of Christian communities that are woven together into a church that is truly communitarian."

An obvious boundary of the Adventist Church is its belief system (another way, says Selznick (1996:196), of forming community), where it resembles Cornwall's

(1987:46) description of Mormonism with a belief system "more appropriately delimited by denomination than by congregation." Knight (1985:31-2) sees this boundary as a symbolic rejection of the world between those who have "the truth" and those who do not. Other symbolic boundaries include tradition (Tinder, 1980:67), rituals (Cohen, 1985:50) and insider language (O'Neill, 1995:138-9). At the same time there needs to be recognition that individuals within the Adventist community may be a part of a professional community, an academic community or a table tennis club community. They will also be a part of Tonnies' kinship, neighbourhood and friendship communities.

From the literature, then, the concept of community has no firm definition and is often noticed more in its absence than its presence. Tonnies' important work helped define boundaries of community. The boundaries are now well expressed by Lee and Newby (1983:57-8) as locality, local social system, and type of relationship. While Tonnies emphasised the first two, modern society with its travel and communication has made it imperative to place a greater emphasis on the third. The boundaries are at best fuzzy because individuals will belong to a variety of communities and various communities may work with each other in coalition. For the Adventist Church there are real boundaries that set it apart from other parts of the community: for instance, the teachings of the church. There are also symbolic boundaries: for instance, the group's history and tradition. Either of these types of boundaries would make the church a community in its own right.

In this study, because community is difficult to define, the research in its various forms (interviews, focus groups and surveys) has used the concept of "family" as being a better understood term, but one that remains true to the ideals of "community." This

follows Weber (1947:41) and his suggestion that the family is the type cast for communal relationships.

In an attempt to understand better the community known as the Seventh-day Adventist Church, the next step is to consider the sociological concept of church-sect typology, a well-recognised way of describing church groups.

Church-sect typology and the Adventist Church

Religious organisations differ significantly from one another and church-sect typology endeavours to register these differences. At a general level, sects differ from churches by their size and the fact that they are recent arrivals on the religious lands e. At a deeper level, the typology endeavours to differentiate religious groups according to where they position themselves in relation to society. Churches are more accommodating, whereas sects endeavour to maintain social distance.

Weber (1985:144-54) may be considered the founder of church-sect typology. He proposed what Parsons (1965:xxxvi-xxxvii) calls a "definition of the religious community," that of a "collectivity with a distinctive religious character," a sect or a church. It was Troeltsch, his student, who gave the typology greater definition. Hill (1973:47) suggests that the church-sect typology of Weber and Troeltsch was one of the most fruitful attempts to devise categories to analyse religious organisations. A limitation of Troeltsch's typology, though, was that he based it on church history until the eighteenth century; in fact, his major development of church type and sect type appears in the chapter entitled "Mediaeval Catholicism" (1981:331-349). It was at this stage of history that he thought a "clear and permanent fission between the two types emerged" (Hill, 1973:54). Troeltsch (1960:991, 1008) suggested that after the eighteenth century until the time of publication in 1911, the development of the church

"could merely be suggested," and he recognised that state churches were losing their power and the social philosophy of the Christian community had suffered "undeniable disintegration." He added, "The days of the pure Church-type within our present civilization are numbered." He had, however, set the basis for a continuum with sect at one end and church at the other.

Both Weber and Troeltsch recognised limitations to a church or sect position. Weber (1965:213) wrote of congregational religion losing its "initial sectarian drive." Hill (1973:55) sees Troeltsch's development of mysticism as a "synthesis of the polar type-concepts." Troeltsch (1960:725, 805) had also begun to categorise sect types into aggressive and non-aggressive sects. Then Niebuhr's (1967:19-22) introduction of denominations to the continuum helped fill the void for those nations, notably the United States, without a national church. More importantly, Niebuhr added a sense of movement along the continuum by arguing that the sectarian type of organisation is valid for only one generation.

Whether there has been a shift from church to denomination is rarely discussed in the literature, most have attempted to define various sects, or noted the shift from sect to church or denomination. Historically, though, the shift from church to denomination has been seen in the Presbyterian Church of England in the seventeenth century (Martin, 1962:14). In Australia, Bouma (1995:299) says Anglicans and Catholics have only recently and partially moved from seeing themselves as "churches" to seeing themselves as "denominations." Both have had to forfeit claims of being the Christian church in Australia. Modern, advanced industrial nations currently have competing religions and, in Western Europe, state-favoured churches and denominations are losing their special privileges, with low-tension denominations taking the place of the church (Bainbridge, 1997:40-2, 59). Secularisation and pluralism mean the church type is

perhaps only found in the developing world (South America, for instance), and even there it has a lessening influence.

Troeltsch's early classification of sects ("aggressive" and "non-aggressive") became fruitful soil for the development of church-sect typology. For example: Yinger (1967:148-54) lists six categories between church and cult; Clark (1967:421-3) identifies seven sect types in the United States; Eister (1967:86) reports on a survey listing more than two dozen sect variables; and Greeley and Rossi (1972:75-6) say the "jungle of types and definitions grows more complex" with every effort to accommodate border-line religious groups.

The significant work of Wilson (1975:22-6) in developing seven sect types, and Stark and Bainbridge's (1985:134-5) six scales of sect tension with society also attempt to redefine church-sect typology. The creation of these various categories, though, has not solved the problem, for there are groups that don't clearly fit into a designated category, or fit into more than one category. As Mol (1976:169, ix) has noted, church-sect typology has been "refined and elaborated in many directions," so much so that he makes the "bold accusation" that church-sect distinctions are outdated. Niebuhr (1996:xxxix-xl) also saw problems with the typology: "To what an extent the types are mental constructs to which no historic individuals conform completely becomes evident in any effort to classify the historic Christian groups into churches or sects."

In the Seventh-day Adventist Church, sociologists have seen movement on the church-sect continuum. Schwartz (1970:44) saw the Adventist Church as a sect that expected to "move up in the world." Knight (1977:370) recognised the Adventist Church as a sect and sensed it followed Niebuhr's classic pattern of evolution from sect toward denominationalism. More recently, Knight (1995:45-6) acknowledges that the church has a "sectarian face" and a "modestly denominational face."

In 1996, Wilson (1966:196-8) classified the Adventist Church as a revolutionist sect. Almost 10 years later, in writing for an Adventist audience (1975:41) he recognised accommodation to the outside world, but argues that "Seventh-day Adventists have still some way to go before they are denominationalized." In a more recent work, Wilson (1990:140-1) writes that Seventh-day Adventists more than the other Adventist groups (Jehovah's Witnesses, Worldwide Church of God and Christadelphians) have gradually taken a less sectarian stance and come closer to a denominational position. He says the process is hindered by distinctive teachings such as the keeping of the seventh-day Sabbath.

The most extensive study of Seventh-day Adventists is being undertaken by Ronald Lawson, who has interviewed more than 3000 Adventist leaders around the world. Lawson (1995a:375) claims that Adventists are best characterised as a "denominationalizing sect." In another place Lawson (1995b:339) calls it a "liberalizing sect" becoming more diverse and more comfortable with society. Lawson (1996:50) argues that Adventists have found it increasingly difficult to define precisely the wall of separation they are committed to defending. Even in the developing world, where Adventism is growing most rapidly, they are less separated from society than expected 1998a:657-8). In calling the Adventist Church (Lawson, denominationalising or liberalising sect, though, Lawson is indicating the direction, not the position the church has on the church-sect continuum and it could fit any religious group following the typical route from sect toward becoming a denomination or church. There is a need to go to his description of the church to understand where he would place it on the continuum.

Bainbridge (1997:106-10, 118) goes a step further than Lawson and argues that Seventh-day Adventists (and Jehovah's Witnesses) "have taken their place among major Protestant denominations."

Within the Adventist community there is also evidence of movement toward denominationalism. The publication of the book *Seventh-day Adventists Answer Questions on Doctrine* (1957) is an indicator of this movement. Prepared as a response to questions from a group of evangelical Protestant scholars, the book established a new understanding of the Adventist Church among Protestants. Walter Martin (1965:359), one of the Evangelicals, said.

Seventh-day Adventism as a denomination is essentially Christian in a sense that all denominations and groups professing Christianity are Christian if they conform to the classical mission of Christianity as given in the Bible and the creeds and couns is of the Christian church.

Questions on Doctrine was not welcomed by all within the Adventist Church; Pearson (1990:7) calls it a "controversial" book, "seen by many as a conscious attempt to lead the church away from the backwaters of sectarian religion into the mainstream of evangelical Protestantism." When it was released there was an immediate outcry from some scholars and others within the church that it downplayed historic Adventist belief. Knight (2003:xiii) adds:

Questions on Doctrine easily qualifies as the most divisive book in Seventh-day Adventist history. A book published to help bring peace between Adventism and conservative Protestantism, its release brought prolonged alicnation and separation to the Adventist factions that grew up around it.

Despite this, the book was an important step in developing relationships with other churches, a step indicating at least the desire to be accepted among the denominations. Further evidence of a movement toward denominationalism is seen in friendly conversations that have taken place with the World Council of Churches (1973)

and, more recently a paper, "Adventist and Lutherans in conversation" (1998), was published after four years of discussion. One recommendation from the Adventist-Lutheran conversation was that "Lutherans in their national and regional church contexts do not treat the Seventh-day Adventist Church as a sect but as a free church and a Christian world communion."

Church leadership has given mixed signals. When Robert H Pierson (1978:10) retired as leader of the worldwide church (as General Conference president) he made an impassioned plea that the church remain a sect. He spoke of how "typically" a sect evolves into a church, an evolution that he believed would erode the Adventist reason for being. "The group [then] enjoys complete acceptance by the world. The sect has become a church! Brethren and sisters, this must never happen to the Seventh-day Adventist Church." His successor, Neal C Wilson, some eight years later, appears to say something quite different: "I would hope that as we as a church grow numerically and financially, and in terms of world acceptance and influence, we would meet the Lord's expectation for His church" (Coffin 1986:9). The dilemma from within is whether to maintain and reinforce the sectarian tradition or move toward accommodation. The former could mean increasing isolation from society, the latter, loss of identity (Land, 1986:208).

A study of the Adventist Church shows that it is not a religious group that sits comfortably into a particular typology. It is also a demonstration that time and place must be an element in deciding where a religious group should be placed on the continuum.

The sect type

The Seventh-day Adventist Church challenges classic sect type in a variety of ways. In its beginnings it did not break away from a particular church, sect or denomination as would be expected from a typical sect, but arose from a movement that impacted on most Protestant groups of the time (Wilson, 1975:39). Wilson (1990:51) also notes that the Adventist Church has strong links to society as seen in its health and education system, and food factories. Early in its history in Australia and New Zealand, Adventists acted in a most un-sect-like manner by demonstrating a willingness to be involved in community issues. They were at the forefront of the successful push to distance religion and state in the Australian constitution (Ely, 1976:44-5). As Ballis (1985:52) shows, in New Zealand they were willing to be both "in and out of the world" over issues such as prohibition, the Bible in schools debate and military conscription.

Sects reject a hierarchical structure of religious authority (Schwartz, 1970:59) and the Adventist Church argues that it has a "representative form of church government" (Church Manual, 1995:24), yet the Seventh-day Adventist Churc'i has a well-defined structure with levels of authority. Churches belong to a conference of churches, several conferences combine to create a union of conferences; the union conferences create 13 divisions that are overseen by the General Conference. Each layer has its own administration, which is accountable to the one above it. The representative nature of the church is seen in the administration of the various levels being voted into position by representatives from levels below them. During a 1977 court case in the United States the Adventist Church used as a part of its defence that it is a hierarchy (Van Horne, 1977:24). Church leadership was quick to state that using this terminology in court did not change the structure of the church (Pierson, 1977:6), and the term is not normally used to describe the church system.

Lawson (1998:27) argues that the "growing ease" with which the church uses the legal system in the United States is another indication that the sect is becoming denominationalised. Wilson (1990:140-1) mentions that the teachings on the seventh-day Sabbath prevent the Adventist Church from moving toward denominationalism, but Bainbridge (1997:107) brushes aside the seventh-day Sabbath as a distinctive mark by saying it is "no longer deviant" in a society where there is little distinction between Saturday and Sunday. It should be noted that all religious groups will, at times, be at tension with their society in their teachings or activities. This is seen, for instance, in the comment of the Catholic Archbishop Pell (Lyons, 1999:30), "The great temptation for religion in our society is to just [merge] into the general cultural background. The bland leading the bland. That's a travesty of Christ's teaching."

Time and place

To say that the Seventh-day Adventist Church is situated on a certain point on the church-sect continuum only has meaning if it is given a historic (time) and geographic (place) reference point. It is far too broad a description to be accurate in every circumstance for a religious organisation with some 13 million adherents worldwide.

That a group will change over time is well recognised, movement along the church-sect continuum is now a basic assumption of church-sect typology. What has not often been highlighted is the importance of place, or environment (Johnson, 1963:543), in defining where a group belongs. Even with Bainbridge (1997:106-10, 118) saying the Adventist Church is a denomination, Bainbridge and Stark (1985:489) demonstrate recognition of the place factor by positioning the church in Europe "near the borderline between sect and cult." There is evidence that the Seventh-day Adventist Church

currently (time), in some parts of the world (place) May be considered a church, a denomination or a sect.

It is difficult to find a place where church-type would be an accurate description of the Adventist Church, Pearson (1990:13) ventures that some Caribbean island communities might be called the "established Church." The Adventist Church could be considered a denomination in Papua New Guinea where 185,000 of the 4.5 million (4 per cent) inhabitants are Seventh-day Adventists. More importantly there are strong links to society with the past (to the end of the year 2003) Governor-General a Seventh-day Adventist, as are several politicians (including one who was deputy prime minister for several months in 1999) and at least two judges. Finally, the Adventist Church could be regarded as a sect in the sociological sense where it stands in strong tension with society and, often, religious norms in several places, for instance: China, India and Muslim countries.

For a religious organisation not limited by geographic boundaries, both time and place are essential to have a real understanding of the group. Current definitions of the Seventh-day Adventist Church tend to be based on the church in the United States, but this is not the Adventist Church of certain Caribbean island communities, Papua New Guinea, Pakistan or even of Australia and New Zealand. Darroch (cited in Ballis, 1985:11) is an exception. He places the Adventist Church in New Zealand midway between evangelical Protestantism and sects on the basis that it holds to the core of Protestant belief, but at the same time it maintains variant theological positions.

In his useful study of the Mennonite Brethren's progression from sect to denomination, Kyle (1985:3) notes how few religious bodies correspond to the classic social types of church, sect or denomination: "Nearly all Christian groups have manifested a variety of these sociological distinctives throughout their existence."

Receptors's (1967:104) study of the Salvation Army in England discovered three strands within the group: the old guard, the acceptors, and the modernists. The old guard wished to retain the traditional features of Salvationism; the acceptors wished to retain the basic outlines, but took a pragmatic view; the modernists were mainly concerned with revitalising the Army. This response is typical of most religious bodies that have passed their first-generation mark and they will contain both church and sect elements once they have reached a certain size (Greeley and Rossi, 1972:78). This is certainly true within the Adventist Church.

There are sound arguments that the Adventist Church in Australia and New Zealand has denominational tendencies. For instance, there is a professional clergy, many congregations have educated professionals who often bring a secularised edge to these congregations, and there is closeness to the surrounding society in attitudes. Lawson (1995a:371-6) lists several trends within the church that signal a greater accommodation to and less tension with society that fit well into the Australian and New Zealand scenario. These include the upward mobility of members, the greater identification of leadership with corporate professionals, higher education and less apocalyptic urgency. On the other hand, there continues to be a fascination with and the public presentation of apocalyptic Bible teachings with an emphasis on both the Second Coming and withdrawing from society. That these presentations are more often for the public than for members within congregations may in fact show a divide between how many congregations perceive themselves (denomination-like, perhaps) yet allow these presentations as an acceptable reminder of the past.

Even though there are several weaknesses in, and the disintegration of, churchsect typology, there is currently no other sociological tool to explain the kind of religious community that makes up the Seventh-day Adventist Church. It does not fit neatly into Wilson's types, nor into one of Stark and Bainbridge's scales of sect tension; and Lawson's "denominationalizing sect" refers to direction rather than position. A simpler solution is to focus on the continuum, allow for time and place, and say that the Adventist Church in Australia and New Zealand (place) is a community that is currently (time) more a denomination than sect. It still retains much of its sectarian heritage, but is pulling away from its past and becoming more involved in, and a part of, society.

If, as suggested, there has been movement within the Adventist Church in Australia and New Zealand along the church-sect continuum, that should also been seen in the church's print-media products.

Summary

This chapter provides background material for the study in two ways. First, the understanding of community as found in the literature helps provide information about the concept. Second, attempting to position the Seventh-day Adventist Church in Australia and New Zealand on the church-sect continuum helps provide a sociological understanding of the type of group and organisation involved in the case study. From church-sect typology, the Adventist Church in Australia and New Zealand can be called a denomination while still retaining elements of its sectarian heritage. However it does not sit comfortably within this sociological concept because in some ways the group is more church-like with its global spread and the stable characteristics of church organisation. The church's print program is reliant on this strong organisational structure. Yet it maintains a sect-like attitude as, for instance, it retains an apocalyptic theology that tends to keep it at a distance from society. In the following chapters, it will become evident that the tensions between evolving into a more church-like

organisation and retaining attachment to sectarian values is far from resolved and impacts on Adventist print.

With the first two chapters of this section offering theoretical background for the research, the next looks at the methodology used.

Endnote

¹ The book has recently been re-released (2003) with annotations giving a history of the conflict of the time.

Chapter 4

Research Methodology

A variety of data-gathering techniques are used in the present study in an attempt "to increase the depth and quality of information" (Bouma, 1996a:180). Qualitative and quantitative information has been gathered; words and numbers both have their place in this study. The goal is to take the various types of information given by representatives of those who receive print media within their community to understand impact and potential for print within the group.

This chapter begins with a brief overview before discussing five aspects of the research. The first suggests that rather than consider arguments for and against qualitative and quantitative research, both have a role to play. The second explains the processes used in gaining and conducting interviews, with a consideration of the value of interviews. The third mirrors the second, except it looks at focus groups. The fourth comments on the survey completed by participants. The fifth notes the types of content analysis used as part of the research. The chapter concludes with a discussion of the problem of possible bias.

Overview

The data involving respondents for this research was obtained in four ways: interviews, focus groups, surveys and participant observation over a 12-month period during 1997 and 1998. All involved were attending members of the Seventh-day Adventist Church.

Respondents came from 31 churches covering a wide geographic area, including every state of mainland Australia and the north island of New Zealand. Forty-one church members were interviewed at length, and 21 church pastors were involved in a brief phone interview. Seventy-eight church members were involved in focus groups. All participants were asked to fill in a survey.

The churches chosen had mainly Caucasian and English-speaking members, although several individuals involved were not Caucasian and English was their second language. An attempt was made to involve a wide variety of churches within the obvious limitations of time and budget. Fortunately geographic limitations were overcome because I was able to link my research with various itineraries for my work and, on a couple of occasions, create a work itinerary that allowed me to visit other areas during that period (the north island of New Zealand, for instance). In an attempt to involve as broadly a representative group of people as possible, other factors involved in the choice of churches included: their reputation as a conservative or liberal church, the average age of their membership, size, and the length of time they had been established. Usually several of those factors came into play.

After each interview and focus group, I wrote brief field notes to help give background and context to the recorded conversation. As has been well noted, conversation is more than words (Goffman, 1981:32), the field notes were an attempt to introduce another element into the research to add light to the recorded words. Patton (1980:157) sees them useful as a check against distortion by the emotional state of the respondent (was he/she angry? anxious? and so on); reactions of the respondent to the interviewer; and a check on what is reported in the interviews. An interviewer also sets certain contexts, sometimes deliberately, often unintentionally, that impact on the interview (Sudman, et al, 1996:81).

Wolfson (1976:204-8) argues strongly for observation, particularly in the research of variables (she relates it to her work on the historical present tense in speech). She differentiates between an interview as a speech event and natural speech. She calls for recognition that

speech is socially situated, that the interviewer is socially defined and the interview is a speech event which has rules well known to everyone in society, [so] there can no longer be any excuse for the researcher to ignore these facts when he plans his sociological investigation (Wolfson, 1976:204-8).

The field notes were an attempt to take into account the social situation and to put down "field-generated insights" (Patton, 1980:164).

Before describing in detail the interviews, focus groups and surveys, the strengths and weaknesses of qualitative and quantitative research need to be understood.

Qualitative and quantitative research

While the research is overwhelmingly qualitative, all participants were also asked to fill in a survey (see Appendix A, page 291), which helped to add a quantitative dimension to the study. The time when supporters of quantitative and qualitative methodology were dug into two parallel trenches, from which they threw verbal hand grenades at each other, is probably over. Whether one should use one method or another has caused much debate over the past few decades, but that debate seems to have lessened now, for three reasons: (1) There has been a greater use of the qualitative approach, particularly in the social sciences. (2) There is now better defined and accepted methodology used in qualitative research and investigation, which has given greater credence. (3) Supporters from both sides have discovered that findings from the other trench can actually be helpful. "It [qualitative research] is no longer a Cinderella approach to social research" (Bryman, 1988:173).

Datta (1994:60-7) points out that both paradigms have to stand by how well they measure up to the three questions

applied to most theoretical statements in the social and physical sciences: (1) Is there any internally consistent framework of assumptions, principles, and arguments? (2) Are the assumptions testable? (3) When tested, how well does the framework hold up?

Datta (1994) further argues that qualitative methods should be reviewed as thoroughly as those conducted under quantitative methods, with evaluation and approaches made "public with a transparent methodology." It is this kind of approach to qualitative research that has Maykut and Morehouse (1994:7) claim that qualitative research is "an acceptable way of doing science." Filstead (1979:42) adds that it is "a legitimate research style," and it can be "evaluated in terms of objectivity" (Kirk and Miller, 1986:73). The goal of qualitative research is to discover patterns that emerge after "close observation, careful documentation, and thoughtful analysis" of the research topic (Maykut and Morehouse, 1994:21; cf Smith, 1994:38).

Perhaps the best sign of acceptance of qualitative methodology is in discovering that the "hard sciences" can talk about "qualitative calculus" (Nijkamp, et al, 1985:17). There is "great potential" in "qualitative methods of analysis" and it is unfortunate that "criticism of the conventional methodology of various social sciences has resulted from inappropriate choices of the level of measurement in statistical and econometric analysis" (Nijkamp and Wrigley, 1985:693).

The appropriate method of research, then, is the one that best answers the questions being asked. It is true that there usually is a trade-off in choosing one method over another. For instance in taking a qualitative approach one may sacrifice precision or breadth for greater depth of description (Hammersley, 1992:51; Patton, 1980:97-8).

However, this could be important, since quantitative data is unable to supply satisfactory answers to many of the qualitative questions being asked (Ianni, 1979:88).

This was well illustrated in a conversation during preparation for the 1997 Record survey. The Record Committee¹ asked Fraser Jackson (emeritus professor of Victoria University of Wellington, NZ) to conduct a survey to find an answer to the question, "Does the Record help your devotional life?" Jackson had difficulty in his quantitative survey of finding a way to ask the question so that it could be answered in a helpful way, yes/no does not give enough information. This is where the strength of qualitative research is found. Patton (1980:88-9) developed a checklist of 16 "evaluation situations" where qualitative methods are appropriate. It is the crossing of the trenches that can be helpful in gaining the best information. Reichardt and Cook (1979:11) allow that the combination of the two can be best suited to research needs.

Hedrick (1994:49) suggests the integration of methodologies. Hedrick sees not two, but three potential sources when considering how to conduct an evaluation study and pictures these sources as doors to workshops, each filled with the necessary tools. The investigator chooses which door will best help the study being undertaken. The first of these doors is quantitative research. The second is qualitative research, "Our studies may be greatly improved if we open doors 1 and 2 simultaneously" (Hedrick, 1994:49). The third adds a new element developed by Guba and Lincoln (1989:98) as "fourthgeneration evaluation." They believe all data is time-bound: "Explanations are at best 'here and now' accounts that represent a 'photographic slice of life' of a dynamic process that, in the next instant, might represent a very different aspect" (Guba and Lincoln, 1989:98). This third approach for Hedrick (1994:49) is limited and the credibility of its findings is vulnerable, but he notes that it is helpful in assessing biases concerning how studies are planned.

Qualitative research attempts to understand a situation as it is constructed by the participants. This research attempts to capture what the people say and do as products of how they interpret their world. "The task for the qualitative researcher is to capture this process of interpretation" (Maykut and Morehouse, 1994:18). "Thick description," "experiential understanding" and "multiple realities" are expected in qualitative research (Stake, 1995:43; Vaughn, et al, 1996:15).

Denzin (1989:83) says "thick description"

does more than record what a person is doing. It goes beyond mere fact and surface appearances. It presents detail, context, emotion, and the web of social relationships that join persons one to another. Thick description evokes emotionality and self-feelings. It inserts history into experience. It establishes the significance of an experience, or the sequence of events, for the person or persons in question. In thick description, the voices, feelings, actions, and meanings of interacting individuals are heard.

Stake (1995:47) agrees when he says that qualitative research is holistic and empirical. He adds that it is also interpretive as the researcher attempts to come to grips with the information uncovered. The goal then is to discover patterns that emerge from observation, documentation and analysis. In this regard Maykut and Morehouse (1994:21) make an important comment: "What can be discovered by qualitative research is not sweeping generalizations but contextual findings." Care needs to be exercised in taking the specific findings and attempting to make them general. That is why the process of sampling and numbers involved (below) is important for credibility and capturing the broad picture, to allow a process of moving from the "substantive theory" to the "formal theory" (Glasser and Strauss, 1967:77-99).

With a qualitative approach there must be an ongoing interpretive role from the researcher. As Filstead (1979:38) has observed, a qualitative researcher prefers the theory to emerge from the data as it is being gathered, there is a "concern with the discovery of theory rather than the verification of theory." This is contrasted with the

quantitative paradigm with its "lock-step model of logicodeductive reasoning from theory to propositions." A helpful comment comes from Stake (1995:39) when he notes that quantitative researchers tend to treat unique cases as "error" or outside the system of explained science. Qualitative researchers treat uniqueness of individual cases and contexts as important to understanding.

Grounded theory holds a central place in this process (Brannen, 1992:7). Glasser and Strauss (1967:viii), who developed grounded theory, state that, "We argue for grounding theory in social research itself—for generating it from data." More specifically they point out, "Generating a theory involves a process of research" (Glasser and Strauss, 1967:6). Having agreed that grounded theory does hold a central place, Brannen (1992:8) concedes that researchers cannot but be influenced by prior knowledge of the literature or lay knowledge and, "Qualitative work is to some extent always theory driven, though it is often criticised for being atheoretical." It should also be noted that grounded theory is sometimes criticised concerning its "apparent lack of interest in testing hypothesis" (Silverman, 1993:153; Bryman, 1988:85).

In social research, Silverman (1993:2) points out that, "Methodologies cannot be true or false, only more or less useful." It seemed that, in this research, predominately qualitative methodology would be more useful. The aim, though, is to use both quantitative and qualitative approaches to develop "the best and most innovative research" (Bouma, 1996a:172). Both have a role to play in this research.

Interviews

Forty-one church members, two each from 20 churches and one from another—and 21 pastors (the pastor of each church) were interviewed. All pastors and three church members were interviewed over the phone. One of these member was from an isolated

part of Australia. The second member phone interview came about by accident. Through a misunderstanding I was unable to find the home in an interstate city and when I was finally able to contact the interviewee I didn't have the opportunity to go back. The third phone interview was caused by a fog-delayed flight into another interstate city, which didn't allow time to keep the appointment. Most interviews were conducted in Victoria, for ease of access, but covered all mainland states and territories, and the north island of New Zealand (see Table 4.1). The table demonstrates the attempt to involve a broad spread of geographical situations and to involve urban and rural church members.

Table 4.1
Numbers interviewed by area

Area	ACT	NSW	NT	Qld	Vic	WA	NZ	Totals
Urban	4	6		2	6	6	2	26
Rural	_	2	1	2	4		6	15
Totals	4	8	1	4	10	6	8	41

The interview is a particularly strong method for research in the social sciences (Mishler, 1986:136). Caution is needed though, because an interview is not a natural conversation. Interviews are better described as "speech events" with the meanings of questions and responses "contextually grounded and jointly constructed by interviewer and respondent" (Mishler, 1986:34-5). It is, normally, a conversation with a stranger, and the presence of a tape-recorder must have some impact even if the respondent claims it does not. There are a variety of speech situations and the conversation with an interviewer will be quite different to one with a member of the family or a friend, at least in "speech form" (Wolfson, 1976:204).

While, for the sake of convenience, the pastors were interviewed over the phone (along with the three church members mentioned) there are at least two advantages in face-to-face interviews. The most important are the physical clues that can often lead to a better understanding of meaning behind the words being spoken. Eye messages and facial expressions, and body language can offer clues to hidden meanings (Douglas, 1985:77; Goffman, 1981:2-4). During a face-to-face interview, the interviewer is able to note these signs and ask follow-up questions that can help uncover the real message the respondent is giving. The other advantage comes from listening to the recorded voice after the interview. The timbre and inflection of the voice is not further distorted through a telephone connection. Sometimes the voice on the tape can give clues not picked up during the interview.

While there are no absolute methods for specifying what samples should be in any study (Douglas, 1985:49), in this case the church members were chosen by the church pastor. The pastor was asked to choose two of his church members for an interview on the basis that he considered one had liberal leanings and the other had conservative leanings, Patton (1980:100) would call this "purposeful sampling." While the objective was to interview "typical" church members who would have access to the *Record*, "typical" is too vague a description to be of any real value. "Liberal" and "conservative" are more easily defined and are terms commonly used within the Seventh-day Adventist Church (Knott, 1998:5; Guy, 1999:27-9).

During the interviews, church members were asked for their understanding of the terms and had already rated themselves on a liberal-conservative continuum in the survey. The church pastor interview (a brief phone interview, usually five minutes or less) took place after the member interviews. Each pastor was asked to give reasons why he had chosen the members he had, and then for his understanding of the terms "liberal" and "conservative." He also rated himself on the liberal-conservative continuum in the survey. This topic was also raised during the focus groups in an attempt to gain further insight into how the terms were understood.

Two pastors admitted they had selected church members who were more extreme than "leanings" would imply, but there was a consistency in five areas: First, all chosen were mature, only one was under the age of 30. Most were in their 40s or older (see Table 4.2). Second, almost all were articulate, four pastors commented that they had chosen people who would talk freely, to help with data gathering. Third, males predominated (63 per cent). Fourth, a majority (82 per cent) of those interviewed were actively involved in the local church and held some kind of formal (elected) position ranging from working with children in Sabbath school² to serving as the senior elder.³ Fifth, most had been members of the Seventh-day Adventist Church for a significant amount of time, more than half (63 per cent) had been Adventists for more than 20 years. Only 3 (14 per cent) had been Adventists for fewer than 10 years. The pastors tended to choose articulate, mature leaders from within their churches; people who had been members for a significant period of time. This probably should be expected if the church pastor is asked to choose because he will naturally lean toward the ones he works with most and knows best. In the main, then, these are committed supporters of the church and, as readers of *Record*, they may simply bring that support to the church's magazine without being too critical. This is a reminder that any selection process that attempts to extract 2 individuals from a group of 5 (in one case) and from a group of up to 1200 people (in another case) will have weaknesses.

Table 4.2 indicates that the overall average ages of those interviewed were greater than either the general population or the Adventist population. As would be

expected, the focus groups, because the individuals were chosen in random order, came closer, but still tended to be older than both groups.

Table 4.2

Age comparisons between the general population, Adventist population, those interviewed and those involved in focus groups⁴

(in percentages)

Age (years)	15-19	20-29	30-39	40-49	50-64	65+
General population	9	19	20	18	13	20
Adventist population	9	13	16	19	22	22
Interview		5	12	20	32	32
Focus groups	1	13	16	23	30	17

The fact that the majority were male reflects that leadership within the local Seventh-day Adventist church tends to be male, unless they are dealing with children. For instance, even though women have served as elders in Australia and New Zealand since 1970, most elders are still male. Women are under-represented within leadership of the local church and the broader church. Vance (1999:221-3) postulates that for the Adventist Church this can be explained by the "sociological theory of sectarian development." Vance argues, as Weber asserts, that sectarian movements originally "allot equality" to women, but as sectarian movements become "bureaucratized and seek accommodation to secular society, positions of leadership and authority available to women diminish." During debates over the acceptability of the ordination of women since 1970 (as church elders, a lay position, the result was yes, in parts of the world that thought it acceptable), and through the 1980s and 1990s (as church pastors, a higher, salaried position, the result was no), traditionalists advocated a return to the socioreligious norms of the 1950s and 1960s where the woman's main role was in the home. There were warnings that feminism and liberalism were driving the ordination of

women agenda, and that gender equity was inconsistent with Adventism's historic tradition, which became, according to Vance (1999:221-3), a convincing argument.

Because the research is based on non-ethnic churches, the national or ethnic background of those interviewed held few surprises, with the majority (75 per cent) being either Australian or New Zealand Caucasian.

A significant majority of those interviewed (71 per cent) had gone through some kind of tertiary education (TAFE or CAE, or university). This was much higher than the Australian National Church Life Survey figure of 44 per cent of Adventists over the age of 15 having a trade certificate, diploma or university degree. While Adventists tend to pursue higher education more than the general population, 27 per cent over the age of 15 claimed "skilled vocational" or higher education in the 1996 Australian census, 5 there was a strong bias by pastors in choosing members with higher education for interviews. It is also worth noting that more than a third (39 per cent) of those interviewed had had some education in Adventist schools.

Interviewing was chosen as the main method of data collection because it allowed more flexibility and greater depth. As Douglas (1985:7) maintains, "The question and answer technique may be of some value in determining favoured detergents, toothpaste and deodorants, but not in the discovery of men and women." There was an endeavour to allow those interviewed to introduce what they regarded as relevant (Dexter, 1970:5). In the interview situation, there was the advantage of being able to restate questions that the respondent did not understand (Singleton, et al, 1993:261).

Sometimes a question did relate to the survey, often in the form of, why did you answer in this way? "How" and "why" questions are more explanatory and likely to lead to the use of case study, says Yin (1989:18). In a sense, several questions were

used in the "loose and liberal" way that Lazarsfeld (1972:193) calls for, but the emphasis was definitely "knowing what [the researcher] is trying to discover" rather than a specific way of asking the questions. The interview did not simply follow the survey, but followed a short list of "issue oriented questions" (Stake, 1995:65) that became the interview schedule. They formed the basis of the discussion, but the twists and turns of talk, the "dance in talk" (Goffman, 1981:73), often led down other paths. Because of this, respondents sometimes raised issues under study before the question needed to be asked, at other times they had to be drawn back to the issues. In a sense, each interview was an "interpersonal drama with a developing plot" (Pool, 1957:193).

The strength of this approach is that within the limitations of a formal interview situation, it attempts to make the situation as close to normal conversation as possible. That also creates a weakness: Because an interview of this nature is an interpersonal exchange, not a strictly structured question-and-answer event, there were times during reflection after the event that uncovered areas that could have been covered better, follow-up questions that could have helped clarify statements made. I am not the first to notice that the question that should have been asked often becomes clear after the interview (Patton, 1980:295).

Where appropriate, an attempt was made to ask open-ended questions that allowed respondents to comment on areas under examination. This encouraged discussion, allowed for opinions and allowed respondents to express themselves in their own way. The open-ended question approach "produces vignettes of considerable richness" and is an "invaluable tool when you want to go into a particular topic deeply" (Sudman, and Bradburn, 1982:150-1).

Sudman and Bradburn (1982:151) also note several disadvantages to open-ended questions: The data is much more complex, and thus needs to be coded into fewer and

simpler categories. This is time consuming and introduces the possibility of coding error. The questions take more time to answer and require greater skill by the interviewer in recognising ambiguities of response, and in probing and drawing respondents out, to ensure that they give "codable answers." The questions demand more psychological work on the part of the respondents, they have to think harder about the question, organise their thoughts to respond, even then their thoughts may come out haphazardly. The advantages, however, outweigh these disadvantages. The "dance of talk" did become more complex, though, for focus groups.

Focus groups

Ten focus groups were conducted with each one involving from 6 to 10 people; Morgan (1988:38) recommends 6-8 participants as best. The 78 who participated were chosen by a random sampling method from the church roll. The method involved dividing the total number of those on the church roll by 20 (double the number for the maximum, 10 wanted, only once was the number able to be contacted larger than 10 even though there were 20 on the list, with still only 10 or less able to attend). All church rolls were prepared in alphabetical order, and the selection process then involved beginning at a random name and counting off the result of dividing the number of members by 20. In order to take the "critical step in systematic sampling" of selecting the first case randomly (Bouma, 1996a:124), each first name was linked to time. The clock was considered to be divided into six (10 minute) or four (15 minute) quadrants, six for a smaller church, four for a larger church. Each minute within the quadrant was considered to be a number: 1 to 10; or 1 to 15. The first name was then chosen by counting down to whatever number was indicated by the clock when beginning to choose participants.

While using the church roll was an obvious way of selecting those involved, all church rolls were inflated with the names of people who no longer attended that church. They were either church members who no longer lived in the area or were now attending a nearby church, or they no longer attended church. In the Seventh-day Adventist Church, a person is voted into church membership by current members of that church. This usually follows a period of instruction and baptism, but, if the person has been a Christian in another denomination and has been baptised by immersion, it may also be by a "profession of faith" (Seventh-day Adventist Church Manual, 1995:37-8. In practice, this is also available for those who are physically unable to be baptised by immersion).

Those who no longer attend a Seventh-day Adventist church or have not transferred their membership⁶ may have their names on the church roll indefinitely. The *Church Manual* (1995:172) states plainly that "nonattendance at church services shall not be considered sufficient cause for disfellowshipping." While a local church may move to take a person off their roll ("disfellowship" is the term used) under specific listed circumstances (found in *Seventh-day Adventist Church Manual*, 1995:168-72), it was obvious from the church rolls that there are many who do not attend who had not transferred their membership, did not come under the listed categories for disfellowshipping or the churches have not acted to disfellowship them.

Because those involved in the focus groups needed to be church members who attended specific churches, and who, because they were attending church, had ready access to the *Record*, non-attending members did not qualify. The combination of the above factors meant that twice the 20 names chosen at random did not give even 10 names of attending church members. This problem was also noted by Townend and Jackson (1986:5-6) when preparing their 1986 *Record* survey.

While generally there was a willingness to be involved in the focus groups, some had other commitments and could not participate. There were two cases where younger people (late teens) did not want to be involved because they felt *Record* was not "for them." On two occasions the husband came instead of the woman chosen. In one instance the church clerk decided to attend as well (I worked closely with church clerks and they coordinated interstate and New Zealand focus groups).

One exception to this process in selecting participants for a focus group was a new group that had been meeting for some eight months. I was invited to a general meeting where the core of this new church (about 20 to 25 people) was meeting. The pastor made an alphabetical list (by first name) of those there and then randomly chose seven who formed the focus group. Table 4.3 gives the spread of the focus groups. (The New South Wales two were within 30 minutes drive of each other, one a large church of some 1200 members, the other a small and developing church of only 20 to 30 members.) What is seen again in Table 4.3 is an endeavour to involve people from a broad spread of geographical areas, and to involve urban and rural churches.

Table 4.3

Number of focus groups conducted by area

Area	NSW	SA	Qld	Vic	NNZ	Total
Urban			I	2	1	4
Rural	2	1		2	1	6
Totals	2	1	1	4	2	10

Focus groups were used to give a broader, rich source of information to complement the interviews. In this connection, Morgan⁷ (1988:21) notes, "What focus groups do best is produce an opportunity to collect data from groups discussing topics of interest to the researcher." While many of the same issues were discussed during interviews and focus groups, there was, at times, an obvious diversity of opinions that

sparked counter-opinions within groups. The diversity added richness to the information being gathered.

Table 4.2 shows that, compared to those interviewed, the age spread of those involved in focus groups is much closer to the ratio of Adventist population. Even though the predominance of those involved were 40 years of age or over, there is a broader spread of age groups. Even chosen at random, those involved in focus groups who held positions within the church is high (77 per cent). Ain, most of those selected had been members of the Seventh-day Adventist Church for a significant amount of time, more than two-thirds (70 per cent) had been Adventists for more than 20 years. Only 9 (13 per cent) had been Adventists for fewer than 10 years. The national or ethnic backgrounds for the focus groups were wider than for the interviews, but the majority (78 per cent) were either Australian or New Zealand Caucasi n.

Almost two-thirds (63 per cent) had gone through some kind of tertiary education (TAFE or CAE, or university). While this percentage is lower (by 8 percentage points) than those who were interviewed, it is still much higher than the norm for either the Adventist population (44 per cent) or the general population (27 per cent). The process of choosing those invited to participate in focus groups was sound, so there is no solid explanation for the difference. One could argue that within the church there is an emphasis on education and the census figures are skewed down by those who claim to be Adventists but who have no real or continuing attachment to the church and its education emphasis. Even so, the 20 percentage points remain a significant difference. Another surprising education result showed that more than half (55 per cent) of those involved in focus groups had attended an Adventist school at some time. This is much higher than the 39 per cent of those interviewed.

Although focus groups have been popular as a research technique in marketing for more than 30 years, its use has expanded into areas of communications, health, education and psychology (Vaughn, et al, 1996:2). Focus groups cannot substitute for the kind of research done well by either individual interviews or participant observation. "On the other hand, focus groups provide access to forms of data that are not obtained easily with either of the other two methods" (Morgan, 1988:15).

Johnson (1996:521-3), drawing on the work of Morgan, identifies five qualities of focus groups that attracted marketing researchers, but also open opportunities for the social scientist: The focus group can give the researcher access to "tacit, uncodified and experiential knowledge." One of the goals of the focus group is to learn from the group's experience, with the expectation that this learning experience will not only lead to better questions, but will bring to light previously unrecognised factors and even lead into the development of new lines of research.

The focus group can give the researcher the "opinions of the participants" (Johnson, 1996:521-3). The aim of a successful focus group is to gain the expression of views, feelings and experiences of the participants. O'Neill (1995:153, 169) develops the thought that each individual is simultaneously "ordinary person," "expert" and "well-informed citizen." An individual's knowledge is at once the tacit knowledge from the social locale and pieces of narrow specialist occupational/scientific knowledge. Focus groups encourage a range of opinions. These groups are not focused on consensus building, but in revealing a range of opinions. An active group encourages participants to express different points of view (Vaughn, et al, 1996:4-6).

A strength of the focus group is that it gives the researcher access to "actors' meanings" (Johnson, 1996:521-3). The tacit or experiential knowledge and opinions of the group by discussion can be placed in the wider framework of the world view of

participants. Morgan (1988:25) adds: "Focus groups are useful when it comes to investigating what participants think, but they excel at uncovering why participants think as they do."

The focus group gives the researcher the opportunity to study the individual not as an isolated person, but as "part of a collective." The aim of the researcher is a vibrant group discussion, not "controlled and contrived bilateral exchanges with the moderator but rich and meaningful multilateral conversations between themselves" (Johnson, 1996:522-3). When the focus group works well, the researcher can give partial control to the group and play the role of host and witness rather than interviewer. It is the development of this "groupness" that produces much of value and which cannot be obtained in other ways. The dynamics of group interaction can be used to "gain information and insights that are less likely to be gained through individual interviews or participant observation" (Maykut and Morehouse, 1994:104). This interactive process adds candour and has the potential to add depth to knowledge gained from the group (Vaughn, et al, 1996:16-19).

No. of the state o

The focus group can be "combined with other methods" (Johnson, 1996:521-3). There is value in linking the focus group to individual interviewing, participant observation, surveys and experiments. The strength of focus groups lies in their ability to explore topics and generate hypotheses; their weakness is that the researcher has less control over the data generated, particularly in comparison to individual interviews (Morgan, 1988:30-38, 21). Morgan calls for information from focus groups to be strengthened from other sources.

While there is much to recommend the focus-group approach, a weakness was quickly discovered during group discussions. It was as if there were attempts to negotiate common ground among group members. This was done in a variety of ways.

For instance, a more forceful person may increase volume and urgency into the discussion to convince others of the rightness of the position taken; there could be put-downs of comments; and another may attempt to gain support or check how much support there is for an issue. While it is possible to hear individual voices, these can be tainted when this negotiated position becomes the group response.

Four focus groups were conducted in Victoria (two in suburban Melbourne, two in the rural areas), two in New Zealand, two in New South Wales and one each in South Australia and Queensland. Each group came from the one church with the assumption that this was a more "compatible group" than if church members were chosen from various churches to participate in a group. Vaughn, et al., (1996:62) have noted that compatible groups are more efficient because they spend less time on group maintenance.

All but one focus group was conducted somewhere within the church complex (a church hall or another room of the church building). This was done in an effort to conduct each focus group in a natural setting, a setting familiar to the church member, to help counter what Morgan (1998:20) calls a general weakness of focus groups, taking people away from their setting to be involved. The one exception to the focus groups being in part of the church complex was the new church where the meeting was taking place in a church member's home and those chosen to participate did so in a room of the house. However, this was still a natural setting for the group because they met every second Sunday in the house, and the focus group became a part of that particular Sunday's activity.

The qualitative process of interviews and focus groups was backed up with a quantitative process, a survey. The survey was not simply an add-on to the qualitative approach, but an integral part of the research.

Surveys

Each person interviewed was asked to fill in a survey (see Appendix A, page 291) before the interview. All who participated in focus groups and the pastors who chose those to be interviewed were also asked to fill in and return a survey form. The use of a survey in this research has proven helpful in several ways. It has supplied information that can be measured in a quantitative way; it meant that several details (such as age, education and marital status) about the individual were supplied efficiently; and it has supplied an extra check on comments made during interviews. During interviews it was particularly useful as a rough guide for the flow of the interview and helpful in drawing out any explanations and further comments.

A total of 125 surveys were collected, with Table 4.4 giving a statistical summary of numbers returned. The strong link of the survey with the interviews caused the 100 per cent response from those who were interviewed. Those involved in focus groups and the pastors received the surveys after their involvement in the groups or phone interviews. Those who did not respond within a reasonable time were sent a reminder and another survey form. Table 4.4 shows that a high percentage from all groups responded.

Table 4.4
Response rate of surveys from pastors, focus groups and those interviewed

Sources	Interviews	Focus group participants	Lastors	Totals	
Surveys distributed	41	78	21	140	
Surveys returned	41	69	15	125	
Response Rates (in percentages)	100	88.5	71.4	89.3	

A survey is an important tool and one of the main vehicles of quantitative research (Bryman, 1988:12). It is a useful device for measuring variables, a fact that cannot be over-emphasised, says Bouma (1996a:64), particularly about the individuals involved in the process, about attitudes and opinions. Filstead (1983:37) notes that a survey is a way of translating "observations into numbers." A survey's goal is often that it should be descriptive (Brannen, 1993:8). Unlike an interview or focus group, a survey rarely causes an extensive search of memory, even in survey interviews (Sudman, et al, 1996:71).

In this case the survey proved to be an aid during both the interviews and the focus groups. In both situations it was used as a rough guide for discussion, and has proved helpful in bringing "numbers" into what could have been only a qualitative discussion. This aids in giving breadth to the information gathered from both the interviews and focus groups. As Mishler (1986:24) suggests, "The set of assumptions embodied in statistical analysis reinforce the standard model of interviewing."

Content analysis

Two types of content analysis of Adventist magazines are used as part of the research. The first analyses themes and is used in chapter 6 during specific time periods. The second involves counting the frequency a variety of words, phrases, topics or references and is also used in chapter 6, and forms a part of the research for chapter 10 where the content of *Record* is studied over two one-year periods. Both approaches to content analysis are quantitative, with the first a type of "thematic analysis" (Ezzy, 2002:84) investigating the "thematic content of communication" aiming "to make inferences about individual or group values, sentiments, intentions, or ideologies as expressed in the content of the communication" (Sarantakos, 1993:211). Frequency analysis, in this

case, means "counting the frequency of the research question and comparing them with other elements" (Sarantakos, 1993:214). In this case, a comparison is made in chapter 10 of elements from the two one-year periods with previous content analysis on *Record* from 1977.

Content analysis of print, to "measure themes and tendencies in the message" (Thomlinson, 1965:75), is an "accepted method of textual investigation, particularly in the field of mass communication" (Silverman, 1985:149). Neuendorf (2002:xv) goes further, suggesting it is central to communication research, and sees it "closely related to the technique of survey research, it uses messages rather than human beings as its level of analysis" (Neuendorf, 2002:47). However, the choice of the themes and categories to investigate is key to successful content analysis. "Any sociological investigation must begin by defining a problem in terms of categories" and these categories will reflect the purpose of the research (Zito, 1976:31). "The effectiveness of the method remains dependent on the effectiveness of the theory that guides its choice of categories and this is true of all methods of measurement" (Easthope, 1974:129).

The methodology used is also important to tackle the criticism sometimes levelled at content analysis that it can involve subjective judgments that may "create data that are quantifiable but not valid" (Abercrombie, et al, 1988:50), or "trite" (Silvernian, 1985:149). To put it another way,

We cannot assume the significance of a content analysis only by virtue of its categorization and careful counting of items subsumed under these categories unless we know how the researcher decides what his categories are, how they are to be used, by reference to the theoretical presuppositions inherent in the method of analysis (Cicourel, 1964:156).

While the methodology will be spelt out in more detail where the research unfolds, it is worth noting here that for chapter 6, a series of crisis or change events are studied through the content of various Adventist magazines to discover how the

church's print handled them. The first looks at themes that are emphasised in relation to the Second World War, the second considers how the church's print handled issues highlighted during the 1960s, and the third seeks to understand internal challenges to the church with the dismissal of one high-profile employee and the demotion of another. The aim is to understand what is important to the church, as reflected through its print, during these times of change and crisis. The frequency analysis in chapter 10 takes its cues from Knight's (1977) research of *Record* that formed part of his doctoral thesis and uses his methodology to compare his findings with the *Records* of 1990 and 2002. These comparisons should prove helpful in noting trends within the church's print and, perhaps, within the church itself.

While strong arguments can be made for the methodology used in the research, there is another variable that needs consideration. I am both an insider to the group being investigated and also involved in the production of *Record*.

Insider versus outsider

こうこうにはない しょうじょうじょう いっぱい いっぱいじょう かいてき しんしゅう しゅうしん こうかんしん 大きな 大きな ないまま こうしゅうしゅう しょうしょう

While Berger (1979:21) warns of the extreme images of the sociologist as an "antiseptically neutral technician" or a "fiercely committed partisan," in the qualitative research tradition researchers become an instrument of research and have to attend to their own assumptions (cultural and otherwise) as well as the data. And the researcher is already working on the basis of certain values (Mills, 1970:196-7). In seeking "imaginative insights into the respondents' social worlds," says Brannen (1992:4-5), the investigator is expected to be flexible and reflexive and yet, at the same time, manufacture distance. Brannen thus promotes participant observation as the best qualitative research approach. Patton (1980:127-8) defines the participant observer as one who

shares as intimately as possible in the life and activities of the program under study. The purpose of such participation is to develop an *insider's* view of what is happening. This means that the evaluator not only sees what is happening but *feels* what it is like to be a part of the program. . . . At the same time, however, there is clearly an *observer* side to this process. The challenge is to combine participation and observation so as to become capable of understanding the program as an insider while describing the program for outsiders.

In this study I am an insider on three counts: as a member of the Seventh-day Adventist Church, as a minister of the church (a position of status and authority) and as editor of the *Record*. Any or all of these factors could affect interviews or focus groups. In my case there are both advantages and disadvantages in being an insider and these will be discussed, with an approach that attempts to minimise the bias that this may bring to the research and to analysing the research.

Advantages as insider

An immediate advantage as *Record* editor was evident in the doors it opened easily for the research. I had ready access to Adventist readers of the *Record*, and it took only a brief phone call to church pastors to explain what I wanted and gain permission and their help or a church clerk's assistance. As Ballis (1995:60) found in his study of former Seventh-day Adventist ministers, being an insider was a "key factor" in making this research possible. While an outsider would probably have gained permission to do this research after it had been considered by an administrative church committee, church pastors or church boards could still have blocked access to members. I had no refusals from pastors, and only once did a church member decide not to be interviewed (for a phone interview from a small church group of five meeting in an isolated area).

Being an insider lessens the risk of "violating norms" of the group under study (Sanders, 1980:162). O'Neill (1995:139) makes the point that each of us inhabits small worlds on the basis of a command of language, but our worlds are broader than this. Not

only do our worlds include the "native language" of individuals or groups, but the organisation, the social world, the structure and process of the group must be included. These are problems every field worker must solve (McCall, 1980:146). Mishler (1986:24) is strong on this point: "A meeting between strangers unfamiliar with each other's 'socially organized contexts' of meaning—does not provide the necessary contextual basis for adequate interpretation." Insiders already have these contexts as a part of their world. For instance, Kapitzke (1995:xvii), a Seventh-day Adventist insider who based her study within her congregation, found that her "informed situation and personal standing in the community mitigated problems relating to 'culture shock,' which affect the observer, the observed, and the outcomes of the research."

As a member of the church and having been a part of the church long enough to know what has happened over the past 25 years, was certainly an advantage. There was often an understanding that, particularly during interviews, the mere mention of a name or a phrase would be immediately understood ("native language"). On occasions there was a sense of intimacy because we were together in this, sharing about events important to both of us. On those occasions, I believe, the depth of information given was far greater than it otherwise would have been.

One unexpected advantage of being an insider was discovered by Vance (1999:72) during her research within the Adventist Church. She found a problem in that she "was frequently the object of members' witnessing activities. Interview participants regularly used the opportunity provided by the interview to speak with an 'outsider' to express belief in the tenets of Adventist doctrine." This was not a problem I had to deal with.

The advantages of being an insider are also seen in the lengths some researchers will go to, to become part of a group under study. For instance, Kleinman (1980:171-9)

lived in a seminary for six months to study ministry students. Hoffmann (1980:46-7) discovered that being an insider opened doors for her research of members of boards of directors when several of those under study discovered there were social connections between themselves and her family. "Who I was or was perceived to be influenced the information to which I would be given access," she reports. They were willing to share a "sudden richness" of data.

Limitations of being an insider

というではれるないものでは、それではあるというには、いけいのはないではないというとうできないとなっているというないとなっているというというというというというというというというというというというというと

Accepting these advantages, there are several disadvantages that should also be considered. The most important is that as editor of *Record* I may desire a certain outcome, consciously or unconsciously, and lead respondents instead of allowing them the freedom to give their own answers. The possibility of attempting to act like a mother protecting her baby is a reality, particularly when responses concerning *Record* are negative. Conversely, respondents may take the same approach, that *Record* is my baby, and try to please me rather than confront me with what they really think. Who wants to tell a mother her baby is ugly?

Another issue that needs flagging is that, through the pages of the *Record*, the respondents had already "met" me and made some kinds of judgment about me. These impressions they brought to the interview or focus group. Whether being known was an advantage or whether their judgment of me before the interview or focus group event clouded their comments is difficult to tell.

In writing of the qualitative research interview process, Mishler (1986:vii) says:

An interview is the joint product of what interviewees and interviewers talk about together and how they talk with each other. The record of an interview that we researchers make and then use in our work of analysis and interpretation is a representation of that talk.

As seen, being an insider in that "joint product" is an advantage at many levels, but what if those being interviewed (or in focus groups) sees more than "we researchers" in those conducting the interview and focuses on other roles? Was I seen as an editor who can "fix" the Record, for instance? In several instances I was asked to answer questions that were of a technical or philosophical nature (such as when a certain article appeared, why we print certain letters, information about a writer and so on). Some questions could not be answered by someone not close to the Record and may not have been asked of someone else. This could be seen as part of the normal speech event, and in interviews all researchers will have some of themselves and their background come into the conversation. My responses to some questions (such as, Why do you print certain letters?) could impact on further responses to my questions about Record in a positive or negative way.

Lopata (1980:78) suggests there may be an eagerness to talk to an insider with authority (as in this case, the editor of *their* magazine) who has, or is perceived to have, the authority to make changes. This eagerness, though, does not discount the other concerns raised here.

At least three times my role as pastor came to the fore. Twice I was asked if I would pray with the individuals I interviewed; on another occasion, at the end of a focus group, I sensed an expectation that I should pray, which I did. The attention at these times turned from my role as researcher to that of pastor. This demonstrates a recognition of talking to someone who held a certain standing within their church, a position of authority. This acknowledgement sends a warning that some may have attempted to honour the position by giving what they consider "correct" responses, or responses they believed I wanted to hear. These kinds of responses may be in short supply in Australia and New Zealand where there is the tendency to give frank

responses that will often pull down rather than build up, but there were only a couple of times when I sensed there was limited respect for myself and what I was attempting to do, so it remains an important consideration.

Those involved in the interviews and focus groups were unanimous in saying they would have responded in the same way to another researcher, and some quite emphatically. However, what I brought to the interview and focus group event has to be considered and a methodology developed to counter my own bias and the bias my other roles as an insider may have brought.

All researchers bring their biases to their research, unless they are "antiseptically neutral technicians" (Berger, 1979:21). Insiders can magnify those biases because of the knowledge and history they bring to the task. As an insider in this study and research, from the beginning there has been an attempt to allow respondents to have their voice. While I responded to questions and comments that involve my roles other than that of researcher, to help build "personal relations of trust" that help eliminate biasing influences, or minimise their effect (Johnson, 1975:118), I also brought the conversation back to the research area and intentionally limited my comments, to hear theirs. As will be seen in the charters analysing the research I have again attempted to give the respondents their voice, not mine. This is done in an attempt to manufacture the distance Brannen (1992:4-5) calls for. There has been an attempt to gain a "critical intellectual perspective" and enable me to have the detachment of an "outsider" that Kapitzke (1995:xviii) aimed for within her Seventh-day Adventist congregation.

As an insider in a study of the *Record*, I must rely heavily on the appropriate methodology to ensure a sense of objectivity. In the final analysis, whether I have been able to distance myself enough to be as objective as I should is something that will be

decided by the reader. Understanding the !ikelihood of bias as an insider is the first step, as Douglas (1985:42) says:

The creative interviewer recognizes his own humanity as the beginning of the understanding of all human beings. He does not hide his humanity, nor does he flaunt it. He tries to understand himself as the beginning of understanding anyone else. The minimal step is this negative one of finding his own weaknesses in observation, communication, and analysis.

Perhaps, in this thesis, the most difficult is not the participation or observing, but the times of "withdrawal and distance" Patton (1980:47) sees as an important element of qualitative research. Here is a warning not to lose sight of the big picture, to take a step back to allow a more objective approach to the research and analysis of the data.

Summary

This chapter has described the processes followed in collecting the information involved for this study. It has given a statistical overview of those who participated in the interviews, focus groups and the surveys. It has noted the "usefulness" (Silverman, 1993:85) of both qualitative and quantitative methods in research. While most of the research has been qualitative, both types will prove helpful in the research chapters. The interviews and focus groups give a depth of understanding that is not available from the survey, but the survey also has its place. In fact, it serves two purposes: a simple way of collecting personal information from participants, and for collecting a consistent form of data that can be used for a statistical overview of the respondents. Several earlier *Record* readers' surveys mean that there is an opportunity to compare the current survey.

The methodology has been designed around personal contact with *Record* readers to gain maximum input from them. The selection process attempts to find the most representative group possible under the restraints of cost and time. The geographic

and urban church-rural church spread again attempts to find a representative group. My involvement as a researcher who is both an insider in the organisation and involved in production of *Record* raises concerns that call for a heavy reliance on good methodology to safeguard the research's objectiveness and to guard against bias.

The next section turns from theory and methodology to consider the Seventhday Adventist Church from its beginnings and to note particularly its use of print.

Endnotes

This process in itself takes time (up to three months). Often the members who are transferring to another church will also take time before deciding if they will transfer to a particular church (especially if they are in a city where they have several options). The church clerks who spoke of this problem indicated it is not unusual to have someone transfer their membership 12 months to 2 years after moving. They also have instances where church members simply do not want to transfer to another church.

The Record Committee was a committee of church administrators and other appointees who had general oversight of the Record. This committee's main responsibility was to consider Record philosophy and had little to do with the day-to-day running of the magazine. It met every few years. The Record Committee ceased to exist in 2000 as one of several committees that were dropped in an attempt to limit the number of committees coming under the umbrella of the South Pacific Division office and officers.

² Sabbath school normally precedes the weekly worship program in a local church and involves Bible study classes for all ages, children through to adult.

³ The senior elder (sometimes called "head" elder) is the senior lay officer within a local church and is the recognised authority when the pastor is not present. The local church elects elders to the position.

⁴ Data for the general population are from the 1996 Australian census and the Seventh-day Adventist Church figures are from the Australian National Church Life Survey of 1996. There is an assumption here that the New Zealand figures would be similar, so there is no attempt to calculate the New Zealand factor because of the complexity of the calculations in combining the figures and the smaller number involved from New Zealand.

⁵ The church life survey gives figures based on the level of education in five areas: did not complete secondary; completed secondary; trade certificate; diploma; or university degree (for those 15 years and older). The percentages from the 1996 census are worked out from the numbers of those over the age of 15 who have "skilled vocational" or higher education.

When members move to another area or another church they are expected to go through a sophisticated system of transfer between churches, which involves correspondence between the church clerk (the title of the person who cares for church minutes and records, including membership records) of the new church with that of the former church. The transfer is considered by the church board of the former church before being voted on by the members of that church, usually during the main worship service on Saturday morning so that as many members as possible are involved. After the appropriate transfer documentation is completed, the board of the members' new church will consider the transfer before it will be voted on by the members of that church. Again this will usually be voted at the Saturday morning worship service (Seventh-day Adventist Church Manual, 1995:32-5).

While church members can be encouraged to transfer their membership, they must either initiate or approve the transfer.

⁷ Morgan has been credited for reclaiming the technique of focus groups for social science (Johnson, 1996:517).

⁸ On one occasion at the beginning of an interview, the person being interviewed wanted to pray because he said, "Ultimately it does impact somewhere on the church and, for me, I don't want to speak unless I pray." After he had prayed I asked if he had expected me to pray before we started. He said, "No."

SECTION TWO

The Adventist Church and Print Media

The previous section provided a broad outline of theoretical and methodological dimensions of the present study. This section introduces the Seventh-day Adventist Church from a historical perspective, and shows the significant role print media has played within the church. The main emphasis is on history, but with a purpose, to show the development of the community known as the Seventh-day Adventist Church and its use of print media to help strengthen and enlarge its community boundaries. The two chapters outline the development of the movement and the important role of print as an instrument facilitating in both informing and nurturing those within and in presenting a message to influence those outside the group. Adventism's print also provides a window for understanding the group's relationship with the broader society.

Chapter 5

A Print-Driven Church

Print media has played a fundamental role in the growth, development and consolidation of the Seventh-day Adventist Church. The church's teachings and emphases have been and continue to be perpetuated through print. The early Adventist discourse was defined by the printed page, beginning with the Bible and interpretations of the biblical text, which were often printed to share among themselves and to others outside the group in the hope they too would find the "truth" of Adventism. Until recent times, with the introduction of more visual forms of media, a high level of literacy was needed to be fully involved in and to have full appreciation of Adventism in developed parts of the world. Even with the use of other forms of media, the demands for literacy remain high. The Bible remains the basic text, members are encouraged to read the writings of Ellen White and Adventists maintain a strong publishing program.

The Seventh-day Adventist Church grew out of a movement with a heavy reliance on print, so it was natural for them to use and develop print for their own purposes. This chapter begins by considering the origins of the Adventist Church, then noting how the Millerites and, more particularly, Adventists used print to help confirm and instruct members in their Adventism and to create interest and then consolidate new followers. Stamm (1985:21) maintains that where members of an organisation are spread over a wide area, "devices such as organization newsletters become a chief means of maintaining ties with members." As will be seen, the Millerites and the

Adventists went further than Stamm suggests, with both developing print as a tool of evangelism, and Adventists using it to help maintain their distinctive approach to life. The aim of this historical account is to provide insights into the development of print in Adventism and to give a background to the church's usage today.

This chapter is divided into four parts. The first considers the Millerite Movement and the origins of the Adventist Church. The next notes the place print media had in both their developments. Then the use of print in the early Adventist Church in the South Pacific is studied to discover the print-heavy approach used by the first Adventists in Australia and New Zealand. Ellen White's influence on the Adventist Church has been marked; and she wrote extensively about publishing and made comments about publishing in Australia. The fourth part considers her influence in the context of the Adventist publishing work in Australia, and what impact that brought.

The emergence of Seventh-day Adventism

Australia has not given birth to new religious movements within its non-indigenous population (Black, 1983:1-2), so, in Australia, the Adventist Church has its own story of what Bouma (1996:1) would call migration and settlement, arriving in 1885. Its origins, though, are found in the United States and were "urgently apocalyptic" (Lawson, 1997:209). Adventism grew out of "the most spectacular apocalyptic revival since the days of the Fifth Monarchy Men in England during the Civil War" (Linden, 1982:13). This movement predicted the return of Christ about the time of 1843 or early 1844. When that prediction failed to eventuate, a new interpretation and enthusiasm focused on October 22, 1844, as the date for his return. From that more significant disappointment emerged the Seventh-day Adventist Church, "an indigenous American denomination" (Plantak, 1998:11), one of the "American sectarian success stories"

(Butler, 1987:190). "In the Millerite Movement of the 1830s and 1840s lie the roots of a Seventh-day Adventist Church that, though small by comparison with the mainline Protestant denominations, today circles the world" (Dick, 1986:1).

William Miller, the Baptist farmer after whom the Advent Movement of the 1830s and 1840s is named, became convinced on the basis of his interpretation of Daniel 8:14 that Christ would soon return to earth: "Unto two thousand and three hundred days; then shall the sanctuary [the church (Miller, 1836:37-8)] be cleansed." Historicists, using a day-for-a-year understanding of the 2300 days, were convinced that the period began sometime between 457 and 453 BC³ and would thus end between AD 1843 and 1847. Froom (1954:403-6) lists 68 historicists from four continents who took this position between 1768 and 1842.

Miller may have been colourless, lacking in glamour or magnetism, and his writings free of "rhetorical excess" and full of "plodding deliberateness" (Barkun, 1986:46-7), but his mathematical precision and predictions acted like a spell (Linden, 1978:51). "Apocalyptic timekeeping was the heart of Millerite exegesis" (Arasola, 1990:86), even if there were few elements outside orthodox thinking in Miller's preaching and teaching (Cross, 1950:291). Miller's success promised a new wave of religious fervour and brought invitations to preach from ministers who were often more interested in the fervour than the message (Rowe, 1985:24), but he still had limited exposure. In late 1839 Connexionist minister Joshua Himes became Miller's publicist, "one of the public-relations geniuses of the 1840s" (Knight, 1993:77). Through print, Millerism became a force to be reckoned with. Within five years the number of followers rose to about 50,000 (Sandeen, 1970:50), although Rowe (1985:47-8) suggests that whether the numbers were 10,000 or 1,000,000 is open to conjecture. Miller (1844a:196) claimed he had preached to over 500,000 people and conducted

4500 lectures in a 12-year period. Those preaching the Advent at this time have been numbered at 300 to 400 (Knight, 1993:113-14). The uneventful passing of October 22, 1844, the Great Disappointment, became the kind of failed prophecy that haunts apocalyptic movements (Robbins and Palmer, 1997:11). "The presses were silent. There was no Advent Herald, no Midnight Cry. There were no meetings to attend. In their loneliness few desired to speak, for they were still in the world" (Arthur, 1974:5).

"Moderate Adventists" (Knight, 1993:267)⁴ including William Miller, gathered in Albany, New York, on April 29, 1845, in an attempt to refine doctrinal positions; investigate how believers were faring; and to decide how to deal with extremists (Linden, 1978:81). The Albany conference condemned extremist positions, "including the doctrine of the cleausing of the heavenly sanctuary, the seventh-day Sabbath, and the manifestation of the spirit of prophecy in the person of Ellen G White" (Anderson, 1986:38). Yet it was these elements, the sanctuary, the Sabbath and Ellen White, that helped give new life to Adventism (Doan, 1987:204) and led to the establishment of the Seventh-day Adventist Church.

Key doctrinal developments

Doctrinal developments were important to help give definition to the emerging group. Seventh-day sabbatarianism, in particular, "set boundaries between it and other religious groups" (Butler, 1987:202). Ellen White (1946:30-1), in 1889, gave insight into the more significant doctrinal positions when she wrote of "landmark" doctrines that had been developed since 1844: the sanctuary teaching and second coming, the three angels messages, the law of God and the Sabbath, and the state of those in death.

With the failure of predictions surrounding October 22, 1844, there was a concerted attempt to make sense of the cleansing of the heavenly sanctuary in a way

that remained faithful to the historicist hermeneutic of Miller. For Damsteegt (1977:296-7) this was "one of the most important factors" in the emergence of the Seventh-day Adventist Church. When Hiram Edson (undated:9) announced on the morning of October 23, 1844, that he believed Jesus had begun on October 22 a work of judgment in the heavenly sanctuary before coming to earth, Owen R L Crosier (1846:38-44), in typical Millerite fashion, turned to print to get the message out. A belief in a heavenly event that could not be confirmed was substituted for an earthly event that had not occurred (Foster, 1987:185). Settling on an alternative explanation allowed the group to move on from date setting more quickly than other millenarian groups of the time (such as Mormons and Jehovah's Witnesses) to rapidly become a "largely stable, uniform organization" (Butler, 1987:199). The second coming remained an important element, still imminent, but delayed.

Found in Revelation chapter 14, the three angels' messages came to be accepted as the core of Seventh-day Adventist theology and purpose, a "distinct world view" (Steley, 1985:153). The various elements found in the messages, of gospel proclamation, judgment, commandment keeping (interpreted to emphasise the fourth commandment about the Sabbath), creation and remaining faithful to Jesus, in the midst of apocalyptic images made this a focal point that grew naturally out of the Millerite experience. The three angels' messages came to be seen as the last messages before the return of Christ, and thus an essential for Adventists. Adventists came to see themselves and their role in terms of the three angels' messages. They claimed it as their own, as their "explicit commission" (Patrick, 1987:313), to warn the world of judgment and the impending return of Christ, and to call for repentance.

While not unknown among Millerites, the seventh-day Sabbath received only passing mention in their publications.⁵ Adventist preacher Frederick Wheeler met a

Seventh Day Baptist, Rachel Oakes, in the winter of 1843, and by March 1844 he was observing the seventh-day Sabbath. However, an article by Thomas Preble, another Adventist preacher, published in the February 28, 1845, *Hope of Israel* convicted Joseph Bates of the Sabbath. He shared his conviction with James and Ellen White; they joined him in keeping the Sabbath, and began to proclaim it (Froom, 1954:941-7). James (1821-1881) and Ellen White (1827-1915), with Bates (1792-1872), would become the "most significant cofounders" (Patrick, 2002) and early leaders of Seventh-day Adventism. "Nothing contributed more to the Adventist identity on a week-byweek basis than the casuistry of seventh-day sabbatarianism, the matter of when and how the day should be observed" (Butler, 1987:202).

An understanding of the state of humans in death differed from mainstream Christianity with this Adventist group taking a position variously described as "nonimmortality of the wicked" (White, 1946:30), "conditional immortality" (Guy, 1999:77) or soul-sleep. They believed that death was like a dreamless sleep, the sleepers to be awakened at the time of the second coming either to eternal life or eternal death, eliminating "the horrendous notion of a soul suffering in an ever-burning hell" (Guy, 1999:77).

The Albany conference may have condemned the manifestation of the "spirit of prophecy" in the person of Ellen White, but she became the most influential force within the Seventh-day Adventist Church. Born in 1827, White (nee Harmon) was a teenage Adventist on October 22, 1844. She claimed to have her first vision in December, 1844. The Seventh-day Adventist Church accepted her as having "the prophetic gift described in the Bible" (Neufeld, 1996:873). "Adventists regarded Ellen White's charismatic role as confirmatory rather than initiatory; her testimonies related to the Bible as a 'lesser light to the greater light" (Butler and Numbers, 1987:180).

Wolfgramm (1983:65) sees her as demonstrating her ability as she monopolised the "leadership and spiritual vacuum left by the Great Disappointment through subsequent visions." While Linden (1978:211) maintains that no historian familiar with her life will doubt that she had visions, Numbers (1992:15-16) suggests that to most Millerites her visions were another manifestation of the unfortunate drift toward fanaticism, and she was only one among several early nineteenth-century American seers. What set her apart was her "independence of thought and action" despite "formidable opposition from nearly every direction" (Burt, 2002:171-2).

White became the major driving force within her community, and the "most creative sabbatarian Adventist" (Patrick, 2002) within the church. Pearson (1990:6) regards her as the one "who held the movement together in the face of considerable turmoil in various phases of the first fifty years of its existence." Her presence was felt in a strong way as she emphasised a holistic lifestyle and during the establishment of the institutions that would support her passion for publishing, health and education. White has maintained an influence within the Adventist Church. Her role was questioned early. Her role still comes under question (see Butler, 1992:xxxiv, xlviii, li), but she remains the most significant voice within the Seventh-day Adventist Church.

Now separated from mainstream Adventists, these doctrines, with the influence of Ellen White helped create strongly-defined borders for the fledgling group. They had begun to build a community of their own.

Developing an organisational structure

Becoming a formal organisation was always going to be a problem for a group out of the Millerite Movement, which had an anti-sectarian emphasis. "No church can be organized by man's invention but what it becomes Babylon the moment it is

organized" was the counsel of George Storrs (1844:238) in the Midnight City early in 1844. This argument was repeated as the need for an organised body became more evident. By 1851 the first steps of organisation were taken when an individual was set apart with the "laying on of hands" for ministry (Anderson, 1986:48). In 1853, Ellen White (1882:97-104) wrote calling for "gospel order." The establishment of a printing plant in Battle Creek and its legal incorporation, the ownership and costs of operating evangelistic tents, the ownership of meeting houses and the authorisation of ministers (and their financial support) all became issues leading toward organisation (Anderson, 1986:50-1). By the early 1860s sabbatarian Adventists numbered 3500, another reason to turn "attention to establishing a church on earth" (Numbers, 1992:44). In 1860, at a General Conference in Battle Creek, the group decided to call themselves Seventh-day Adventists, one of several names they were known by; its first use seems to have been by opponents (Damsteegt, 1977:254). In their name they chose two of the elements that helped give the group definition: the Sabbath and the second coming (the advent). A General Conference in 1863 finally established a peak organisation with a constitution, 22 ordained ministers and 125 churches (Butler, 1987:204). Within 18 months the church used its new status as an organised entity to successfully approach the United States government on the issue of noncombatancy for Seventh-day Adventists in the Civil War.

White (1382a:305) encouraged "establishing institutions for the dissemination of the truth through the press, for the education of the young, and for the recovery of the sick." Her rationale was based on an apocalyptic urgency with "the end of all things at hand," and in order to prepare "for the great event before us." She urged stronger financial support for the various institutions. "With God's blessing, the power of the press can hardly be over-estimated." The press is "the right arm of our strength."

Schools were established to give "our youth and children" education and discipline to prepare them "for the searching test so soon to come to every soul." The Bible should be a principal subject with attention given to the development of the moral and intellectual powers. There was also a hope that the schools would help train "many earnest workers [who] may be prepared to carry the light of truth to those who sit in darkness." Health institutions should provide the "benefit of nature's remedial agents, instead of depending upon deadly drugs." "Many who thus find relief, will be ready to yield to the influence of the truth" (White, 1882a:305).

Quite openly, the rationale for these institutions is the perceived relevance as tools or, in the case of schools, a training ground for evangelism. White interest in publishing was to generate a chain of publishing houses around the world, which would also create an inclination to use other mass-media tools. Her educational emphasis would see the development of the largest Protestant education system in the world, ranging from pre-school to tertiary institutions. Her health emphasis, which included a holistic approach to health, would give rise to church-owned health-food factories producing vegetarian foods, as well as clinics and hospitals. She was not alone in being the impetus for these institutions, but without her providing continuous encouragement during the early years, the emphasis may have died. A positive outcome from these institutions for Sabbatarian Adventists was the provision of employment without the requirement of having to work on the Sabbath.

In the second half of the 1800s, Adventists began to organise and to establish institutions that would support both their doctrinal and lifestyle emphasis. Each institution became a visible extension of their beliefs and a reminder in some way, at least to those within Adventism, of the community's purpose.

The place of publishing

Although printing developed in the mid-fifteenth century, the first steam-powered press did not appear in the United States until 1822. Ten years later the New York dailies began publication and with the introduction of "penny papers" New York City (population of some 300,000) had newspaper circulations totalling 70,000 in 1836 (Froom, 1954:429-38). The press had become a significant mass media tool.

Religious publications were popular. One clergyman noted in the *Religious*Telescope of 1839 that

a well conducted religious periodical is like a thousand preachers, flying in almost as many directions, by means of horses, mailstages, steam boats, rail road cars, ships, etc, etc, offering life and salvation to the sons of men in almost every clime" (cited in Knight, 1993:77).

An 1850 New York State census found that religious periodicals exceeded a quarter of the total newspaper circulation (Cross, 1950:104). The Millerite Movement and the Adventist Church that grew out of it developed in a print-rich society. It was natural that they should turn to print to spread their messages.

Without print media the Millerite Movement would not have had the same impact, and they used print media to its full extent. "Probably no other religious movement or denomination ever produced so vast a quantity of printed matter at that period in so short a time" (Linden, 1978:20). Most publications were periodicals and tracts, but they also included apocalyptic commentaries and compilations from Second Advent Conferences. Millerite materials were also studied at Second Advent Libraries placed in many towns.

Miller used the secular press with a series appearing in the Vermont *Telegraph* in 1932. From these he created a pamphlet. In 1836 he published a complete set of his lectures, marking what Froom (1954:524) calls a "new era" in the expansion of the

growing cause. Wherever Miller lectured, his printed lectures were left behind for more study and they began to circulate where Miller never preached, creating more interest. In 1838 (March 13) the Boston *Daily Times* announced plans to reprint sections from his book and ran nine articles. His views were discussed in religious journals, not that all were supportive. The *Palladium* was supportive; *Zion's Watchman* and the *Union Herald* gave substantial space to discussion of Miller's theme. The *Baptist Register* "while temperately refuting Miller's chronology" urged study of his ideas and, on one occasion, gave the full front page to one of his charts (Cross, 1950:295).

His partnership with Joshua Himes, beginning in 1840, had the greatest impact. Miller's local success was transformed into a national movement under Himes (Sandeen, 1970:50) who had experience in promoting temperance, suffrage, and the non-resistance and anti-slavery movements. He was "well versed in the art of promoting an idea. He immediately embraced the nineteenth century technology available to him in an effort to tell the world about Miller's parousia" (Vance 1999:16). On March 20, 1840, Himes issued the first Millerite periodical, *Signs of the Times*. This endured as the leading representative periodical of the movement (Damsteegt, 1977:53). It began as a bi-monthly but, after April 1842, it became a weekly.

Froom (1954:621-625) heads one of his chapters "Unrivalled battery of Millerite periodicals," and illustrates this with a chart of known Millerite periodicals, their distribution area and circulation. He lists 44 periodicals on the chart, some with a second life under a new name. These journals included weekly, bi-weekly, monthly and a quarterly publication; and, for a time, *Midnight Cry* in New York was a daily. One, the *Advent Messages to Daughters of Zion*, was for women, prepared by two women preachers. The quarterly, *Advent Shield*, was a scholarly journal. Often a temporary publication was produced for a few weeks to publicise a series of meetings taking place

in a city, subscriptions were then transferred to a permanent journal. By May, 1844, Froom (1954:624-5) suggests 5,000,000 copies of these periodicals were distributed in the United States, a nation with a population of some 17,000,000 at the time.

The Millerites also developed a sense of mission for the world that depended on them sending their publications to "every reachable Christian community on earth" (Damsteegt, 1977:53). There is "some evidence" that Miller's exegesis was being studied in England before he had achieved more than a local reputation in the United States. England was targeted later. Miller and Himes are thought to have spent almost \$US1000 supplying literature to inquirers from England and to Millerite preachers who had gone there to work (Billington, 1987:59). While Cross (1950:296) argues that the "propaganda of the journals" would have netted "few converts had the labors of itinerant preachers not enlivened discussion," the evidence is that these journals placed the topic of the advent firmly on the agenda, and that some were convinced by what they read.

This enthusiasm for print media was transferred to the foundling group that would become the Seventh-day Adventist Church. Several "ephemeral publications" appeared between 1846 and 1849 (Patrick, 1987:321). However, the enthusiasm was given direction by a vision of Ellen White (1915:125) in November, 1848, and she instructed her husband, James, to print a "little paper." She wrote, "From this small beginning it was shown to me to be like streams of light that went clear around the world." In July of the following year, James White produced an eight-page paper, *The Present Truth*. "In the individualistic style of primitive or restorationist organizations, a regular periodical was essential. *Present Truth* fulfilled that need" (Burt, 2002:380). Eleven issues appeared between July 1849 and November 1850. They placed "a major emphasis on the seventh-day Sabbath but also included an ardent defence of their view

of what the sanctuary cleansing really involved" (Neufeld, 1996:25-6). After the tenth issue, five issues of the *Advent Review*, so named because it reprinted and reviewed certain views from the Advent movement of 1844, appeared at irregular intervals.

In a revealing letter to "Beloved Brother Bowles" on November 8, 1849, James White (1849) tells of other Advent magazines, the *Herald* and the *Harbinger*, "falling back farther and farther" while those who have a "little strength" are rising never to fall again, a reference, one assumes, to his own magazines. He said he was sick of the Advent papers, and the Advent editors, "poor creatures. Lamps gone out, still trying to light their blind breti. In to the Kingdom of God." Then he added that he had no ambition to be an editor, but it was already too late. "Unexpectedly, James White and the *Present Truth* had become the voice of Sabbatarian Adventism" (Burt, 2002;381).

In November, 1850, Present Truth and Advent Herald were combined and became the Second Advent Review and Sabbath Herald. Now known as the Adventist Review, it played an important part in confirming the belief and instructing the seventh-day advent believers. For many years the Review was "the church," for most Sabbatarians were scattered and had no church buildings or regular preachers. It helped them gain "a sense of belonging" (Knight, 1993:323). Some readers said the Review was prized next to the Bible as it nurtured their spiritual lives (Anderson, 1986:49). It became a fortnightly magazine and by 1854 it appeared almost weekly. Its continued significance is noted in the masthead; from 1909 to 1961 it carried the identification: "General church paper of the Seventh-day Adventists." That was changed to "Official organ of the Seventh-day Adventist Church" until 1967 when it reverted back to the original. This indicates it is still considered to have a position of authority within the church worldwide (with a membership of 13 million) that seems greater than its weekly distribution figure of some 50,0006 would seem to signify (some 300,000 of a monthly

North American issue are distributed free to church members in North America). However, it remains "a prime source for both the history and thought of Adventism" (Patrick, 1987:311).

By March 1852 James White (1852b:104) argued that *Review* should not be published in a commercial printing place. He had several concerns: that outside printers would print the *Review* on the Sabbath; that it would be cheaper to do it themselves; and that Sabbath-keepers would exercise more care in its production. On April 16, 1852, Ellen White (1915:142) wrote that they had "the press" (a hand press that cost \$US652.93) in their house to save having to pay rent for office space. Soon the group was printing other magazines, tracts and books. From this beginning came the development of a worldwide publishing program for the Seventh-day Adventist Church. As seen, publishing also played an important role in forcing the church to face the issue of organisation to legally incorporate the publishing work (Anderson, 1986:50). James White was the legal proprietor until 1861 and had been calling for incorporation so that the church, not a private party, would own the press. Butler (1987:204) suggests that the history of Adventism had been a matter of "publish or perish" and, "As far as ecclesiastical bureaucracy was concerned, in the beginning was the word."

Another magazine was Signs of the Times, a weekly with a name borrowed from the Millerites, launched in 1874. Produced in California it was "to aid in proselytizing the Pacific Coast" (Numbers, 1992:180). The name would be used in various other countries (and in some foreign languages), including Australia, for Seventh-day Adventist magazines with an evangelistic intent.

Ellen White's enthusiasm for print media, no doubt aided by the fact that she was a prolific writer, meant she encouraged the growth of publishing houses. She had a

global vision linked with her interest in health and education: "In all parts of the earth they (God's qualified people) are to establish sanitariums, schools, publishing houses, and kindred facilities for the accomplishing of His work" (White, 1902:51).

In this she encouraged an approach quite different to that of the Jehovah's Witnesses. Bainbridge (1997:89) links Seventh-day Adventists and Jehovah's Witnesses in two ways: they are "two of the world's most vigorous denominations" and both have roots in the Adventist movement of the early 1840s. Even though Charles Russell, the Jehovah's Witnesses founder, was not born until 1852, he did have a connection with the "Second Adventists" (Reed, 1996:40). As Seventh-day Adventists began to spread around the globe, they established publishing houses on every continent. The 2003 Seventh-day Adventist Yearbook lists 55. These are autonomous, linked under the umbrella of the church, but each is expected to produce its own literature.

This stands in marked contrast with the Jehovah's Witnesses who are probably the premier religious organisation to use the printed page, but its publishing is centralised and controlled from the Brooklyn, New York, headquarters. Reed (1996:72, 153), a critic and former member, describes it as a "mini Vatican of thirty-odd buildings" with a Writing Committee that determines the content of publications. The publishing is substantial with more than a billion pieces of literature coming from their Brooklyn plant each year. One Witness publication, *The Truth that Leads to Eternal Life* has had a circulation of 115 million. Each printing of *The Watchtower* runs in excess of 10 million and must be one of the most widely circulated magazines (Botting, 1984:xxxiv, 153, 156, 183). Penton (1985:231-232) argues that because of the way that *The Watchtower* is distributed, vast quantities are never read, although Witnesses themselves are each expected to read some 3000 pages a year of their own literature.

There are almost 100 branch offices around the world, many have small or no printing shops, but they are centrally controlled from the US headquarters (Penton, 1985:220, 236).

The mission of the Seventh-day Adventist Church in the formative years in the United States was dependent on literature distribution. A Tract and Mission Society, begun in 1870 under Stephen Haskell, expanded quickly with fund-raising and the placement of books and literature. With this distribution, by the mid 1870s reports came of Sabbath keepers in various European nations, southern USA, Mexico and Australia, with calls for literature from Scotland, Ireland, China and New Zealand, and publications sent to every mission station on the coast of Africa (Damsteegt, 1977:290). Haskell (1874:190) reported that "publications upon present truth are called for by individuals in almost every nation under heaven where civilization exists."

Adventist print enters the South Pacific

By the time the five Seventh-day Adventist "first fleeters" (with their families) arrived in Melbourne in 1885, the church's main emphases were settled. A news note in a June 28, 1885 Melbourne newspaper was correct in stating, "The members of the sect observe Saturday as the Sabbath and do not take alcohol or tobacco, as they are not deemed good for the health" (cited in Olds, 1993:83). They also came with a growing concern for religious liberty and for the separation of religion and state because a push in the United States to legislate Sunday observance had come to a head, and "significant numbers" of Adventists were imprisoned for Sabbath observance (Bull and Lockhart, 1989:149). Sending the small group to Australia and the South Pacific was part of a mission emphasis begun in 1874. They came to the antipodes believing their raison

d'être was to herald the imminent Second Advent and to call for reforms in Christian doctrine and practice (Patrick, 1987:310-11).

With Ellen White as an enthusiast for print media, the endorsement of this charismatic leader is important in any consideration of print use by the Adventist Church. It is even more important in considering the church in the South Pacific because the instruction was quite specific. Before a large audience at the Battle Creek church, Michigan, White (1915:283) recounted a January 3, 1875, vision. She spoke of printing presses in many foreign countries, printing periodicals, tracts and books. Her husband, James, interrupted her to ask if she could name any countries. She said she could not name any because their names had not been given, except for one, Australia. It should come as no surprise that 10 years later the group of Adventists leaving San Francisco for Australia included a printer. In fact the first Adventists to land on Australian shores were print focused, with two of the five involved in literature printing or distribution. William Arnold's role was to sell Adventist literature and develop the colporteur (book selling) work. Henry Scott was to establish a publishing business. However, the initial thrust had every member of the team involved in literature distribution for several weeks (Hansen, 1985:60). Their interest was indicated in a report the group's leader, Stephen Haskell (1885:473), gave of their four-hour stopover in Auckland, New Zealand (June 1, 1885), enough time to discover there were 500 libraries. "We have reason to believe that every one of these would take our publications and periodicals, and appreciate them," he wrote.

The group landed in Sydney on June 6, but based themselves in Melbourne, one reason being that it had one of the largest libraries in the world (Goldstone, 1980:14). They established the Bible Echo Publishing House and by late 1885 a trial issue of *Bible Echo and Signs of the Times* rolled off Scott's press. In January 1886 the first regular

its purpose from its name; for those who did not understand, 'would be a thorough exponent of the Bible and a chronicler of events that marked times pointed out in prophecy. In case any were wondering, the second issue (February, 1886) assured readers that the Adventists had "come to stay" (page 32). Print media would be a major emphasis because, as Gates (1906:11) commented about the fledgling church's thrust into the Pacific islands, with a small number of workers, "It seems the part of wisdom to make use of the printing press as far as possible." These first Adventists in Australia were among those described by Herndon (1960:180) as "travelling salesmen":

Though most of the men and women who first brought the new [Adventist] faith to distant lands were ordained missionaries and medical workers, they were also, in more than one sense of the word, travelling salesmen. Their line consisted of tracts and books published by the Seventh-day Adventist publishing houses.

However, these early Adventist publications were not the first to be found in Australia or New Zealand. Waggoner (1874:96) told of an interest that had been "awakened" by tracts sent from the United States to friends in New Zealand. And Alexander Dickson from Melbourne had attempted to create an interest in the city. In fact, he was responsible for the first "Adventist" literature produced in Australia. Dickson was a wealthy Melburnian who became a self-supporting missionary in Africa where he met Hannah More, another missionary. More had attended meetings taken by Haskell (in Eastford Connecticut, 1861) just before returning to Africa. They talked after the meeting and Haskell gave More a book on the history of the Sabbath and other publications. The meeting and the literature convinced her to become a Sabbath-keeper, which led to her dismissal from the Missionary Society in England. As she returned to England she shared her beliefs with Dickson. He in turn raised a group of 40 Sabbath-keepers in a west African French coastal village before returning to Melbourne to

introduce the Sabbatarian message there. He wrote to the Adventist General Conference requesting printed material for Australia but, with nothing forthcoming, he commissioned local printers to produce literature for him. Seeing no results, he became discouraged and moved to San Francisco. Later, several Melbourne businessmen said they had, for a time, closed their shops over the Sabbath hours (Goldstone, 1980:7-9). The first on-shore attempt at establishing some form of Adventist presence in Australia had involved print, but had seemingly failed.

Haskell, the "father of the Tract and Missionary Society" (Goldstone, 1980:14) had an interest in print evangelism and was soon developing agents for the *Bible Echo*. Often books did not sell well, but Haskell was able to persuade newsagents to stock *Bible Echo*. With the publication of pamphlets, and itinerant Adventist colporteurs in New Zealand, one critic complained in 1892 that Adventist literature had achieved almost blanket coverage of the north island (Lineham, 1985:34). By 1888, adds Patrick (1984:14), "Adventist publishing demanded a three-storey brick building" built in North Fitzroy. Patrick (1984:17-8) estimates that in the same year (1888) more than 60 items were offered for sale through the pages of the *Bible Echo* in three categories: "Books," "Subscription Books," and "Books in Paper Covers."

A supplement to the September 18, 1899 Bible Echo reported that the Echo Publishing Company was outgrowing its capacity, even with nine presses running and the 81 employees were happy despite "the many requests to work extra time." The manager (G Petherbridge) reported that the company had built a good reputation extending "beyond Australia" among clients as a commercial printer (it was the State Government printer for a time). Book sales were up, with sales of 41,000 for the year. Their star performer was a best seller in the real sense of the word, selling more than any other book within 12 months of release to that time (Goldstone, 1980:166). A

Friend in the Kitchen sold almost 17,000 copies in the 12 months to June 30, 1899, and some 30,000 in total (almost 4000 in two weeks, claimed an advertisement in the August 8, 1898 Bible Echo). Magazine subscription sales were down, though, with the Bible Echo at about 6000 (the Bible Echo was a weekly from 1894, having been, for its first three years, a monthly then a fortnightly magazine, but with page numbers reduced from 16 to 8). Herald of Health was at 1800 subscriptions, down from 2300, and similar concerns were expressed for Little Friend, Sabbath School Workers and Missionary Magazine.

In the first 15 years in Australia, Adventists were found successfully supporting their thrust with a strong print media presence. To the magazines listed above (some imported from the United States) can be added other Australian publications such as the Southern Sentinel, Our Australasian Youth and Sabbath School Guide, Our Young Friends and Youth's Instructor⁹ (the last three mentioned in Bible Echo—February 1888, page 32 and November 1, 1891, page 336—but, as noted by Patrick (1984:20), with no extant copies).

It was natural for Adventists to turn to print when they attempted to tackle the issue of religious liberty. When the first Adventists arrived in Australia, one battle line drawn between Christianity and secularism was on the issue of Sunday observance. It was a "symbolic issue" in the widening gap between secular society and the socially conservative religious establishment (Hogan, 1987:97). Phillips (1986:16-17) states:

As far as Protestants in Australia were concerned, as in the rest of the Anglo-Saxon World, Sunday was the Lord's Day to be kept by all and upheld by the authority of the state. It was left to Seventh-day Adventists to take up the principles of religious liberty apparently discarded by denominations now united in the defense of Christianity.¹⁰

Adventists were committed to religious freedom, so much so that in 1889 they set forth a "Declaration of Principles" at the establishment of the National Religious Liberty

Association in Battle Creek, Michigan.¹¹ In Australia they attacked the issue early with an article in the *Bible Echo and Signs of the Times* opposed to Sunday-keeping legislation appearing in April 1886. The religious liberty issue became personal when, on May 7, 1894, two Seventh-day Adventists, William and Charles Firth of Kellyville, NSW, were sentenced to the stocks for working on Sunday.¹²

The Adventists organised two protest meetings in the Parramatta Town Hall (some 500 people attended both rallies). The formation of the Christian Elector's Association, in late 1893 by the Council of Churches, disturbed them even more. In response, they published a new quarterly, the Australian Sentinel and Herald of Liberty (later the Southern Sentinel), which they distributed widely to people of influence. "At the same time they assumed an additional and more exacting responsibility: watchdog over the religious portions of the Australian Constitution which was being drafted" (Hansen, 1986:35). Ely (1976:27) finds a natural link between the two issues; Adventists feared the recognition of God within the preamble of the new constitution would give the federal parliament power to legislate nation-wide Sunday observance. They were also strong supporters of a statement being inserted that guaranteed religious freedom. Although few in numbers, the Adventist Church became the "organisational pivot of the anti 'recognition' campaign" that found allies among secularists who feared sectarian conflict (Ely, 1976:130). Print was their weapon of choice. They failed to stop the recognition clause in the preamble, but they could claim "some direct influence" (Patrick, 1986:21) on the final shape of the constitution, especially with the insertion of Section 116 of the Constitution, which does not allow the federal government to prohibit the free exercise of religion. Ely (1976:44-5) pays tribute to the professionalism of the Adventist campaign and adds that despite their belief in the separation of Church and State, "Adventists played politics very well."

In a variety of ways, through print, Adventists gained a far broader impact than their numerical strength would suggest they should have.

The print emphasis was also seen in the first internal church print communication, *The Gleaner*. Begun in 1895, it had as its main role to report on literature sold. A monthly duplicated form, it was issued by the Australian Tract and Missionary Society. In January, 1898, it was superseded by the *Union Conference Record*, which included literature reports, but also reports on the church's work in Australia and New Zealand. While maintaining the word *Record*, there have been several name changes over time. The magazine became the *Australasian Record*, the *Australasian Record and Advent World Survey*, the *South Pacific Record* and, currently (from 1987), *Record*. While the main emphasis of the print-media thrust was based on the *Bible Echo and Signs of the Times*, it was to the *Record* that Adventists turned to discover how the work of the church was progressing.

During the report of the 1899 Bible Echo Publishing House balance sheet, in a supplement to the September 18 Bible Echo, a note was made of a gift to the Avondale School (near Newcastle, NSW) of a press and type "to the value of 60 pounds." The Avondale School print shop was used for a variety of tasks including printing labels and packaging for the developing health food factory on campus. It also produced limited supplies of tracts, magazines and books. From about 1899 it became a centre for publishing foreign language material, particularly for the island territories where the church was beginning to make an impression. Avondale became the centre for the production of mission hymnals, tracts, periodicals and books, and by 1906 material began to appear in Malay, Fijian, Tahitian and Cook Islands languages (Hook, 1998:74). Hook could have added Maori to his list. Literature was one of the most

important agencies for winning converts in the Pacific. So much so that print material for the islands was soon coming off small presses in the islands as well as at Avondale.

An illustration of Adventist use of print

Adventist enthusiasm for print is well illustrated in the mostly unsuccessful attempt to impact on Maoris from 1886 to 1915. In his study of this initiative, Ballis (1983) notes the desire to use print, a magazine specifically for Maoris, from 1885, but the first printed material was not produced until 1893 with the tracts Ko Tewhea Ra e Whakatapungis Ana e Koe ("Which day should you keep and why?") and Te Karaiti to Tatou Kai-whakaora ("The curse of the liquor traffic"). By 1901 several thousand copies of the 32-page Maori tract The Second Coming of Jesus were ready for distribution, and the translation of Christ Our Saviour was almost complete. More than 20 years after being mooted, the monthly publication of the Karere o te Pono ("Messenger of Truth") in July 1907 indicated a deeper commitment to this endeavour. Yet the church was facing a crisis with its Maori work because "the New Zealand administration was becoming increasingly frustrated with the lack of results from Maori evangelism" (Ballis, 1983) so it appointed a successful evangelist, William Carswell, to take over the work in the same year (1907).

Carswell quickly discovered that the traditional Adventist evangelistic approach of the time, a series of meetings in a tent with a magic lantern and slides, had little impact. He turned to personal visitation and the promotion of *Karere o te Pono*, and increasingly involved himself in translation work. Carswell (1940:4) later reported that he felt handicapped because there was no Adventist school for Maori young people, but "we published monthly a Maori paper." He explained that sometimes they obtained subscriptions, but often the magazine was sent free. He was responsible for the

translation of the book *Christ Our Saviour* and then a volume of Bible studies, *Te Taro-O-Te-Ora* ("The bread of life"). After four years he was forced to return to Australia because of his wife's poor health. He noted: "When leaving the Maori mission work at the close of 1911, we felt that while no results were apparent, yet literature containing the message had been scattered."

The focused attempt to convert Maoris was over. "In the last few years the publication and distribution of the Maori paper [Karere o te Pono] was the only visible sign of the existence of an Adventist Maori mission, and its termination in 1915 no doubt sounded the mission's death-knell" (Ballis, 1983). This 30-year period of endeavour to establish an Adventist presence in the Maori community, with its well-defined boundaries, offers a microcosm of the Adventist approach at the time. Print alone did not automatically translate into evangelistic success. In this case a complicating factor, that while print had been a part of the Maori world beginning about the 1820s, theirs remained more an oral culture with a preference for face-to-face communication. Print required an audience sufficiently literate and with a desire to apply the printed word to their own situation.

This approach among the Maori people was not unusual. Steley (1986:166) reports about the beginnings of a Seventh-day Adventist in the Pacific and, in this case, specifically of the publishing work in Tahiti in 1893 and asserts that the "energetic start to the production of locally usable literature was typical of the vigour of Adventist belief in the efficacy of the literature work."

In contrast, print in local languages among Aborigines does not appear to have been attempted. In fact, there was no organised attempt to reach Australia's indigenous people until 1910. Litster (1985:188) puts this down to the American missionaries focusing first on those who spoke their own language, and that "among European

converts there was little sympathy or concern for the 'degraded' black race which lived in the more remote parts of the continent." The first mission, Monamona was established on the Atherton Tableland, in Queensland in 1914, but it was in Western Australia in the mid to late 1950s that the first magazine specifically for Aborigines, in English, was developed and limited to Western Australia. In mid-1982 an Australian-wide magazine, *Good News for Aborigines*, was published. It continues and is now better known simply as *Good News*, it is produced for Adventist Aborigines and Torres Strait Islanders, and friends.

The influence of Ellen White on Adventist print

Ellen White's interest in print media has been acknowledged, but what should also be noted is the influence she had on both the shape and form of print media and the institutions that produced them. A compilation of some of her material on publishing has been brought together in a book entitled *Counsels to Writers and Editors* (1946) and shows a broad interest in not only the writing and editorial function, but also in such things as book and magazine publication, content, illustration and writing style. She wrote a variety of public articles and private letters about the church's publishing work, giving messages of both encouragement and concern. Her attitude and influence is well illustrated by her comments concerning the publishing work in Australia and, in particular, the Bible Echo Publishing House in North Fitzroy, Melbourne. Her comments came mainly out of personal experience during her nine years \$891-1900) in Australia and New Zealand.

From the time, in 1848, when she urged her husband to produce a "little paper" White was a print enthusiast. For instance, "Publications must be multiplied, and scattered like the leaves of autumn. These silent messengers are enlightening and

molding the minds of thousands in every country and in every clime" (White, 1878:199). To her, the press was a "powerful means to move the minds and hearts of the people." She saw the "men of this world" producing "poisonous literature" and earnestly circulating books, tracts and papers of a "corrupting nature." The church then should be "more earnest to get reading matter of an elevating and saving character before the people" (White, 1875:167). "There is a world to be warned," she wrote to Colcord, the editor at Echo (White, 1897). While encouraging him to continue to promote the *Bible Echo and Signs of the Times*, there was also a work to do in producing leaflets and tracts containing short articles, messages of warning about the coming second advent, others about the Sabbath, and health subjects in "clear, forcible, spirited articles." She encouraged publication of a variety of types: books, magazines and leaflets inspired by a desire to promote the Adventist worldview with its doctrinal distinctives and holistic lifestyle. 13

White (1983:42) saw the Bible Echo Publishing House as "God's appointed instrumentality, over which He has a constant, watchful care." In her time in Australia she saw it as the ordy institution to give "character" to the church's work, meaning that the schools and health program had not yet fully developed or achieved a major impact. Yet she saw Adventist initiatives in Australia, including its health endeavours, as a "sample of how other fields shall be worked" (White, 1899). The church members in Melbourne were to feel honoured that they had in their midst this printing office, which was representative of the "truth we claim to believe"; it was "God's instrumentality to send forth the messages of truth to the people in clear lines" (White, 1899a:5). On a personal level, White was pleased to gain the services of Minnie Hawkins who edited her articles for printing. Hawkins had been trained in the Echo office for several years (White, 1896). While White showed support for Echo, she called for publishing to also

be done at Avondale College because she sensed a need to have printed material readily available, without having to wait for shipments from the United States or from Echo. Additionally, this new publishing plant at Cooranbong would educate students in the art of printing (White, 1899b:8).

では、100mmの

White was not merely affirming however. In an address to Echo shareholders, she (White, 1899c:9-11) called for a number of improvements. These included better education and training for those selling the books on a door-to-door basis (colporteurs). She encouraged more bookmaking. Every employee was asked to "stretch nerve, brain, bone, muscle, and sinew to make the publishing house all that God designed it to be" (White, 1899c:10). It was to be a training place for youth. Business was to be "conducted on high and holy principles," with "not a mean transaction in any business dealing . . . to be done, in behalf of believers or unbelievers." White (1892) also complained of a lack of proper planning, (White, 1899d) that those working at Echo had little insight into methods of success and they worked at cross purposes to each other. "The Echo office is sick, from the crown to the foundation," she wrote (White, 1899d). She urged management and staff to follow Christian principles. And after leaving Australia she (White, 1902a) wrote against the impression being given that Echo was attempting to deal "unfairly and dishonestly" against South African "brethren." She also occasionally commented on the content of publications, including, in 1896 (White, 1946:65), a call for the Bible Echo not to be "scathing" against Catholics and thus shut the door against them considering "the truth."

White expressed concern about the kind of printing Echo did for others, its "commercial work." She (White, 1898:1) gave some support to commercial work being brought in because to exclude all work from outside would "close an avenue through which rays of light and knowledge should be given to the world." However, it was to be

"cleansed from all that is offensive in character." In a document about commercial work at the Echo, White (1898c) said commercial work should always come second to the church's own work. Novels and a "most objectionable class of literature" should not be taken in, and neither should the "calendar line," which was characterised by exaggeration and falsehood. There were other issues at Echo that caused her concern, but she did not explain what these were. She did say that even if commercial work ceased, the place would not be any more spiritual than it currently was. She was disappointed with some of the work Echo had been doing in that it would "cheapen the experience" of those who handled it. In summary: "Let it never be said that the press is doing a work which is against the truth which should go everywhere speaking in positive tones" (White, 1898c).

On September 21, 1903, a unanimous decision was made by the Echo board to cease commercial work and move out of the city. The problems perceived with both elements, commercial work and city living, influenced the decision. While White was not present, having returned to the United States in 1900, her influence was still a major factor. In the minutes of the meeting the advantages of "carrying on our work in the country were made very evident by the testimonies," with "the testimonies" being a reference to White's writings (cited in Holman, 2003:10). While she had expressed concern about certain types of commercial work, White had appeared to be open to some. Her son, W C White, in a June 1897 meeting at Echo also endorsed commercial work and "believed in it thoroughly" as long as it did not interfere with the church's work (cited in Holman, 2003:10). For Ellen White, her change in attitude appears to have come about in 1901 with premonitions that the Review and Herald Publishing Association buildings may be consumed by fire for printing "soul-destroying theories of Romanism and other mysteries of iniquity" (White, 1948a:91). In December the

following year the Battle Creek, Michigan, publishing house was totally destroyed by fire. "Why? Because commercial work had been brought in, and God had been forgotten," she (White, 1903a) wrote after the event.

Summary

The experience in Australia and New Zealand helps verify Wilson's (1990:137) assessment that the Adventist Church is "perhaps the sect with the largest and most diversified literary output." From a historical perspective, print media was favoured as a means used by the church to influence people both outside and internally. Ellen White's input is important, not only because she promoted publishing, but she also gave direction and instruction concerning its role and content. Magazines particularly played a strong role, with special emphasis issues printed to tackle perceived problems or even, as illustrated in the case of *The Southern Sentinel*, new magazines developed to promote a particular cause. Print media was the mass media method available when the church was founded in Australia and New Zealand. The passion to establish and now continue to operate elaborate printing operations is one of the features that distinguish Adventists from most of their contemporaries. The next chapter explores the content of Adventist publications to identify how Adventists responded to key internal and external social issues.

Endnotes

では、大きのでは、これでは、これでは、日本のでは、これでは、日本の

¹ Commentators of Miller's time who considered this a predictive prophecy usually saw it fulfilled in 2300 literal days during the persecution of the Jews by Antiochus IV, Epiphanes (in the second century, BC).

² Historicists see the fulfilment of Bible prophecies, particularly of the books of Daniel and Revelation, extending through the Christian Era to the end of time. Preterists limit the fulfilment to a relatively short period in the ancient past, or deny the validity of predictive prophecy. Futurists place most prophetic fulfilments immediately before the coming of Christ (Neufeld, 1996:698-9). With the failure of the 1844 return of Christ "historicism gradually ceased to be the only popular method of interpretation. It was largely replaced by futurism and preterism" (Arasola, 1990:171).

³ To get to this date, the prophecy of Daniel 8:14 is linked to another in chapter 9. Johann Petri, a German Calvinist, seems to have been the first to teach a close relationship between the messianic 70-week prophecy of Daniel chapter 9 and the prophecy of Daniel chapter 8 (Schwarz, 1979:25). He concluded that both time prophecies began at the same date, "from the issuing of the decree to restore and rebuild Jerusalem" of Daniel 9:25 (Schwarz, 1979:25). This is taken as a reference to one of the decrees reported in Ezra (1:1-4; 6:1-12; or 7:1-26) that Jews taken captive and living in Babylon could return to Jerusalem. A variety of starting dates, depending on which decree was chosen and what dating method was used, led to a variety of ending dates. Miller chose the third decree and 457 BC as a starting date.

⁴ Cross (1950:311) defines them as the "saner, more conservative crowd."

⁵ James Begg (1841:3) from Scotland was published in Signs of the Times stating his preoccupation with the Advent and the "continued obligation of the Seventh Day as the Christian Sabbath." In 1844 Midnight Cry ran two editorials in September arguing against the seventh-day Sabbath ("The Lord's Day," 1844:68-9; 76-7).

⁶ The 1999 "Statement of ownership" in the Adventist Review (December 23, page 30) lists the average copies distributed in the United States at 41,550. This does not include a monthly edition of some 300,000 distributed in the United States. In several places in the world (including in Australia and New Zealand) selections from the monthly world-edition Adventist Review are distributed.

⁷ A former Catholic priest and self-appointed missionary Michael Czechowski did go to Europe in 1864, but the first official Seventh-day Adventist missionary, J N Andrews, was sent to Europe on Ceptember 14, 1874. Andrews had served as the third General Conference president (from 1867 to 1868) and was the church's leading theologian of that time. In 1876 he launched Les Signes des Temps, a monthly magazine. He died in Basel in 1883 at the age of 54 (Noufeld, 1996:68-9). John Matteson itinerated in Scandinavia, and John Loughborough evangelised in England before Stephen Haskell led a term to Australia (Clapham, 1985:13).

⁸ In 1906 the publishing house shifted to Warburton in country Victoria. At that time the name was changed to Signs of the Times Publishing Association, to later be changed again to its current name, Signs Publishing Company.

We believe in supporting the civil government, and submitting to its authority.

We deny the right of any civil government to legislate on religious questions.

We believe it is the right, and should be the privilege, of every man to worship according to the dictates of his own conscience.

We also believe it to be our duty to use every lawful and honourable means to prevent religious legislation by the civil government; that we and our fellow citizens may enjoy the inestimable blessings of both civil and religious liberty (Neufeld, 1996: 431).

"Lord and Lady Brassey were about to visit England, and Lord Brassey gave Mrs. Williams a vacation during their absence and allowed her wages to go on for a

⁹ The Australian Youth's Instructor should not be confused with the United States journal of the same name (see Patrick, 1984:20).

¹⁰ The Lord's Day Observance Society, on the eve of the 1885 Victorian election, appealed to people to vote only for those who would support by law Sunday observance (Hansen, 1986:32). An 1890 New South Wales petition against the liberalisation of Sunday observance laws received a record number of signatures, 63,200. The Lord's Day Observance Society in Victoria and New South Wales campaigned against Sunday trains and the opening of cultural institutions on Sunday, on the grounds of the fourth commandment of the Decalogue and because it was an infringement of the Sunday Observance Act of 1677.

¹¹ The four resolutions directly related to religious liberty were:

¹² The sentence could not be carried out because there were no stocks available.

¹³ White (1893) warmed to the following experience as an example of what could happen with print products: "I have been deeply interested in the relation of a recent experience of Elder Daniells, who, on his way from Melbourne to Adelaide, stopped at a town called Nhill, to visit some young men who have been sending in orders to the Echo office for our papers and books. He found here a young man by the name of Hansen, a Dane, who chanced upon the Echo at a public library, and became an interested reader of the paper. The subjects of truth presented in its columns found a place in his heart, and he began to talk about them to a friend at the hotel where he was in service. This man, Mr Williams, also became interested, and they sent in orders for other publications, becoming regular subscribers to the paper. Elder Daniells found them eager for a better knowledge of the truth. Upon the table of Mr Williams was found Thoughts on Daniel and the Revelation, and several other books published by our people. They had seen but one man who was of our faith. They bought from Elder Daniells three copies of Steps to Christ, so that they might have one apiece, and another to give to a minister. Elder Daniells was pleased with his visit, and encouraged by Lis conversation with these inquirers after truth."

¹⁴ White (1889b:8-9) could use the experience of "Sister Williams" to back her case: "A lady employed in Government House has taken the Sabbath. She is a matron in the laundry department. Sister Williams informed Lady Brassey of her change of views and she laid the matter before Lord Brassey. He said that he could not see that her keeping the Sabbath would bring any confusion.

period of six months. She referred Lord Brassey to the Echo Office for information concerning the faith. He said that was enough; he was having his Government work done at that Office, and was favorably impressed with the principles that were manifested by the managers and with the work that was executed in the office."

¹⁵ White (1948a:91) wrote in this document read to the Review and Herald Board in November, 1901: "I have been almost afraid to open the *Review*, fearing to see that God has cleansed the publishing house by fire."

Chapter 5

Adventist Print During Crises and Change

Any group's mediated response to a crisis will give a distorted representation of the group. Under pressure, from within or without, the tendency is to focus on and exaggerate differences in the polemic of response. Attempting to understand a group using only this kind of information will give a one-dimensional picture that ignores the range of diversity, the highs and lows, peaks and valleys that help present a three-dimensional landscape and definition. Allowing for that shortcoming does not deny the value of studying a group in crisis or under stress and the responses made because, as will be seen in this case, of Adventists in times of crises, it gives an indication of what is important to the church through the strategic way print is used to keep members informed and to attempt to influence others, while at the same time moderating particular lines of Adventist discourse. Three distinct types of crises, the first two coming from outside the church, the third from within, are examined in this chapter to demonstrate how print was adapted to deal with specific situations. The chapter illustrates that print is a dynamic media tool.

The challenge of the Second World War

World War II presented a time c? national crisis in Australia and New Zealand. The following considers the messages the Seventh-day Adventist Church gave through two of its magazines: *Record* and *Signs of the Times* (both weekly, at the time). This gives

an opportunity to see what the church was saying to the public through Signs of the Times, and to church members through Record, although that dichotomy does not fit exactly because Record was mainly a news magazine with limited teaching or instruction; and most church members read Signs of the Times. All issues published from the beginning of 1939 to the end of 1945 are considered to include a few months before and after the war. The major war-related themes found are presented in a descriptive style followed by an analysis under "print and the second world war."

War was a concern from the first issue of *Record* for 1939. It reported the bombing of the church's China Training Institute in Chiao Tou Tseng, China, and then Anderson (1939:5) wrote of fear as nations armed themselves for "defence." There may have been "no crisis with the Lord" (News Notes, January 9, 1939:8), but there were several crises for the church and its members during the war years.

With the proclamation of war, the Signs of the Times editor wrote, "It is a tragedy that counsels of anity did not prevail, and that the Fuhrer marched. Now, however, that war has come, may the forces of right prevail" (King, 1939b:4). War was not a surprise. King (1939a:3) recognised the possibility of another world war that would probably mean the end of civilisation as "we know it."

Support for the war effort and noncombatancy

In *Record*, Roenfelt (1939:7) wrote of uncertainty for the future, particularly what it meant for "our work." He called for prayer that leaders of "our Commonwealth and of our Empire" might know how to wisely handle this "grave situation." There was strong and open support for the war effort. "We must be loyal to our government," wrote Wilcox (1942:1). In several cases, though, support for the government had a deliberate link to the issue of noncombatancy. Hare (1939:6) reported plans to register

and train church members for noncombatant service under the governments' National Emergency Services to help make the church's approach on the "military question" a successful one.² In a show of support for the war effort, tents used for annual camp meetings were donated to the government and Sanitarium Health Food Company vans were fitted out to serve as temporary ambulances if needed (Ballis, 1987). Hare (1941:7) thought this a wise move and sufficient to "sweep away any doubt that may have been in the minds of those in authority over us."

There were limits to this generosity, however, as seer in rejoicing at the way the Sydney Sanitarium and Hospital was "delivered" by God from becoming an American hospital (Brevities, August 10, 1942). The church negotiated exemption for theology students from service, and of exemption from military duties for Adventist servicemen on the Sabbath except in "grave" emergencies (Anderson, 1941b:12-14). This placed the church under "great obligation" to do all things possible without bringing individuals in conflict with God's will. Significantly, Adventists were discouraged from enlisting because the Sabbath was a "great disadvantage as a volunteer" (Watson, 1940:1-3).

The church distanced itself from the position of conscientious objection, defined as opposition to war. "We do not object to serving our country in time of war. Our objection is to the taking of human life" (Haynes, 1940:3). Haynes (1942:2-3) used the term "conscientious cooperators" to explain the Adventist position. An internal conflict occurred over whether, as claimed (Anderson 1941a:3-4), the church had never taken a non-participant stance to war. The issue became a "pamphlet" debate in which Naden (1943:2-3) argued the church position, but called for respect for those whose consciences differed from this position.

Noncombatancy was not promoted strongly in Signs. Eleanor Roosevelt was quoted stating that conscientious objectors should be respected, and the bravery of Adventist medic, Orville Cox, was noted (Allum, 1943:6). In 1945 two stories of Adventist noncombatants who performed deeds of bravery under battle conditions appeared (Ferren, 1945:7; Thomas, 1945:5). After the war an article stated that the Adventist noncombatants' religion "impels them to go where danger is" to help the suffering; and "instead of sword and steel they carry the equipment of healing and relief" (Haynes, 1945:1, 5). The article revealed that 15,000 Adventist medics served the Allies during the war.

In Signs of the Times, the "forces of right" (King, 1939b:4) were identified: Britain, "our great Empire, raised up in the providence of God" (Edwards, 1940b:6), was lauded for its civil and religious liberty; democracy was upheld even as the "iron heel of brutality is seeking to crush the best that is in man" (Harvey, 1939:2). The origins and fundamentals of democracy were Christian based.

Support for the Empire led to condemnation of the enemy, with Nazism as a return to paganism (King, 1940a:6). Condemnation of the enemy continued after the war. After Hitler and Mussolini's "ignominious death here," Stewart (1945b:5) consigned them to "total annihilation in the hereafter." War crimes of the Nazis and Japanese were condemned with a call for "due punishment" (Hay, 1945b:3). Hay (1945c:2) called for "stern justice" against Japanese war criminals, for whom the "day of mercy has closed."

Heading toward Armageddon

Before and during the early months of the war, there was an expectation in Signs that the world was headed for the battle of Armageddon (Revelation 16:16), "the last of

battles, the Waterloo of the world" (Urquhart, 1939:2). Adventist interpretation of Armageddon has been divided over whether this is a literal or a spiritual battle (Neufeld, 1996:109-13). Here it was portrayed as a literal battle on the Plain of Megiddo in Palestine, with Japan as a key player, in fulfilment of the Revelation (16:12) prediction that kings from the East would march westwards (Burns, 1939:11-13). Later, King (1940c:4) was cautious: "Whether the present struggle will merge into Armageddon or whether (after Germany has been defeated) it will be followed by an interval of peace and then Armageddon, no one can say." Further mentions were tempered by this caution.

Noncombatancy and Sabbath-keeping

In *Record*, E L Minchin (1943:1) wrote that even in "blood-drenched" Europe, there was "hunger for the living God," and "God is with His people." "His people" were encouraged to respond by being faithful to God, usually through experiences shared by a variety of writers. Early in the war, Adventists who served during World War I told of their stand for noncombatancy and Sabbath-keeping. Later, reports, usually letters, regularly appeared from Adventists in the armed forces. They often reported how faithfulness to the Sabbath was rewarded, with the "opportunity to witness for my faith" (Unknown, 1943:6). The same faithfulness was illustrated by those working in the war effort at home (Brown, 1943:5; Holmes, 1943:8). Harrison (1943:6) encouraged servicemen to learn submission from Christ in their service, but to take courage and assert their "God-given rights" when challenged to go against the authority of God. Stories of "native" faithfulness to God and the missionaries' cause through aid given to the Allied forces appeared, particularly from 1944. Faithfulness to God, often linked to Sabbath-keeping, was presented as a worthy goal for all during the difficult war years.

The personal impact of the war

The personal impact of the war on Adventists viewed through *Record* varied from a shortage of male staff at church headquarters, augmented "with young ladies" (Brevities, February 26, 1942), to missionaries fleeing the islands, to death. During 1940 the personal impact of the war began to be seen, although in a surprisingly limited way. An Adventist soldier returned to Sydney after being wanded at Tobruk (Brevities, May 12). The first weddings appeared with the groom noted as involved in the armed forces (this number grew during the war years). A report from South New Zealand (South New Zealand Conference, 1940:4) told of several young men serving overseas, and declared that "the Lord is caring for His own."

Several letters appeared in *Record* from Adventist soldiers overseas during 1942, but then a page was formally set aside in November for letters from servicemen and special articles for them. Entitled "With our boys in the forces," the page featured a banner: "Loyalty, honour, truth and purity." There is an indication of a pledge card for Adventist servicemen to sign (Hooper, 1942:3), but the content is not revealed. The war came close to church leadership with the torpedoing of a ship carrying the Australian Union Conference treasurer, who survived to write of his experience (Adair, 1943:3).

The first report of an Adventist death from war (in China) appeared in May 1939 (Longway, 1939:4). Deaths of Australian and New Zealand Adventist servicemen were recorded in both news and obituaries, although the numbers appear too low to be a complete list. A report of two British Adventists killed during air raids also presented a philosophy and theology to help cope with these deaths:

It is well for us to know that we serve God not in order to be protected from harm, but because we love God and choose the way of truth, goodness, and righteousness as a preparation for the real life that is to come (News Notes, November 25, 1940).

The final year of the war brought reports of Adventists freed from prisoner of war camps, mainly in the Pacific and Asia. A reminder of the personal cost of the war came late in 1945: Missionaries E M Abbott, Trevor Collett and Len Thompson died when the Japanese ship *Montevideo Maru* sank in June 1942 (Unknown, 1945:5).

Reassuring the membership

In Signs, the attitude taken during the war tended to be, "How consoling it is, when wicked men are attempting to dominate the world, to know that there is One mightier than they keeping silent watch over international and individual affairs" (Dougherty, 1941:1). God was not the "author of the strife" and his peace was assured to the believer in the midst of turmoil and trouble (Madgwick, 1939:8-9). God was "behind the shadows" and would create a new order (Warren, 1941:1-2). "The terrible, topsyturvy conditions in our world are last-day conditions" leading to the second coming of Jesus (King, 1940b:6). Calls were made for personal piety, commitment to the Bible and its principles and conversion to Christianity. A pessimistic view of human nature led to a pessimistic view of the future. The next war (after World War II) was inevitable and would be more destructive (King, 15 14:2; Neff, 1944:3).

The second coming of Jesus to set up his kingdom was part of a Bible prophecy emphasis that featured strongly. "The dangers that to the average person are a sign of impending doom, to the Christian are waymarks indicating that the journey is almost over, the port is just ahead" (Vance, 1939:1-2). Readers were confidently told, several times, that Hitler could not succeed in conquering and uniting Europe, on the basis of the prophecy of Daniel chapter 2 (for instance, Were, 1942:4-6). Leaders who had tried

to unite Europe and failed illustrated that the prophecy of Daniel had been proven true:⁴
"The Word of God stands amid their ruins" (Haynes, 1941:2; cf Neff, 1939:11).

Those who rejected God's ways were headed for disaster. The theory of evolution (instead of God as Creator) was seen to have a direct influence on the war:

The Germans, perhaps more than any others, swallowed the idea most greedily and carried it to its logical conclusion. Their doctrine that "Might is Right" is the natural outcome of the belief that man is but a transformed ape who has fought his bloody way upwards by striking down weaker opponents that lay across his path to power and dominion (DeAth, 1942:1).

The war was seen in terms of spiritual conflict, with only the power of God able to hold a nation together, and too many nations had forgotten God. The greatest battlefield was in the human heart (Thiele, 1941:7). War was the "ugly offspring" of sin (Edwards, 1940a:12), and, calling on the theme of the great controversy between Christ and Satan, invisible, satanic agencies were at work (Smith, 1940:1-2). This conflict, linked with human nature, meant there would always be conflict and war until the setting up of God's kingdom. Science should not be blamed for the destructive forces it helped unleash, that belonged to the "unregenerate heart" (Hay, 1944b:2).

The war also took on spiritual dimensions in *Record* with "Satan . . . trying to destroy not only Europe but the remnant [Adventist] church in Europe" (Belleau, 1939:2). A General Conference (1939a:1-2) statement called for church members, as ambassadors for Christ, to not allow the spirit of antagonism and partisanship that "divide men into contending camps." The Week of Prayer readings for 1939 began with an article entitled "Omens of the coming day" (Christian, 1939:1-4) where, again, war was seen as a sign of the nearness of the Second Coming of Jesus. Ministers and members, parents and children were called to give their hearts to God and dedicate their powers to Jesus (General Conference, 1940:2). The Australian Union Conference (1940:7) added an appeal to "warn the world of the soon-coming Saviour."

Early reports from Europe did not deny difficulties, but demonstrated the church fulfilling its role despite them. Literature was produced, even some 10,000 Steps to Christ for German soldiers (Olsen, 1940a:8). Successes at Ingathering (collecting money door-to-door for overseas mission work) were indicators that the work continued well in Europe and the British Isles. Only from France and Spain came reports of Adventists suffering (Olsen, 1940b:3).

The Australasian Union Conference (1942:4-5) called for greater evangelistic effort despite brownout or blackout conditions. Then in 1944, despite the war, the General Conference passed a resolution of gratitude and called for increased devotion to God and greater evangelism (Altman, 1944:2-3). As expeditionary forces returned to Europe, the message was to pray for the speedy liberation of oppressed people everywhere and to prepare for "God's hour of liberation" (White, 1944:1). With victory assured, there was a need for "wider, greater, and more aggressive evangelism" (Thrift, 1944:1-2).

Restoration, religious liberty and the Vatican

In 1943, Signs began to warn that unless the restoration was built on Christian, biblical principles it would fail. Socielism, for instance, was found wanting because it sought to "make man happy by changing his environment," a new heart is what is needed (Huenergardt, 1943:1-2). The Christian must be a social reformer living for the welfare and blessing of others (Gilson, 1943:6). Democracy is God's way claimed an unnamed "prophetic commentator" (1943:5).

Democracy encouraged religious freedom, it was divinely taught and divinely inspired (Barnes, 1940:2), and brought to the state a spirit of toleration (Warren, 1940:2). The call was for governments to protect freedom (Haynes, 1944:4). In

Australia, Signs strongly opposed a referendum designed to give the government increased powers for post-war reconstruction because "Freedom is too precious to risk, even for protection and prosperity" (Hay, 1944a:2).

Maintaining the separation of church and state was a concern, with the "Christian program" (churches involved in the political restoration process) a "most anti-Christian thing" (Longacre, 1943:2). However, the most oft-stated fear came from the possibility of Vatican involvement in the peace process. Democracy would suffer if the Vatican was involved (Hay, 1945a:3). Stewart (1945a:1, 3) warned that "the most emphatic message in the Apocalypse" was against the papacy. Its Dark Ages ambitions continued, and the pope's bid for a place at the peace table had to be resisted (Fordham, 1945:6-7, 12). "We may judge from the past how Rome, when the power is in her hands, will act toward those who refuse to bow to her decrees" (Hay, 1942:4). Hay (1943:4) became more strident later, calling the Roman Catholic Church an "intolerant, blasphemous power."

The end of the war

With the end of the war in sight, *Record* reported the General Conference president asking for \$US5 million to help with rehabilitation of the work throughout the world, and far greater willingness from the members to spread the gospel (McElhany, 1945:1). The General Conference asked for greater commitment and funds, for a little time of peace may be "our one last opportunity to rise and finish the great work that He [God] has given us" (General Conference, 1945:2). The call was to "Evangelize! Evangelize!" (Stewart, 1945c:1).

The church's concern for religious liberty was demonstrated by presenting a statement to delegations attending the United Nations Conference in San Francisco in

April, 1945. Freedom of religion is a basic freedom that affects all other rights, said the statement, including the right to practise religious convictions and to change religion: "It includes freedom to rear and train children in their parent's faith, freedom to preach, teach, propagate, publish and carry forward missionary activities" (McElhany and Dick, 1945:2).

War had changed the world: physically, spiritually, and morally. Missionaries reported "very unpleasant changes in the native people" (Rudge, 1945:2). Further, the dropping of the atomic bomb was noted in *Signs* with the comment that the end of the world could come in such a fashion (Brown 1945a:3). Brown (1945b:2) added that the providence of God had drawn humanity back from the abyss. With the prospect that nations would be ready for full atomic war within five years, time was short: "Now is the day of salvation" (Hay, 1945d:3). The end of the war was welcomed, but the threat of the bomb hung heavy with warnings that real peace would be difficult to find, for, as after the first world war, the country may "disarm morally" (Brown, 1945c:2).

Print and the second world war

Although this crisis was outside the church, the war impacted on the church in a number of ways. Record engaged with the war issues to reinforce the group's theology and remained focused on the purpose of the church. Its support of the government and the war effort came on Adventism's own terms, with noncombatancy and Sabbath keeping in particular as non-negotiables. Despite open patriotism, with members encouraged to find ways of showing support for the war effort, one subtext saw this as helpful in gaining government support to accommodate the Adventists. The message to Adventist servicemen was that the Sabbath was worth taking a stand for, as a

demonstration of faithfulness to God, often presented in success stories from other servicemen.

The news reported during this period was often sombre with stories of war tragedies and setbacks to the church's work, and yet there was no sense of surprise. The *Record* reflected the church's belief that the war was an inevitable outcome of the great controversy between God and Satan. The second coming of Christ was seen as the only ultimate hope for a planet ravaged by war. Rather, with the war a sign of Christ's soon return, there was a sense of urgency about sharing the message of his return and in being ready for it, as seen in calls for greater evangelism and in personal commitment. These calls continued into the peace because of expectations that war would return.

While Record's main emphasis remained on the church's purpose, the war, with its restrictions and impact, provided an added challenge. At times it had to focus on the social issues brought by war and the relationship that needed to be developed with government bodies, but Record also indicated it had another agenda, its self-defined mission for God. During this period, Record continued to defend and support Adventism's distinctive teachings and endeavoured to build member support for them.

Signs demonstrated it recognised its role as one for a non-Adventist audience even if most Adventists read it. Signs gave a sense that only an apocalyptic solution to the war, the second coming of Jesus, would bring a final victory. A pessimistic view of human nature saw no chance of finding peace through human effort, and there was a natural link to the theme of the great controversy between good and evil, Christ and Satan, and an understanding that the war had satanic origins, with the world war secondary to the battle for the minds of humans. Yet there was optimism for God's work and he was seen as being in control. There may be peace, but it was not expected to last, at least not until the Prince of Peace (Christ) returned.

Noncombatancy demonstrated a major difference between *Record* and *Signs* with *Record* openly promoting this stance. *Signs* was more hesitant and, being a public face of the church the hesitancy is understandable with the majority within society not supportive of the position. Until there was evidence that noncombatants were serving as well as, and in as much danger as, others it was not emphasised.

Even before the Adventist Church worked at "drawing boundaries around how they would serve" the war effort (Morgan, 2001:96), it showed loyalty to the government in various ways. "The church embarked on an all-out campaign to convince community and the government of Adventist loyalty and cooperation in all matters, short of carrying arms and working on Sabbath" (Ballis, 1987). While it was generally successful in its quest, it demanded balancing loyalty to God and to the state. Signs (and Record) embraced the state's cause and delivered a supportive theology for the war effort. The question will remain unanswered whether this came from Adventist belief mixed with patriotism (and was the latter the stronger driving force?) or was it "collaboration," the term used by Blaich (2002:37-51) concerning Adventists in Germany and the United States during the war. Blaich notes that the same kind of loyalty was shown in Germany, with the editor of Der Adventbote reporting that "God has inclined the scales of good fortune toward us" with the fall of France. Another German church leader could "sense the footfalls of God across the world. In quiet adulation we thank God who in his wise providence has given us the Fuhrer" (cited in Blaich, 2002:44-5). From both Record and Signs, the collaboration appears genuine and willing, even if for the sake of the church's work, but there was unprecedented support for the government.

For the Adventists, the drive to present a united administrative front and maintain social cohesion, required them to harness the evangelical aspirations of their members, exploit the political situation with a self-initiated non-combatant

endeavour, and finally [something not found in the magazines], ostracise its dissidents (Ballis, 1987).

The war was a distraction for the church and its work, but it did help focus the church's position and message for those times. With a theology that war is inevitable, war simply added to the challenge of following and promoting God's way. The church proved itself a loyal, if demanding, citizen; it strengthened its noncombatancy position with the governments of the day and argued against those within who opposed that position; the Sabbath was a centre point to be upheld no matter what the situation; and the mission of the church remained at the fore. Through history and through the crisis of war, God was pictured as interested and involved, with a watchful and predictive eye over events as he directed the world toward a climactic conclusion. There was a sense of despair at any human solution, but the response was constant, if retold in various ways: the need to turn or return to biblical ways, with the final solution to war being the second coming of Christ. These were the messages promoted through *Record* and *Signs*. By contrast, the church's print response to the cultural and social issues coming out of the 1960s highlight a different approach.

A revolution called the sixties

The 1960s brought unprecedented challenges to society and churches. This was a time when "truly new ideas were articulated and everything in our country was up for debate—from foreign policy to sex. Nothing except the need for change was taken for granted" (Albert and Albert, 1984:xv). Here, the sixties begin in 1960, the year of the contraceptive pill, the first popular report (*Time*, March 28) of LSD and the election of John F Kennedy. They end in 1970, the year of gay liberationists organising in Australia, and Germaine Greer's *The Female Eunuch*. At the beginning of the sixties,

Australia was in the last years of the "comfy-slippered Menzies era" (Cockington, 1992:ix). When Prime Minister Menzies resigned in 1966 he had presided over a change in the ideals of middle-class culture from the Puritan work ethic to the hedonistic ethic of consumerism (Horne, 1980:3). From the United States came a "ferocity of debate, a challenging of conventions, and a testing of visionary hopes that memory now sums under the phrase "the sixties" (Burner, 1996:3). What was happening in the United States and the United Kingdom impacted on Australia (Conway, 1985:100). Television was a "unifying synesthetic force" (McLuhan, 1994:315), with pop music and film leading to unprecedented international cultural exchange and youth culture dictating taste in fashion, music and popular culture (Marwick, 2000:vii, xviii).

The sixties began with the feel of Camelot and the decade witnessed overdue social advances, but then saw the assassinations of the Kennedys and Martin Luther King, riots that left a dozen cities in flames, a string of obscene murders (from those by the Boston Strangler to Charles Manson) and the drawn-out war in Vietnam (Coyne, 2000:71). Hope was shattered and youth protests became more militant (Bodroghkozy, 1997:207). Ellwood (1994:10, 20-1) sees the sixties as a transition from modern to postmodern times, but the tack of a clearly-defined enemy weakened postmodernism, giving it a muffled voice amid endless "ripples of private opinions in pluralistic puddles." By the end of the sixties, "With varying degrees of hesitation the Australian cities are beginning to adjust themselves to more permissive living" (Horne, 1971:237). Six issues arising from this era are considered here in relation to the Adventist Church's print produced in Australia. They are: protest movements, recreational drug use, changing sexual values, challenges to Christianity, music as a carrier of the new culture, and the women's movement. The sixties protests began with the civil rights movement in the United States, developing into protests on university campuses, and then against

the war in Vietnam. The era was noted for its protest against authority at various levels, from the World War III declared on parents (Neville, 1995:236) to being unpatriotic and against "the most legally declared of wars, which Vietnam was not" (Burner, 1996:8).

"The spread of drug-taking and the deification of the revelation it was alleged to induce" was a negative from the sixties (Marwick, 2000:xv). Anderson (1995:260) found evidence that the majority of the "sixties generation" (college and university students in the mid-sixties in the United States) tried marijuana.

Effective birth control devices and the legalisation of abortion, "contributed to the dramatic shift in many women's sexual behavior during the decade" (D'Acci, 1997:74). 8 Allyn (2000:4-8) tracks the sexual revolution through the sixties, beginning with the use of the Pill by white, middle-class, female college students; then encompassing the sweeping repudiation of literary censorship; moving to the scientific study of sexual behaviour; and, at the end of the decade, exhibiting a new candour in American culture, the acceptance of nudity on stage and in film.

Roof (1994:243) finds a "youthful revolt" against conventional religion in the sixties. Religious belief was in decline (Horne, 1980:9). Manning Clark (1987:266-8) asks, "Was this generation, stripped bare of all faith, to be left comfortless on Bondi Beach?" The sixties saw a growing fascination with Eastern religions and a determination to reject the world of the older generation (Gerster and Bassett, 1991:124-5). Forces within Christianity led to the Easter 1966 Time cover question, "Is God dead?" which "launched a thousand sermons that Easter Sunday" (Ellwood, 1994:122, 98). John A T Robinson's (1963) Honest to God put God "distinctively on the defensive" (Utley, 1963:96). Two World Council of Churches meetings (1961 and 1968) placed church unity and the ecumenical movement on the agenda even if the

meetings showed the organisation a "paper-clogged backwater" (Ellwood, 1994:304). Vatican II deliberated and brought the mass into the vernacular.

Music proved a willing message carrier in the sixties, with music styles giving their own message. "Seeing Mick Jagger felt like seeing a part of myself—as if the Stones and I, and all our mates, belonged to a secret tribe" (Neville, 1995:51). "Music created and defined a public. Music became a force not only for the destruction of conventions, but also for cohesion. In whatever way the decade is discussed, the music serves as a soundtrack" (Burner, 1996:6).

At the end of the sixties, women involved in protest movements concluded that the "language of liberation" was spoken on behalf of all the oppressed, except themselves (Albert and Albert, 1984:48). The first "powerful public demonstration of feminism" in Australia was a meeting at Sydney University early in 1970 (Horne, 1980:29-31). The movement developed into a variety of factions⁹ and gained pace in the seventies.

A content analysis focusing on these issues is made of four magazines produced by the Adventist Church in Australia from 1961 to 1975, with comparisons made for the three five-year periods involved. These 15 years are chosen to assess immediate response to the six issues within the sixties, and to examine longer-term responses up to 1975. One response, *Telos*, was developed in 1972 and will be considered separately. In the analysis, no weight is given to the substance of an article, it merely records numbers of mentions of these topics, and if an article mentions more than one topic both are recorded. The intent is to discover if the issues were impacting through mentions in the church's print.

Each of the issues mentioned that came out of the sixties were threatening for evangelical Protestant groups, of which Adventism could be considered in the

conservative wing. The Adventism of the time had a comfortable sectarian position, shunning the things of "the world," and holding to the certainties inherent within sectarianism. These certainties were strengthened during the conflict between Modernism and Fundamentalism¹⁰ in North America during the early decades of the 20th century when Adventists, by not wanting to identify with Modernists, retreated "more-and-more into the camp of the Fundamentalists" (Patrick, 2003c), a position maintained into the 1960s. Fundamentalism promoted the Bible as given word-by-word from God and thus to be taken seriously and literally. One should expect that attacks on positions of authority, the family unit through sex outside of marriage and threatening the role of the husband as head of the family, and to orthodox Christianity would be opposed, as would the music of the sixties as a rebellious, in tone and text, message carrier with what would be considered an unhealthy youth culture emphasis. Added to this, the Adventist holistic approach would see danger in the developing drug culture. The tables that follow in this part list the number of occurrences these topics occur in each five-year period, under the headings: "protest," "drug use," "sexual values," "challenge Christian orthodoxy," "music," and "role of women."

Signs of the Times

Signs of the Times, at this stage a 32-page monthly, began the sixties as a printintensive magazine, but ended the decade with design and illustrations also a priority.

This meant fewer articles, including a reduction from three to two editorials, an
important drop in the context of this study because editorials often mentioned current
issues. What is obvious was a strong emphasis opposing the ecumenical movement,
with its perceived dangers to religious freedom. There was stronger motivation, though:
"Adventism had originated as a prophetic call to come out of the established religious

bodies. To shelve doctrinal differences in the name of ecumenical cooperation would thus mean a dilution of historic mission and identity" (Morgan, 2001:135).

Table 6.1 illustrates a growing awareness of the issues of the sixties, with a strong emphasis on the challenges to Christian orthodoxy, which gradually became more important than the threat of ecumenism. Music and the role of women rarely rate a mention and more often appear in a news note (a denomination planning to ordain women, for instance, or, in the later years, in question and answer sections). Changes in emphasis appeared in two areas: First, with "protest," or challenges to authority, the early emphasis was on delinquency, later the emphasis was on the issue of public protest. Second, sexual morality concerns changed from dismay at the increase in the number of children born out of wedlock to the general decline in morality. Table 6.1 also shows a growing willingness to comment on the issues of the sixties, with a slight downturn in interest in them by 1974 and 1975.

Table 6.1

Signs of the Times (1961-1975) in relation to issues of the sixties

Years	Protest	Drug use	Sexual values	Challenge Christian orthodoxy	Music	Role of women
1961-65	8 .	4	19	58 (28)*	4	6
1966-70	16	11	36	84 (42)	4	1
1971-75	16	10	35	63 (17)	7	5
Totals	40	25	90	205 (87)	15	12

^{*}Numbers in brackets refer to the number of times the ecumenical movement is mentioned.

Record

During the sixties, *Record* was primarily a news magazine, which meant little space was available for comments on social or religious issues. The most significant change in this period was the appointment of Robert Par: as editor, in 1967. Previously the editor had been an administrator of the division, the secretary, and the magazine

partly prepared at the division office in Sydney. Parr, a former teacher within the Adventist system, was also an experienced editor (working outside the church) and writer. He introduced a regular letters to the editor column that gave church members a voice and increased significantly the number of mentions of various sixties concerns. Under Parr, in March 1968, the *Record* became a 16-page magazine, it had previously been eight pages and 16 pages every second week. Editorials now appeared every week. He also introduced more articles, which had previously tended to be precis of sermons. These factors increased the mention of sixties issues. Brief news notes appeared in almost every issue during the sixties, although they were gradually phased out. That means, for instance, that a brief note of a meeting of the World Council of Churches or the ordination of women within a denomination is included in this content analysis.

Table 6.2 shows the ecumenical movement gained strong attention at the beginning of the period, but faded to barely a mention by the 1970s. The first two five-year periods revealed strong suspicions concerning the actions of the pope and the Vatican councils. There were also strong expectations of forced Sunday worship. By the end of this period, the main emphasis was on the more general challenges to Adventist Christianity.¹¹ There was little movement about what was "acceptable" music, personally or in worship. By the mid-1970s, it seems that folk music was acceptable, but rock and jazz were certainly out.

Table 6:2

Record (1961-1975) in relation to issues of the sixties

Years	Protest	Drug use	Sexual values	Challenge Christian orthodoxy	Music	Role of women
1961-65	1		3	40 (27)*		_
1966-70	11	2	30	47 (20)	6	2
1971-75	5	6	24	26 (1)	22	8
Totals	16	8	57	113 (48)	28	10

^{*}Numbers in brackets refer to the number of times the ecumenical movement is mentioned.

During this time youth did not have a strong voice in the *Record*. In fact, when they did find a voice and question attitudes within the church ("Younger generation member," 1970:1; and Harlock, 1971:1) the letter responses attempted to show support, but were often critical. Standish (1973:5) condemned "worldly self-seeking" youth activities within the church, or sponsored by the church. He encouraged church leaders to show true love for youth by rediscovering the word, "no." Changing sexual values of the sixties were often linked to dress, especially the shortening skirt lengths, in articles and letters, yet the photographic evidence in *Record* shows that skirt lengths of younger women had shortened dramatically by the early 1970s. The mini-skirt issue illustrates a tension within *Record* during this time of change, with more emphasis was given to main aining a code of dress and conduct, rather than tackling the problem of morality.

Being distinctive was important, and there was a strong attempt to maintain and strengthen the walls between the church and society, to the point of being isolationist. Forays into society's issues, mostly in editorials, generally brought the reader back to Adventist certainties. These certainties were also seen in articles and letters, and were defended with biblical texts or from Ellen White's writings. Almost all news about the church in *Record* was good news and, because the church was growing and developing, the news was good. Then two "Tell it like it is" articles in 1974 gave a different story: first, of financial deficits in the Pacific islands, and the termination of church employees because of a lack of funds (Lee, 1974:1). This was not a new message (see Raethel, 1971:1, 4), but the extent of the problem was far greater than previously. The second told of the closure of Aboriginal work in Western Australia (Adams, 1974:1-2). The following year, Parr (1975a:4) quoted a letter of concern "over all those (young and old) who 'leave the church." Certainties were being tempered with other realities.

Alert

Developed by the temperance department of the church, *Alert*, a bimonthly, was the only magazine of the four not edited by Robert Parr after 1967. Until 1969 it called itself the "voice of the Australasian Temperance Society." In 1969 this was changed to the "organ of the Narcotics Education Service." *Alert* specifically targeted smoking and alcohol use. During the 1960s it began to target street drugs as well. Table 6.3 demonstrates the growing emphasis and importance they gained in *Alert*. The other issues barely rate a mention.

Table 6.3

Alert (1961-1975) in relation to issues of the sixties

Years	Protest	Drug use	Sexual values	Challenge Christian orthodoxy	Music	Role of women
1961-65	1	1				
1966-70	1	62	_	_	1	1
1971-75	3	150	6			2
Totals	5	213	6		1	3

Good Health

Good Health, a monthly magazine, had a healthy living emphasis, which tended to show itself in articles about such things as weight loss, curing acne and handling that winter cold. More serious issues, such as alcoholism, were also handled, but it aimed at being a family health magazine. A significant change is reflected in Table 6.4 when a counsellor's page was added in 1971. The questions answered were often of a sexual nature, reflecting new sexual values coming through the sixties with subjects ranging from the Pill, to affairs, to masturbation, incest and venereal disease discussed. Several issues of the sixties were considered outside the thrust of the magazine.

Table 6.4

Good Health (1961-1975) in relation to issues of the sixties

Years	Protest	Drug use	Sexual values	Challenge Christian orthodoxy	Music	Role of women
1961-65	—	_	1	-	-	
1966-70	_	2	4			1
1971-75		6	41			
Totals		8	46			1

Telos

Telos, a quarterly magazine produced from 1971 to 1974, began, says the editor, Gordon Box (2001), because "we really wanted something in the hands of our own young people, particularly our university societies and so on, that they could use with their non-Adventist friends." Box was the Adventist Church's youth director for the Greater Sydney Conference for most of the life of Telos. He points to an article in the first issue by Desmond Ford (1971, 8-14) about the moral argument for God, as an illustration of something that could be given to an "unbeliever." Telos looked at "live issues," issues coming out of the sixties.

The health writer for the magazine, John Knight (an Adventist medical doctor better known as media columnist and personality, Dr James Wright), also wrote for Dolly, which began during this period. Box sees strong connections between Dolly and Telos, with Dolly at the "leading edge of [youth] thinking." In Telos, Box developed a philosophy of, "This is what young people are talking about, so what is the Christian philosophy or Christian approach on this subject?" The magazine was more a general Christian magazine than one attempting to make Seventh-day Adventists out of its readers. The editorial in the final issue stated finances as the reason for its closure (Box, 1974:26). Box (2001) suggests, "We just run out of puff." He wanted to pull out as

editor and, in the same year, pulled out of Adventist ministry. Neither the money nor a replacement editor was found.¹²

Reacting to a revolution called the sixties

In its magazines, the Adventist Church did engage with the issues of the sixties, but on its own terms. Its strong anti-drug stand was a continuation of its vigorous polemic against alcohol and smoking. There was a delayed but open discussion of sexual issues in magazines intended for the public with the obvious intent of promoting sexual relations only within marriage. Challenges to the Adventist form of Christian orthodoxy gave the opportunity to present the Adventist position. Not until *Telos* was there a sense that the issues were being taken more seriously.

The changing role of women was rarely mentioned. The most significant was when the General Conference Annual Council of 1973 "took a close look at the ordination of women to the ministry, and backed off" (Townend, 1974:6-7). The lack of mention may come back to Parr being unsupportive of the women's movement. Parr (1972:26) argued for a "wife-mother" and a "father-provider figurehead" with this type of home a "sacred thing." During International Women's Year, in 1975, Parr (1975b:4) wanted equality for women, but referred to women as the "Second Greatest Sex" and, with a touch more of what would now be seen as condescension, as "gentle hearts." Surprisingly, there was no reaction in the Letters column, which may indicate that he spoke for the broader church, or that it was seen as a touch of humour, something for which he was well known. Yob (1975:6-7) called for women to attain "the sublimity of womanhood" through four "love-hearts": the heart of a child; the heart of a bride; the heart of a sister; and the heart of a mother. The women's liberationist, wrote Yob, does

not cry out from any of these hearts of love in demanding her rights, "true womanhood does not consist of these things." ¹³

The issues of the sixties were a concern for the church because they challenged their Christian, moral and health presuppositions, but they tended to be used to help the mission of the church or as identifiers of separateness. While some of the journals (Alert, Good Health and Signs of the Times) attempted to persuade non-Adventist readers of the Adventist position, the views being promoted were also directed at reinforcing views and values of church members. Within the church, through Record, the issues were mostly either ignored or used to teach church certainties or standards. Only in Telos was there a serious attempt to engage directly with the issues. Threats from the issues of the sixties were being blurred by a greater factor, the church was going through a period of numerical and institutional growth, "boom" times worldwide and in Australia and New Zealand (Ballis, 1995:205). "In both civilised and primitive areas, right around the globe, the Adventist movement is onward and upward" (Peterson, 1967:1).

The steady membership growth in Australia and New Zealand, and larger growth in the Pacific islands, and the emphasis of being separate from "the world," gave the church, through its print, the luxury of using selectively or largely ignoring the issues of the sixties without impacting on its success. However, there is recognition of the issues and the church can be seen attempting to come to terms with them in its own way by drawing on Adventist values in response. In the early 1970s the niche publication of *Telos*, aimed at youth, showed a targeted print approach to the issues. Significantly, it was targeted at those who would be considered most "at risk," inside and outside the church, from issues often being driven by youth culture.

The church proved to be much more defensive in the way it responded to both a theological and an organisational crisis.

The downfalls of Ford and Folkenberg

In considering the second world war, the enemy was outside the church and quite well defined. During the sixties, the enemy had surrounded the church with some attitudes infiltrating through society. In the 1980s and 1990s the issues, the two events under study, were within. The first ripped at the heart of theology, the second at the heart of integrity and organisation. This part looks at how *Record* handled the dismissal of Desmond Ford in 1980 and the resignation of Robert Folkenberg in 1999. It also notes how print was used in different ways for each situation.

The dismissal of Desmond Ford

The January 14, 1980, *Record* informed the church that Desmond Ford had been given leave of absence to give full-time study to research and prepare a statement on the "sanctuary and related issues" (Franz and Parmenter, 1980:1). Ford's document was to be reviewed by scholars and church leaders some six months later.

Ford, an Australian theology lecturer, had been head of the theology faculty at Avondale College, an Adventist tertiary institution outside Newcastle, NSW, until his move to Pacific Union College, California. He was a popular speaker, but he had his critics, a minority of vocal, but "uninfluential" voices in the early 1960s that by the mid-1970s outnumbered supporters among church authorities (Ballis, 1999:131-7). These authorities were lobbied by a lay movement headed by retired pastors demanding that Ford "be called to account for his theology." These self-named "Concerned Brethren" desired that "Dr Ford be tried to the end for his answers" to questions they raised (J W

Kent, cited in Standish, 2001:951). Ford, in a 1979 forum meeting, challenged the church's traditional understanding of the sanctuary doctrine and, although he was an "Ellen White enthusiast" (Bull and Lockheart, 1989:74), he questioned "Ellen White's control of Adventist conclusions from Scripture" (Patrick, 2003c). This meeting became the catalyst that led to "the full eruption of Adventism's most significant theological controversy since the turn of the [twentieth] century" (Morgan, 2001:180). Ballis (1999:205) suggests the controversies of the 1980s, often centred on the teachings and influence of Ford, "exploded in the community with a ferocity and intensity that shattered the peacefulness of the sect and threatened to destroy it." Ford's presentation was "a threat to [Adventisms] uniqueness" (Plantak, 1998:145). Ford (interviewed in Ballis, 1995:389) suggests "Glacier View [where Ford's work would be reviewed] may have triggered many things, but it was still in a long line that had begun years earlier."

Record made little comment. A letter to the editor (January 28) commended Ford for his "excellent scholarship" in his book Daniel (Sperring, 1980:16). Because of the lead time involved it was written before publication of the January 14 announcement. However, it indicates that it did not seem inappropriate to publish such a supportive statement. Ford's articles continued to appear in Signs of the Times for a time with Parr (2000) defending the action to those "above" by indicating they had been written before Ford "had misspoken himself." A letter to the editor in April expressed appreciation for church leadership allowing time to deal with the issue. It said the issues were real, but it was "very much the church's problem," not Ford's. Many "recognise the tension and conflict and are supportive of Dr Ford's attempts to reconcile the difficulty." There are no quick or easy answers, but "I am confident the church will deal wisely with this matter" (Valentine, 1980:13-4).

The July 14 (1980) Record announced a committee of 115, including eight from Australia, to meet at Glacier View Ranch (a youth camp) in Colorado on August 15 to assess Ford's 1000-page document¹⁵ (Parmenter, 1980:1). The same magazine ran a letter thankful for "Ford's lectures on this subject of inspiration at Avondale College in the mid-sixties," and his defence of Ellen White's use of sources (McPhee, 1980:13-4). After Glacier View, a headline appeared in the September 8 issue headed "Ford document on sanctuary studied: variant views rejected." While recognising the need for continued study in certain areas, the committee "clearly confirmed the doctrinal positions" of the church (Parmenter, 1980a:3). On the following page and without naming Ford, Parmenter, the Australasian Division president, made obvious connections, warning of the devil uying to drive a wedge between scholars and the "common people" in biblical understanding. The church has a "God-ordained, committee representative system" through which every member can participate. He added that the provision of a free copy of Record to every member (begun earlier in the year)¹⁶ ensured an informed membership (Parmenter, 1980b:4). In the same issue (September 8), an eight-page insert included three papers from the meetings. This report told of the deep spirituality of the conference, Ford's "Christian spirit" in his apology for inconveniencing the church, the vigour and forthrightness of convictions expressed, and the attempt "to draw [Ford] and his wife close to us" (Johnsson, 1980a:1-3; Wood, 1980a:3). Wood (1980a:3) also wrote of a letter presented to Ford setting "forth the changes in attitude and views that would need to be made by Dr Ford if he were to continue to carry his present responsibilities in the denomination." Urged to take his time to think about it, Ford responded that he did not need time, he could only stand by his positions.

A December 1 (1980) article commented on the interest journals such as Christianity Today and the "secular press" had shown in the deliberations at Glacier View. Johnsson (1980b:3) suggested, "We are glad that our distinctive doctrine of the sanctuary is being brought before the world." A reprint from Adventist Review was inserted in the December 8 Record. For the first time, mention was made that Ford had had his ministerial credentials withdrawn (on September 18, in Australia). The insert maintained there was "remarkable" unity among those at Glacier View (Wood, 1980b). The year ended with a letter in Record congratulating the church for the "refreshing change to see how cordial was the relationship between Dr Ford and the Glacier View committee!" (Waddell, 1980:12).

Vance (1999:83-4), who is not an Adventist, notes a different reaction, with Ford's dismissal causing divisiveness, and protests from pastors, academics and laity. Cottrell (1980:22) found a sense of betrayal by many scholars to Ford's dismissal. Thirty nine "pastors and scholars" from Andrews University saw Ford in basic harmony with consensus statements presented at the meetings and that Glacier View had become the trial it was not meant to be (Thirty nine, 1980:61-2). Adventist Review was criticised for its role as "polemical and apologetic and [being] willing to sacrifice credibility as a reporter of news" (Utt, 1980:64). Many turned outside Adventist Review and Record to gain information, to Spectrum, for instance. In the United States, Evangelica was established to promote Ford's views and, in Australia, an underground network of information sharing developed (Ballis, 1995:172-3). Among protesters was the "maverick former editor [Parr] of the Australasian Record" who accused church leaders of trying to "out-papacy the papacy in dogma" (Ballis, 1999:141). In July (1-5) of 1980 (the Glacier View meetings were in August), Parr's position came under review as part of the normal business at the Australasian Division session. He felt he might weather

the storm, but, "If I'd been more astute I would have said, 'This is the end for me because I'm known to be a friend of his [Ford] and I'll get the axe" (Parr, 2000).

Geoffrey Garne, an editor from South Africa, replaced Parr at the end of the year. The suspicion that church administrators had orchestrated Glacier View extended to Garne's appointment and it was popularly thought he had been instructed to get the church back on track through *Record*.¹⁷ Garne's (1981a:4) first *Record* editorial (February 2, 1981), "My mandate," helped fire those suspicions with his use of the counsel of Ellen White that church publications should strengthen every "pin and pillar of the faith," and his warning against "spurious doctrine." However, there had been no contact with church administration. Garne (2000) received his appointment "out of the blue." His editorial policy was based on his personal belief and values. Significantly, he eventually limited the letters page, sensing that he ought to devote the space instead to "what we want to tell the church about what's happening in the division." The *Record* changed, but it was changed by the shape of the new editor behind it, not by church administration, an illustration of someone in authority, in this case the editor, bringing their top-down influence to bear on the print product.

During 1981, Record emphasised the fundamental and historic beliefs of the church. The reaction to Glacier View is obvious, with each president at the various levels of church administration in Australia and New Zealand writing to give personal affirmation to the church's beliefs. Ford was mentioned in a letter for his "timely and worthwhile contribution to the remnant church," but with the warning that "unless he clambers back on, too, will fit into the category of Romans 1:22" (Webster, 1980:13). Garne (1981b:4) affirmed the church's beliefs and recognised that some "question and quibble over some of our beliefs." "Either they must decide that they are Seventh-day

Adventists and identify themselves with what the body believes, or they will come to the place where they will dissociate themselves from us." After Glacier View, many did.

The Ford issue was a serious crisis for the Adventist Church because it posed a perceived challenge to fundamental church beliefs. That it was taken seriously can be seen by the calling together of the 115 and the preparation for the Glacier View meetings. Fallout from the decision to defrock Ford was also significant with Adventist ministers and members leaving the church. Ballis (1995) has demonstrated an unprecedented loss of ministers in Australia and New Zealand during the 1980s, after Glacier View. Although not all should be seen as a direct result of the Ford crisis, the suspicion that developed between church administrators and ministers over the handling of the crisis made it easier for ministers to walk away from their calling. No similar study has been done of church member loss.

The hesitancy to publish before the Glacier View meetings is understandable because it was intended as a study of ideas. It is not as easy to understand the limited response after, nor the fact that almost all information was published in *Adventist Review* first. While Parmenter (1980b:4) indicated a desire for an informed membership, the *Record* published material about Glacier View that tended to be filtered through *Adventist Review* and limited, causing members to look elsewhere for information about what had happened, and other responses to the situation. *Record* during this time, on this topic, showed the hallmarks of a controlled print product, controlled through the influence of those with authority with Parr (2003) only printing supplied material after the event. More importantly there were few convincing reasons given for the decision to defrock Ford in the light of other information being readily available. *Record* had not developed as a print-media tool to handle effectively the kind

of crisis the church faced at that time. The use of the *Record* in reporting the resignation of a General Conference president stands in stark contrast to the approach with Ford.

A General Conference president resigns

On January 25 and 26, 1999, an ad hoc committee of 19 church leaders and church members met in Virginia, USA, with legal counsel of the General Conference to consider allegations and a lawsuit filed by James Moore against the General Conference president, Robert Folkenberg, the General Conference Corporation, the Inter-American Division, attorney Walter Carson and accountant Ben Kochenower. The allegations concerned a land deal Folkenberg and other church entities had er red into with Moore. As the church's attorney prepared to defend the case, "he discovered information that raised significant ecclesiastical concerns about Pastor Folkenberg's dealings with Mr Moore [the plaintiff]" (Medley, 1999:9). The ad hoc committee reported on January 27 to the General Conference Administrative Committee, recommending that "at the earliest opportunity, the General Conference Executive Committee be convened to hear this matter and to express itself on a question of confidence concerning Elder Folkenberg's continued leadership" (Ad hoc committee, 1999:11). A special meeting of the 268-member General Conference executive committee was set for March 1.²⁰ On February 8, Folkenberg announced his resignation, stating the controversy was "detracting from God's work," and "to avoid pain and conflict to my family and the church I love, I am removing myself from the controversy" (ANN, 1999:12). On March 1, Jan Paulsen was elected president of the General Conference.

The editor of Adventist Review, a member of the ad hoc committee, wrote that "before any reports began to appear in the press, leaders determined that there would be no attempt at cover-up" (Johnsson, 1999:11). There was a strong effort to provide information, particularly through Adventist News Network (ANN), a General Conference email and website news provider, and the Adventist Review (Record used both sources). Folkenberg was given a voice when he complained that news releases from church sources and the public press left the impression that he had made personal gain from his dealings with Moore. He denied this (Medley, 1999:9). Comments from his resignation speech were mentioned and a statement that he planned to continue serving the church (ANN, 1999:12). Details concerning the causes of his resignation were limited, but a reassurance from the South Pacific Division president, Laurie Evans, that "the concerns raised were real," were backed up with a five-page document, available to church members on request, that listed the concerns. "This is not a confidential document," said Evans in Record, "but out of a pastoral concern for Pastor Folkenberg and his family we don't plan to publish it" (Manners, 1999:10).

Unofficial Adventist publications did not have the same pastoral concerns, with Spectrum (Spectrum team report, 1999:58-67) publishing details of a convoluted and disastrous association Folkenberg and other church entities had with Moore over land dealings in California. Adventist Today in both its web site and magazine was less inhibited in reporting "stories of [Folkenberg's] questionable business deals [that] abound" without naming their sources because of "high levels of fear" (Tinker, 1999:22, 24). While evidence was provided through official sources for action against Folkenberg (halted by his resignation), those who wanted specific details had to go elsewhere.

This experience demonstrated three things: The church could move at speed in a crisis, and that speed was reflected in getting information out quickly to the church membership through official channels. The crisis helped demonstrate a new array of communication media developed over the previous few years, and the commitment of

the Adventist Church to communication. The Internet became the main source of regularly updated news through ANN e-mail and postings on the General Conference website. This crisis established ANN as an important news source within the church. That is a claim that Ray Dabrowski (2001), the communication director for the General Conference, denies. He believes ANN had been well established by then to be the "primary carrier of news during that time. Our 'openness' approach from the outset has built interest in its viability among our audiences and among the external media." In another demonstration of the use of new communication tools, a presentation by Paulsen was video uplinked live by satellite for a worldwide audience a few days after his appointment. Finally, The lack of specific detail, for "pastoral" reasons, within the official news sources of the church was to be expected. Church membership may have appreciated the fact that not too much "dirty laundry" was aired. After the report in Adventist Today, one reader (Goffar, 1999:4) suggested renaming it Adventist Enquirer. Importantly, enough information and openness came through the official channels to allow church membership to sense the appropriateness of the action.

Comparisons from the Ford and Folkenberg situations

While useful comparisons can be made from these two cases, it is important to note first the most significant difference. Ford was perceived as challenging foundational beliefs of the Adventist Church and, in that sense, the church itself. For Folkenberg, the suspicion was of mismanagement with little long-term impact on the church due to his resignation and replacement, the perceived degree of danger was far less. For the individuals, theological deviation proved fatal as far as continuing church employment was concerned, mismanagement of church position was not.

To gain further information during both crises, church members went outside official church sources. In Ford's case it became a growth industry. For the Folkenberg case the complexities of legal agreements and confidentiality clauses made it difficult reading, unless it was in the Adventist Today tabloid version (although not all Adventist Today reports were in that style). During 1980 there was hesitation to share information through official sources. The official publications positioned themselves against Ford's theology while the Adventist underground press were generally for him. With Folkenberg there is a hint of the reverse. In 1999 information about the Folkenberg situation was quickly available, driven, perhaps, by the need to act "before any reports appear in the press" (Johnsson, 1999:11). Dabrowski talks about openness, and it seems that was the case, with information broadcast across a range of media, particularly the Internet. This in itself is a significant difference. The response to Ford was print driven; to Folkenberg it was multi-media, featuring the latest technology, some of it, the Internet, almost instantaneous. In both cases Record used sources from overseas in reporting these events. In the Folkenberg case that was out of necessity, but with Ford's roots in Australia and his dismissal formally voted in Sydney, it is surprising that there was little local comment. Finally, Ford had no voice in official sources after Glacier View, rather, both he and his ideas were condemned. Folkenberg not only had a voice, but could protest the handling of some information.

The 20 year period between the two events had seen dramatic growth in the availability of different media; the Internet particularly. Modern communication technology means information can be shared quickly and there is a sense that in 1999 it was felt imperative that this be used to get the church's viewpoint out before others did. By 1999, the communication department of the General Conference had been strengthened and expanded by Folkenberg and those working within the department had

a good understanding of communications and ready access to church leaders. In its print, the church showed a dramatic difference in its approach to the two crises. One was handled with minimal and unsatisfying levels of information. The other was handled with more openness and enough information for the decision to be accepted. The 20 years had made a difference, but the real test would have been another Ford situation that would have brought a far greater sense of threat to the church than the Folkenberg crisis.

Summary

When it comes to responding to crises and change outside and within the orbit Adventism, the church engages with the issues, but it gives its own peculiar response. In its response, the church emphasises its own distinctive purpose and theological interpretation, some harking back to its origins. The church's magazines consistently promote the distinctive beliefs, lifestyle and causes of the Seventh-day Adventist Church. This is to be expected of any community's print-media product. Outside influences, the second world war, for instance, became a distraction to the church's mission and purpose, but the church's print used them to confirm theological or prophetic positions, and to promote the church's position within and outside the church. When social issues came to the fore (in the sixties) there was little urgency to tackle them because the church was growing strongly during the sixties. When issues were tackled, they were approached on the church's conditions and from a well-established philosophy. The critic may interpret the church's response as reactionary, but it was consistent with both the church's philosophy and its historic stance, which were adapted to new social challenges. For internal issues, as seen in the Ford and Folkenberg crises, there was found a recent greater sense of openness, which will probably continue as the

church continues to value communication tools, and to train communicators in the best use of those tools. Whether these new communication tools will become a threat to the church's print is something the future will unfold. Currently it continues to maintain a strong place.

Endnotes

¹ The appearance of advertisements in Signs of the Times of this period for positions for Seventh-day Adventists indicates an expectation that Adventists are readers.

² By March, 1940, "the emergencies that some expected have not arisen," so those who had been trained were encouraged to use their new skills to help those in need (Halliday and Hare, 1940:6).

³ The term "conscientious cooperator" was first used by a Fort Worth, Texas, newspaper reporter doing a story on Adventist non-combatants in training. Adventist spokesmen "eagerly latched onto the phrase" (Morgan, 2001:82).

⁴ Daniel chapter 2 contains the story of Nebuchadnezzar's dream and its interpretation by Daniel the prophet. The dream was of a multi-metal image of a man and the various metals (gold head, silver chest and arms, bronze stomach and thighs, iron legs, and iron and clay feet) were interpreted by Daniel as kingdoms. Although Daniel's interpretation about the feet was not specific, Adventist interpreters have seen this as the break up of the Roman Empire into the nations of Europe and, as iron and clay will not hold together, neither will Europe ever be one.

⁵ Every year a Week of Prayer is part of the Seventh-day Adventist Church's calendar worldwide with readings provided that can be used as an aid for the week.

⁶ Book sales to May were up in Europe, with German book sales having the greatest percentage gains in the world during this year (News Notes, *Australasian Record*, October 21, 1940).

⁷ Germany, with 43,000 Adventists at the time, had the largest church membership outside the United States.

⁸ Rubin (1970:441) claims that during this time the back seat of the car became the first battleground in the war between the generations.

⁹ This was similar to the United States where, in 1970, Durbin (1984:524) described it as an "alphabet soup" of the women's movement.

¹⁰ The Fundamentalism of the early part of the 20th century was a theological position taken among Christians and should not be mistaken for the Fundamentalism of the late 20th and early 21st centuries, which is used to describe religious extremism.

¹¹ In 1973, for instance, there appeared an extensive series on speaking in tongues.

¹² Adventist university students, with church support, also produced two short-lived magazines during this time, *Scope* (1971) and *Right On* (1974), the latter intended for evangelism.

¹³ Iris Yob would later become an advocate of women's ordination within the Adventist Church. In her 1988 book *The Church and Feminism: An Exploration of Common Ground*, she argued for Adventist women to "not only have equal standing to men, but

that their God-given gifts, possible contributions, and particular viewpoints are recognized, valued, and utilized by the church" (cited in Vance, 1999:205).

- ¹⁴ Ford and Parr were good friends. Ford requested that Parr be invited to the Glacier View meetings, an invitation that was not approved (Parr, 2000).
- One person planned to read the document on the plane on the way to the meetings (Parr, 2000). With presentations and other papers, there were almost 2000 pages of materials (Wood, 1980a:2).
- ¹⁶ Up to this time the *Record* was a subscription magazine, with about 7000 paid subscribers. The *Record* has been distributed free (sent in bulk to churches) since then.
- ¹⁷ Parr (2000) recounted a story that gained strong currency, that the division president had met with Garne to sound him out and give instructions.
- ¹⁸ During the interview Garne (2000) mentioned that he received "heaps and heaps and heaps of mail." "The CBs [Concerned Brethren] had a very, very strong burden, you know, that the beliefs were being threatened." On the other hand, "Others felt that there needed to be a lot more emphasis on the gospel rather than on the doctrines of the church." He laughed as he said, "I couldn't accommodate everybody, so I simply decided I wasn't going to accommodate anybody."
- ¹⁹ Romans 1:22 reads: "Although they claimed to be wise, they became fools. . . ." (New International Version).
- ²⁰ A General Conference president is normally voted into office at a General Conference session (held every five years) during a process where some 2000 delegates from around the world vote on a name brought before them from a representative committee that meets during the session. Folkenberg had been voted into office in 1990 and reelected in 1995. Between sessions the executive committee (also elected at a session) is the only body that can make decisions affecting General Conference elected leadership. The executive committee is drawn from church leaders and members worldwide and normally meets twice a year. A scaled-down executive, involving people on-site at the General Conference headquarters, meets more regularly for decision making, but major decisions, policy changes and church statements must be taken to the larger meetings.
- Adventist News Network was established in 1994 and received an "on-line face" with an Adventist Forum. In 1996 it became part of, and helped establish, the Internet website www.adventist.org and then an e-mail bulletin. In 2001 there were 18,000 subscribers to the free weekly bulletins.
- ²² The irony of this should be noted. Folkenberg had been the driving force behind the development of this communication network. He had openly dreamed of an Adventist satellite network available 24 hours a day around the world, Hope-TV became a reality in late 2003.

SECTION THREE

A Case Study of Adventist Print

When communication ceases, "community is no longer a present reality" (Tinder, 1980:79-80). Communications systems in place today, including print, make possible a "kind of unity over great spaces" (Minar and Greer, 1969:xi). This is well illustrated in the vital role printing played in the Protestant Reformation of the sixteenth century. Without Gutenberg's development of movable type in the mid 1400s, the Reformation would have had limited and localised impact. Mellor and Shilling (1997:111) add that, "Protestantism encouraged new ways of imagining community. Printing allowed the Reformers to stimulate a common cognitive idea of Protestant sociality as the ideal model of human association." It also spread information that helped define symbolic and real boundaries to identify those within the Protestant community and those without.

The Seventh-day Adventist Church stands in that Protestant tradition. In this section, readers' perceptions are investigated to see if *Record* does assist in building a sense of community, to discover in what ways members make connections with their church and other members through its pages and if it is able to transcend differences among them. The first three chapters reveal an organisation in tension as it undergoes transition, the final chapter in the section considers the role print plays in both change and continuation within the church.

Chapter 7

Maintaining Community Through Print

Information output, no matter how dense, does not guarantee that individuals within a group will have an enhanced sense of belonging. An attempt to be directive within a print product may be appreciated by a few, but it should be expected that an involving approach and style will have broader appeal and promote greater confidence. The group's administrators and those involved in producing the printed work may have a sense of what is successful, but it is only in the response of readers that the success of their efforts can be measured.

This chapter investigates *Record* within the Adventist Church across the geographic area of Australia and New Zealand and its endeavours to enhance group cohesion. According to Adventist academic Rice (2002:14), there is already a recognisable sense of community among Adventists, but that does not deny the necessity of maintaining or developing it further. The chapter is divided into three parts and explores the role print plays in enhancing a sense of belonging among members and non-attenders, and whether print has a role in developing spirituality within a church group.

Print and community building

From the survey, there is strong support for the notion that "the Record makes me feel like I'm part of a community that's bigger than my local church." When asked if

respondents agree with this statement as indicated by a "yes" or "no" response, 94.4 per cent say "yes." That level of agreement is evidenced in Table 7.1 where 88.8 per cent of *Record* readers say the magazine helps keep them in touch with the broader Adventist family. As mentioned in the methodology chapter (chapter 4), because "community" is such a complex term, the concept of family was preferred in the survey as a better understood term with strong connotations of community or, using Weber (1947:41), family is the type case for communal relationships. Table 7.1 shows that 91.2 per cent find it important that *Record* keeps them informed about what is happening in other parts of the church. This linking with other events, people and places within the broader church is an important element in building community. Finally, and from a different perspective, 84 per cent of *Record* readers (strongly agree/agree) say the magazine helps them feel they belong to a larger family than they have at their local church. Table 7.1 reveals that the information *Record* supplies about what is happening in other parts of the church helps the majority of readers keep in touch with the broader Adventist community and helps build a sense of belonging that's larger than their local church.

While there is strong majority support for the notion that *Record* helps build "family" or community, the weakness in considering these survey responses alone is that they give little information about dissenting voices. The "search for negative and complicating information" and for "disconfirming evidence" is important in gaining the complete picture in all its "complexity and diversity" (Becker, 1998:210-1). Minority voices have a role to play and, in this research, the aim is to hear these voices as well from information found in the surveys and from the interviews and focus groups. These minority opinions will gain greater clarity as this and the other research chapters unfold.

Table 7.1

Record as it builds a sense of "family"

(N=125)	Strongly agree/agree	Neutral	Strongly disagree/disagree	No response	Total %	
Keeps me in touch	88.8	7.2	2.4	1.6		
Keeps me informed	91.2	4.0	4.0	0.8	100	
Feel part of family	84.0	7.2	6.4	2.4	100	

The full statements in the survey were: 1) The *Record* keeps me in touch with the broader Adventist "family." 2) It's important that the *Record* keeps me informed about what is happening in other parts of the church. 3) The *Record* helps me feel as if I belong to a larger church family than I have in my local church.

Boundary maintenance and print

It is the boundaries of a community that define it. In the case of the Adventist Church those boundaries have been identified as being real and symbolic. Among the real boundaries are the teachings of the church, which impact on both the belief and lifestyle of church members. The teachings of the church are chosen for consideration because the Seventh-day Adventist Church grew out of several streams of theological understanding that led to the belief of a holistic approach to life. Adventist lifestyle is thus shaped by its theology. Guy (1999:viii-ix) positions Adventist theology as Protestant rather than Catholic and generally more conservative than liberal (as the terms are commonly used). Plantak (1998:128) sees the Adventists' holistic approach to theology and life elevating the "idea of personhood" that has influenced Adventist scholarship to focus on the well-being of people and concentrate on eliminating things that would prevent the development of physical, emotional, economic, mental and spiritual abundance people can have here and now. Vance (1999:53-4) found that the health emphasis became a lasting ingredient of the Adventist way of life because it was integrated into their theology. There is also a strong theological element to early

prohibitions (often called "standards") on gambling, card playing, novel reading, theatre attendance, immodest dress and the use of cosmetics and jewellery, even if, as she notes, younger Adventists are "redrawing the behavioural boundaries." Pearson (1990:43) writes of these boundaries in this way:

[These restrictions] related to easily observable behaviour and provided convenient criteria for distinguishing the "good" member from the less faithful, the Adventist from the non-Adventist. They functioned, together with Sabbath observance, as powerful markers of Adventist identity, and as such were strongly endorsed by Ellen White. Many of these prohibitions remain quite firmly in place, while others have been subject to some erosion.

Standards are mentioned because during the interviews and focus groups there is often little differentiation between core theology (or fundamental beliefs) and standards, with some bemoaning the way the church no longer promoted the church's fundamentals, but when asked what they meant they are speaking of standards, not fundamental beliefs. Perhaps this should be expected for, as Guy (1999:35) suggests, "Every denominational community, including our own [Adventist community], tends to make its distinctives the very centre and soul of its spirituality and theology."

Another element, "the apocalyptic reading of history" has "functioned to draw boundaries around and infuse meaning into a separate Adventist identity" (Morgan, 2001:210). It has also prevented Adventists from making an easy transition from sect to denomination, from being an exclusive "remnant" set against society, to being a denomination viewing itself as one among many religious options (Morgan, 2001:210). The concept of remnant, that the Adventist Church is God's remnant church that would remain faithful at the end of time when other Christians would accommodate to the secular world, has caused pain within and outside the church because of its sense of exclusivity. Adventist academic Pearson (1990:23) explains that this position does not maintain that salvation is only available to Adventists, although some conservative

members come close to that view. "Rather, it is held that Adventism is, so to say, the grit in the oyster around which the pearl of the remnant church will be formed." While Poehler (2000:107, 142) notes a trend toward a "more functional ecclesiology" and the movement to a more denominational stance, and Morgan (2001:178) can title a chapter about the Adventist Church "A pluralistic remnant, 1976-2000," elements of apocalyptic and remnant ideology come through from respondents as core Adventist thinking. Thus Adventist theology and the resultant social behaviour place members marginal to the mainstream.

The survey findings indicate that a majority of readers believe that *Record* upholds the church's fundamental beliefs with 79.2 per cent responding positively. The number who believe *Record* promotes Adventist lifestyle is more than 10 per cent lower at 68 per cent. Almost 20 per cent (19.2 per cent) recorded a "no opinion" response about whether the *Record* promotes Adventist lifestyle. This uncertainty may reflect a reality of editorial policy that does not allow articles and, more importantly, letters that attack the church's fundamental beliefs. That same restriction does not apply to Adventist lifestyle issues and letters or articles have appeared challenging some accepted practices. This is confusing for some respondents because *Record* is a denominationally endorsed medium of communication.

Several argue that *Record* should guard the theological boundaries of Adventism more vigorously. David [148]² is one of them. He is not Australian born, but has strong connections with people in the church in Australia and overseas. In his 60s, he says *Record* goes too far in allowing freedom of expression and refers to a published letter that he believes implied support for active homosexuality. He thinks letters like that, if published, should be answered with an editorial comment because very often it "makes people angry and then people are confused not knowing what we stand for." He

suggests a novel concept that if these kinds of letters are published they should come under a regulator who is the chairperson who will "put that right." Putting it right would involve a "Bible-backed, Spirit of Prophecy [Ellen White]" response to "keep it in context and we can reach a conclusion."

Heather [126] who is in her 50s is far happier with *Record* and she enjoys reading it to see people "finding the truth." She talks of unity in diversity and calls for unity in doctrine, but expects members to see the fringe areas differently: "You've got to have the diversity, we're not clones of each other, but . . . at the same time we all, we all have the same beliefs or the same core of beliefs and that's important." She adds, "Outside the core . . . we're allowed to think differently about things." She expects *Record* to be supportive and to supply this core material and chides *Record* for not having much in the doctrinal area recently, she says there has been a bit of a "famine." While critical in this area, Heather had marked "strongly agree" to survey questions about *Record* upholding the church's fundamental beliefs and promoting Adventist lifestyle.

The following discussion during a focus group [FG1] summarises well the kinds of arguments that emerge during both the interviews and focus groups. Except for one who came out strongly and said she has "had it up to the eyeballs with doctrine," and that, she admits, because of a strict, conservative Adventist upbringing, there is an expectation that *Record* will maintain the boundaries of Adventist theology.

Xavier: The paper [Record] really should be the stand that the church has, not an individual as what they view. I mean, a letter to the editor, maybe the members have their right there, but as an article it should be what the church actually teaches and upholds.

Noelene: I believe the church does have a standard on almost every issue. I can't see how it can't because the code of Christian living comes into it and, you know, whatever the subject is there's a Christian standard.

Xavier: What do you see as the role of the church? To tell us what we should believe as believers? Or is it just a body which binds together people with similar beliefs . . . if that's the case, it's not the job of the *Record* to tell us what

we should believe, it's our job to find out and study it for ourselves. It can raise issues definitely . . . but rather than drawing conclusions and saying, "This is what you should believe," inspiring you to look into it and research it and find the answer for yourself. . . . I mean they can raise an issue and I think, OK, what does the Bible actually say about that? As long as the articles in the *Record* inspire me to make me dig a little deeper.

David: It gets back to, though, what if the magazine is picked up by a non-church member. They say, "Hey, this is a Seventh-day Adventist piece of literature, so therefore, what's in there is what the church believes." And it may not necessarily be in there in this way. You can't have a too broad...

Xavier: I'm not saying that we should raise issues that are absolutely against what's in Scripture....

David: No, definitely not.

Xavier: Because that's not the role of the Record.

Noelene: But you see that would be covered by Viewpoint [articles] and the church's disclaimer of it not necessarily being the views of the church.

The significance of doctrinal issues should not come as a surprise from those within a group that developed its distinctive doctrines within the recent past (some 150 years) and more recently, in the 1980s, suffered a theological crisis with the Ford controversy, which also focused in doctrinal issues. What is important here is to note how theological issues are woven with print to maintain group cohesion.

Frank [143] is openly hostile and disappointed with *Record*, but he has stronger anger at the church and wants to see something that "actually upholds the teachings of the church." In this, a few are with him because when they do not find what they want at their local church they expect *Record* to fill that gap or bring the church back into line. Frank complains that most sermons are what he terms "social gospel," designed to make everyone feel at ease.

Rather than say, "Let's not offend anybody," like I haven't heard a sermon on the Mark of the Beast from the pulpit for years. . . . If you believe something why be ashamed of it, if it is controversial? The things that Christ said were definitely controversial. That didn't stop him from saying it.

His comment about the Mark of the Beast takes the discussion into areas of apocalyptic understanding. Frank then moves on to his perception of how there has been a "watering down of our standards," with specific reference to drums in the church and a lack of

reverence. "What goes on in the church today wouldn't be accepted 20 years ago," he says. In these kinds of comments he and some others transfer their desires for their local church on to *Record*, expecting it to give a clarion call to bring back these former times.³ This does two things: it raises the question of whether a purpose of *Record* is to reflect the church in its current form, or is it an organ to present an idealised (and, in some minds, a past) form of Adventism?

One reader describes *Record* as fulfilling its role when he speaks of it fitting well as a part of a family that is being open and honest, and having to deal with a range of viewpoints. "When a visitor comes," he adds, "there's an expected way to behave and some stuff doesn't get aired. You know when it's not appropriate. But to me, the *Record* [belongs] in the family room with your shoes off." Those who say *Record* should be a stronger defender of Adventist belief and standards also demonstrate recognition of the role *Record* can play as a builder of their church's boundaries, but they want stronger boundaries, they want *Record* to lift these fences higher than they are.

Print as a tool for linking people

An important perceived role of *Record* is that of providing links between people and various parts of the church. The idea of church members being "connected" (a term used often by respondents) through *Record* is common during the interviews and focus groups. "Keeping connected," is how one explains this aspect of the *Record's* role, "Keeping the different levels, you know the administration and the ordinary bod . . . the [Pacific] islands and Australia and to some extent the rest of the world, connected." Another speaks of *Record* performing a "gluing process" that is designed to "glue us all together, even with our different attitudes." He feels it would be a "catastrophe of the

highest order" if the church did not have *Record* because "you lose a connection, don't you?" There is a sense that readers are being connected with their "family." "There's different cultures, different people and sometimes just the photos of the different brethren [church leaders]... we're all brothers and sisters in Christ... part of the body of Christ," is how one describes it. "It's your cousins, it's your relatives isn't it? You feel like you really, you're all together," says another.

Edna [118] is over 65 and attends a small church on the edge of a city. She tells of how *Record* helps a "lonely" Adventist:

I want to be bigger than 40 people in our local church. . . . I don't mean by that, by being puffed up or proud, but it's God's working in the whole wide world and the *Record*, well you can see God working through this one and that one and [an]other . . . I think that's really good, because I suppose it's part of my upbringing. When I grew up, I went to a solely girls' school, it was in [name], I was the only Adventist in that school of over 300 kids. When I went to university for a little while, I was the only Adventist . . . and you feel kind of lonely. And my father wasn't an Adventist, my brothers left the church at an early age and so to be part of a worldwide church sort of undergirds your faith.

This response contrasts to the experience of a retired minister, Quincey [FG8], who also finds connections through *Record*, but of a different type. He says, "I've been reading it for 50 years, I guess, but I like it as a family paper, it seems to keep in touch with the Adventist family, especially if you've been around a bit." He refers to people he has met in his work within the church. His experience is similar to one who says,

When you've gone through, say Avondale [College, the Adventist tertiary institution in Australia] and worked for the organisation, [Record] does keep you informed as to former workmates, schoolmates, what's happening with their families and, certainly when you've moved from a number of different churches, you see that the folk from former churches, you see where they've passed away and so forth. It does keep you up to date with former contacts, and I think that's important.

So, while Quincey has a sense of connectedness to individuals he knows, Edna has not had the opportunity to know such a variety of Adventists. For instance, she attended university, not one of the Adventist tertiary institutions. For her, the connections are not

as personal, but they are just as real even if expressed in terms of "God working through this one and that one," which helps in building her faith.

The connections are real, out tend to be interpreted in terms of the individual's experience. Denis [136], who is in his late 30s and attends a medium-sized city church, explains his situation this way:

[Wife's name] and I, and even in our circle of friends, if you start to lose that feeling of connectiveness then the little local irritations and personalities start to become a bigger deal. And the *Record* helps to remind me that there's not just made up of these fragments or these sorts of people, there's a wider cross section. And not everyone thinks that way, there are people that think like I do ... and I feel connected again.

Another who senses *Record* makes her feel like she is part of a larger family enjoys the sense of security this brings. When asked how it does this, she responds, "Oh, just being in a community, safe, secure." Others, involved in their church, want to know what other churches are doing and if they can learn from what they are attempting. One speaks of the difficulties his church had experienced with "CBs" (Concerned Brethren, a distinctively conservative group within Adventism) who had recently withdrawn from his church and were meeting separately. They had taken some church members with them and it had obviously caused pain in the church. He comments that despite what had happened, the CBs should receive *Record* because they are still part of the church. He adds the wistful hope that *Record* might help them to "lighten up."

If a voice was heard attempting to sum up the sense of connection *Record* is perceived to bring to most readers, it would sound like Damien's [134], a 30-something who attends a major city church. He points first to *Record* reporting comments from church leaders, and thus creating a link with them, and how it is particularly helpful when they address specific issues. This demonstration of organisation is helpful in showing that "we" are not "just a little offshoot group." He sees the contact with other Adventists as an encouragement, something that brings enthusiasm whether things are

going well or poorly for these individuals. He says the weddings and births (there are death notices, but no birth notices in *Record*) show "we're a church that's alive." The obituaries show, "We're a church that's being going for a long time and we've got people who have been holding to the faith for a long time."

It's just, we're a community of people, you know. . . . I believe extremely much in our message and I can see there are people around Australia who believe likewise in that message, you know, and we can all work together.

In Damien's final comment he brings together these elements of community, the "message" or theology and connections to other people in the church. These now need to be examined further to gain a bette: understanding of the whole. Regardless of how one interprets these "feel good" statements or overlooks them as exaggerations, for a majority of respondents the printed text performs a role in consolidating group solidarity.

Group definition and print

Boundaries make and help define communities. Chekki's (1997:36) understanding of the Latin root of community implies "that which is surrounded by walls," emphasising the concept of boundaries. The evidence is that a majority of respondents claim that, for them, *Record* helps underscore the defining lines of Adventism. Some, though, want the walls to be higher and tend to follow Knight's (1985:31-2) understanding that a significant boundary of Adventism is the symbolic rejection of the world for the sake of "the truth." This position reflects Wuthnow's (1998:49) comments about fundamentalist churches creating "high walls between themselves and the secular culture." None of the respondents suggest *Record* should be without boundaries and all expect it to advocate the "enduring values" (Gans, 1982:42-

69) of the church. There are, as one expresses it, "core" expectations and readers comment on these in various ways.

The discovery of the importance of *Record* for readers in finding and developing connections is significant. While Adventist theology and lifestyle help define the boundaries, comments about connecting with people gives the theology a new kind of meaning. *Record* delivers to readers through both text and pictures people who have chosen to live within the same boundaries, have similar theology and lifestyle; and tells them what is being done, what is happening in the lives of fellow church members. Over time, *Record* creates a web of connections that reinforces identity and shared experiences (cf Lee and Newby, 1983:57-8).

Most respondents see *Record* as strengthening Adventist's values. However, theology and standards are not the main element that creates for them a sense of belonging to a community through *Record*. They find a sense of community more through Adventist theology at work as seen through actions and comments relating to people, than through theology presented in text or concepts. This does not diminish the role of theology, but demonstrates that, for *Record*, the theology and these connections are closely linked. Community building is bound in both.

The role of print for non-attenders

So far this chapter has looked at the role of *Record* for those who attend church. This section asks whether *Record* is perceived as contributing to those who have had church connections, but no longer attend. Two scenarios are suggested in the survey: that of "Mrs Smitherton" who became a church member in her early 20s, but she's now 75 and unable to attend church. The other is of "James Timberton" who has been a regular church attender, but has chosen not to attend for the past two months. The survey

questions and subsequent discussion during interviews and focus groups centred on whether there was value in getting *Record* to them.

Some 96.8 per cent mark in the 1 to 3 range, on a seven-point scale, with 1 being "very important," for a question asking how important it was for Mrs Smitherton to receive *Record*. The main reasons given for a positive response are: to keep her in touch with what is happening, to keep her informed and to keep the church connection. A significant response, mentioned several times, is that providing *Record* gives members an excuse to visit her. They suggest *Record* could be, and is, used as the icebreaker, as well as indicating that her church is still interested in her.

One suggests that with so little time for contact and opportunity for personal interaction within the Adventist community, Record offers multiple contact points with Adventists through its writers and the people mentioned. Another agrees, "If that person cannot come to church, these people can come to her even if they are in pictures [photos] in Record." There is an expectation that Mrs Smitherton will have memories of people who may be mentioned in Record and she will recognise their names. A few tell stories of people unable to attend church who have Record taken to them, and a few do this personally. These stories tell of appreciation from those who receive Record in this way. One respondent says that taking Record is better than having some of the church fringe groups visiting with their literature. Those who do not see value in taking Record to her tend to feel the magazine needs a stronger doctrinal emphasis and wonder whether it we all do any good, but several of these do see some value in the connections that individuals make.

When it comes to James Timberton, 90.4 per cent of respondents (a slightly lower number) feel there is value in getting *Record* to him, with 60.8 per cent saying *Record* provides a "helpful excuse" to visit him. The idea of using *Record* as an excuse

to visit is stronger than for Mrs Smitherton, but many of the same elements mentioned concerning visiting her reappear here. They include, for instance, he may still want to know what is happening, it is a point of contact that allows him to keep in touch and it provides a link with the church. Other thoughts include: Letters may reveal similar problems to the ones that caused him to leave and that could be helpful as the issues are discussed; his roots are still Adventist and Record may be able to reach him; he will probably recognise a name sooner or later, which could soften his determination to stay away; and it is a connection to the church that he can choose to read or not. Two respondents describe Record as a useful "outreach tool" for people like James Timberton. Several tell stories of how former-Adventist friends or relatives, or "fringe" Adventists, love to read Record when they visit.

At the same time, some respondents believe taking *Record* to James Timberton would not be helpful for several reasons. They include the consideration that he has chosen to step away from the church. It may even reinforce the reason he left because *Record* is a part of the church culture. It may be a reminder of conflict or disagreement that led to him leaving, and he probably left for reasons *Record* is unable to fix. Besides, adds one, he is probably weak in the faith and he wouldn't be helped by articles that the respondent believes question doctrines or present alternative views.

Frank [143] is in his late 50s and had left the church for a number of years. Visits from a friend with *Record* helped him return. His story is of particular interest because Frank is very critical of *Record*. This is how he tells his story:

You know how close the church is and you can walk there in two minutes. And [name], the fellow who gives me the *Record*, he was the only one in seven years that came to me. And he actually dropped in a couple of *Records* at that time and what I liked is the fact that it sort of shows you, yes, this is your church and it's a physical [reminder]. If a person comes to see you, [then] it's over. But if they leave the *Record* it's like leaving a flag . . . [and] that little flag [says] you do belong. . . . It's a token of Adventism and there are things in there that you can

come back to you [and] read that give you that sense of belonging to God's church.

Frank is unhappy with the content of *Record*, yet when he was a nonattender it helped give him a sense of belonging to "God's church." It could well be argued that it was the person calling by with *Record* that had the major influence in bringing him back to church and it would not have mattered if he was being given the *Women's Weekly*. What this does is reinforce the concept expressed by several respondents that *Record* can provide an excuse for visiting a non-attender and an excuse that is church related. While the personal contact or friendship may have been the most significant factor in persuading him returning to church, Frank recognises *Record* as having a role as a "token of Adventism" that he could go back to after the person who brought it had gone. It is something to read to "give you that sense of belonging to God's church." However minor, *Record* did play a part. Most respondents hope that giving *Record* to a former attender will help bring them back to church.

In response to the Mrs Smitherton scenario, two respondents compare taking Record to her to taking the church to her. They see Record as a definite link to Adventism. The Record, to those who can no longer attend church, is a reminder that they are still a part of and in touch with their church. For those who have left the church it serves as a reminder of the group that was once an important part of their lives. Comments about facilitating "community" and "belonging" highlight one of the differences between a commercial publication and a church magazine. Commercial publications similarly attempt to evoke connectedness by printing stories with which readers are, in some way, able to identify (these include favourite media celebrities, royalty and sports stars). However, as the response of interviewees show, this element features even more powerfully in a church magazine.

Print within a spiritual community

The Seventh-day Adventist Church is not simply another voluntary, nonprofit organisation, it is a spiritual community. Provision was made during interviews to ascertain whether and in what ways *Record* may contribute to Adventist spirituality.

"Spirituality" is a difficult term to define. It has been described as "a broad concept referring to the ways in which people seek, make, celebrate and apply meaning to their lives" (Hughes, et al, 1997:7). In a society with growing uncertainties and ample choices, people will need to spend more time reflecting on deep values that make life worth living, and it will be "increasingly difficult to determine precisely what spirituality means" (Wuthnow, 1998:14). Kurtz (1997:223) adds that, though the term "spirituality" has been carefully analysed and dissected it has meant all things to all people and is often used in a vague and ambiguous way, or is (Jones, 1986:xxii) a vague word often used with no clear meaning or with wide and vague significance; and (Petersen, 1994:vii) a word that is "hardly more than a hint, a 'hint followed by guesses.' And the guesses proliferate exponentially." Brummett (2000:122) argues that there is instability in what spirituality means and therefore what it is. Spirituality has become a "proliferation term" with a "clutter" definition (Roten, 1994:104). Tacey (2000:17) admits that a definition is difficult, "but we can talk around the subject and provide some hints and descriptions."

While respondents give a variety of responses, demonstrations of spirituality may be subsumed under three broad categories: demonstrations of spirituality through a connection with God; demonstrations of spirituality within the personal life; and demonstrations of spirituality within relationships to others (for further discussion on respondents understanding of spirituality see Appendix B, page 296).

come back to you [and] read that give you that sense of belonging to God's church.

Frank is unhappy with the content of *Record*, yet when he was a nonattender it helped give him a sense of belonging to "God's church." It could well be argued that it was the person calling by with *Record* that had the major influence in bringing him back to church and it would not have mattered if he was being given the *Women's Weekly*. What this does is reinforce the concept expressed by several respondents that *Record* can provide an excuse for visiting a non-attender and an excuse that is church related. While the personal contact or friendship may have been the most significant factor in persuading him returning to church, Frank recognises *Record* as having a role as a "token of Adventism" that he could go back to after the person who brought it had gone. It is something to read to "give you that sense of belonging to God's church." However minor, *Record* did play a part. Most respondents hope that giving *Record* to a former attender will help bring them back to church.

In response to the Mrs Smitherton scenario, two respondents compare taking Record to her to taking the church to her. They see Record as a definite link to Adventism. The Record, to those who can no longer attend church, is a reminder that they are still a part of and in touch with their church. For those who have left the church it serves as a reminder of the group that was once an important part of their lives. Comments about facilitating "community" and "belonging" highlight one of the differences between a commercial publication and a church magazine. Commercial publications similarly attempt to evoke connectedness by printing stories with which readers are, in some way, able to identify (these include favourite media celebrities. royalty and sports stars). However, as the response of interviewees show, this element features even more powerfully in a church magazine.

Print within a spiritual community

The Seventh-day Adventist Church is not simply another voluntary, nonprofit organisation, it is a spiritual community. Provision was made during interviews to ascertain whether and in what ways *Record* may contribute to Adventist spirituality.

"Spirituality" is a difficult term to define. It has been described as "a broad concept referring to the ways in which people seek, make, celebrate and apply meaning to their lives" (Hughes, et al, 1997:7). In a society with growing uncertainties and ample choices, people will need to spend more time reflecting on deep values that make life worth living, and it will be "increasingly difficult to determine precisely what spirituality means" (Wuthnow, 1998:14). Kurtz (1997:223) adds that, though the term "spirituality" has been carefully analysed and dissected it has meant all things to all people and is often used in a vague and ambiguous way, or is (Jones, 1986:xxii) a vague word often used with no clear meaning or with wide and vague significance; and (Petersen, 1994:vii) a word that is "hardly more than a hint, a 'hint iollowed by guesses.' And the guesses proliferate exponentially." Brummett (2000:122) argues that there is instability in what spirituality means and therefore what it is. Spirituality has become a "proliferation term" with a "clutter" definition (Roten, 1994:104). Tacey (2000:17) admits that a definition is difficult, "out we can talk around the subject and provide some hints and descriptions."

While respondents give a variety of responses, demonstrations of spirituality may be subsumed under three broad categories: demonstrations of spirituality through a connection with God; demonstrations of spirituality within the personal life; and demonstrations of spirituality within relationships to others (for further discussion on respondents understanding of spirituality see Appendix B, page 296).

The survey shows 55.2 per cent of respondents, strongly agree/agree that *Record* helps in their spiritual life. However, in a follow-up question in the survey, when asked what sort of contribution the material in *Record* makes to their spiritual life and growth, the highest response, 42.4 per cent, indicated only a "minor" contribution. Some 16.8 per cent felt it made a "significant" or "major" contribution and 28.8 per cent said some material had been very important to their spiritual life and growth (totalling 45.6 per cent finding more than a minor contribution to their spiritual life from *Record*). These figures show *Record* has a limited influence on individual spirituality. The same is true when the question is asked about contact with those outside of the church (and related to the third demonstration of spirituality above): "Does *Record* help or encourage you to speak about Jesus or witness for him?" Three responses call for a positive answer: "It provides information I have used," 30.4 per cent; "it provides good examples I have tried to follow," 8.8 per cent; and "it provides real encouragement and help in witnessing" 12.0 per cent. A total of 51.2 per cent indicates a low impact.

Table 7.2 takes figures from the survey and focuses on the first and second demonstrations of spirituality above and shows that *Record* helps build some readers' spirituality in several areas. Few, less than 25 per cent, pray in response to what they read in the *Record*. It is not seen or used by many as a tool in their prayer life, nor does it gain a majority (only 43.2 per cent strongly agree/agree) when it comes to be used as an aid to readers' devotional lives. There is stronger support for the notion that some articles inspire readers to be a more spiritual person (78.4 per cent, strongly agree/agree). This is a far higher positive response than the 55.2 per cent indicated in response to the question about *Record* playing a spiritual role in readers' lives. The reason for the increase is found in going from the general, the whole *Record* playing a spiritual role, to the more specific, "some articles."

Record rates higher (82.4 per cent) in helping readers feel they are a part of a larger spiritual family. This response is almost identical (at 84.0 per cent) to the response to the survey statement, "The Record makes me feel as if I belong to a larger church family than I have in my local church." The descriptor "spiritual" is secondary to the concept of larger family, or "spiritual" may be interpreted in a loose way, which is quite common.

Some 84 per cent see God at work through *Record*. While this is noted here as a spiritual dimension of *Record*, support for this is found as respondents show an eagerness to know what is happening in the church. Some express the concept in terms of the news in *Record* showing God working within the church. Yet seeing God at work in the church translates into a sense of feeling closer to him for only 55.2 per cent of respondents (strongly agree/agree). There is no strong connection or follow through from one to the other.

Table 7.2

The spiritual role of *Record*

(N=125)	Strongly agree/agree	Neutral	Strongly disagree/disagree	No response	Total %	
Pray about 23.2		20.8 48.8		7.2	100	
More spiritual	78.4	7.2	12.0	2.4 4.0	100 100	
Spiritual family	82.4	8.0	5.6			
God at work	84.0	8.8	5.6	1.6	100	
Devotional help	43.2	20.8	32.0	4.0	100	
Close to God	55.2	24.0	16.8	4.0	100	

The full statements in the survey were: 1) I often pray about what I read in the *Record*. 2) Some of the articles in the *Record* inspire me to be a more spiritual person. 3) The *Record* helps me feel I am part of a larger spiritual family. 4) The *Record* helps me see God at work in his church. 5) The *Record* helps me in my devotional life. 6) What I read in the *Record* often makes me feel closer to God.

From the survey, most *Record* readers believe the magazine helps them feel they belong to a larger spiritual family. In this, the word "family" is key. There is a consistently high positive response to the *Record* bringing a sense of being a part of a

larger or wider family than the local church. Readers are less certain that the elements of self-identified spirituality form strong boundaries for their community, and the results are far weaker than for that of the perceived role of theology and lifestyle as Adventist boundaries.

The recognition that *Record* plays a role in giving a sense of feeling part of a larger spiritual family or community should not be discounted. Wuthnow (1998:17) encourages "practice-oriented spirituality," which requires the setting aside of space in which to meditate, to pray and to worship. He caus for places of worship "that define their primary mission as one of strengthening the spiritual discipline of their members." Just as Adventists come to worship in such a place, *Record* as an extension of the church can play a role in encouraging the growth of spirituality.

The survey responses demonstrate that while *Record* is perceived to embody and promote Adventist social values and theological views, contribute to strengthening group solidarity and promote a sense of belonging, respondents stop short of attaching to it strong connotations of spirituality. Even for the most devout Adventists, however noble its intentions may be, *Record* is valued more for the instrumental function it performs and not as an aid to worship.

Summary

Printing "encouraged new ways of imagining community" (Mellor and Shilling, 1997:111), but there is strong evidence that print media can also aid group cohesion. Those who sense a need for a stronger doctrinal emphasis demonstrate recognition of Record's role in boundary maintenance. Record is seen to establish connections with other Adventists, people who support an Adventist theology and lifestyle similar to their own. While connections are strongest with reference to people Record readers know,

there is a gradual build-up of connections of other people or groups of people that can be worldwide because they are "family" or "cousins," and "we're all brothers and sisters in Christ."

Record is perceived to facilitate links with nonattenders and demonstrates that it does not have to be a part of the local church to perform that role. It is worth noting the surprising absence of contrary opinions from respondents. The strongest opinions are voiced by those calling for Record to exercise even tighter control so that its columns promote not only a uniform Adventism, but also one more in line with its sectarian past. The responses confirm that the membership maintains strong attachment to sectarian values even though some church authorities see value in and promote a more inclusive outlook.

The concept of members being connected through print has been touched on briefly in this chapter. The next chapter takes a more in-depth look at these connections.

Endnotes

¹ "A strong sense of community is one of the first things people notice about Adventists. Our extensive educational system and our centralized world organization keep us in touch with each other all over the world. Consequently, if you visit an Adventist church almost anywhere, there's a good chance you will run into someone you know. And if you don't, you will almost certainly find someone who knows someone you know" (Rice, 2002:14). Rice argues that Adventists do not lack in a sense of community, but need "a carefully developed understanding of community," which he sees as a "doctrine of the church."

² The names given are fictitious, but the numbers in square brackets after the names are a personal aid for identification and to help link individuals, their survey responses and field notes. Individual responses from those involved on focus groups are identified by the letters "FG" and a number that identifies the focus group they participated in.

³ This is also a part of the struggle between the "revisionist Left" and the "dissident Right" within Adventism. "Meanwhile, the centre strives to hold together two disparate and sometimes contradictory strands of the Adventist heritage" (Morgan, 2002:211).

Chapter 8

Making Connections Through Print

The transmission of values and beliefs is increasingly dependent on forms of interaction that involve media products. These media products provide a way of sustaining "cultural continuity despite spatial dislocation" and can play an "important role in the maintenance and renewal of tradition" (Thompson, 1995:195, 203). Thompson (1995:231-2) argues for "commonality" that is no longer linked to sharing a common locale and the "overlapping of life trajectories," but with "common access to mediated forms of communication." Giddens (1991:4) adds, "Mediated experience, since the first experience of writing, has long influenced both self-identity and the basic organisation of social relations." At the same time, any group identity formed may depend less on the content (which, as noted with the *Record*, may bring a negative response) and more on the fact that each reader knows other readers are reading the same thing (Chwe, 2001:92).

With reading there occurs a "dynamic interaction between text and reader" (Iser, 1991:107) and in a community the reader can be expected to respond to the text produced within the community in a way that assists the media product in achieving its goals. Just as each group develops its own special language, contains codes, sets of rules and the language of its historical and institutional heritage (Denzin, 1989:79), so the "mediated experience" within the group is aided "enormously" by the "stored narrative resources and its equally precious tool kit of interpretive techniques: its myths,

its typology of human plights, but also its traditions for locating and resolving divergent narratives" (Bruner, 1990:68). Bruner elsewhere (1974:7-8) writes of "cues" for perception picked up by readers. Berger and Luckman (1995:26) note that "society is unthinkable without common values and shared interpretations of reality." While no text can possibly "incorporate all the possible norms and values of all its possible readers" (Iser, 1991:152), a community will have more common values and a greater number of shared interpretations of reality than "society."

This chapter seeks to understand the types of connections respondents may have with *Record*. It is divided into three parts, with the first part asking what readers seek in *Record*'s pages in an attempt to discover what they are attempting to connect with within Adventism. The second part looks at *Record* as a part of the ritual related to the reader's church life. In this section, Durkheim's concept of ritual will be used and then broadened to include symbolic elements of ritual as a way of connecting to the church. The third part briefly considers the concept that some connect with *Record* as if it were an icon.

Connecting through the text

Respondents go to *Record* for a variety of reasons, which tend to fit into three categories: searching for news, as a forum for issues and opinions, and to confirm Adventist beliefs. This does not mean that readers choose to limit themselves to any one of these categories or do not read for other reasons, but it is a helpful way of considering the majority of responses. The responses considered here come primarily from interviews, rather than focus groups, because it is easier to follow through individual responses. There is some dissonance, however, between the survey responses about reasons for reading *Record* and those reported during the interviews and focus

Table 8.1 demonstrates a different priority to news, with the editorial, the cartoon and Noticeboard (weddings, obituaries and advertisements) rating high. While this gives an appearance of impression management in the sense that the answer to the survey may have been given to communicate the right impression, it became clear during the interviews and focus groups that the news in *Record* is very important to readers, particularly if the term "news" is understood in broad terms to include information found in Noticeboard, which includes obituaries and weddings.

Table 8.1

What readers habitually look for in Record
(in percentages)

	Other	Editorial	News	Features	Letters	Cartoon	Noticeboard	Total
Interviews: Where go first? (N=41)	39.0*	31.7	-	2.4	7.3	4.9	14.6	100
Focus groups What like? (N=84)	16.7	16.7	26.2	14.2	2.3	16.7	7.1	100

^{*}Of the 16 who make this 39.0 per cent, eight scan through the magazine to choose what they want to read, seven read the *Record* from front to back, and one did not answer the question.

Searching for news connections

A significant role of the *Record* as perceived by the readers is keeping them informed about people they know, several state it in terms such as, "I glance through it just in case there's a name there I recognise." This female reader is specifically referring to the Noticeboard section, but others say the same about the whole of the *Record*. Two found friends they had not heard from for about 12 months: he "turns up in WA," says one and proceeds to give an account of knowing the person had remarried, but not knowing where he had gone. Those who had served overseas, usually in the Pacific islands as missionaries or on fly'n'build projects, are interested in both the places and the people where they had worked, but particularly the people. Those who had been through the Adventist school system tend to recognise more faces and names in *Record*. "If you've been through [Avondale] College or you've lived in different states, you've got a lot of friends," says one, and she finds *Record* a way of placing where these friends are now. Another finds it helpful for discovering where a favourue pastor now works.

Several go to the weddings and obituaries section to check for names of people they know. One, at the age of 65-plus, says she is too old to recognise the names anymore, but she checks out the weddings for the names of the parents, is interested when it shows that they were divorced (with the mother of the bride or groom having a different surname to the father) and the range of nationalities now in evidence. On the other hand, another person says now that he is older (40-49), he is beginning to recognise more names. One church clerk (the person who keeps the church records) reads the weddings and obituaries to check for former or "missing" members (people who had shifted but did not transfer membership from their local church). While most speak of finding people they know in terms of it giving them some sort of contact point

(a few wrote to people they had not seen for many years), one goes a step further: "I know them and they're also in the same church and follow the same God that I do. So I guess that exposure to people I know of or know personally gives me that sense of belonging."

Most respondents see *Record* as the main source of information for what is happening in the church in Australia and New Zealand and the Pacific islands. There is recognition of other news sources (Adventist News Network, for instance), but such sources are generally based overseas and do not have a strong South Pacific element. This local emphasis is seen as a strength of *Record*, as one says, for instance:

I don't mind reading about what's happening in the US or anywhere else. I mean it is a global church. I like the fact that if it's anything significant globally it's in [Record], but it does focus on the South Pacific and I think that is legitimate because this is basically where we are. This is part of the world we're most connected to and, therefore, while you want to be a part of a big family it's impossible for you to be too big because you lose.

There is a sense that readers want to know what is happening in other churches, for various stated reasons. What is happening in other churches could happen in their's, with a particular interest on mission or outreach work. For another it helps him to check how their church rates, whether it is too old-fashioned, is how another stated it. Or it simply enables them to keep up to date with what is happening.

Some express the view that they want more openness in reports that appear in *Record*. One illustrates this by referring to reports from local churches about the success they had had, without mentioning the difficulties of, say, finding the volunteers or the finances to run the program. The reports, he says, sound too good to be true. Others go deeper, one with a message to church administrators that it is helpful for them to be open about what is happening and how they are handling it: "The general members of the church want to know what's going on with the church." Better to get the news from them than through the grapevine, he adds. A message to *Record* is, you might as well

tell us the truth, good and bad, but there is this reservation, "It doesn't have to be on the front page . . . it doesn't have to be a bad-news paper because it should be a good . . . uplifting paper."

Respondents feel that knowing what is happening in the worldwide church is important to help readers see the "bigger picture" of the church, and that there is a growth and mission emphasis. There is limited interest in what decisions the church makes overseas, at the General Conference and elsewhere, or with people from the South Pacific working in other parts of the world, unless they are known personally. The respondents portray the feeling that the growth of the church overseas helps to validate their own sense of belonging to something successful, even if they are not personally involved. Several contrast the lack of growth of churches in Australia and New Zealand with reports of strong growth in other areas in, say, Russia or the opening up of new church work in places like Siberia. One sums up the feelings in these terms, "We are not just a little insignificant group, but God is working with all these people in many different ways." Another says, "We belong to a group, a large group of people who are working for Christ in many different ways in many parts of the world." Several say this is exciting or inspiring and shows the church as missionary-minded. "It's important to have this sense of being part of a . . . movement, I suppose," is how one explains it.

A minor theme in relation to news raised by a minority (six from interviews and focus groups) is worthy of mention because it draws attention to a theological-apocalyptic theme and sees in news headlines signs of the Second Coming of Christ. Record is applauded for giving information (although limited) on what is happening with church union, a particular article about where Protestantism is heading and reporting on Evangelicals and Catholics signing an agreement in the United States is

mentioned. One chides *Record* for not reporting a claim about a delegation meeting with then-US president Bill Clinton or one of his advisors about the "coming introduction of Sunday laws." The one raising the issue admits that he is unsure how much substance there is to the claim. Another who feels he can form his own opinions about what is in the news and can "read between the lines of what's happening," suggests that if *Record* could keep the church up-to-date with religious-political movements around the world "it might wake some of our people up a bit." They are calling for, as another puts it, news that is "current, up-to-date and showing where we are in time... how short time really is in relation to, you know, God's perspective."

The news connections respondents seek in *Record* range from the personal type of information found in weddings and obituaries to that of information about the church, particularly in Australia, New Zealand and the South Pacific, and then around the world. A few want the news to go further, into the political-religious sphere and then to "read between the lines" to confirm the church's apocalyptic understanding.

A forum for issues and opinions

Luke [125] attends a suburban church in a capital city. In his early 40s, he is married and has two children. He prepared himself for the interview with samples of articles he wanted to show me. He is articulate and opinionated, and a self-labelled conservative who tends to see his religion in black and white terms. He illustrates the position taken by those who prefer to see *Record* put strong limits on opinions, particularly in the Letters page. He speaks of a particular Letters page:

This Sabbath there were a number of letters to the editor that were published in connection with the Sabbath and what was legitimate to do on the Sabbath and what wasn't. And, for example, one letter that springs to mind was a person writing in, and I gathered from what they said, he was a policeman and that he was a Seventh-day Adventist and saw no harm in doing their shift on Sabbath. Now the General Conference, I think it was, put out a tape a number of years

back on Sabbath observance, back in the 80s I think it was . . . and that definitely takes a viewpoint at variance to that. It encourages people to make sure they find employment where there is no requirement to do that type of work with exceptions, of course, like nursing. . . .

I wouldn't want the letters that are published . . . to give the impression to an outsider that what the church is teaching is not what the membership is believing. . . . I wouldn't want to be giving non-Adventists an incorrect perception, or even Adventists for that matter, an incorrect perception.

While this respondent takes what would be seen as an extreme position among the majority of those involved in this research, there is some support of his position. Some suggest that allowing people to express their views is helpful only if there is an editorial response to support the church's position, "an editorial putting the facts right" is how one says it.

In contrast, Bryan [132], who is a few years younger than Luke and also a member of a suburban church, but in another capital city, takes a different approach that illustrates the majority opinion:

I'd agree that the *Record* is to unite people, but it's not to make them the same. It's not to put an editorialised version of Adventism for the people to agree with. It's to bring in this vast array of opinions and to display them before the people and say, "This, by the way, is what other people think. What do you think?" And 10,000 letters later, you get a reasonable opinion of what the balance of it in the church is.

Overall, most respondents see the Letters page as a healthy part of *Record*. The "feedback side" is part of the game, says one, even if some are disappointed by some of the negative letters or some people's attitudes. Most agree that opinions should be allowed even if they are "unbelievable." There is a sense that the letters show that the church is not a "closed group," is how one put it. Another speaks of the Letters page in terms of allowing freedom of choice and freedom of speech. While another encourages the proposition that all voices should be heard, there is the caution that the *Record* is a good forum if done in a moderated way. Still another, who enjoys reading a variety of

points of view to see "whether they agree with mine," feels these points of view should be within "core Adventist principles." Most respondents take the view that some kind of limits are necessary on the Letters page and the closest anyone comes to speaking against "Adventist principles" providing those limits is the woman who says she does not think people should read *Record* to find what the church believes. She says, "I think the letters can challenge people and help them grow and develop their own ideas and responses."

When it comes to going to *Record* to read about issues affecting society Bryan and Luke do not see their importance, but for different reasons. Bryan sees other denominations covering this area, and he mentions the Uniting Church and the Salvation Army. He sees *Record* as a church paper that should be limited to church issues, he can buy *Time* magazine or the newspaper to read about other issues. Even moral issues he sees as "essentially divisive" because people have strong opinions on either side and "generally don't come to a discussion ready to change their opinion." He uses the issue of abortion as an example. The illustration of a church issue that could be addressed is related to the Desmond Ford issue considered in an earlier chapter:

We have major tearing at our heart in the Adventist Church. There are the leftovers of the 70s, 80s discussions and problems. And people, I don't feel have resolved those, and I would see those as being the major issues up for discussion within the Adventist Church. There are other avenues for discussion for things out there, outside the church.

Luke brings his concerns about the church's fundamental beliefs to his consideration of this topic. If it is not a doctrinal position and "hazy" be does not sense there would be too much interest. If it is a minor issue why would anyone bother? he asks. He is concerned that the *Record* and the Adventist Church is picking up issues that are "hot topics" from "the world" or other Christian churches. In that sense Adventists are

followers rather than leaders. He would prefer to see the church working in areas of strength, such as "health reform and good diet."

There is some agreement for this position from another person who says that the Salvation Army should be left to handle some issues: "I see that as their ministry, in a sense." A few feel that *Record* should publish material on issues, but from a biblical basis, or present both sides and then give the church's position. Again, the majority feel *Record* should tackle some of these issues. The topic of homosexuality illustrates the problem that approaching issues presents. Three mention this topic: the first says it is a very difficult topic; the second that it should not be mentioned; and the third that it should be confronted, from a biblical perspective. Other issues raised that respondents suggest should be discussed are: sexual abuse, wife abuse, gambling, divorce and abortion. One claims there is a lack of discussion within the church about contemporary issues, another says *Record* discusses issues that are not discussed anywhere else. Another issue is raised, with political implications, but in a historic area for Adventists, that of religious liberty: "I'm talking about something that might impinge on the independence of the church or the freedom of the church, I would expect that the *Record* could have those sort of things too."

Table 8.2 demonstrates the importance respondents place on *Record* as a forum for issues and opinions. The survey made four statements in this area and asked questions for one of five agree or disagree responses. While there is some uncertainty (at 50.4 per cent strongly agree/agree and 21.6 per cent being neutral) about using *Record* as a vehicle of social comment on public and social issues, the support for the *Record* to be a point of discussion and opinion is stronger. As seen in Table 8.2, the percentage who consider *Record* as a forum for discussing issues is at 83.2 per cent (strongly agree/agree). This is matched by the percentage endorsing opinions in letters

should be a forum for various viewpoints, but it is less than that given for issues facing the church or opinions in letters, being 73.6 per cent (strongly agree/agree). The majority expectation from readers is that, despite apprehension from some quarters, Record will provide a forum for discussion and opinions of issues within the church. There is division of opinion about engaging with issues within society.

Table 8.2

The Record as forum for discussion and opinions

N=125	Strongly agree/agree	Neutral	Strongly disagree/disagree	Other	Totals %
Church issues	83.2	6.4	9.6	0.8	100
Forum	73.6	8.8	14.4	3.2	100
Opinions society	50.4	21.6	26.4	1.6	100
Opinions letters	88.0	4.8	5.6	1.6	100

The full statements in the survey were: 1) A major task of the *Record* is to encourage discussion of issues facing the church; 2) The *Record* should provide a forum for discussion of various viewpoints; 3) The *Record* should voice strong opinions about issues affecting society; and 4) Even though I may disagree with some of the opinions expressed, the chance to speak candidly in the Letters section is healthy.

One of those interviewed says he often has discussions with older more conservative members, and, "I read the *Record* then to find out where, not the church stands, but where individual Christians stand on particular topics." Most do not want quite that much freedom and express the wish that *Record* would take some kind of Adventist rather than individual oversight of the discussion. Bryan idealises the role *Record* could play as it takes a lead in discussion in this way: "It needs strength of opinion without being opinionated. It needs strength of character without being liberal or conservative. It needs forcefulness without victimisation."

Group solidarity

There is confirmation of Adventist connections in two ways, the perceived need and acceptance of material presented by church leaders, and in supporting and proclaiming Adventist teaching. Robert Folkenberg, as the General Conference president at the time of the interviews and focus groups, is mentioned several times because he had a monthly column appearing in *Record*. Some read everything he wrote and find it a spiritual, Christ-centred message, but one found it a bit boring. Another says he might read something by Brenton Stacey (an editorial assistant at the time), but is more likely to read Folkenberg. Folkenberg should be in the *Record* because of who he is says one, and there is general agreement. Statements from leaders are important, particularly "when there are problems, [they] are very worthwhile and good, and it should leave the congregation in no doubt as to the church's stand on certain things and that action is being taken." Significantly, in the survey, when respondents are given two choices out of eight options about what they would miss if they did not have the *Record*, "I would feel less a sense of communication from church administration" received the second highest response at 44.8 per cent.²

The survey reveals that most sense that *Record* supports the church's doctrines or fundamental beliefs, but only one person chose doctrine as the most important reason for reading the *Record* from a choice of 10 options. Several raise the issue of doctrines, though, with Luke taking the position, "I would see [*Record*] primarily as a publication that produces good doctrinal issues based on what the church's doctrinal position is . . . so it's not presenting new views or controversial views or conflicting views." One calls for "basic doctrines" to appear in *Record* so people don't have to go looking elsewhere, but she weakens her cause by referring to a reasonably obscure and disputed teaching about the sixth trumpet in the biblical book of Revelation. Another calls for the

promotion of the "pillars of the faith" and then expands his thinking to what he calls the standards of the church, with the church not being what it was when he first came into it in his mid 20s (he is now in his mid 60s). These are warnings that respondents are working with loose definitions of what makes up the core doctrines or fundamentals of the church. That said, several call for more doctrinal articles for such reasons as: to help bring about unity of faith, because church youth don't know the doctrines, the 27 Fundamentals are all we have outside of the Bible, a call for definiteness, and sermons today are "fairy floss." One longs for "foundational Adventism" and suggests a stronger doctrinal emphasis: "I just look back at when Adventism was first Adventism . . . you know, 1844 and that, and it was so desperately urgent for people to understand what they believed."

Table 8.3 shows majority support (at 79.2 per cent, strongly agree/agree) for the notion that *Record* upholds the church's fundamental doctrines. What is significant is that 18.4 per cent of respondents express uncertainty or disagree, 3.2 per cent of them strongly disagree. These respondents are either suspicious that *Record* does not support the church's fundamentals or are convinced it does not. Again it should be noted that readers do not differentiate between the presentation of core fundamental beliefs and those of lifestyle or standards within *Record*. What these respondents see is an attack on Adventism. A smaller majority, at 60.0 per cent (strongly agree/agree) perceive that a major task of *Record* should be that of bringing unity of faith with almost 20 per cent (19.2 per cent strongly disagree/disagree) indicating that this is not necessary. Then 72.8 per cent (strongly agree/agree) declare that the *Record* mix meets the needs of the overall spectrum of readers. While a majority indicate satisfaction with the levels of support for the fundamental beliefs and the editorial mix, there is a significant minority among respondents who disagree. They are countered, in one way, by those who say

that *Record*'s task is not about bringing unity of faith and would allow for a variety of opinions. What is noticeable is the sense of slightly stronger support for a discussion of issues and opinions within the church in *Record* (see Table 8.2) than for *Record* to uphold the fundamental beliefs, yet these issues and opinions may challenge the church's beliefs.

Table 8.3

Perceived role of the *Record* in promoting Adventist beliefs

N=125	Strongly agree/agree	Neutral	Strongly disagree/disagree	Other	Totals %
Bring unity	60.0	15.2	19.2	5.6	100
Upholds beliefs	79.2	8.8	9.6	2.4	100
Meets needs	72.8	12.0	13.6	1.6	100

The full statements in the survey were: 1) A major task of the *Record* is to help bring about unity of faith; 2) The *Record* upholds the church's fundamental beliefs; and, 3) The editorial mix of doctrine, Bible study, practical Christianity, opinion and news meets the needs of the spectrum of readers.

Several say they feel they already understand the doctrines of the church or tend to go to other sources than *Record* to find them. There is an overall expectation that *Record* will support the doctrines and, if something appears contrary to the 27 Fundamentals, there should be an editorial comment. Another admits there are some things still to be resolved in the fundamentals and there should be discussion: "I'm tolerant enough to expect to see a variety of views. . . . [but] there are some things in my mind that are not negotiable." Another will only read doctrinal articles "if written from a good perspective," while someone else says there is already enough written about church doctrines, she wants the church and *Record* to be more "mission minded."

Print and ritual

While it is true that "there is no clear and widely shared explanation of what constitutes ritual or how to understand it" (Bell, 1997:x), that does not mean that the concept of

ritual has no value. As a concept, ritual has several meanings and works at various levels. The first, according to Durkheim, concerns religious rites or rituals. Durkheim (1995:386) saw "ritual duties" quite separate from the "profane life," with rituals allowing people to return to the profane life with "more energy and enthusiasm" because they had been in contact with a "higher source of energy" and lived, for a few moments a life "less tense, more at ease, and freer." These ritual duties are rites that "belong to the serious side of life" or "rules of conduct that prescribe how man must conduct himself with sacred things" (Durkheim, 1995:38). While Durkheim (1975:107) allowed for "variations in ritual" and for rites to be experienced in different ways, he also noted that all rites have some degree of the sacred about them (Durkheim, 1975:114). Within Christianity there is an expectation to see ritual because it is a "ritual-rich" religion and rituals play an important role in the maintenance of "religious" institutions, the religious community and religious identity" (Hassan, 2002:104, 90). Durkheim's concept of ritual is too limited, though. Cohen (1985:50) notes, "As both theory and ethnography have since proliferated, anthropologists have come to see ritual as very much more complex, and as having a far greater range of competences than Durkheim imagined."

Giddens (1998:128-9) describes traditions as multi-faceted, involving: ritual, repetition, implying a notion of "ritual truth," always collective, and a form of collective memory. Traditions may have existed over hundreds of years or be recent, and may be invented or reinvented throughout their history. Importantly, tradition is a medium of identity, personal and collective (Giddens 1994:80). Ritual can also help create "unity in experience" (Douglas, 1970:2), and that can be broader than a religious or sacred experience. Further, ritual "confirms and strengthens social identity and people's sense of social location," it is an important means for people to "experience community" and

occupies a prominent place in the "repertoire of symbolic devices" that affirms and reinforces community boundaries (Cohen: 1985:50). Chwe (2001:74) sees ritual as a collective event, or what Douglas (1970:62) calls "social rituals." Stark and Glock (1974:15) say that ritual tends to be formalised and "typically public," but what they term "devotion" (for instance, private prayer and Bible reading) is informal and "typically private." That distinction is blurred with a media product that is publicly available, but privately or individually experienced. It is possible that families and individuals develop weekly or day-to-day habits that become rituals, although that does not mean that all repetitive behaviours become a ritual because rituals usually have some kind of symbolic meaning (Kelley, 1995:78, 72). There is an understood difference between ritual-like behaviour, as seen in a boxing match or live theatre, compared to the ritual seen in Sunday church services or wedding ceremonies (Bell, 1997:139, 164). Both sacred and symbolic meanings are important in the approaches that *Record* readers take in receiving and reading the *Record*.

For Adventists, what is done on the Sabbath³ (Saturday), including church attendance, can be seen as part of the ritual that keeps a connection to the church.⁴ Sabbath reading can become one of those rituals. Responses to the survey indicate this with one-third (33.6 per cent) stating that if they did not receive the *Record* every week they "would miss the *Record* as Sabbath reading." In this case, respondents were asked to tick only two of eight options, so Sabbath reading rates highly. With those who read it during or between Sabbath school and church (4.8 per cent) and those who read it Sabbath afternoons (60.8 per cent), two-thirds (65.6 per cent) make it a part of their Sabbath day. That does not deny that the 25.6 per cent who read it at another time do not or cannot treat it as a part of their church life, but the link to the Sabbath is significant and is stated in a variety of ways: "Part of my Sabbath is to get the *Record*

and have a read then go for a walk. It's great!"; "Sometimes I look at [the articles] and I think I should really read that, but once the Sabbath is gone I don't look at it again"; and the opposite response, "If I don't get to read it on Sabbath afternoon, when I go to bed I'll read a page here and there. . . . I feel a little bit lost if I don't get to finish it."

As noted, *Record* is received on the Sabbath⁵ and at church. This means that, for readers, not only is *Record* produced by their corporate church, but it is a part of their local church experience and an extension of their church that they take home with them. Even receiving Record is part of their church ritual. Some churches place the magazines in pigeon holes or racks with church members' names on them. Others have Record secretaries who hand them out to church members, often with the local church announcement sheet. Some place them on a table with names on them, and others simply leave a pile of them on a table. Several respondents indicate that Record is an important part of their church life by commenting that they made sure their Record is put aside for them if they are away. One comments that he picks up back issues to "catch up." Another says, "We have to make sure we've got it," and told of how she checks with family members to see if they have picked it up if she has been unable to do so. One suggests that his mother-in-law would "think it's the end of the world if she couldn't get the Record." Another takes it upon himself to take Record to a couple of people when they do not come to church; something that one suggests is "taking the church to [them]." Record is seen as a part of church or, at least, as one says, a part of going to church.

Two instances of a negative reaction help illustrate the role the *Record* plays as part of the ritual within the church. Katherine [114], a pleasant, but strong-minded grandmother living in a rural area, does not like *Record*. Her main complaint is that it does not promote strongly enough the doctrinal positions of the church. It doesn't help

her feel like she belongs to a wider church family because, "I feel that I belong wherever I go." *Record* articles are not "solid" enough, she says. Yet she wants to share it with people who are missing from church and has actively campaigned for her church to set up a program to have it delivered to them.

I've brought it up two or three times in the [church] board meeting and it falls on deaf ears. . . . I did it for these friends who no longer come; it's just so simple because most people enjoy the *Record* [laughs]. There are people who are odd who don't enjoy it [a reference to herself], but I just think it is a wonderful medium to keep in contact.

Grapeway church [5] is a small church in the country, within half-an-hour's drive from the outer suburbs of a major city. The church has a reputation for being conservative, with some of its members travelling long distances through the city to attend because of their desire to be with like-minded, conservative members. The church was chosen for a focus group because of its conservative reputation. During the voice recognition process for taping, where each person is asked to give their name and one thing they like about the Record, there was general agreement that the Record had "lost the plot" and there was little to commend it. One person brought 20-year-old copies of Record to illustrate how the current Record had departed from what it was 20 years ago with the suggestion that it should return to that model. At times the focus group became an inquisitorial process: "I'd be happy if you could tell us what the objectives are of the Record," said one. "Is it a paper to lead people or is it a paper to follow opinion?" There was consensus in the group that Record did not maintain what they saw as the church's position in various areas because it did not attempt to give their perception of the church's position if a letter to the editor or an article ran counter to that position.

What became evident, though, was that almost all in the focus group could speak intelligently about articles and news items that had appeared in the previous few

months. The evidence is that they are regular readers of *Record*. Katherine may "mostly disapprove" of *Record*, but she reads it regularly and suggests that it can be useful to others, particularly if they are not attending. The members of Grapeway are even stronger in their opposition to much that appears in *Record* with one suggesting that if he were sick and someone brought him *Record* he would only feel sicker. Yet they also read *Record*. For Katherine and these members of Grapeway, *Record* may remain a part of their church and personal ritual even if, for them, it is not an affirming experience.

The *Record* ritual contains the elements mentioned above: the sacred, a shared experience and symbolic meanings:

As already seen, the sacred is found in the direct links to the church because *Record* is produced by the church organisation and received in the local church. Added to this, it is received in sacred time, on the Sabbath, and considered Sabbath reading. Until 1980, *Record* was only available on a subscription basis. Since then it has been available free at churches each week, which means reading *Record* has become a shared experience for the majority of Adventists. While readers approach *Record* in various ways, there is awareness that information through *Record* is being shared across Australia and New Zealand, at the same time. That proved to be important to 85.6 per cent of readers who marked 1 or 2 on a 1-7 scale on the survey (where 1 means very important and 7 means of no importance) to the question of whether it was important that all church members receive *Record* on the same day. Even the joke or guilty admission (often triggered from the cartoon in the survey) that came up regularly about sneaking a look at the *Record* during worship time if church became boring is a response that illustrates a shared experience.⁷

Most respondents see *Record* as an extension of their church and a symbol of a church much larger than their local congregation. As will be seen, some elevate it to an icon of the church, not as an object of worship, but a representation of their church in the broader sense. They also bring their own meanings and interpretations, and use *Record* in a symbolic way, as a contact point with church leadership, building a sense of oneness with other Adventists around the world and as a reference for people they have known. Most see it as *their* magazine even if they had little input or control about what went into it. Again it is a symbol of their church.

Print and community

The strongest point to come from the surveys and the interviews is that, for the majority, *Record* helps generate a sense of belonging. Readers may disagree with some things published in *Record*, particularly in the letters, but most will strongly defend the right for a variety of opinions to be published. The majority sense that *Record* helps them feel a part of a larger spiritual community, and to see God at work in his church. The best way to illustrate *Record* as a symbolic device to build community is to ask what an outsider to Adventism would see in it. To paraphrase Eco (1979:9) no outsider would make a "good *Record* reader." They are not part of the joint experience of the church, nor have they made any commitment to it. They may question the basic philosophy, including theology and lifestyle emphases. They have no history with the church to call on. Any symbolic meanings would have little import for the non-Adventist. They approach the text on a different level. The words may make sense, but if there is no history or commitment to the group, the message does not have the same depth of meaning. Even if *Record* does not attempt to build boundaries, or does not attempt to build them as high as readers like Katherine (who wanted Adventist

distinctive teachings emphasised much more) would like, it only has full depth of meaning to Adventists and either confirms them in their beliefs and practices or, at times, challenges those beliefs and practices.

Almost all readers had formed habits in approaching *Record*. Kelley (1995:68, 72) notes that not all repetitive behaviours acquire ritual status because rituals usually have symbolic meaning. As seen, *Record* itself has symbolic meaning for many readers and so it is reasonable to see the approach to *Record* as part of the ritual. Table 8.1 shows where individuals habitually begin in the *Record*, but there is more data with several commenting on where they go next, having plotted an approach that feeds their interest or is their systematic approach to its pages. There is some, although limited, evidence¹¹ that this can be broadened to include where it is read, from one who always sits in the conservatory of his home with an outlook over the garden, to the woman who reads it while Sabbath lunch is preparing, to a few who leave it beside their bed for night reading.

Print as icon

The building of group identity and the shared "mediated experience" is in evidence among Record readers, but there is another element that needs further consideration: Record as icon. The word "icon," from the Greek eikon, originally meant "image" or "portrait." Within Orthodox Christianity it is an image recognised as: a "deified prototype"; a "liturgical image"; something that "conveys spiritual reality"; a prayer; and a marker "on our path to the new creation" (Ouspensky, 1978:39, 191, 202, 211, 228). Record should not and cannot be recognised as an icon in any of these senses. It is not an object of worship even if some use it as an aid for worship in, say, prayer and reflection. It can be seen as an icon, though, or a sign that "establish[es] synchronicity,

in the dumb desire to make one event correspond to another" (Read, 1955:21). Read (1955:21) also makes strong links with ritual and a "system of signals" needed to develop them, "gestures elaborated into dances, images materialized as plastic symbols." *Record* is the plastic symbol that gives meaning to the ritual discussed in the previous part of this chapter.

Allowing that sociologists and theorists are well aware of the constraints imposed on language and engage in "processes of linguistic gymnastics (or linguistic mud-wrestling)" (Spencer, 1999:160), there are three understandings of the concept of icon. The first is in the classic sense, as understood within the Orthodox Church. The second is in the technical sense of the word as "a sign or representation which stands for its object by virtue of a resemblance or analogy to it" (Delbridge, et al, 1992). Finally, icon is understood in the popular sense, in the way Ansett airlines may have been seen as an icon as suggested in the title of a video production after its demise: Ansett: The Collapse of an Australian Icon (Ansett, 2001), but Ansett does not fit the technical sense of an icon as a representation of the object it stands for. On the other hand, the Australian flag, as in the title The Australian Flag: Colonial Relic or Contemporary Icon? (Foley, 1996), is a representation of Australia.

The symbolic meanings and invisible connections that many readers give Record create for it the status of icon in the technical sense. It becomes a printed artefact, or a symbolic artefact within the Adventist Church. This status is something that would be difficult for a mass media product to achieve. The Age newspaper in Melbourne may be seen as an icon of newspapers in Victoria (or Australia) because of its supposed serious approach to news, its perceived independence and its connections with history, elements that led for a call for Victorian government funding when it

struggled for survival a few years back. It may be considered an icon in the popular sense, but not, for most, in the technical sense.

The evidence, particularly from the interviews, is that Record is perceived to rate highly for some of its readers at least as serving them in providing "maintenance and renewal of tradition" (Thompson, 1995:203) and as an aid for self identity. There is a partnership between the reader and the text in drawing out "shared interpretations of reality" (Berger and Luckman, 1995:26). The evidence also leads to the conclusion that Record has achieved a higher status among some readers, that of icon. The links of Record to ritual and tradition, and the fact that it is freely available to all who wish it, at church, makes it a part of, and a symbol of, the church. In other words, it has become an icon in the minds of some readers in the technical sense, as a representation of its source, the church. For these same readers it could be considered an icon in the popular sense of the word as well, even if that is not a term that any used. For those who treat Record as icon this means the magazine has gained a different status to most printmedia products. At the same time it must be admitted that seeing Record as icon says little about print media because there is no expectation that print should play that kind of role. Neither is there an expectation that only print can be an icon. What is found is that some have elevated their connection with Record to the level and role of icon.

At its base level, *Record* is a magazine with an ultimate destiny that will see it placed in the recycle bin, used to light fires or put at the bottom of a bird cage. In its connection with the readers there are a variety of responses that range from disagreement with its basic thrust to use of it to enhance a church member's life within the Adventist community. For some, their connection with *Record* elevates it to the role of icon.

Summary

Record is more than an extension of the church or its message; it is part of the experience of church. In this sense it fulfils Bell's (1997:xi) claim that "the fundamental efficacy of ritual activity lies in its ability to have people embody assumptions about their place in a larger order of things." This signals a difficulty that must be taken into consideration when exploring what can be learned from the case study (of Record) compared with other print-media products in voluntary, nonprofit organisations. For instance, even if club members had to go to the club house to receive their newsletter and it shared information from club houses across the nation, it is difficult to perceive the same elements of the sacred coming into play. For many Record readers, the magazine is part of their church, made available during their weekly church attendance and on the day they consider holy or sacred. This lifts it above the "profane" (Durkheim, 1995:386) and reinforces the link to the church no matter when it is read.

Because Record is seen as an extension of the church, many members who read Record tend to be the "ideal reader" of Eco (1979:8-9), "able to master different codes and eager to deal with text as a maze of many issues." They are ideal readers because of the investment they have made in the organisation and the magazine is an extension of the organisation. This is their organisation, their church and their sense of ownership impacts on the ritual and the reading of Record. Having made the link between church and the Record, it is valid to say that just as readers approach church with certain expectations, so they approach Record. The difference is that most church members (in the cities) can choose a church that best suits their approach to church life from, say, one perceived to be conservative to another perceived to be liberal, but they cannot make that choice with the Record because it is the same for every church.

The expectations of members of the Grapeway church are quite different from those of most readers. Grapeway members may go to Record hoping for something different to what would normally appear, rather than having high expectations. For them and others like them *Record* is not an enhancing experience. Any sense of ownership seen in the Grapeway members involved in the focus group is diminished by the sense of disappointment they express when Record does not fulfil the role they perceive it should. They want to protect their church or their perception of the church through their church magazine. They want to attempt to reinforce community boundaries either theologically or socially, the latter through promoting their understanding of Adventist lifestyle practices, and they are frustrated that it does not happen. Any ritual involved for these kinds of readers is not a positive experience and does not draw them closer to the church that is represented in Record. Instead, Record becomes a symbol of a church that has lost its way. The challenge, as they see it, is to restore the church and Record to what it was perhaps 20 years ago (as illustrated by the one who brought in copies of old Records). There are several responses to Record that range from those who are "ideal readers" and use it as an affirming ritual, to those for whom it only has a passing interest, to those who see it promoting a form of Adventism that disturbs them. For the majority of respondents, Record is part of a ritual that is a confirming part of Adventism.

The data in this chapter demonstrates that in several instances differences of opinion are expressed by respondents. The next chapter takes this further and considers the impact difference has within the community, as seen through the eyes of *Record* readers, and the perceived role(s) of *Record* when there are differences.

The meaning of the Sabbath is to celebrate time rather than space. Six days a week we live under the tyranny of the things of space; on the Sabbath we try to become attuned to *holiness in time*. It is a day on which we are called upon to share in what is eternal in time, to turn from the results of creation to the mystery of creation; from the world of creation to the creation of the world.

¹ Fly'n'builds are part of a volunteer program run by the Adventist Church in the South Pacific. In 2002 there were about 1000 volunteers working in Australia and New Zealand and the Pacific islands, most of them involved in short-term projects, with 150 serving in a long-term way (usually for 12 months). About 60 were involved in fly'n'builds where a group from Australia and New Zealand flew to a Pacific island and led out in building a school, clinic or church.

² The highest response, at 62.4 per cent, came to the statement, "I would feel less a sense of belonging to the wider family of Seventh-day Adventists."

³ A direct link to the sacred is found in the Sabbath when almost all church members receive and, usually, read *Record*. For a Seventh-day Adventist, the 24 hours of the seventh-day Sabbath are important as a reminder of the "majestic conclusion of the creation event" and a symbol of redemption (Bacchiocchi, 1980:61, 133). While, as Christians, they distance themselves from "the rabbinical model of Sabbath-keeping" (Bacchiocchi, 1977:318), they do follow Orthodox Jews in considering time holy (or sacred) from sunset Friday to sunset Saturday as the Sabbath (and are thus *Seventh-day* Adventists). For Adventists, the Sabbath is a sign and seal of their relationship with God that goes beyond its Judaic significance: "Like everything else that is touched by the gospel, it is radically transformed. . . . The Sabbath marks not only the completion of Creation Week, but also the completion of Passion Week" (Guy, 1999:237-8). Adventists, then, do not follow the Jewish *melachot* (39 forbidden works on the Sabbath), but they attempt to disengage from business and commerce, and the secular, to focus on God and worship, strengthening family ties and relationships, and service (Dederen, 1982:303-4). They would agree with Heschel (2000:10):

⁴ Adventist theologian Fritz Guy (1999:35) recognises the "spiritual and sociological significance of the potluck dinner as a Sabbath ritual."

⁵ Since October 2002, *Record* has been online in full on the South Pacific Division web site. It is too early to assess what long-term impact this may have, but it consistently receives the most "hits."

⁶ Another in the group did suggest that it could be helpful, and the one who had made the comment about being made sicker by the *Record* did concede, "A lot of elderly people like the last pages [marriages and obituaries]. They're looking for their colleagues and friends."

⁷ As for the cartoon in the survey, 64.8 per cent saw it as humorous, with 9.6 per cent not giving an answer.

- ⁸ For instance, in the survey, 88 per cent marked 1 or 2 (where 1 means strongly agree and 5 means strongly disagree) to the statement, "Even though I may disagree with some of the opinions expressed, the chance to speak candidly in the Letters section is healthy."
- ⁹ For "The *Record* helps me feel I am a part of a larger spiritual family," 62.4 per cent marked 1 or 2 (where 1 means strongly agree and 5 means strongly disagree). On the statement "The *Record* helps me see God at work in his church," 79 per cent marked 1 or 2.
- ¹⁰ The use of the word "outsider" immediately assumes a barrier or boundary.
- ¹¹ Unfortunately, this information came only from an aside in conversation rather than from intentional prompting. Only in reviewing the interviews as a whole was any significance noted.
- ¹² Recognition is given to the fact that using a dictionary definition means selecting one of several understandings of the word "icon."

Chapter 9

A Diverse Readership

Community implies both similarity and difference. Members of a community have something in common with each other that distinguishes them from members of other groups. The boundary that this creates represents a mask by the community to those outside, its "public face," to which the public may attribute stereotypical features. Those within the group who have the "private face" know that there may be a myriad of complexities and differences (Cohen, 1985:12, 74). This complexity and these differences impact on the reception of any group's print media. The challenge for print within a voluntary group is to seek to engage members in ways that transcend these differences. This chapter focuses on *Record* as a medium of communication catering for the diverse outlook of its readers.

Minority religious groups are typically presented, even in research literature, as monolithic and uniform in outlook, being governed by members' strict adherence to the group's doctrines. However, the reality is that religious minorities demonstrate a great variety of outlooks and attitudes that members endorse and defend even more passionately than what can be observed in larger denominations. One of the distinguishing features of a sectarian community from its denominational counterpart is the enthusiasm with which adherents promote and defend individual interpretations of the group's beliefs. Responses during interviews, focus groups and survey findings confirm this diversity with Adventism, even if the range of views are typically

conservative. By drawing on classifications of "conservative" and "liberal," the chapter seeks to identify the different ways church members read *Record*, and the extent to which the publication achieves addressing the needs of both extremes.

Diversity in organisation

Berger and Luckman (1969) provide a useful theoretical background for considering knowledge sharing and difference within institutions they describe as "symbolic universes." They point out that all institutions, regardless of size or history, embrace roles that in time are absorbed into the organisational structure and become a part of institutionalised conduct. Non-compliance to defined role standards is not optional, with sanctions that may vary in severity (Berger and Luckman, 1969:92). The presence of full-time personnel for "universe maintaining legitimation" carries with it potential for social conflict and can lead to rival "definitions of reality" with the appearance of new experts with new definitions (Berger and Luckman, 1969:135-6). Institutional segmentation with "sub-universes of meaning" result in competition between these groups (Berger and Luckman, 1969:102-3). The threat of deviant versions that seek to modify the institution or symbolic universe is an ever-present reality (Berger and Luckman, 1969:124-5). Those within the institution often have to confront "traitors," who alternate between worldviews discrepant to their own (Berger and Luckman, 1969:190).

Adventism began with few organisational trappings and became institutionalised as a "symbolic universe" in the Berger-Luckman sense of those words. Roles developed and, although the word may not be favoured within Adventism, a hierarchy also developed with administrators having the most powerful role, and descending authority within the institution being on church pastors, other church employees and church

members. It is anticipated that differences among *Record* readers would result in rival "definitions of reality."

Church administrators and members: perceptions about Record

Church administrators are, in Berger and Luckman (1969:135-6) terms, part of the full-time personnel in the institution engaged in "universe maintaining legitimation." They are the keepers and promoters of orthodoxy. They have been given authority for their role, and authority is a political concept "as soon as it is applied to the life of any community" (Williams, 1982:92). Administrators provide the most significant "top-down influence" on *Record*. Their position and the authority given them place them in a different position to that of most *Record* readers. This difference is investigated in two ways: first, on the issue of "ownership" of *Record* and, second, on the perceived role of *Record* as understood by administration and lay readers.

Finding "ownership" of Record

The issue of "ownership" of *Record* was not introduced until the 13th interview, and then as an aside. Its significance was noted and then included in most of the following interviews. The concept of ownership here carries different connotations from its usual meaning of owning something through purchase. Here it could be argued that "the church" owns *Record* on the basis that it is funded by church members who support the institution called church. The same could be said for almost any voluntary organisation. What is being investigated here is the sense of ownership and whether church administration has been able to fulfil the desire it had in 1986 (according to Walter Scragg (1999), the South Pacific Division president of the time) to transfer a sense of ownership to members, aided by the appointment of a new editor.

Of the 26 interviewees who did address the issue of ownership, a majority (N=16) felt *Record* belonged to the members. Four respondents reported the perception that church administration had ownership of the magazine. The editors were seen as the owners by three others. The perception of church administration in 1986, attributed to church member comments (Scragg, 1999), was of a lack of member ownership. There is no data available to quantify that assumption. The most that can be said from the present study is that more than half of the interviewees claim that the members own *Record*, which may indicate a shift in ownership toward members.

The responses are verbalised in a variety of ways. One woman says that God owns everything, but the people who appoint the editors give them ownership by putting them in charge. "When I open the *Record* to read it," says another, "I very seldom think of the leadership, although the leadership is there, they must be." Here is a concession that leadership is in the background, but this respondent is also definite about church member ownership. "The church owns the *Record*," is another response. One calls it "our paper" produced with the backing of the South Pacific Division, the conferences and the publishing house. Another suggests the administration owns *Record* through controls they place on it by deciding what stories and letters are printed. Then another suggests more editorial licence, but with support from church administration on issues that could be a threat to "the system, the administration." Two are of the view that there has been a shift in ownership, with one expressing it this way:

I think the people [own Record]. Maybe if we went back a few years people might have looked at it as an administration paper. . . . You've got to have the connection there to the [South Pacific] Division, it is the official church paper. And I suppose you've got to edit it as a church paper and not how you see things personally yourself. You may be tempted, you know, but you've got to. Oh no, I definitely see it as the people's paper because that's what it's for.

With no hard evidence of perceptions of ownership from earlier times, what is currently found is recognition that church administration and the editors both have a role and influence, but that a majority of respondents claim ownership for the members. In 1986, the South Pacific Division president promoted the idea that the *Record* should be "owned by the whole church and you have your right to have your voice heard . . . even though it wasn't something the editor or church leadership agreed with" (Scragg, 1999). Opening up the magazine more fully to members, particularly the letters page, was the most significant step in establishing a base for a change of ownership. The newly-appointed editor in 1986, James Coffin (1999) introduced a more candid and open magazine, particularly with fewer what he calls "pontifical statements," which helped closed the gap between administrators and the members. What should also be emphasised is his attempt to make provision for various groups within the church to dialogue through the pages of *Record*. This took the emphasis away from church leaders having the main voice to church members not only being heard, but also, at times, setting the agenda.

Perceived roles of Record

The purpose of the *Record* is spelled out in South Pacific Division policy in this way:

The *Record* is the official paper of the Seventh-day Adventist Church in the South Pacific Division. Its role is to nurture, to educate and inform church members within the division.²

The roles are given more detail within policy, but this is the basis of the statement accepted and promoted by church administration. The survey sought to identify the extent to which the stated role of *Record* is a reality among members.

Record readers give a supportive response (on a scale of 1 to 7 with 1 signalling "very well" and 7 "not at all") of more than 75 per cent for each element. Differences are shown among those who mark at the higher level, at 1. Some 14.5 per cent agree that Record nurtures "very well"; only 4.8 per cent say it educates "very well;" and 25.6 per cent feel it informs "very well." From this response, it is apparent that there is stronger recognition of the magazine's role in keeping readers informed, but minimal recognition at this highest level of educating them. This provides some evidence that Record is perceived as having a significant role in informing, and that could be seen through news, letters, marriages and death notices. It is perceived as having less of a role in nurture, and a limited role in educating. That picture changes with the addition of those who responded by ticking points 2 and 3 as well. Again there is strongest recognition that Record informs well, at 93.6 per cent. The levels of nurture (at 77.4 per cent) and education (at 76.0 per cent) are almost even, but about 18 per cent lower. From the survey, then, the evidence is that respondents believe Record does far better at informing than at either nurturing or educating church members. Church administration may well be disappointed with this response, particularly when, in its policy, "nurture" is linked to Adventist belief and "educate" is linked to Adventist doctrine and lifestyle. What can be assumed here is that respondents would interpret the survey questions as referring to nurture and education in Adventism in its broad sense. Almost 25 per cent were not convinced it nurtures or educates well.

During the interviews and focus groups, the perceived role of *Record* was fleshed out more, but with most respondents limiting their comments to one role, there is even stronger support for "informing" against other roles. The word "inform" is a regular term used to describe the role they see *Record* playing. The same concept of presenting information is spoken of in other ways, such as communication, keeping in

contact or up to date, knowing what is going on and reporting about the church. Other responses include, "to uplift Christ," build up an ongoing sense of identity and belonging, to encourage one another, as a spiritual club newsletter, seeing how God works in others and to bring church members together. Two persons see *Record*'s role as strengthening church members in the fundamentals of the church, or where the church stands. One becomes biblical when he says that *Record* is to "sound the trumpet in Zion" as a warning to members that the church is failing. Another suggests a role of *Record* is to keep members informed as to "where we are on the timeline of prophecy." Teaching gains a mention, and one feels *Record* could challenge people with strong spiritual direction from church leadership. The role of *Record* as a forum for discussion is picked up by a few. One who sees it playing that role adds that he senses it should also inform people of what church administration is doing, as a report to shareholders, and to analyse issues facing the church.

While a variety of roles for *Record* come through during the interviews and focus groups, the main role is seen as informing. This response is best understood when viewed in relation to the importance to *Record* readers of facilitating connections within the community. Those connections are found in the information coming through in articles and news by and about those personally known or who feature regularly, and in areas such as the weddings and obituaries that make reference to family details. The other areas of "nurture" and "educate" are emphasised in minor ways, but they do not take centre stage during interviews or focus groups. In the surveys, the appearance of these elements in printed form is a reminder and they are then recognised by the majority as valid roles for *Record*. The survey indicates that most *Record* readers understand the role of *Record* in a way that is similar to the formal understanding given by church administrators, and particularly in its role of informing.

The recognition of the majority of readers and the administration having a common understanding of the purpose of *Record*, and the suspicion that there has been a change of ownership demonstrates a coming together on this point even if members and administration are not in perfect step. This reflects Isenhart and Spangle's (2000:xiii) claim that "communities and businesses are moving from discussion of rights to interests, and from forcing to negotiation."

Having considered the similarities in perceptions between those who have the top-down influence (administrators) and the readers, the discussion turns to differences found between members who are *Record* readers.

Identifying difference among Record readers

Berger and Luckman (1969:102-3) note that, within time, an institution will have occasions for social conflict and segmentation with "sub-universes of meaning" leading to conflict or competition between the groups. The concepts of conservative and liberal are used as labels for groups within the Adventist Church. The terms "conservative" and "liberal" were chosen to assess differences because these terms are used by Adventists. Adventist systematic theologian Fritz Guy (1999:27-9) senses that within the Adventist "community of faith," the term "conservative" "implies a preference for orthodoxy, a scepticism and even hostility toward heterodoxy, and a suspicion of the claims of secular knowledge that raise questions about traditional belief." The term "liberal" "implies a willingness to move beyond orthodoxy, a comfortability with heterodoxy, and an interest in bringing secular knowledge into a constructive relationship with Christian belief." Both, Guy suggests, indicate a serious interest in truth. For conservatives it is to maintain the truths already possessed, embodied in a tradition they trust. For liberals it is to seek new truths or new interpretations of old truths. "The good

news is that 'so long as both see themselves as engaged in this joint quest their disagreements are necessary and fruitful" (he quotes from Basil Mitchell's Faith and Criticism). Guy adds that whatever the context, conservatives and liberals reflect tendencies, emphases or concerns on a continuum accommodating an indefinite number of intermediate positions and combinations. Guy (1999:29) then offers a warning: these terms, and others, "quickly become mischievous if they are used normatively, judgmentally, and polemically rather than objectively and descriptively."

Even with a conservative membership, Adventism demonstrates shades of types within, as can be seen in their self definitions. To an outsider this may be too elusive to find, but for insiders it is understood and influences how they engage with their print media.

Conservatives and liberals

In the surveys, respondents were asked to indicate to which of five categories they belonged: Liberal, middle of the road with liberal leanings, middle of the road, middle of the road with conservative leanings, or conservative. Of the 41 persons interviewed, the respondents were weighted toward being conservative with 17 (41.4 per cent) marking themselves as either conservative or middle of the road with conservative leanings. This contrasts with 12 (29.3 per cent) who marked themselves as liberal or middle of the road with liberal leanings. Respondents were reticent to rate themselves as liberal, only three (7.3 per cent) did so. Another three (7.3 per cent) did not respond in a way that could fit clearly into any category. To better understand these self-classifications, all those interviewed were asked what they meant by the classification they had given themselves. Several comment on how difficult it is to decide where they actually belong.

Only those who were interviewed have been considered here because individual discussion was essential to clarify the meanings respondents gave to where they placed themselves among the five categories on the liberal-conservative continuum. This type of discussion was too difficult to attempt in a focus group setting. However, it needs to be noted that those selected for interviews self-classified themselves as more conservative than those who were chosen at random from church rolls for focus groups. For respondents in interviews (N=41), the largest group (41.4 per cent) identified themselves as middle of the road with conservative leanings or conservative. In contrast, only 29.3 per cent self-classified themselves as liberal or middle of the road with liberal leanings. These findings are skewed toward the conservative end of the continuum compared to those involved in focus groups (N=69), Some 37.6 per cent among focus-group respondents claimed to be liberal or middle of the road with liberal leanings and 27.5 per cent indicated they were conservative or middle of the road with conservative leanings. It appears that the selection process for those who were interviewed created a more conservative group.

From those interviewed who called themselves "liberal" (N=3) one feels the church is 20 years behind the times. He is willing to experiment, particularly in outreach, but not with the principles that brought him into the church. Another has a number of non-Christian friends and visits other churches. He is open to accept others as they are, without compromising his own beliefs. The third says he is the opposite to conservative, which he illustrates by saying he did not plan to have everything ready for the Sabbath by sunset Friday, have evening worship or close of Sabbath.

From those who call themselves "middle of the road with liberal leanings" (N=9), one who marked himself at this position says he likes to keep up with the "state of play," he will go to a hotel for business, but, while there, drink orange juice. He

follows the church's fundamentals, but is happy for "kids" to play guitars in church, and for a ball to be thrown on the Sabbath. One woman grew up in what she calls an extremely conservative Adventist home and warns against extreme conservatism. Another respondent pushes for contemporary, not charismatic, worship and music, and helps with puppets and clowning. One says he is middle of the road on the church's fundamentals, but we should not conform to the pattern all the time because we live in a different society to 20 years ago. Another could not live with his former "ultraconservatism" and is now tolerant, allowing for alternative views and room to grow. Wearing jewellery and a bit of "lippy" "doesn't make any difference to the Lord," says one respondent, who adds she is a bit conservative when it comes to music in church. The fundamentals grind on her, she says, but, by her comments, she refers to standards rather than the fundamentals. Another, who had attended a state school, feels his schooling helps him stand for principles. He wants to head his church into a more contemporary style of worship. He feels his movie attendance makes some think of him as a liberal. "Look, I believe in paying tithe and all that sort of stuff," he says, "but because I mix with a lot of non-Adventists, people probably see me as being more liberal."

Among those who say they are "middle of the road" (N=9), several mark themselves in this classification because they want to be balanced in their approach to Adventism. They do not like "extremes of position," or to stand on a soapbox. One respondent describes liberals as those who reject the health message and have no problem with occasional Sabbath work; conservatives are those who are overly legalistic, and both are wrong. Another says she does not mind what the youth are doing and does not hanker for the old days. There is an admission of some conservative and liberal leanings among the group. For instance, one swapped churches to find quietness

and reverence in worship, while another claims to hold radical views. There is a sense that those who mark themselves as middle of the road do so because they desire to walk the middle road. In stating their position they are more likely to contrast it with their perceptions of liberal or conservative positions.

Those who are "middle of the road with conservative leanings" (N=10), refer to theology more than the other groups already considered. "I believe what the Bible says," one comments. The virgin birth, the state of the dead and the Sabbath are mentioned. Another is not prepared to accept the "new theology" and adds that women should not be ordained (although, as if to demonstrate some liberal tendencies, this respondent is happy with a band and drums in church). There is fear from one regarding liberals who are "tossing Sabbath out" and saying you do not need to keep it from sunset to sunset. Another sees the damage done by ultra-conservatives, but believes liberals are doing far greater damage with their "anything goes" attitude. One claims he retains a certain amount of his English (he originates from England) conservatism and illustrates this by saying he prefers conservative music in church. Comments on worship and music tend to illustrate a less contemporary approach.

Among self-labelled "conservatives" (N=7) there is a certainty, based on theology, that is lacking in the other groups. One says she has no grey areas and would like to get back to the era of Burnside because he knew what was going on and was so positive (George Burnside was a successful Adventist public evangelist in Australia and New Zealand in the 1950s and 1960s). Luke [125], mentioned in the previous chapter, claims he is conservative "in the sense that I accept what the truth is as historically taught." Another agrees that historical theology is a key, she has found some of Desmond Ford's theology "disturbing." Adventism has a "wonderful message" adds another respondent. Luke believes new light can only be built on old light and the new

things in the church are really old errors. He illustrates this by suggesting the church needs to go back to a position that supports the sinful nature of Christ (that Christ was born with a sinful nature like other humans, a concept that does not find support in mainstream Christianity and has gone out of favour in the Adventist Church and its publications since the 1940s). One points to her belief in the writings of Ellen White as an inspired source of instruction as evidence of her conservatism. Another quotes Ellen White, saying that the rostrum is a sacred place, a concept he thinks is missing in his church.

There are obvious limitations with a process of this type because the end results are descriptive categories of conservative and liberal self-ascribed by respondents rather than empirical categories grounded in objectivity. While the desire is to discover perceptions of respondents about liberal and conservative from within *their* community, there is little that is concrete to back up those perceptions. Guy's (1999:27-9) observations do not provide this, but they are helpful because he writes as one within the context of the Adventist Church yet as one who is outside the group of respondents and at a distance (writing from the United States) from them. In broad terms, what is found is general agreement with Guy's (1999:27-9) summation of "conservative" as those with a "preference for orthodoxy, a scepticism and even hostility toward heterodoxy." What is also in evidence is the "suspicion of the claims of secular knowledge that raise questions about traditional belief." There is also, in general terms, agreement of how Guy understands the term "liberal" as it "implies a willingness to move beyond orthodoxy, a comfortability with heterodoxy," with a hint of "interest in bringing secular knowledge into a constructive relationship with Christian belief."

What is important from Guy is his postulation of a liberal conservative continuum accommodating an indefinite number of intermediate positions and

combinations. Within the survey a five-point continuum was a step in that direction, but what is noticeable from the interviews is that respondents support the notion of a broad continuum because they do not create well-defined boundaries between the various categories.

What is found from the respondents interviewed is that as individuals place themselves closer to the conservative end of the five-point continuum there is a growing awareness of the significance of an authority outside of self coming into play. The Bible and the writings of Ellen White are more inclined to be mentioned as authoritative sources at the conservative end. However, this should not be read to indicate that there is no belief in an outside authority and the importance, particularly of the Bible, at the liberal end of this continuum. Adventism, even at its liberal extreme, tends to be a conservative movement compared to some mainstream Christian groups. Liberals affirm church beliefs, but without the intensity or certainty seen at the conservative end of the continuum. There is a sense of moving from uncertainty (at the liberal end of this continuum) to certainty. This certainty is based on the black and white authority of the Bible and Ellen White. This certainty is also linked to a past Adventism. There is tension over issues of church standards (which include lifestyle choices of health and dress), and worship and music styles within the church. For some these were the issues used in attempting to define conservative and liberal.

What comes through strongly in the interviews is that respondents have a strong awareness of the concepts of conservative and liberal and, mostly, they have little difficulty in articulating the positions even if they have difficulty in placing themselves on the five-point continuum. Having illustrated a range of positions on the conservative-liberal continuum, the next task is to turn to the surveys to consider how those in the various self-identified categories relate to *Record*.

Conservatives and liberals, and disagreements

From the surveys, with 125 respondents, 12.0 per cent identify themselves as liberal, 24.8 per cent as middle of the road with liberal leanings, 24.0 per cent as middle of the road, 24.8 per cent as middle of the road with conservative leanings, 7.2 per cent as conservative, and 7.2 per cent gave a response that could not be classified in any of these ways (two suggested they fitted more than one category). The first thing to notice from these figures is that the majority (73.6 per cent) consider they are middle of the road or middle of the road with liberal or conservative leanings. Only 19.2 per cent place themselves at the peripheries possible on this continuum. (The word "peripheries" is used deliberately because the word "extremes" does not fit. All involved should be considered as fitting within the confines of Adventism.)⁴

The majority of respondents (80.0 per cent) have some formal position within the church that ranged from 74.2 per cent for middle of the road conservatives to 90 per cent for those who say they are middle of the road (see Appendix C, Table 9.1, page 300). Some 60.8 per cent say they are very involved in their church's activities (marking 1 or 2 on a 1 to 7 scale where 1 means very involved and 7 means not very involved, see Appendix C, Table 9.2, page 300). The first two points on the scale were chosen to make sure respondents had made a clear decision (with 3, 4 and 5 tending to be "middle" figures). In this case the figures throw up an unsuspected anomaly. Of the conservatives, only 44.4 per cent mark themselves as being involved at this level. This is an anomaly in the sense that it would be assumed that conservative members of an organisation would be more heavily involved and committed to the organisation. What has been seen from some conservatives (in chapter 8) is anger at the direction in which the church is heading, with them wanting to go back to the old paths. A sense of

dissatisfaction may be seen here with slightly less involvement (or involvement going in another direction, outside the mainstream of the church). "Slightly" is used because when point 3 on the 1 to 7 scale is added, the sense of involvement rises by almost 20 per cent to 79.2 per cent for all those surveyed, but for the conservative group it jumps about 55 per cent to 100 per cent. The other groups have a broader spread across the range with liberals claiming the lowest involvement at 60.7 per cent total for points 1 to 3. This is what would be suspected and expected, but the fact that conservatives do not place themselves higher on the involvement scale may be seen as a protest vote by some conservatives to a church that is not heading in the direction they believe it should.

The expected is found when the sense of attachment to the Adventist Church is marked (see Appendix C, Table 9.3, page 301). Using a seven point scale ranging from very attached to not very attached, 80.0 per cent marked 1 or 2, with 1 meaning very attached. The conservatives are at 100 per cent (with 77.8 per cent marking 1), with the liberals at 66.7 per cent. Conservatives also led the way in feeling "terrific" about being an Adventist at 66.7 per cent. Then, 58.1 per cent of those who consider themselves middle of the road with conservative leanings felt "terrific" about being Adventist came next with liberals following at 46.7 per cent (see Appendix C, Table 9.4, page 301).

Areas of disagreement

In broad strokes, these figures from the survey give a feel for the respondents on a range from conservative to liberal on the five-point continuum. This now leads to potential areas of conflict between the groups over *Record* content and emphasis as found in the survey. Some areas chosen have already been touched on, but here is an attempt to bring some statistical analysis to the *Record*'s role in areas of bringing unity of faith, encouraging the discussion of issues, providing a forum for discussion,

upholding church fundamentals, promoting Adventist lifestyle and allowing candid opinions, particularly in the letters page. It relates these roles to those who have identified themselves as being in one of the five categories from conservative to liberal.

Conservatives gave the strongest support (77.8 per cent, strongly agree/agree) to the notion that a major task of the *Record* is to help bring about unity of faith (see Appendix C, Table 9.5, page 301). Liberals (53.3 per cent, strongly agree/agree) and middle of the road with liberal leanings (45.2 per cent, strongly agree/agree) do not have the same expectations. While it would be anticipated that conservatives would push for unity that is based upon A liventist theological and lifestyle choices, there is strong support by conservatives for use of the *Record* to encourage discussion of issues facing the church (see Appendix C, Table 9.6, page 302). Conservatives show an 88.9 per cent (strongly agree/agree) support for this kind of discussion. Only those who are middle of the road with liberal leanings come in higher at 93.5 per cent (strongly agree/agree). Liberals (80.0 per cent, strongly agree/agree) and those who claim middle of the road (83.3 per cent, strongly agree/agree) are lower.

The question not asked is what kind of issues facing the church should be discussed. Comments from conservatives in the interviews suggest that they want issues discussed that will help bring the church back to where they perceive it should be, that is, discussion that would bring back the certainty in the doctrines and standards they want emphasised. There is far less support for the discussion of issues facing the church in *Record* to be in the style of a forum, with various sides giving input (Appendix C, Table 9.7, page 302). Conservatives, at 66.7 per cent (strongly agree/agree), still show a majority in favour of a forum approach, but the enthusiasm is not as great (only 11.1 per cent strongly agree). However, all other categories have the same hesitation at about the same percentage (all in the 60s per cent levels, strongly agree/agree) in endorsing the

concept of using the *Record* as a forum, with the exception of middle of the road with liberal leanings at 90.3 per cent (strongly agree/agree).

There is evidence from the survey of a progression of a sense of attachment to the church according to where individuals mark themselves on the continuum (see Appendix C, Table 9.3, page 301). Liberals have the lowest sense of attachment (66.7 per cent marking 1 and 2, very attached, on the seven point scale). Middle of the road with liberal leanings is higher at 70.1 per cent (marking 1 and 2). Middle of the road (86.7 per cent at 1 and 2) and middle of the road with conservative leanings (80.1 per cent at 1 and 2) give a slight re ersal of the trend, but conservatives give a dramatic conclusion to the trend with 100 per cent marking 1 and 2. While *Record* makes most readers feel more enthusiastic about being an Adventist, only 44.4 per cent (strongly agree/agree) of conservatives claim it makes them feel more enthusiastic about being Adventist, and an equal percentage disagree (see Appendix C, Table 9.8, page 302). In this case there is no trend along the continuum; instead, the middle of the road with conservative leanings group records the highest percentage among those who say *Record* makes them feel more enthusiastic about being an Adventist, at 71.0 per cent (strongly agree/agree).

The strongest disagreement is found in areas of how *Record* handles the church's fundamental beliefs, Adventist lifestyle and the letters page. These three matters deserve more detailed consideration.

A significant difference is found between the conservative readers of *Record* and others when it comes to the church's fundamental beliefs. To the statement that *Record* upholds the church's fundamental beliefs, only 55.6 per cent (strongly agree/agree) of

conservatives compared to 90 per cent (strongly agree/agree) in the middle of the road category or the others (all in the 70s per cent, strongly agree/agree, see Table 9.1). This low percentage among conservatives is reinforced by 44.4 per cent disagreeing or strongly disagreeing with the notion that Record upholds the fundamental beliefs. Here again concerns are expressed by conservatives and some others that Record is not supportive of the fundamental beliefs, with almost 10 per cent (at 9.6 per cent strongly disagree/disagree) of respondents maintaining that position. What does play a part here is the number of those who are neutral, or have "no opinion." Some 19.3 per cent of those who are middle of the road with liberal leanings mark "no opinion." Then 13.0 per cent of middle of the road with conservative leanings have "no opinion." This sense of uncertainty when "no opinion" is marked is a significant result in these two categories for it suggests questions being asked about Record supporting fundamental beliefs. Again, this may be tempered by the fact that there tends to be a blurring of the lines between what are fundamental beliefs and church standards, which needs to be recognised in any discussion about the church's fundamentals. That does not diminish the perceptions that are found here, and the disagreement between respondents, with 79.2 per cent (strongly agree/agree) finding that Record upholds the church's fundamentals and 20.8 per cent holding a different opinion.

Table 9.1

Record and perceptions of upholding fundamental beliefs

(The Record upholds the church's fundamental beliefs.)

N=125	Strongly agree/agree	Neutra?	Strongly disagree/disagree	Other	Totals %
Liberal	8.8		1.6	1.6	12.0
MOR liberal	19.2	4.8	0.8	_	24.8
MOR	21.6	0.8	1.6		24.0
MOR con	19.2	3.2	1.6	0.8	24.8
Conservative	4.0	_	3.2		7.2
Other	6.4	_	0.8		7.2
Totals %	79.2	8.8	9.6	2.4	100

Key: MOR Lib: Middle of the road with liberal leanings. MOR: Middle of the road. MOR con: Middle of the road with conservative leanings.

Conservatives had an even stronger reaction against the view that *Record* promotes Adventist lifestyle (see Table 9.2). Only 33.3 per cent strongly agree/agree with this view. Adventist lifestyle can include healthy living and church standards, the "behavioural boundaries" (Vance, 1999:53-4). Because *Record* does allow some breadth of discussion in these areas it would be expected that responses to *Record* support of Adventist lifestyle would not be as strong as for the fundamental beliefs. What is of significance here is a strong note of uncertainty or indecision (or of not wanting to make that kind of judgment) demonstrated in the 20.0 per cent of the total who mark "no opinion" to the concept. Most conservatives do not have this uncertainty, with 55.6 per cent disagreeing with the thought that *Record* promotes Adventist lifestyle. Liberals, interestingly, demonstrate the next lowest agreement with the concept at 60.0 per cent (strongly agree/agree), although the percentage is almost twice that of the conservatives (at 33.3 per cent). Those claiming a middle of the road position have the highest agreement with the view that *Record* promotes Adventist lifestyle at 76.7 per cent (strongly agree/agree).

Table 9.2

Record and perceptions about the promotion of Adventist lifestyle

(The Record promotes Adventist lifestyle.)

N=125	Strongly agree/agree	Neutral	Strongly disagree/disagree	Other	Totals %
Liberal	7.2	3.2		1.6	12.0
MOR liberal	16.8	6.4	1.6		24.8
MOR	18.4	4.8	0.8	_	24.0
MOR con	16.0	4.8	2.4	1.6	24.8
Conservative	2.4	0.8	4.0		7.2
Other	6.4		0.8	_	7.2
Totals %	66.2	20.0	9.6	3.2	100

Key: MOR Lib: Middle of the road with liberal leanings. MOR: Middle of the road. MOR con: Middle of the road with conservative leanings.

The letters page was often discussed in interviews and focus groups. While 87.2 per cent (strongly agree/agree) believe that the opportunity to speak candidly in letters to the editor is healthy (see Appendix C, Table 9.9, page 303), some consider the letters as controversial because of the variety of opinions allowed. A response was asked for the statement, "Sometimes I find it hard to believe that those who write letters to the editor are Adventists." The purpose of this statement was to discover how Record readers respond to something in Record that tests the edges of what some would consider orthodoxy. The implication in the question is that these letter writers sometimes seem to write something quite out of character with mainstream Adventism. Conservatives, with 77.8 per cent (strongly agree/agree), have the greatest difficulty accepting these letter writers as Adventists. More than half (51.0 per cent, strongly agree/agree) of those who are middle of the road with conservative leanings have the same difficulty. In this case, the trend is that the closer the person is to the conservative end of the continuum, the more difficult it is for them to recognise Adventists who have radically different views as fellow church members. For the others (see Table 9.3), the total is around 40 per cent of those who strongly agree/agree with the statement. Again there is a strong "no opinion" response, in this case 20.8 per cent of the total.

Table 9.3

Record and perceptions about the orthodoxy of letter writers

(Sometimes I find it hard to believe that those who write letters to the editor are Adventists.)

N=125	Strongly agree/agree	Neutrai	Strongly disagree/disagree	Other	Totals %
Liberal	4.8	2.4	2.4	2.4	12.0
MOR liberal	9.6	4.8	10.4		24.8
MOR	9.6	8.0	5.6	8.0	24.0
MOR con	12.8	5.6	5.6	0.8	24.8
Conservative	5.6	_	1.6		7.2
Other	4.8		2.4		7.2
Totals %	47.2	20.8	28.0	4.0	100

Key: MOR Lib: Middle of the road with liberal leanings. MOR: Middle of the road. MOR con: Middle of the road with conservative leanings.

The state of the s

The conservative-liberal continuum in relation to Record

There are some marked differences between where *Record* readers place themselves along the conservative-liberal continuum and the comments they make about what they understand by those positions. Simply put, all respondents work from their own definitions and interpretations, not neatly packaged concepts. While there is evidence of some general acceptance of what liberal and conservative mean, and these can broadly fit into Guy's (1999:27-9) understandings, several, in their comments, have not been able to avoid the "mischievous" judgmental or polemic approach he warns against. There may be a general understanding of liberal and conservative, but the flexibility of interpretation increases when individuals are asked to locate themselves on the continuum. So, for instance, a respondent can mark themselves liberal because they are flexible in outreach techniques, but they are far more conservative in attitudes to doctrinal and lifestyle issues. There may be a range of reasons why individuals place themselves at any point on the continuum.

At one level there is seen a general, majority perception that *Record* is supportive of Adventism, with the two ends of the liberal-conservative continuum tending to be out of step with that perception. The conservatives are those who have the greatest difficulty seeing *Record* supporting their position in the community. At a deeper level there is a significant minority across the continuum that does not find, or are uncertain about, the strength of support *Record* has for Adventism, in some ways.

Limitations of Record

Among those interviewed, 7 of the 12 conservatives rate *Record* low in the tables above. This part returns to the interviews of these seven to find what elements are still helpful to them and if it is possible to assist them to build a sense of community

through those elements. The aim is to take a lead from those who are most critical to discover what these elements may be.

Luke [125] and Katherine [114] both find little value in *Record* for themselves. Luke can find little there for anyone else either because he believes it lacks doctrinal certainty and introduces too many diverse ideas that appear to downplay the certainty he seeks. Katherine strongly supports getting *Record* to others who no longer attend church (whether they are former members or members who are unable to attend) to keep a connection with the church. She has pushed her church board to set up a systematic approach to making sure former attendees receive *Record*. Luke would not give it to members who choose not to attend because he feels *Record* questions rather than affirms church doctrine, and this would not be helpful for them. He concedes that it would be helpful for members unable to attend church because it would help keep them in touch with what is going on in the church. *Record* does not help him develop a stronger sense of belonging to the Adventist Church, but he does recognise that it "might" for others. Luke's concern is that *Record* does not support the church fundamentals or what he calls "historic Adventism."

Luke and Katherine both read *Record*. For Luke it is what he calls a brief and quick read to see if there is anything he should read in depth. During the interview he was aware of what had appeared in *Record* that concerned him. He is able to tell of letters and articles he felt should not have appeared. Katherine reserves *Record* for Friday night. She claims she has very little time with the phone ringing constantly at her home and even on Friday evenings she cannot always get to *Record*. She has awareness, though, of what has appeared in *Record*. Then she admits to reading letters and obituaries and weddings, and she watches out for news of people and places she knows; her husband spent some time in Tonga, for instance, and she has an interest in what the

church is doing there. She is critical of the weekly cartoon and sometimes finds it offensive, but always checks it out. To her it is a reminder that her children (she is a grandmother) have not developed as "deep a sense of spirituality as we grew up with," otherwise they would know the importance of not making light of the spiritual.

In contrast, Gary [128] is an avid reader. He has written and had published letters to the editor and news reports (several years ago now) in *Record*. He calls himself conservative because he is opposed to contemporary worship styles and also the ordination of women. He wants to know what is happening in the church. He views *Record* as a club newsletter that lets everybody know what is happening in the "best club in the world." He reads letters to find what people are saying, and this is important for him. He is moved by stories of people going through hardship, with some of the "heart-rending articles" helping him in a spiritual way, and aiding him to understand the broader church. *Record* is a source of ideas for him and his church, and is valuable for those who are unable to attend church. Gary says that as far as he is concerned, *Record* is a part of the church.

During his interview, Andrew [131] was determined to get his view across, and most of the time was spent dealing with issues he raised, which were more about the church than *Record*. Andrew admits that he is conservative in his views and critical of *Tecord* for not facing up to the worship issue within the church by printing articles supportive of older forms of worship. He wants discussion of these kinds of issues, but there is a sense that the discussion needs to agree with his emphasis. He is supportive of *Record* in a couple of ways: he takes *Record* to a member who is no longer able to attend, and he says *Record* keeps him in contact with what is happening in other parts of Australia and the Pacific.

Ingrid [129] thinks *Record* has some "fantastic articles," but calls for more articles on church fundamentals. She says these articles should not be heavy doctrine, but "truthful" to the old teachings. For her, *Record* demonstrates to those outside the church that Adventism is not a cult, but is much larger than that description would suggest. Her family has followed an example given in *Record* and have used it to set up a Bible study group in her home, and this encourages her. She knows that "our old people love it," because she works with elderly people in an Adventist institution. The connections *Record* gives her with Adventists overseas is "wonderful." *Record* helps give her a sense that she is part of a larger community.

Zelda [133] does not appreciate it when *Record* goes against church standards, but her overall response is positive. She confesses to reading everything. She enjoys seeing "how the Lord is working in the church" because this lifts her spirits. She enjoys reading about people or seeing articles by people she has known in the past. She reads the editorials for the spiritual information they contain. She also sees *Record* as an instrument to bring church members together, including former members. For herself it makes her feel part of a much bigger church.

Finally, Peter [135] admits to being conservative, something that comes with age, he claims (he lives in retirement). As a former church employee, he finds *Record* useful for keeping connections with people he has known in the past. *Record* is a "big communication paper" where you keep in contact with people, he says. He finds the marriages and death notices of interest. He can name regular letter writers to *Record*, and suggests he knows what some of them will say before he reads their letters. He supports a variety of opinions being offered in the letters page: "I think, you know, if you're a member of the church, you've got a right to speak, you've got a right to say something." He does not mind if he disagrees with articles that appear because, "I know

what I believe. I know what I think, but I could be wrong. And my attitude is, God says, 'I will lead you into all truth.'"

For Luke and Katherine, *Record* does not help draw them into the Adventist community. Luke particularly seems to read *Record* with a desire to be critical, and he expects to find the negative. The openness within *Record* to a variety of voices causes concern. Both see a role for *Record* for those unable to attend. For Luke this is a concession, to keep them in touch; for Katherine, she has a mission to get it to them and also to those who choose to attend. Katherine also brings expectations of the negative to *Record*, the cartoon is an example, but she makes connections with people she knows through its pages.

Except for Gary and Peter, the rest state a weakness of the *Record* is a lack of support for church doctrines (or fundamental beliefs) or standards. This is the strong theme coming through, with Peter giving a hint of agreement even if he does allow for the "right to speak." During the interview he expressed grave concerns about the direction of the church, emphasising music, worship style and dress.

For all conservatives, there is the belief that giving or taking *Record* to a member who cannot attend has some value. This is perceived as a link to the church community. Only Luke is against giving it to a member who chooses not to attend. Luke's concession for those who cannot attend is a significant statement that this link to the church can be helpful.

If Luke and Katherine are taken out of the picture, the others find that connections made with other people through *Record*'s pages is important. While the main emphasis is on people who are known to them, it also extends further, Ingrid speaks of connections overseas. For Peter, who has worked for the church, it appears

that he studies the *Record* to find or remember these connections. The other area of agreement is in keeping in contact with what is happening in the church.

Gary and Zelda both report receiving spiritual help by reading *Record*. Gary also uses *Record* as a source of ideas that he implements in his local church, so he sees it as a source for practical ideas. Ingrid's comment that *Record* shows that the Adventist Church cannot be seen as a cult should be interpreted in the context of her conversion from a major church (Roman Catholicism) and her continued connection with friends within her former church. She has a desire to demonstrate that Adventism is a broadly-based movement, and *Record* aids her with that.

From the conservative group, then, even the most opposed find an effective use for *Record*. The perceived lack of a strong doctrinal element is a concern for them, but, overall, keeping up with personal and broader connections through *Record*'s pages and knowing what is happening in the church are elements that *may* transcend that perceived shortcoming in helping to maintain Adventist community.

Summary

The focus of this chapter has been on understanding how respondents with different Adventist leanings view and read Record. The view that readers bring their own meanings to text is an underlying assumption of the chapter, the extent to which Record addresses their needs is its corollary. Several conclusions may be drawn from the detailed analysis of the questionnaire survey and respondents' comments during interviews regarding theological outlook and attitudes to Record. First, within Adventism, members range themselves along a continuum ranging from liberal to conservative and in doing so demonstrate that the church is a complex organisation. Second, as should be expected, those who rate themselves as conservative are loudest in

calling for a stronger defence and definition of their organisation in print. They demonstrate a longing for less complexity and a conservative position to be enunciated in *Record*. Third, regardless of whether or not church members accept *Record* as belonging to them, there is an expectation that *Record* will communicate views and promote positions that correspond with the outlook of mainstream members and church authorities.

Endnotes

¹ Table 9:4 gives a statistical overview of responses given to perceptions of ownership of *Record*. In the "other" responses, one felt *Record* was owned by the Publishing Department under whose umbrella printing and publishing within the church comes. The other three had no answer to the question.

Table 9:4
Perceived ownership of the *Record*

(N=26)	Church administration	Church menibers	Editors	Other	Total
Percentage	13.5	59.6	11.5	15.3	100
Actual	3.5*	15.5*	3	4	26

^{*}One respondent felt administrators and church members both "owned" the Record.

Purpose: The Record is the official paper of the Seventh-day Adventist Church in the South Pacific Division. Its role is to nurture, educate and inform church members within the division.

To nurture:

Christian faith

Seventh-day Adventist belief

Seventh-day Adventist lifestyle

Seventh-day Adventist community

To educate:

in biblical faith

in Seventh-day Adventist doctrine

in Seventh-day Adventist lifestyle

To inform:

of decisions impacting on the church and members

of events within the South Pacific Division

of the progress of the worldwide church

of challenges to the church

of news with relevance to the church.

The 1957 publication of Seventh-day Adventists Answer Questions on Doctrine made a significant stand on the sinless nature of Christ. It stated, "In both [Christ's] natures, the divine, and the human, He was perfect; He was sinless. That this was true of His divine nature there can be no question. That it was so of His humanity is also true" (Seventh-day Adventists Answer Questions on Doctrine, 1957:54). This was one of several issues that helped Questions on Doctrine "easily qualify as the most divisive book in Seventh-day Adventist history." Published to help bring peace between Adventism and conservative Protestantism, "its release brought prolonged alienation and separation to the Adventist factions that grew up around it" (Knight, 2003:xiii). While Knight (2003:xxix) may claim in the introduction to the recently released annotated edition that the book was almost entirely "clear restatements of traditional theology," that is not how it was seen then or is seen now by a vocal minority.

² The Record's purpose statement reads in full as follows:

⁴ As if to emphasise this point, one marked "liberal" and then wrote, "but very Bible grounded/Christ centred."

Chapter 10

Continuity and Change

In 1986 an attempt was made to transfer a sense of ownership of *Record* from those in authority to the members. The decision, in effect, was to turn away from what could be called an authoritarian approach in print to a more communitarian focus. The decision provides an opportunity to assess the effectiveness of that policy. This study has shown that church members mostly appreciate the new policy and resulting changes in *Record*, but at the same time highlight a longing for earlier times by some church members. Chapter 7 noted that some members are disappointed with the current *Record* and its failure to maintain and strengthen traditional Adventist boundaries. In chapter 8 there is an undercurrent of disapproval by a minority, and a longing as one member of a focus group put it, for the *Record* of 20 years earlier. Chapter 9 highlighted areas of conflict by noting that conservative members disapprove of how *Record* now handles the church's fundamental beliefs, Adventist lifestyle and the letters page. The year 1986 is a useful reference point because there was an intentional and administratively initiated move to make *Record* a more inclusive publication.

This chapter has two main aims. The first is to note how the change of policy toward *Record* has been played out and what it can tell us about print in the Adventist Church and about the church itself. A second aim is to examine the role of the editor and that of church authorities in *Record*. In the past three decades *Record* has been the focus of a number of studies. In some of these studies *Record* was drawn upon in an

illustrative way to highlight aspects of the church at that particular time. Other studies were initiated either by church authorities or by the editors and sought to ascertain the readership of *Record* and to solicit from members their views on how to make the publication more effective and useful as an instrument of communication. When taken together, the various studies provide a wealth of information for assessing not so much *Record* itself, although that information is also useful, but more to highlight attitudes to changes in policy and to understand what these attitudes tells us about changes in the Adventist community more generally.

Transition as seen through social research

One of the earliest examinations of *Record* was conducted in 1977 by John Knight as part of his doctoral study on Seventh-day Adventists when he examined *Record* along with *Signs of the Times, Scope* (published briefly, 1971-1973) and *Spectrum* (the only magazine in the group to be published in the United States). Knight (1977:152-90) conducted a content analysis of *Record* consisting of a random selection of one issue a month from 1970 to September 1975. He analysed 1180 articles including letters to the editor, but ignored verse, wedding and funeral notices, and advertisements. He considered *Record* as the "most authentic representation of SDA culture" (Knight, 1977:140) among Adventist publications and an "internal sectarian newspaper" (Knight, 1977:160). He described *Record* of that era in the following way:

The Record contains information on SDA-related events in the area, overseas mission and evangelistic happenings, doctrinal articles, and in late years has added a very popular feature: letters to the editor. One of the major functions of the Record is to unite the members of the Australasian Division [now the South Facific Division], giving them a sense of common brotherhood and purpose as part of the "Great Advent Movement." Through its pages, the hierarchy can present important issues to the laity and mould the opinions of members. It is an agent for the construction of Adventist reality in sect members (Knight, 1977:153).

Knight found *Record* "highly religious (92 per cent), fundamentalist (87 per cent), conservative (88 per cent), and world-rejecting (86 per cent)." "In religious type, the magazine is very sectarian (86 per cent), and the denominational or secular [usually health or social welfare] articles occur . . . in the remaining 14 per cent of articles" (Knight, 1977:164). He estimated that almost all articles are "normative" with dissonant articles or letters being "far less than 1 per cent of the total." Despite this restriction, he noted that a number of older members had expressed personal discomfort and dislike of any dissent or debate among God's "remnant people" (Knight, 1977:164).

His findings, particularly those that indicate sectarian tendencies, are various. The Sabbath had a frequency score of 28 per cent, reflecting, said Knight (1977:161), "its importance as an ethnic boundary for the sect." "Adventist prescriptions for lifestyle, particularly diet and health" received a similarly high score at 26 per cent (Knight, 1977:161). The "sectarian concern" for the second coming was seen in 27 per cent of articles where a reference is made to eschatological issues. He found taken-for granted terminology describing the second coming and events as understood by Adventists surrounding that event, such as "the blessed hope," "the investigative judgment" and the "close of probation." This discussion was often used to urge readers to greater effort and activity to bring about the "end of sin and suffering" (Knight, 1977:161). The importance of Ellen White as a "charismatic and inspired authority within the sect" was seen in references to her and her work in about one-fourth of the articles, which was "just more than one-half the frequency or reference to or usage of the Bible." She was commonly called "the messenger of the Lord" or "the Spirit of prophecy," which demonstrated "the extent to which belief in her visions undergirds the whole of Adventism" (Knight, 1977:161-2). He discovered that she was quoted as an equal authority to the Bible, and the taken-for-granted authority on doctrine and social

behaviour as indicated by these "sectarian euphemisms" and others, including "the servant of the Lord" and "God's special messenger for these last days."

Indeed, one might infer that her de facto authority is greater than Scripture, since no such terms are commonly used for biblical prophets such as Jeremiah, Daniel or the Revelator, who are referred to by their given titles (Knight, 1977:166).

Knight (1977:170-3) returned to two issues of importance in discussing sectarian attitudes: the Adventist understanding of current events before the second coming, which leads to "sectarian exclusiveness," and Adventist rhetoric. The exclusiveness restricted the sect members' contact with the world to necessary economic trensactions in the market place, developing a "them" and "us" attitude, and "they" are the "outsiders." "They," he suggested "are corrupt, immoral, and deserve destruction, while 'we' are a separate people, holy, God's peculiar treasure." Technological, social and political issues that threaten the world's survival became simply a "sign of the times" and reinforced the concept of the imminent advent of the Lord. The reliance on divine action rather than stressing active political and social commitment to change the world meant a passive, not activist, approach to world and community issues. In Knight's view, the Adventist worldview was of a closed culture in a society of which they disapprove and from which they wish to partially withdraw.

Adventist rhetoric became an important symbol of sectarianism. "By constant reading of these terms in sectarian literature and by their repetition in social interaction in the sectarian community, members give meaning to the world." Some of the terms are mentioned above, but he found others, such as "remnant people" or "remnant church," "the last days," "God's last warning message" and "the right arm of the message" [a reference to the health emphasis]. He labelled these "readily recognisable phrases" that are "particularly evident in *Record*" as "sectarian SDA." These were an

"ethnic boundary" between members and non-members, presenting the "idiom of a closed culture" (Knight, 1997: 170-3).

Knight's study provides a useful opportunity to reassess whether there has been any change since the mid-1970s, as seen through the pages of *Record*. Taking cues from Knight several of his findings are compared with *Records* of 1990 and 2002. There are no specific reasons why 2002 was chosen; it was the most recent full year at the time of writing and 1990 was the last full year James Coffin served as editor. I have attempted to replicate the methodology Knight used, as I understand it, with the exception that every issue of the chosen year is considered. The whole year is used rather than a random sampling because there are special emphasis issues each year, two of which have significance to the outcome: the health week and the spirit of prophecy day issues. In this comparison the number of times the following are mentioned is quantified: Sabbath, Adventist lifestyle issues, the second coming, Ellen White or her writings used, and also references from and to the Bible, and the number of times the terms Knight mentions as Adventist rhetoric appear. In addition, the number of times involvement in society or with other community groups and denominations appear are also considered, as a test of non-sectarian activity.

Knight considered in total 1180 articles and letters in his study. In this study a total of 1931 articles and letters were found in the 1990 Record, and 1282 in the 2002 Record. Of these, 1044 (54.1 per cent) in 1990 and 619 (48.3 per cent) in 2002 were Flashpoint news articles, which are brief news notes. Following Knight, these are included in the analysis. Some articles do emphasise more than one of the issues under investigation so it should not be presumed that each count is independent of the others.

The Sabbath, including events that are noted to be on the Sabbath (although this is rare because usually, now, only a date is recorded without mention that it was a

Sabbath), is found 135 times (7.0 per cent) in 1990 and 54 times (4.2 per cent) in 2002. The second coming is found 83 times (4.3 per cent) in 1990 and 34 times (2.7 per cent) in 2002. Distinctive Adventist lifestyle issues found a stronger emphasis with 196 (10.2 per cent) mentions in 1990 and 124 (9.7 per cent) in 2002, with the vast majority of them related to issues of health.

The 1990 Record contains 889 references (46.0 per cent) to the Bible or Bible quotations; the 2002 Record contains \$56 references (35.6 per cent). Quotations from or references to Ellen White's writings appear 249 times (12.9 per cent) in 1990 and 92 times (7.2 per cent) in 2002. Where Knight found that Ellen White was quoted or mentioned more than 50 per cent of the number of times compared to the Bible, the figure is much lower in 1990 at 28.0 per cent and, in 2002, at 20.2 per cent. In investigating the "readily recognisable phrases," a search was made of 12 phrases Knight referred to. Thirty-one (1.6 per cent) are found in 1990, with 17 (1.3 per cent) instances in 2002. The "spirit of prophecy" (a title for Ellen White) gains 17 (1990) and 13 (2002) mentions. The "messenger of the Lord" (another title for Ellen White) gains one mention (1990). The "close of probation" is mentioned four times (1990) and once (2002); with the "remmant church," "investigative judgment" and "God's last warning message" all mentioned once in both years. Only seven of the 12 phrases Knight referred to as "ethnic boundaries" are found, and they appear on an average of once every 1.6 issues of Record in 1990 and once every 2.8 issues during 2002. Comparisons between the Record during the years of 1970 to 1975 and that of 2002 can be seen graphically in Table 10.1.

Table 10.1
Comparison of sectarian tendencies in Record (1970-75 and 2002)
(in percentages)*

Type of reference found	1970-75 N= 1180	1990 N= 1931	2002 N= 1282
Sabbath	27.8	7.0	4.2
Second coming	27.2	4.3	2.7
Adventist lifestyle	26.3	10.2	9.7
Bible	44.7	46.0	35.6
Ellen White	25.3	12.9	7.2
Usage of Ellen White compared to the Bible	56.6	28.0	20,2

^{*} Numbers are in percentages of the total numbers of articles, but may not add up to 100 per cent because some articles contain more than one reference.

Added to this, during 1990, there are 113 (5.9 per cent) and in 2002, 176 (13.7 per cent) mentions of Adventists being involved with people or groups (including community groups and other denominations) outside the Adventist Church in a non-evangelistic sense. Even when the 64 mentions (3.3 per cent) in 1990 and 58 mentions (4.5 per cent) in 2002 of the Adventist Development and Relief Agency (the Australian, New Zealand and overseas welfare agency of the church) are omitted on the grounds that one could argue these are performed as outreach for the church² that still leaves 49 (2.5 per cent) references to these activities in 1990 and 118 (9.2 per cent) mentions in 2002. Knight sensed that the *Record* of the early 1970s saw welfare work as part of the church's evangelistic program by linking welfare and mission, and found it a central thrust with a mention in 46.3 per cent of the articles.

In 2002, only the number of mentions of the Bible or Bible references suggests a close relationship to that found in Knight's 1970-75 research. The writings of Ellen White still play a role, but the figures indicate they do not have the same significance of earlier times, and the usage of her writings compared to that of the Bible is far lower.

The figures show a continued dependence on the authority of the Bible, but lesser a dependence on that of Ellen White.

This comparative analysis of *Record* shows quite a change in attitude from 1970-75 to 1990, and a change that can be demonstrated to continue through to 2002. If we can assume that the number of references to Adventist theology and practice can be interpreted as suggesting a bias either toward sect or denomination, and if Knight (1977:140) is correct in claiming that *Record* is the "most authentic representation of SDA culture" in print, the evidence not only suggests a significant shift in *Record*, but also in Adventism in Australia and New Zealand. The *Record* of 1990 and of 2002 shows less dependence on its sectarian heritage. Adventism still retains much of its sectarian heritage, but it appears to be pulling away from its past.

From the 1980s, though, a series of surveys have been conducted in an attempt to better understand *Record* readers and the impact of *Record* on those readers. The reader surveys are useful for assessing the attitudes of members to *Record*.

Reader surveys of Record

Six reader surveys have been conducted since *Record* became available free to church members in 1980, the first being in 1983. Finding change in *Record* through the surveys proved to be frustrating and difficult because the surveys did not have a consistent approach to sampling or in the questions asked. For these reasons the surveys proved to have limited value in addressing the research question, but are discussed in more depth in Appendix D, page 304. They are briefly mentioned here because a few findings are pertinent.

There is some validation from the other surveys concerning the ages of those involved in the current survey. A difference is shown in the gender mix found in the

current survey, which comes from the selection process. There is a fairly consistent attachment to the church from respondents through all surveys. The survey findings appear to suggest a trend of acceptance of greater diversity of belief and a lowering of expectations of unity of faith. They appear to provide evidence of a growing belief that *Record* should be a forum for a variety of viewpoints and indicate an increase in appreciation for the relevancy of articles in *Record*. Openness in print about issues within the church gained support, as did support for a variety of opinions in letters to the editor. The surveys also highlight that *Record* was proving less successful at supplying the mix of articles to meet the needs of readers, or to help keep the enthusiasm of readers about being Adventist at a high level.

The surveys do indicate some shifts of position in readership opinion about *Record*. The evidence of movement indicates that *Record* needs to be a dynamic, changing communication tool if it aims to meet readership needs. It also needs to be alert to these needs. The trend toward greater diversity and openness may already be seen to be happening with *Record* not as successful now in supplying the mix of articles to meet readers' needs. The one constant is the uncertainty about the accuracy of church news, which may be related to the suspicion that the news is not objective, but is given a positive emphasis.

McQuail (1994:323) notes that communicators "do not gain much from formal research" and prefer their own "informal ways" of understanding their audiences. However, the richness of data to come from these surveys can be helpful for plotting trends and discovering reader opinion in some areas. What is lacking in the *Record* surveys is consistency in the type and style of questions asked.

Thus far the focus of the chapter has been on understanding changes occurring within the content of *Record* and from these to generalise possible changes occurring in

the Adventist community generally. The remainder of this chapter examines the role of the editors and church administrators in shaping *Record*.

Strategic role of the editor

In its 106 year history *Record* has had numerous individuals who have performed editorial functions for the paper. However, it is in the past three decades, particularly during the years leading up to and following the crisis over Desmond Ford that the editor of *Record* has assumed visibility as someone capable of influencing opinion on issues being debated and thus playing a strategic role in the Adventist community. In the context of the role of the editors in the past 25 years further consideration of the Ford issue cannot be avoided.

The Adventist Church in Australia and New Zealand was in crisis leading up to and after the dismissal of Desmond Ford in 1980. Ford's challenge for the Adventist Church to forego some of its interpretations of the prophecies and downplay the role assigned to Ellen White in Adventist theology divided the membership. From one side the push was to maintain the status quo. From the other side came pressure to take on board new understandings that could deny long-held beliefs. Complicating the situation was Ford's charisma. His lifestyle demonstrated a commitment to Adventism that few could match and in his presentations he was a convincing orator. While there was a considerable middle ground within the church among those who wanted to avoid the conflict or not be involved, or were awaiting the outcome, the evidence is of pressure tending toward a "state of anomy" (Durkheim (1951:254-5). Following Durkheim (1933:368), the Adventist community had moved away from any "lively and continuous sentiment of their mutual dependence" to one more akin to open warfare in which the "state of anomy is impossible."

That the Ford situation impacted on *Record* may be found in the timing when, in early 1980, it was made available free to all church members to ensure an informed membership (Parmenter, 1980b:4). It also had an effect on the editors: Robert Parr (2000) believes his friendship with Ford cost him his position as editor and he was replaced by Geoffrey Garne. Garne (2000) discovered that neither the "Fordites" nor the "CBs" (Concerned Brethren, a conservative group within the church) would "own him" and the division president, Walter Scragg (1999), desired to change *Record* through the appointment of James Coffin in 1986 to move on from the Ford issues. The build-up to the Ford dismissal and its fallout were running as background noise during the editorships of Parr (1967-1980), Garne (1981-1986) and Coffin (1986-1991). Whether Ford caused change or was simply the catalyst of change can be debated. He is certainly the most referenced and visible agent of change from that period. Indeed, the Ford situation was the most dramatic reminder that the church was facing a challenge that would necessitate major changes in the organisation. During this period the editors illustrate the strategic role they play in print.

Three Record editors

Robert Parr is perhaps the only *Record* editor to have had editorial experience outside the church.³ He edited academic books for some seven years for the Packer publishing conglomerate in Sydney before being appointed to head the editorial work at Signs Publishing Company. A former Adventist school and Sydney Grammar School teacher, he was a regular contributor to church publications before his appointment. At the time of his appointment, *Record* was partly produced at the church's headquarters in Sydney by a retired minister. Parr offered to "look after it," an offer that was accepted.

Record of the time merely reported material sent in from churches and given to it by church leaders. Parr (2000) suggests that there was not a lot of creativity or innovation coming from "chaps in high places. . . . So I just went back into my shell and tried to keep it afloat and tried to brighten it up a bit." He introduced an editorial of more substance than previously and he also included his own style of writing which was "brighter than some." "Brighter than some" is a modest assessment. In reality, his force of personality and the inclusion of humour, particularly with his back page news notes, made Record a must read for many church members. Subscriptions increased under his tenure until it became free for all church members. In his editorial techniques there was little editing of articles except to correct errors of logic or grammar. He was also hamstrung by the expectation that anything sent in would be published. However, this added to the effect that it was like a letter from home that shared even the inconsequential and the gossip among friends. More than any editor before or since, Parr developed a strong personal following as he developed a chatty, inclusive style in Record that carried the magazine despite some of the other content.

His approach was what would be called conservative, at least by today's standards. However, his style gave popular appeal to *Record* that drew in more readers while maintaining support for the church's core values and lifestyle positions. Beginning the role as a "lay person" (he had been out of church employ for about 14 years) he expected to be given some guidelines. In fact, there were none and few contacts from church administration, "But you knew that Big Brother was watching you, and you didn't [do things] that might rock the boat" (Parr, 2000).

Where Parr had brought a common touch to *Record*, Geoffrey Garne brought a more authoritative approach and was immediately perceived to be more conservative than Parr. As already noted (Chapter 6), Garne brought his own values and beliefs to the

role in a difficult period of the church's history. He (Garne, 2000) tells of receiving "heaps and heaps of mail":

The CBs [Concerned Brethren] had a very, very strong burden, you know, that the beliefs were being threatened. . . . Others felt that there needed to be a lot more emphasis on the gospel rather than on the doctrines of the church. . . . I couldn't accommodate everybody, so I simply decided I wasn't going to accommodate anybody.

Parr offered to take on *Record*, but Garne did not originally realise this was part of his role. He edited the South African *Signs of the Times* and believed, when offered the position in Australia, that his main task would be to edit the Australian *Signs of the Times*. With hindsight, he (Garne, 2000) says, "I think being thrown in at the deep end was possibly the best way. . . . I don't suppose that I would, if I had the experience over again, want to be forewarned." Despite being "thrown in at the deep end," there was no consultation or brief given to him by church administration.

Game adopted the philosophy that *Record* was the mouthpiece of the Adventist Church for members and his approach was flavoured by his growing up in an Adventist home, being part of a small country church, attending an Adventist tertiary institution and working as a minister within the church, including seven years in church administration as a conference president. As editor, "I felt it my duty to simply reflect and present the values that were precious to me and the teachings that I personally believed in, and I simply went on doing that" (Garne:2000).

He sensed that neither the "Fordites" nor the "CBs" particularly wanted him in his role. This he shrugs off, but is disturbed by memories of "certain pastors" who regarded him with suspicion or who were not sure of his position. He was never sure whether he had the support of many ministers. Some showed clear support:

And there were others who sort of held me at arms length. I found this very disturbing. But looking back, I realise that many of these men had been students who had sat at Des Ford's feet, and held him in high esteem, so they kind of felt that anything that Des said and did must be right. (Garne:2000)

Garne continued an editorial style similar to Parr's. While he did not demonstrate the same flair as Parr in his writing style, it is doubtful that it would have been received in the same way because the Ford issue had changed the church landscape dramatically. Members were openly taking sides, with their magazine perceived to be taking a conservative stance in response. During this period, despite the issues, *Record* maintained the letter from home approach that served it well under Parr.

During Garne's tenure, the South Pacific Division president, Parmenter, retired and Walter Scragg was appointed. Garne (2000) says, "I just had a hunch... as soon as ever Brother Scragg took over the reins that he would want a change in editor. I just knew from the moment he came that my days were numbered." Garne was replaced at the next division session in 1985 and he left what he called the "hot seat."

When James Coffin came to Australia in 1986, he came with a plan for *Record*. He had been in negotiations with Scragg (see Appendix E, page 317) and he (Coffin, 1999) wanted to develop a magazine that was journalistically sound, selective in what was printed, spending more time on editing and rewriting, if necessary, material to make it more readable. He argued for a more candid and open publication. He saw one of the problems *Record* faced was in the type of statements released by church administrators in a "pontifical statement" style.

It was *the* official, absolute, comprehensive statement... The problem was that the people would go through that pontifical statement with a fine-tooth comb, rip it apart and there was no way [administrators] could distance themselves from it (Coffin, 1999).

He persuaded administrators that with *Record* staff reporting the information as journalists, they could distance themselves from statements and *Record* would at least appear to be far more open and there would not be an expectation that all the details would be printed, only the most important.

Coffin was sensitive to the Ford crisis. He had been an assistant pastor at Avondale Memorial church (from 1978 to 1981), a large church on the drive into Avondale College where Ford had been head of the theology faculty, during the time when the theological issues promoted by Ford had gained prominence and he had been defrocked.

That was an interesting place for me to be at the time. . . . Because we had college teachers who were members of our church [which is not the college church], we had college students who were members of our church, and we had about 40 retired pastors who were members of our church, plus a large group of old-timers. . . . and I saw the kinds of tensions that existed there (Coffin, 1999).

He set out to attempt to initiate dialogue between the various groups through the pages of the *Record*.

My goal was to try to support the 27 Fundamentals of the church, but at the same time allow people a significant amount of latitude to express views and opinions and try to use this as a sort of catharsis to help bring healing. . . . It was a slow process for people to catch on to the fact that no longer was everything that was printed in the *Record* supposed to be absolute[ly] orthodox (Coffin, 1999).

To this he added an attitude that downplayed the triumphalism "inherent within the *Record*." He tried to be a "little less flamboyant in how we congratulated ourselves, without taking away the inspirational component." While taking a "more objective view of ourselves as a denomination [and] as congregations" by printing the positive and the negative, he also moved away from presenting other denominations in a bad light.

Scragg (1999) told Coffin that he expected there would be those who would not understand what they were trying to do, but that he would protect him where possible. Scragg says there were occasions when he had to do just that, particularly with some administrators who had lost access to *Record* in a form they were used to, and he came "under fire from some of my fellow administrators" over the letters page in particular. Some even suggested it was time to remove the preparation of *Record* from Warburton in Victoria back to the division office in Wahroonga, NSW, to gain control.

Soon after making some of these changes, Coffin received letters that were "very, very strong. They were vindictive, hateful." During the time he was editor (a little more than five years) he detected an evolution taking place among many who had at first opposed the changes. Even if they were still opposed, he sensed there was a change of tone, a "general respect" developing.

In contrast to both Parr and Garne, Coffin left on his own terms, resigning from his position in 1991 to return to the United States to pastor a church in Orlando, Florida.

Editors as agents of change

In commercial print, particularly the mass media, the personality and style of the editor is not expected to be on show. In a church's print each editor's personality and emphasis is on open display. There is a reshaping of *Record* to their will and style and, in a sense, *Record* comes to fit the shape of the editor. This goes against expectations within a religious minority where a homogenous press would be anticipated. Yet Parr brought with him a style and understanding of editing that had developed outside the church which, it could be argued, helped him bring a livelier feel to *Record*. Garne, on the other hand, had served as an editor within the church and, having played both ministry and administrative roles in the church, brought those kinds of concerns and backgrounds with him. The difference between the situation with Parr and Garne, and that of Coffin is marked. Parr and Garne changed *Record* to their style and approach. The changes they brought came from their own initiative. Coffin was introduced as an agent of change, a change negotiated with church authorities.

From their work, each of the three editors can be placed at different sites on a liberal-conservative continuum. Parr and Garne are both within conservative ranks producing a controlled magazine that reflected both Adventist core values and Adventist

lifestyle values. Parr had introduced a livelier magazine, but not one that allowed much dissent; he sensed Big Brother was watching and acted accordingly. Garne was perceived as taking the magazine down a more conservative path than Parr. Coffin was encouraged to shift *Record* to a centrist position. From a sociological perspective, *Record* was more effective as a tool for shoring up the church and its boundaries under Parr and Garne, for it spoke with certainty, it walked in step with the church's sectarian roots and supported the status quo. It may have had little impact on those who were more progressive (liberal), but it served an expected diet every week. It represented orthodox Adventism and defended it with vigour. From a communication perspective, if changes had not been introduced, *Record* may have been gradually marginalised and seen as irrelevant by the majority in a church trending away from these positions.

Coffin attempted to shift *Record* into a more centrist position and to allow more freedom in the views expressed while supporting the fundamental beliefs of the church. He (Coffin, 1999) says it took time for people to realise that not everything printed in *Record* was absolutely orthodox. The difficulty he had, as he explains it, is that the "liberals" complained about the "right-wing presentations" allowed in the magazine and the "conservatives" complained about the "more open presentations." The conservative wing could also complain about the loss of what can be described as the church's sectarian roots, and the liberal wing about the sense that *Record* had not gone far enough. More significantly, the middle ground was left with questions rather than the certainties of previous times. Then there were those at the extreme ends of the conservative-liberal continuum who rejected *Record*'s position completely. He (Coffin, 1988:2) explained the dilemma he faced in an editorial (see Appendix F, page 319, for the full text) written specifically about letters to the editor, but also referring to articles appearing in *Record*. He hoped readers would keep the "diversity of readership in mind

when they encounter material that is not catering to their specific needs." However, he acknowledges that this would not impress those at the extreme edges of the church:

A small percentage on the far left have written the editors off as mere stooges of the administration. They think we are programmed to do what we are told, when we are told—that we never have an original thought of our own.

On the far right, a small group have written us off as apostates because we even admit that we are trying to minister to a broad spectrum. There is only one way (their way), a narrow way, and anything that doesn't fit within these narrow parameters is anathema.

We've accepted defeat in trying to minister to these two groups. There's no way we can win. But we do try to keep the other 90 per cent of the church constantly in mind, seeking a blend of articles within and between issues that will meet the needs of the total spectrum (Coffin, 1988:2).

Each editor became an agent of change for *Record* and, at least for Parr and Garne, the change followed the fit of the editor. Coffin was encouraged to shift ownership away from church administrators and help it reflect the membership. This was a much more intentional and dramatic change, and caused a strong reaction from some members. While Coffin may have produced a magazine that appealed more to the majority of church members across a broad spectrum, he found it impossible for it to be acceptable to all members. Coffin (1999) may have sensed that a "degree of respect" from both sides that grew out of the process of change introduced into *Record*, but the acceptance of diversity led the church's print product away from its sectarian roots.

Keepers of the traditions

Where editors play a strategic role and prove to be agents of change, those who hold positions of authority are keepers of the traditions. They have been appointed with "universe maintaining legitimation" (Berger and Luckman, 1969:135-6) and given the authority to do that. So, while there is change, there is also continuity that reinforces the

organisation's reason for being. Here, again, the concept of ownership needs to be considered.

For the mass media, ownership is usually easily defined and limited to an individual or individuals (major shareholders, perhaps). Record is the self-proclaimed official publication of the Seventh-day Adventist Church in the South Pacific Division. So the church owns it. It can be argued that, theoretically, all 60,000 or so church members in Australia and New Zealand are the owners. Funding for Record comes from church members and from church institutions established by the church through church members. Some members have different roles and authority may be given to them within the church, but they still fall under the category of church member. Record readers may have a stronger sense of ownership than in the past, but this should not be interpreted as ownership in the sense of control. The 60,000 members as "shareholders" of Record have little or no input into or influence upon Record, unless it is through their role as the audience.

The idea of members as owners and audience or, rather, the entire audience being the owners signals a significant difference between *Record* and print in the commercial media. Among the owners, as among any shareholder group, some voices are heard above others. However, with shareholders in a public company, authority tends to come with the number of shares held by the individuals. If ownership of the *Record* belongs to all church members, this group is too large to have a well-defined influence as owners. In the case of the church where each shareholder is, theoretically, equal, that equality has little impact when it comes to *Record*. That comes from those with position or influence within the church. There are those who are given the authority to act as owners. That authority is shown in a variety of ways.

The appointment or reappointment of an editor is where the top-down influence by those in authority is seen at its greatest. In the most recent case (2003) a search committee of five was appointed. All except one were senior church administrators (and, with one exception, male). They reported back to a nominating committee (who nominate a name for consideration), which also has a predominance of church administrators. The name of the individual decided upon was presented to the South Pacific Division executive committee for approval, a committee of some 60 members that meets twice a year. This is a representative committee from Australia, New Zealand and island nations in the Pacific that come within the borders of the division. The majority on this committee are church employees. The procedure allows for heavy input from church administrators, again the top-down influence. They also expect that the editor will have a track record of support for the church and have played a positive role within the church.

Once appointed, an editor is normally expected to serve for five years, but then faces review or replacement.⁴ The editor has not been specifically targeted in any particular way by this process of appointment that, with variations, is the same for senior church administrators and church department directors. As seen by the "hunch" Garne had about his continuing tenure, the system allows newly appointed or reappointed administrators to have a strong say in who should be editor.

A senior church administrator, the secretary of the division, is a consulting editor and is a liaison between church administration and the editor. Contact normally tends to be limited, but the secretary's role is to act as an advisor, to give counsel and to make contact if there is a perceived problem. There is also an expectation that the editor should be alert to current emphases and positions taken by the administration on issues. Administrators expect to have access to church membership through *Record* if they

sense a need, or can give direction as to what issue or story should be followed through. On "sensitive" issues they, or a representative, will want to see the final text before it is printed. It should be added that this is not unusual for a denominational or church paper, nor for many voluntary, nonprofit organisations.

Church administrators have authority within the church community. Their power is different from those who have top-down influence in society who want to use mass media to influence people toward their cause, for these people come from outside the media organisations. Church administrators tend to have authority to use *Record* as if they were owners because their appointment gives them influence inside an organisation with a print-media arm. There is an expectation that *Record* and church leaders will be working to achieve common outcomes rather than working against each other, and that *Record* will support leaders' positions, even if letters from members may challenge a position a church leader takes. Few of the powerful in the broader community have the kind of influence over the mass media that authorities within the church have, for two reasons: the authority given to church administrators allows them to act as owners, and a church paper is a "more comforting press" (Osborne, 2002:2). This does, however, place *Record* in danger of losing credibility. In this case, letters to the editor play an important role in allowing dissent and add credibility to the concept of openness and of input from members.

Record readers have usually made some kind of personal commitment and personal investment in the Adventist Church that produces the magazine, which can, of course, lead to a more passionate response for or against what is published. The audience can attempt to influence Record in several ways. This can be done directly through letters to the editor. Pressure is sometimes brought to bear through personal correspondence to the editor. Occasionally, a group of individuals, sometimes through

their congregational church board, will write to make their point. Often these individuals or groups of people will also send copies of letters to church administrators in an attempt to bring into play the top-down influence. In this process there is little difference between what happens with *Record* or mass media where individuals or groups (lobby groups, perhaps) attempt to influence the media. In the outcome, the audience of *Record* can have far greater results because the smaller size of the church means that some kind of personal contact can more easily be made with those with the authority to make changes. Again, the outcome is dependent on those with authority.

However, just as the mass media is limited in the extent to which it can push the boundaries of society's values without creating a reaction, there are certain expectations from an in-house publication. When these expectations are not met, or perceived not to be met, the reaction can be quite strong; for instance a June 2003 letter to the editor called for an apology from a writer and the editor "for allowing such an article to be published in *Record*" (Nevell, 2003:12). A sense of anger and betrayal is understandable when an individual or group of individuals feel let down by the print media of the organisation in which they invest effort and resources. Individuals within a group will have different senses of where various boundaries should be placed or whether the "debate" has been kept "within the bounds of acceptable premises" (Herman and Chomsky, 1988:298). The risk for the print-media product in challenging its society's values within a well-defined group is greater than that for the commercial media, but neither dare challenge overarching values in a sustained way.

While there is also room for the dissonant voices and a greater variety of opinions within *Record*, there is no indication from respondents of a desire to have a completely open press without limitations on that which is published. In fact, there are regular calls for limits to be placed on comments, particularly in the letters section. The

evidence is that most respondents have, generally, a common understanding with administrators concerning the purpose of *Record*.

That there has been change in *Record* is obvious. However, that needs to be balanced with the fact that there has been a continuing promotion or defence of the fundamental beliefs and the core values of Adventism. Without these, the church loses its reason for being and if its print does not support them it breaches its own purpose. In this, those with authority serve as the keepers of the traditions and, even though some members may want to draw the borders of the traditions differently, there is general support from them for those in authority to serve in this way.

Summary

The chapter highlights a number of aspects about change in the Adventist Church particularly as it relates to its print activities. First, despite the church's long history in using print to promote its activities and beliefs to the public, it did not have a fully developed strategy regarding the role of print for influencing church members. Material was gathered and published, and so long as it appeared to promote Adventist activities and attitudes and the church members did not complain, publication was not contested. Complaints that may have been received regarding material appearing in the *Record*, for example, would have been moderated by the fact that the publication was overseen directly by the leading Adventist authorities. Second, numerous individuals over the years had carried out the role of editor of *Record* and it would appear that the primary criteria for appointment to the role of editor was that the individual was a committed Adventist and could write. Where Parr had been a teacher and an editor, the three who followed were Adventist pastors. The most recent (2004) appointment, Nathan Brown, has a background in law and literature, but with an impressive list of published articles

in the Adventist press. Success in the role as editor was measured by their ability to articulate the views of the church and a capacity to report on the activities of the churches across the South Pacific Division. Successful editors had extensive and well-worked Adventist networks, and established relations of confidence with pastors and key authorities in the organisation. Third, the Ford controversy highlighted the important role that the editor can play in influencing opinion in the Adventist Church. The relatively quick succession of three different editors during the Ford years (Parr, Garne and Coffin) illustrate the evolution of an intentional editorial policy in the Adventist Church (which would lead to a formal statement of purpose in 1996), the capacity of editors to influence the opinion of members on issues being debated within the church, and the idiosyncratic styles of editors and how these affected the publication of *Record*.

Endnotes

- ¹ The same exclusions as for Knight are in force: verse, weddings, obituaries and advertisements. Two other exceptions should also be noted: During 2002, a monthly Record/Review was produced that included an eight-page Record and a 24-page issue of the Adventist Review. Only the Record is considered because the Review material comes from the United States. The other exception is the first Record in September, which is a series of Week of Prayer readings, also produced in the United States.
- ² The Adventist Development and Relief Agency (ADRA) prides itself on "disinterested" service to others. It also has the confidence of AusAID, the Australian Government's overseas aid funding agency, and is a regular recipient of AusAID funding.
- ³ James Coffin did work at the *Washington Post* for a time, but on a limited basis while employed as an editor on *Adventist Review*.
- ⁴ The editor's role is considered a "sensitive" position and my predecessor warned that, from his experience, the discussion on reappointment would take more time than most other positions because of the profile of the editor. My experience of undergoing this procedure of reappointment twice has confirmed what he said. Put it down to the fact that the editor's sins are seen in *Record* on a weekly basis.
- ⁵ This kind of reaction to articles in *Record* is rare, but in this case an article about drought, prayer and God was outside the letter writer's expectation of how God worked.

SECTION FOUR

Conclusion

Kapitzke (1995:90), an Adventist academic, recognises *Record* as the "most influential periodical published by the church" for church members. Her assessment is based on its free availability and the fact that *Record* engages with issues of relevance to Adventists. Her investigation led her to the conclusion that "Seventh-day Adventists need critical literacy skills" (Kapitzke, 1995:279), although this observation came not from the examination of print, but of literacy in Adventism, specifically within a Queensland congregation. This study has also shown that *Record presents* a mirror of the Adventist Church, the organisation that publishes it. The organisation as well as its print have become a part of the research. The study has highlighted a church organisation that has grown dramatically during its 150-year history and the pressures that a changing church context bears on its print. In the chapter that forms the conclusion, the main aim is to underscore the key findings and spell out some of the implications regarding print within voluntary, nonprofit organisations.

Chapter 11

The Role of Print in a Changing Adventist Environment

This study on the role of print in the Adventist organisation has highlighted that print does not have a life of its own, but acquires life from the organisation that produces it. The products of print are given shape and form by those with influence within the organisation, by those involved in its production and, in a limited way, by its readers. Any group's print communication will reveal many things about the group. Cohen (2004:64) suggests that the "ideal newspaper should be like a portrait of a small town: the dark streets and the shanties and the mansions all visible at once." A newspaper for the mass market will only have a minor interest in the everyday, but given time it will give some view also of the society in which it is produced. A voluntary, nonprofit's newsletter will produce a portrait of its organisation, but it is one that is more easily controlled than the mass media by those who have influence and it may be shaped to their will.

This study of print within the Adventist Church underscores the various ways print comes to embody the life and character of the organisation producing it. To understand print within the Seventh-day Adventist community, it is necessary first to understand the community. An organisation is often shaped by its origins and history, particularly if these have helped give the group definition. This will be reflected in its print products. During times of crisis, within or outside the group, there is a tendency to defend or promote the basic philosophies and beliefs of the group. The strength of the

defence depends on the strength of the perceived threat. A successful organisation may not realise or take time to realise the full extent of the threat coming from outside and will tend to use tried and true, and tested approaches from the past in responding through its publications.

In the Adventist Church, the major influences brought to bear upon print are from those who have been granted authority within the group. They may choose to take a directive approach that does not allow for dissent. In some organisations this may be tolerated, but it would not work for most within a pluralistic society. On the other hand, if those with authority attempt to move too far from principles, philosophies and core values of the group or, in some instances, from the position of the founders of the group, members will protest.

The findings of this study have been presented mainly with reference to Seventh-day Adventists in Australia and New Zealand, yet the principles are relevant in a broader context. The salient findings of the study are presented in the following sections as propositions highlighted in italics.

Research process

The research methods used in the present study were mainly qualitative in orientation. The study draws on data from interviewing 41 Record readers and conducting 10 focus groups. A further 21 church pastors were interviewed by phone concerning liberal and conservative tendencies. Those who participated also completed a questionnaire. The questionnaire was used to gather personal information and opinions and helped facilitate the interviews and to a lesser extent, the discussion in the focus groups. The methodology used aimed to identify the role of print in readers' lives by using Record

as a case study. This has been augmented by content analysis to gain a greater understanding of themes and emphases within Adventist print.

Print and organisation structure

A key finding of the present study is that whether intentionally or unintentionally a voluntary organisation's print embodies many of the characteristics of that organisation. Print mirrors the organisation. With regards to Record, the focus of the case study, Knight (1977:140) described it as the "most authentic representation of Adventist culture" in print. One would anticipate that if someone without prior knowledge of the Seventh-day Adventist Church came across a bundle of recent issues of Record, even from a cursory glance they would learn much about the organisation that produces it. The numerous references to institutions, including hospitals, schools, a health food company, bookshops, aged-care facilities, publishing and other media productions, with advertising for services and products as well as positions vacant, would lead them to conclude that the Adventist Church places high priority on its institutions.

The same reader would quickly identify the socio-economic mix of the Adventist community and other demographics about the members. The magazine is replete with images of white-collar, middle-aged, middle-class people, and while women are not exempted, the temptation would be to see the church as a male-dominated organisation. Adventists have extensive operations in developing parts of the world, but it would be easy for the reader to conclude that the energy source is from middle-class people and that the Adventist organisation seeks to identify with the middle classes. Moreover, the reader would discover that the language used in the text demonstrates an expectation that readers have a high level of literacy, which is an

extension of the emphasis that this organisation places on education. From a cursory reading of *Record*, this hypothetical reader would also note occasional references to politicians at key church events such as the opening of buildings, suggesting a group courting community support.

The group has made a strong commitment to communication through print with its financial support of a free, weekly magazine. Here is an organisation that believes communication plays an important role in promoting and supporting its purpose. However, from the diversity of information available, the reader would have difficulty in knowing exactly who *Record* is pitched at other than to say, in general terms, members of the church, those with interest in the organisation. The study has shown that there is a close interrelationship between organisational features and print. The correlation between a group and its print products is far greater in voluntary, nonprofit organisations than in commercial publications because there is no intention that the organisation behind mass media, for instance, should be on display.

Continuity and change

A second key finding of the present study is that changes within a voluntary organisation are reflected in its printed material, as are its core values. If a reader without prior knowledge who has seen a cross-section of current Records was also given copies from 25 and 50 years ago they would immediately note some significant changes in the organisation. At a general level some changes in Record would be obvious, such as more photographs and illustrations, and greater immediacy of news in current magazines. More significantly, the reader would observe a change in style from a "chatty" approach from earlier magazines to the more formal approach of today.

Perhaps the reader would encounter, through the pages of Adventist print, an organisation that is currently much larger and more complex than its precursor.

Fifty years ago the church could boast 803,000 members (31,000 in the South Pacific; 22,000 in Australia and New Zealand), 25 years ago it was 2.9 million (122,000 in the South Pacific; 47,000 in Australia and New Zealand), currently it is 13 million (358,000 in the South Pacific; 62,000 in Australia and New Zealand). This growth has been reflected back into the church's print pages, showing a church of greater complexity with a larger variety of voices now detected. With regard to *Record*, for instance, one could argue that because of this increase in church membership, the publication out of necessity had to become more inclusive and accessible. However, the present study has shown an ambivalence and uncertainty as to how best to handle through the printed page issues the church faces. The data from respondents indicates a desire for more openness and yet uncertainty about where the boundaries of that openness should lie. Organisations in transition inevitably generate conflicting signals of what is occurring and it is only with the passing of time that the lasting significance of those changes can be judged. It could be argued that what is being illustrated is a maturing of the organisation and its leadership.

There is evidence in Adventist print that the Adventist Church is seeking to be more embracing or understanding of those outside the church and of those who differ within it. The sense of triumphalism of earlier times is not as pronounced in its publications and there are more references to Adventists engaging with other groups in humanitarian or social work. The letters to the editor make some allowance for dissonant voices in ways not apparent in earlier years. Letters and articles have been published that question certain understood church lifestyle positions or "standards." These challenges to accepted interpretations and disparate reports test bonding. The

changes evident in Adventist publications like *Record* also demonstrate greater accommodation and growing complexity within the organisation. Here is a group under pressure to embrace its diversity.

At the same time, the hypothetical reader would come across some things that have not changed. There is no change, for instance, in the purpose of *Record*. The core values and Adventist beliefs are a "no-go zone" and are not challenged. In fact, one of the most salient findings of the present study is the sense of uncompromising commitment to Adventist core beliefs.

What a reader with no prior information would encounter in Adventist publications is an organisation in transition. Some sociologists may interpret these changes as evidence of movement along the church-sect continuum toward becoming a denomination (Wilson, 1975a:34-43). However, it is difficult to gauge with any degree of accuracy the extent of these changes. A significant number of respondents in the present study are aggrieved with what they find in *Record* and see it as attacking core values even if others suggest that only non-core values are being questioned.

Ownership and control of print

A third finding of the present study relates to the issue of ownership and control of print. Those who have authority within a voluntary organisation are the guardians of the traditions and have responsibility for deciding how best to use the group's print media. In simple terms the choice ranges between following an authoritarian model, where communication by those in power is produced for the members, or adopting an embracing model, where communication is produced by the members. As the case study has shown, Record embodies both models. In its history, Record has been generated by those in positions of power for the people, but with attempts made to transform it into a

newsletter of the people. These attempts culminated in an intentional decision in the 1980s to make it of the people.

The present study suggests that church authorities still retain the greatest and most immediate influence on print notwithstanding changes in the rhetoric about ownership. This influence, through the appointment of the editor, setting the purpose statement, having free access to the organisation's print media, and being able to call the editor to account, demonstrates that church authorities retain the rights of ownership. That said, attempts to shift ownership of Record, for instance, with the introduction of stronger journalistic standards and a greater emphasis on the reader, make good communication sense for a more interesting and embracing magazine and allow readers a stronger voice within its pages. However, the study has shown that readers perceive and welcome the need for ownership and openness, but with limitations. With core values they demand a more authoritative stance. There is no strict demarcation but an overlapping of that which is for the members and that which is of the members. The study has highlighted that in a voluntary organisation, tension develops when those with authority and who have control over print desire to transfer ownership to its members. Conservative-minded members resist this change because they expect Adventist publications to endorse the beliefs and values of the organisation. Liberal-minded readers are cynical of claims of transferring ownership to the members when in reality organisational control has not changed. This is an ongoing tension that may never be resolved in a voluntary organisation.

Voice for members

A fourth finding is that as more voices are introduced in print within a voluntary organisation, the tension between individuals adhering to the past and those engaging

with the present intensifies, and the demand for the publication to defend core values becomes more deliberate. The opportunity for members of a voluntary group to have a stronger voice in their print product may satisfy the expectations of most, but will only partially meet the needs of some and fail in its communication task with others. In the examination of Record, for example, the attempt to shift ownership to members gave them greater freedom to comment and disagree with articles and concepts published, and with decisions made by those in authority. This helped balance out the level of top-down influence perceived by members, but at the same time there is no free flow of information because controls are in place to protect against any attack on core values.

Lifting some controls over member input increased the number of dissonant voices being heard. However, this proved threatening particularly to conservatives who prefer to see *their* magazine supporting *their* understanding of Adventist theology and lifestyle. What also became evident in the present study was the complexity of viewpoints and positions, and the variety of factions within the Adventist Church. This finding confirms that minority organisations are more complex than is assumed by observers from outside. The more opportunities provided for individual voices, the more this complexity is demonstrated and the greater the tension found in the group, particularly as those on the extreme edges are permitted to have their say. The study revealed that while a minority may rejoice in the diversity within the Adventist Church others found the diversity unsettling for themselves and the organisation.

While allowing more opportunities for the voices of members in Adventist publications makes good communication sense, those in positions of authority are now confronted by two realities. The first is that tensions and disagreements between church members are more easily managed by adopting a more authoritative stance. The second is that, by allowing these new voices, those in positions of authority place themselves

under greater scrutiny and accountability because their decisions and their comments can be called into question.

The research data regarding *Record* indicates that readers are of a view that while the church has drawn a line around core beliefs, members draw their own individual lines that differ in emphasis and without the preciseness of the organisation. So while core values may be sacrosanct, what is interpreted as core is in dispute. For some in conflict with *Record*, for example, the views expressed in *Record* appear to attack values they consider as being central to the Adventist Church. They appeal to the past for an authoritative style that provided stronger management of information. This kind of tension will never be resolved so long as a variety of voices have their place in a voluntary organisation's print.

Promoting core values and beliefs

A fifth finding regarding the role of print in organisations emerged from the content analysis of Record. The study highlighted that the more an organisation perceives itself to be under threat, the more it will seek to protect its core beliefs in its publications. While the Adventist Church encourages discussion of issues regarding organisation and structure and welcomes debate, it is very protective of the fundamental beliefs or core issues on which the organisation stands. There is no place for revisionism in this area, but for reinforcement, with no mechanism through print to discuss these issues even if members want to. There is common consent by respondents in the present study that there should be limits to discussion in Adventist publications even if they are not specific or differ about what those limits are.

The study highlighted that during periods of crisis, external or internal to the group, it is to these core values that the church turns to defend its position and to nurture

its members. Where there is a perception that core beliefs are being attacked by members, these members are dealt with, sometimes harshly. The examination of Record in times of crisis illustrates the types of responses found. During the second world war the crisis was outside the church and while the external difficulties of the war caused problems for the church, these were not perceived as a threat to the organisation. The response of the church during the war years was to nurture its members and to encourage them to remain faithful. During the 1960s the threat was both outside and inside, as the church adapted to pressures brought about by the sixties issues. With society and the church to a lesser extent in a state of flux, there was no real plan of response. While hindsight has recognised the full seriousness of the changes of the sixties, the uncertainty of what was happening at the time and the perception that these issues were not threatening to the church meant few efforts were made to articulate an Adventist response. By contrast, the Ford and Folkenberg crises illustrate altogether different strategies applied to those perceived as a threat to the organisation. Robert Folkenberg, the General Conference president, was accused of breaking a core value of fiscal integrity and was demoted, but there was no sense that this would shake the foundations of the church. Desmond Ford, the lecturer in theology, attacked some cherished beliefs and was not permitted a continuing role within the church. In the Adventist press, the strength of the responses came from the strength of the perceived threats. The perceptions of the threats may have proved correct because after both the Ford and Folkenberg crises there were periods of consolidation and regrouping, but the fallout from Ford's dismissal was far greater.

The study has highlighted that print within the Adventist Church is faced with a double dilemma: first, responding to social circumstances and, second, doing so in ways

that continue to receive the support of constituents, many of whom are wedded more to an idealistic past.

Strategic role of the editor

The study has highlighted that the editor plays a strategic role in the print of both commercial and voluntary organisations, but the personality and stamp of the editor are even more critical in the latter. The study has shown that both the personality and personal biases of the editor are highly visible in the print products of a voluntary organisation. This was seen, for example, in Record, when the appointment of different editors brought new emphases and styles.

In one sense the higher visibility and the personality of the editor coming through should not come as a surprise. A voluntary organisation's print product will normally have limited resources and the editor, of necessity, will be more of a driving force and be featured more often. What is surprising is that this individuality is contrary to what one would have anticipated of a religious minority. The expectation is of a more constrained and homogenous press. Yet, as seen with *Record*, the three editors studied, Robert Parr, Geoffrey Garne and James Coffin, brought their own agendas to the task, which are easily identifiable in both the direction they took the magazine and the content. It could be argued that one of the reasons why the Jehovah's Witnesses' *Watchtower* has remained basically unchanged over the decades is that it has no editor as such, but a committee that has oversight of the magazine. For the Adventist press, the choice of editors is a factor resulting in diversity.

The study has shown that the choice of editor has both positive and negative results because, even if the editorial style and approach is supported by the majority, it will not please the desires of all. The editor will be seen as supporting one group over

another. This is illustrated in Garne, who was seen to be supporting a conservative stance, and in Coffin who attempted to take the middle ground, but by his own admission was vilified by some conservative members and those at both extremes. The role of editors in a voluntary organisation is such that they are able to become agents of change within the organisation, more than editors of commercial publications within society.

Manifest and latent functions of print

A surprising finding of the present study is that print can have unanticipated positive consequences in voluntary organisations. The interviews revealed that while the Record was intended by church authorities to promote Adventist beliefs and values to members, it also functioned in a symbolic way to enhance the experiences of members with their church and their experience of community. Respondents indicate that Record enhanced their sense of belonging to a movement with purpose. For some members, accessing the Record was part of the ritual of belonging to the church, perhaps limited to the knowledge that they were involved in a shared experience in all churches in Australia and New Zealand. For these readers, Record evoked memories of people they had known in the past, encouraged belief and faith, and cultivated a sense of belonging. For other members Record was simply an information newsletter. It is difficult to measure the individual meanings people attach to a print document, but the importance that some readers place on the symbolic value of Record is a finding that should encourage any organisation and needs further exploration.

Nurturing community

Not surprisingly, the study confirms that what distinguishes publications in a voluntary organisation from those of commercial enterprises is that they exist for and in community. The study has shown that boundaries, real and symbolic, in a voluntary organisation's print help define that community. Tacey may be correct in stating,

The art of community is the art of the soul, and community is what happens when deep, invisible bonds are shared, and when deep meanings are communicated between people, especially in the act of public ritual and in the presence of the sacred. (Tacey, 2003:217-8)

Print on its own does not do this unless the reader cooperates by bringing a desire to find and share in these invisible bonds and deep meanings that cannot be easily communicated in words and pictures. An aim of a voluntary organisation is to have its members, those who have already made a commitment to its cause and are readers of its print, experience this sense of belonging. The commercial publisher aims at more pragmatic and more easily measured results, which include providing information, entertainment and sales.

The attitudes of church members to the print product are an important part of the communication process and also of community enhancement. The examination of Record showed that members may choose not to read the newsletter. Others may have specific and limited reasons for reading it. Some will invest more of themselves and their resources into their church than others, which will impact on how they perceive Record. Members' sense of belonging may be enhanced when the print agrees with their vision of and for the group. For others it can become a part of their ritual and, as seen, Record may even take on icon status.

Those who belong to a voluntary organisation have already taken steps to creating community in a localised way. What print does is provide connections between like-minded people over distance. The study of *Record* illustrates how a publication can

enhance a sense of belonging to an organisation that is far greater than their local group. It can reinforce beliefs and goals that drew them into the group and remind them that they are part of a bigger purpose. Over time, a voluntary organ' tion's print creates a web of connections that reinforce identity and shared experiences (Lee and Newby, 1983:57-8).

Implications for Record

What is evident from the research is the broad range of opinions held by readers, an indication of the complexity found within the Seventh-day Adventist Church. Coffin (1988:2), a previous editor of *Record*, found that "There's no way we can win" in "trying to minister to [the far right or the far left]," and concluded that *Record* will not be a useful tool for all members. In fact, some church members critical of *Record* may use the present study as evidence of a church in decline. The study makes it clear that while the Adventist Church is in transition and while most respondents agree with the current positioning of the church as they find it within its print, the complexity now within the church will make it difficult for *Record* to meet all perceived needs.

The study has shown that *Record* is guided by two forces: those of its core values, and decisions made by those who have been given authority as keepers of the traditions. Individual members may disagree over particular interpretations of Adventist belief, but these remain important for the church and ultimately set the boundaries for what is published. They help identify the church and it should be expected that *Record* would aim to promote and defend them. This is a major role of print in a voluntary organisation and for *Record* to do otherwise would separate it from the church, its source organisation.

The temptation for church authorities and the appointed editors, in the light of conflicting opinions about *Record*, is to bring it under greater control and turn it into a "safe" and conservative tool. The consequences of this would be to diminish the effectiveness of *Record* as a communication tool and the loss of the perception that even dissonant voices have a place in its pages and within the organisation.

Implications for the Adventist Church

The present study highlights a church in transition and this has implications for the Adventist community in Australia and New Zealand. The trends noted in this study could be interpreted as amounting to loss of sectarian commitment. A past General Conference president's fear that the Adventist Church could lose its sectarian heritage (Pierson, 1978:10) may be accurate. The church can be seen in its print as becoming more accommodating: by endeavouring to make the church more appealing to contemporary society, by becoming more professional in its print, by seeking to make provision to reflect more outlooks, and by establishing more formal links with other like-minded social organisations. With these kinds of accommodation there is always the possibility that the church could lose its distinctiveness and enthusiasm from members. It could be accused by some of lowering the boundaries, real and symbolic, which define the church as a community. Its print reveals a church heading down the track of becoming an established denomination with the potential that it could lose its central place in the lives of members and be reduced to an organisation of convenience. While it is difficult to anticipate the full consequences of these changes, the probability is that the Adventist Church will continue to exist but in a form different from the one members experienced in the past.

One could also anticipate the possibility of more tension between conservatives and liberals over the importance of doctrinal and prophetic interpretations. If this is the case, the task of Adventist publications such as *Record* will prove more difficult as conservative members become more vocal in calling for a return to positions that closely replicate the past. At the same time there will be calls for more openness in the Adventist press, as those with more liberal outlooks push for a contemporary church. Under these circumstances, the Adventist Church and its print would be faced with the dilemma of attempting to decide how best to nurture those who are committed to Adventism despite tensions between the groups. While social history reveals that any trend within an organisation may be overturned by a variety of intentional or unintentional forces, the future for the Adventist Church appears to be increasingly complex with two broad streams, conservative and liberal, in evidence in the organisation. Peaceful coexistence will continue to prove a challenge.

In its early years the Adventist Church acted as if it must publish or perish. Print and publishing became a continuing and core part of its activity for both outreach and nurture. This demands a high level of literacy among members, something this study does not attempt to analyse, nor does it attempt to understand the competency of members in this regard. Publishing generated growth, but now, as seen in *Record*, it also generates dissent. For Adventism, the protection of its core values in print will not allow it to reach the place where it could become a case of publish *and* perish, but the tensions within what has grown into a complex group will continue.

Print as promoter of community

This study on the role of print in the Seventh-day Adventist Church has demonstrated that print remains an obvious choice for communicating within voluntary, nonprofit

organisations. It has also shown that any examination of an organisation's print product reveals much about the organisation behind it. The study has shown the Seventh-day Adventist Church to be more diverse and more accommodating than presented in the literature. It reveals a print media that both embodies salient features of the organisation and at the same time allows dissonant voices to be heard, even if limits are placed upon the types of dissonance. Its print is embraced by members as upholding, defending and nurturing the core beliefs by the majority of members, even though some are critical of the content of the publications. This study further demonstrates that print can be a promoter of community within an organisation as it supports the group's core values, makes connections with members and enhances the group's symbolic and real boundaries.

Limitations of the study

However, as with other works of research, the present study has its limitations. It was noted that the interviewees were more conservative than those chosen at random for the focus groups. A random selection process may have avoided this bias among respondents. However, random selection would not have been practical in attempting to understand the diversity within the church. The "purposeful sampling" (Patton, 1980:100) approach targeted individuals with different outlooks. In the give and take of any selection process, the advantage in rurposefully gaining the perspectives of respondents in different geographic locations outweighed the skewed outcome. Moreover, the conservative outlook of respondents possibly reflects accurately the attitudes and outlooks of members and pastors on the role of print in the Adventist community.

The issue of my role as editor of *Record*, the magazine that formed the case study, may also be conceived as a limitation. There is an obvious possibility of bias from my double roles as editor and researcher. Respondents may have understated negative evidence or downplayed criticisms of the organisation because they were being interviewed by the editor. There is also the possibility that my insider status influenced my role as researcher and my interpretation of the data. I believe the overall thrust and findings will stand scrutiny, and it is up to the reader to assess the extent to which I have succeeded in presenting an impartial account of the research findings.

Appendix A

Record survey

The following is a copy of the survey used in this study. Some questions used were either from or adapted from James Coffin's 1991 and the Fraser Jackson 1997 unpublished surveys. Jackson proved a helpful consultant in the preparation of the survey. The 41 interviewed, the 78 involved in focus groups, and the 21 pastors who selected those to be interviewed were asked to complete the surveys.

MONASH UNIVERSITY



Record Survey

This survey is part of a post-graduate thesis "Constructing community through print media: Adventists and the Record," for a research degree at the Master of Arts level at Monach University and has been approved by the Standing Committee on Ethics in Research on Humans of Monach University (project 97/335). This research also has the approval of the Advance Study Committee of the Seventh-day Adventist Church—May 30, 1997. This is an own-time research degree being undertaken by Bruce Manners. All Information will be treated in strictest confidence.

ln	for	mation about the Record	6.1 A.	₩ 6			-		ormally read the Record? tween Sabbath school and church
	-	long have you been a Record sender!	B.	Ē					Remoon
Ā.	<u></u>	Less than one year	l c.	Č	_				es (please state)
B.		1-2 years	 ~	•	•	•	-	u	co Change suite
Ç.	ŏ		7.7	The	fo	พะ	wie		tatements seek to discover some of your
D.	ă	More than 10 years	1					_	e Record.
٠.	_	hade did to lear							propriate number to indicate your reaction to
2 I	-	often do you read the Record?						• •	g statements (1—strongly agree; 2—agree;
<u>.</u>	מ״	Every issue							lisagree; 5-strongly diagree).
B.	ā	Most issues	ַר <u>'</u>	,,,,,	-p	444			magnety you arrangely marginary.
C.	<u>-</u>	Once a month	A.	1	2	. 4	. 4	5	A major task of the Record is to help
D.	5	Sognodical	l ***	•	_	•	•	-	being about unity of faith.
E.	ā	Almost never	B.	1	2	3	4	5	A major task of the Record is to keep Adventists informed.
3. E	low i	long do you zormally spend reading an issue?	C.	t	2	3	4	5	A major task of the Record is to
A.		Loss than 15 minutes		-	_	-		-	encourage discussion of issues facing
B.		From 15 to 30 minutes	i						the church.
C.		From 30 minutes to 1 hour	D.	1	2	3	4	5	The Record should provide a forum
D.	Ö	From 1 to 2 hours				_		-	for discussion of various viewpoints.
e.	0	More than 2 hours	E.	1	2	3	4	5	The Record upholds the church's
		• '	į						fundamental beliefs.
4. L	e adi	fition to yourself, how many others read your copy	F.	1	2	3	4	5	The articles in the Record are general-
of t	be R	ecord?							ly relevant to the present needs of the
٨.	Q	No-one else							Adventist Church.
B.		1 other person	G.	1	2	3	4	5	The Record should voice strong opin-
C.	0	2 or 3 other persons							ions about issues affecting society.
D.	O	4 or 5 other persons	Ħ.	1	2	3	4	5	The Record promotes Adventist
e.	G	More than 5 other persons							lifestyle.
		_	I.	1	2	3	4	5	The Record makes me feel like I
5. ¥	7hat	are your reasons for reading the Record?							belong to a wider church family.
Plac	caŤ	ICK in a box describing the most important reason, and a	J.	2	2	3	4	5	The news in the Record, as it relates
CRC	16S in	a box describing the least important reason.							to the church, is accurate.
			K.	Ì	2	3	4	5	Even though I may disagree with
L		To be informed about the church's activities in							some of the opinions expressed, the
		the South Pacific Division							chance to speak candidly in the
B.,	a	To be informed about the church's activities out							Letters section is healthy.
		side the South Pacific Division	M.	1	2	3	4	5	The editorial mix of doctrine, Bible
С.	O	To Jezra more about Adventist doctrine	İ						study, practical Christianity, opinion
D.	Q	To gain insights into practical Christlanity							and news meets the spectrum of
9	Ō	Because it is suitable Subbath reading							teaders.
۹.	Ð	· •	N.	1	2	3	4	5	
3.	0	To be spiritually uplifted					_	_	life.
L	_	To get news about people I know	Ο.	1	2	3	4	5	Reading the Record makes me feel
•	ā	To become aware of other Adventists' opinions.							more enthusiastic about being an
•	Q	Other (please state)							Adventist.

		♥ e'se do you go for information about	Cartoo	n for Comment
]	··
A .	_	Adventiss Review] [IN CASE OF
B.		Conference newsletter] [DULLSERMON
C.		Spectrum		1000
D,	Q	Rennsant Herald	I [7]	· 巴丘 REAK GLASS
E.	Q	Internet	116/4	
P.	Ö	Other (please state)	1 (10 7 \$	II Plane
	Tare	important is the Record to you?	1 1 370	STORUME STORUME
		-	Bullet II	DAYS IN TITTO MENTING BIRD
Y.		Very important	ויק	
B.		Important		A British Is
C.	u	No importance	HICH	190
	•	u did not receive the Record each		
	-	KX the TWO Hems from the following		一个路路。伊州
		would be most important to you.	1	
۸.	u	I would miss the Record as Sabbath reading.		
B.	0	I would feel a lesser sense of communi-	سيحسسلها أ	
	_	cation from church administration		
C.	п	I would feel less a sense of belonging to	Down flad el	his cartoon amusing?
•	_	the wider family of Seventh-day	O Yes	© No
		Adventists.	1 - 10	G NO
	п		Company	The same a series of the three mans
D.	٠	I would miss the nurturing of my Christian faith.	State interly w	rby you answered in that way.
E.	O	I would miss the development of my	ļ	
		understanding and Christian faith.	Now state bek	efly the role you think the Record should play to your
F.	O	I would miss the development of my	church.	• • •
		understanding of Seventh-day Adventist		
		doctrine.	1	
G.	a	I would miss the encouragement to out-	1	
	_	reach for non-Christians.	L	
H.	o	I would be pleased about the reduction		
	_	in cost to the church.	i	Imagine This
		ar cor to the charen.	i	James Timberton was once a regular attender at your
44	Wha	t do you use for devotional reading (tic	L	church, but he has chosen not to attend. It has been
		policable)?	russeasu	months since he was last at church. Would you
	•	Ribie	ľ	SUDGETH STORE THE WAS SELECT CHARLET WORLD AGES
A, B	-			D. Barres his assessment the Bressed at abreath in access to
٥.	-	Sabbath school Bible study guide (lesson pamphlet)		U Leave his copy of the Record at church in case he should come back?
C,		Devotional book of the year	ŀ	Hope someone is calling by with a copy of the
D.	_	Reading books by Ellen White	1	Record?
e.	_	Magazines (please state name of magazines	s t	Mail the Record to him?
	_		·]	Use the Record as a helpful excuse to visit?
			1	Q Other (please state)
12.	Wha	t sort of contribution does material in t	be Record	
		· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·		

make to your spiritual life and growth?

- C No contribution at all ۸.
- B. ☐ A minor contribution
- O A algnificant contribution Ç.
- Ď. ☐ A major contribution
- Some material has been very important to me

13. Does the Record help or encourages you to speak about Jesus or witness for Him?

- A. Q at does not have that effect on me
- B. It provides some information that is hard to apply
- C. It provides information that I have used
- It provides good examples I have tried to follow
- C It provides real encouragement and help in witnessing

Estions Work-Stude's Folder-Personal-Survey

attender at your and. It has been two **Would you**:

- ch in case he
- py of the
- visit?

Is there any value in giving the Record to James?

Q Yes □ No

If yes, which of the following comes closest to your resson for saying yes?

- 🖸 So he can fixel he's still part of the local church.
- O To keep orntact with him.
- ☐ To remind him that he is a part of a broad (Australia-New Zealand) church family.
- Hope that he will find something to encourage him to come back to church
- Other (please state)

Please circle the appropriate number to indicate your reaction to	Imagine This
each of the following statements (1—strongly agree; 2—agree;	Dale Beifrew has been a supportive church member for
3—no opinion; 4—disagree; 5—strongly disagree).	10 years. He enjoys reading the Record, but he doesn't
A. I 2 3 4 5. I often pray about what I read in the	like the cartoon. "I've trained my eyes to avert them-
Record.	selves from that corner of the page," he tells anyone
B. 1 2 3 4 5 Some of the anicles in the Record	who will listen.
inspire me to be a more spiritual	1
person.	What would you say to him (you may choose more that
C. 1 2 3 4 5 The Record helps me feel I am part of	oue tesbouse);
a larger spiritual family.	O "l'agree!"
D. 1 2 3 4 5 The Record helps me see God at	There are others who like the cartoon."
work in His church.	"It's just as well we're all different, isn't it."
E. 1 2 3 4 5 The Record helps me in my	How boring if the Record only appealed to one
devotional life. F. 1 2 3 4 5 What I read in the Record often	person's taste.*
makes me feel closer to God.	C Other (please state)
mants he les coles to God.	The leasurement in it that the December annuals to differen
15. Being part of a larger church	How important is it that the Record appeals to differen
-	tastes? (1 means very important, 7 means of go importance.)
Please circle the appropriate number to indicate your reaction to each of the following statements (1—strongly agree; 2—agree;	
3—no opinion; 4—disagree; 5—strongly diagree).	Very Important No important
A. 1 2 3 4 5 The Record helps me keep in touch	10 space
with the broader Adventist "family."	17. Have you ever written an article for the Record?
B. 1 2 3 4 5 It's important that the Record keeps	A. C Yes B. C No
me informed about what is happen-	K 4 14
ing in other parts of the church.	18. The Record is currently weekly (49 times a year). Wh
C. 1 2 3 4 5 The Record has helped give one a	frequency would be best?
broader perspective of some issues.	A. C Weekly
D. 1 2 3 4 5 The Record helps me feet as if I	B. O Fortnightly
belong to a larger family than I have	C. D Monthly
in my local church.	
F. 1 2 3 4 5 Sometimes I find it hard to believe	19. How important is it that every church in Australia and
that those who write letters to the	New Zealand receives the Record on the same Sabbath. ()
editor are Adventists.	Means very important, 7 means of no importance.)
16. Have you ever written a letter to the editor?	1 2 3 4 5 6 7
A. Q Yes B. Q No	Very important tio importance
Imagine This	Information about your
_	Information about you
Old Krs Scaltherton became a church member in her	20. Sex
early 20s. She's now 75 and because of poor health she's	C Male C Female
housebound.	a mar a remare
	•
	21. Age
Suggest three roles you think the Record could play in	21. Age C 19 or under C 20-24 C 25-29 C 30-39
Suggest three roles you think the Record could play in her life?	21. Age
her life?	21. Age 1 19 or under
	21. Age 1 19 or under
her life?	21. Age 1 19 or under 2024 2 25:29 2 30:39 40:49 50:64 65 or over 22. What is your national or ethnic background? A. C Australian (Aboriginal)
her life?	21. Age 19 or under 2024 2 25:29 2 30:39 40:49 50:64 65 or over 22. What is your national or ethnic background? A. C Australian (Aboriginal) B. Australian (Caucasian)
her life?	21. Age 19 or under 20-24 2 25-29 2 30-39 40-49 50-64 65 or over 22. What is your national or ethnic background? A. C Australian (Aboriginal) B. Australian (Czucasian) C. C Australian (Asian)
her life?	21. Age 19 or under 2024 2 25:29 2 30:39 40:49 50:64 65 or over 22. What is your national or ethnic background? A. C Australian (Aboriginal) B. D Australian (Czuczsian) C. C Australian (Asian) D. D Australian (other)
her life? 1. 2.	21. Age 19 or under 20-24 2 25-29 2 30-39 40-49 50-64 65 or over 22. What is your national or ethnic background? A. C Australian (Aboriginal) B. Australian (Czuczsian) C. C Australian (Asian) D. D Australian (other) E. C New Zealander (Maort)
her life?	21. Age 19 or under 20-24 2 25-29 30-39 40-49 50-64 65 or over 22. What is your national or ethnic background? A. Australian (Aboriginal) B. Australian (Caucasian) C. Australian (Asian) D. Australian (other) E. New Zealander (Maori) F. New Zealander (Polynesian)
her life? 1. 2.	21. Age 19 or under 2024 2 25:29 30:39 40:49 50:64 65 or over 22. What is your national or ethnic background? A. C Australian (Aboriginal) B. Australian (Czuczsian) C. C Australian (Asian) D. Australian (other) E. C New Zealander (Maort)
her life? 1. 2.	21. Age 19 or under 2024 2 25:29 30:39 40:49 50:64 65 or over 22. What is your national or ethnic background? A. 1 Australian (Aboriginal) B. 1 Australian (Caucasian) C. 1 Australian (Asian) D. 2 Australian (other) E. 3 New Zealander (Maori) F. 3 New Zealander (Polynesian) G. 4 New Zealander (Caucasian) H. 4 Pacific island national
her life? 1. 2. 3.	21. Age 19 or under 2024 2 25:29 30:39 40:49 50:64 65 or over 22. What is your national or ethnic background? A. 1 Australian (Aboriginal) B. 1 Australian (Caucasian) C. 1 Australian (Asian) D. 2 Australian (other) E. 3 New Zealander (Maori) F. 3 New Zealander (Polynesian) G. 4 New Zealander (Caucasian) H. 4 Pacific island national
her life? 1. 2. 3. Rate how important you think it would be for her to	21. Age 19 or under 2024 2 25:29 30:39 40:49 50:64 65 or over 22. What is your national or ethnic background? A. C Australian (Aboriginal) B. C Australian (Czucasian) C. C Australian (Asian) D. C Australian (other) E. C New Zealander (Maori) F. C New Zealander (Polynesian) G. New Zealander (Caucasian) H. C Pacific island national
i. 2. 3. Rute how important you think it would be for her to receive the Record? (1 means very important, 7 means	21. Age 19 or under 2024 2 25:29 30:39 40:49 50:64 65 or over 22. What is your national or ethnic background? A. Australian (Aboriginal) B. Australian (Caucasian) C. Australian (Asian) D. Australian (other) E. New Zealander (Maori) F. New Zealander (Polynesian) G. New Zealander (Caucasian) H. Pacific island national I. Other
her life? 1. 2. 3. Rate how important you think it would be for her to	21. Age 19 or under 2024 2 25:29 30:39 40:49 50:64 65 or over 22. What is your national or ethnic background? A. Australian (Aboriginal) B. Australian (Caucasian) C. Australian (Asian) D. Australian (Asian) D. New Zealander (Maori) F. New Zealander (Maori) F. New Zealander (Caucasian) H. Pacific island national L. Other
i. 2. 3. Rute how important you think it would be for her to receive the Record? (1 means very important, 7 means	21. Age 19 or under 2024 2 25:29 30:39 40:49 50:64 65 or over 22. What is your national or ethnic background? A. Australian (Aboriginal) B. Australian (Caucasian) C. Australian (Asian) D. Australian (Asian) D. New Zealander (Maori) F. New Zealander (Maori) F. New Zealander (Caucasian) H. Pacific island national I. Other 23. Marital atatus A. Never married
1. 2. 3. Rute how important you think it would be for her to receive the Record? (1 means very important, 7 means of no importance.) 1 2 3 4 5 6 7	21. Age 19 or under 2024 2 25:29 2 30:39 40:49 50:64 65 or over 22. What is your national or ethnic background? A. Australian (Aboriginal) B. Australian (Caucasian) C. Australian (Asian) D. Australian (Asian) D. Australian (other) E. New Zealander (Maori) F. New Zealander (Maori) G. New Zealander (Caucasian) H. Pacific island national I. Other 23. Marital atatus A. Never married B. Married
1. 2. 3. Rute how important you think it would be for her to receive the Record? (1 means very important, 7 means of no importance.)	21. Age 19 or under 2024 2 25:29 30:39 40:49 50:64 65 or over 22. What is your national or ethnic background? A. Australian (Aboriginal) B. Australian (Caucasian) C. Australian (Asian) D. Australian (Asian) D. New Zealander (Maori) F. New Zealander (Maori) F. New Zealander (Polynesian) G. New Zealander (Caucasian) H. Pacific island national I. Other 23. Marital status A. Never married B. Married C. Widowed
1. 2. 3. Rute how important you think it would be for her to receive the Record? (1 means very important, 7 means of no importance.) 1 2 3 4 5 6 7	21. Age 19 or under 2024 2 25:29 3 30:39 40:49 50:64 65 or over 22. What is your national or ethnic background? A. Australian (Aboriginal) B. Australian (Caucasian) C. Australian (Asian) D. Australian (Asian) D. New Zealander (Maori) F. New Zealander (Maori) F. New Zealander (Caucasian) H. Pacific island national I. Other 23. Marital status A. Never married B. Married C. Widowed D. Separated

ZA. EGUCELIOSI LESC ETCH AL SCHOOL	Quotable									
A. Q Primary achool	400.40.0									
B. High school										
C. College-including TAFEs or CAEs	"Let every article be full of practical, elevating, ennobling									
D. University	thoughts, thoughts that will give to the reader help and light									
	and strength. Family religion, family holiness, is now to be hon-									
25. What type of schools did you attend?	ontal as never before."									
A. Only Adventists schools	4									
B. Mostly Adventist schools	This was written about Adventist Church publications									
	more than 100 years ago. Choose from the following									
C. Q Adventist and non-Adventists about equally										
D. O Mostly non-Adventles schools	responses the one that is the closest to your reaction to									
E. Only non-Adventist schools	this statement.									
	1									
26. How long have you been a baptised member of the	This statement is out of date and should not									
Adventist Church?	influence the Record									
A. Q Not a hapthed member	☐ These principles should be followed in the Record									
B. 🔾 Less than one year	I think the Record already follows these principles									
C. C 1-3 years	U I wish the Record was more like this statement.									
D. C 410 years										
E. D 11-20 years	As you consider the above statement rate how close you									
F. Ci More than 20 years	see the Record to the statement. (1 means very close, 7									
r. a reocculus zo jests	•									
AND MARK	means not close at all.)									
27. Do you have a formal position/s in your church?										
D Yes D No	1 2 3 4 5 6 7									
If yes, please state what it or they are:	Very close Not close at all									
28. How involved are you in your church's activities? (Please	"The Record is the official paper of the Seventh-day Adventist									
circle an appropriate number, with 1 meaning very	Church in the South Pacific Division. Its role is to nurture, to									
involved and 7 meaning anot very involved.")	educate and inform church members within the division."									
and the first transfer of the first transfer										
1 2 1 6 6 7	Rate how well you think the Record does at "nurture" (with									
Very knowled Not very knowled										
tal sale sale sale sale sale sale sale sa	1 meaning very well, and 7 meaning not at all)									
	1 2 3 4 5 6 7									
29. How closely attached do you feel you are to the	Very well Not at all									
Adventist Church? (Please circle an appropriate number,	•									
with 1 meaning "very attached" and 7 meaning "not very	Rate how well you think the Record does at "educating"									
attached.")	(with 1 meaning very well, and 7 meaning not at all)									
1 2 3 4 5 6 7	1 2 3 4 5 6 7									
Very attached Not yery attached	Yary well Not at all									
•										
30. How do you feel about being an Adventist?	Rate how well you think the Record does at "informing"									
· •										
A. O Teniße	(with 1 meaning very well, and 7 meaning not at all)									
B. Q Good	1									
C. Q No feelings, 1 just am	1 2 3 4 5 6 7									
D. Cl Uncomfortable	Yery web Not at si									
	·									
31 As a Seventh-day Adventist, which of the following	Is there anything you would like to add to nurture, educate									
descriptions do you think describes you?	and inform?									
A. Q Liberal	<u> </u>									
B. Q Middle of the road with liberal leanings										
C. D Middle of the road										
D. Middle of the road with conservative leanings]									
E. Conservative	"The Record makes me feel like I'm part of a community									
F. D. None of above	that's bigger than my local church."									
r. 🛥 Invite of Senie	ner suffer men mi vern endern									
Theoleron for agreeming share musting	This is a comment made by a church member.									
Thank you for answering these questions.	j									
Please place the completed survey and the	Do you agree?									
	l 🔾 Yes									
	id tea									
Informed Consent Form into the envelope	O No									
<u>-</u> L	1 7									
and mail it back (no postage needed).	1 7									
<u>-</u> L	1 7									

Appendix B

Demonstrations of Spirituality

Record readers gave a variety of understandings in response to the question, "How would you define a spiritual person?" Several had difficulty in answering the question during the interviews, while those involved in focus groups tended to bounce concepts around the group. Follow-up questions were particularly helpful, asking if respondents knew someone who they sensed was a spiritual person? and what was it about that person that made them feel this way? These questions helped clarify their thoughts. While those involved were Adventist, responses were not limited to concepts of spirituality within Adventism or Christianity, and four looked for descriptions of spirituality or a spiritual person within a variety of religious bodies, citing "Eastern religions," Buddhism, Hinduism and Islam. Within Christianity, illustrations were not limited to those within the Adventist Church, for instance, Mother Teresa and a Baptist pastor were mentioned (the pastor, though, as an illustration of one who did not demonstrate spirituality). One surprise was that only eight involved in the interviews and focus groups specifically linked spirituality to the "fruits of the Spirit." This term comes from the Apostle Paul in Galatians (5:22-4), where he wrote of the fruits of the Holy Spirit (including love, joy, peace and patience) developing in those who belong to Christ, and it seems an obvious link for persons with biblical knowledge. Several referred to these kinds of elements within the life of a spiritual person, but without making any direct connection. In one focus group, when one person responded that a

spiritual person has the fruits of the Spirit, another retorted, "What a cop out!" Perhaps others felt the same way.

While the respondents gave a variety of responses, demonstrations of spirituality may be subsumed under three broad categories: demonstrations of spirituality through a connection with God; demonstrations of spirituality within the personal life; and demonstrations of spirituality within relationships to others.

Demonstrations of spirituality through a connection with God

This concept was also expressed in terms of a connection or a relationship with Jesus. Because of the nature of this relationship, these demonstrations are subjective. They range from a spiritual person being one who believes in God and has complete trust and dependence on him, to having the sense that Jesus walks with them, or that they walk close to God. This relationship is personal and is described in terms of a love relationship involving the heart, mind and soul that is open, places God first and central and leads to obedience in response. This relationship has an impact on the life, with spiritual people knowing that God has changed their lives, they want to live the life Christ would live and this leads to the "image of Christ" or a reflection of God in their lives. It is expected there will be some excitement about this relationship and, when there is trouble, thoughts will turn immediately to God. A practical and measurable response will be found in a devotional life that includes prayer and Bible reading, which can be understood as spending time with God every day.

Demonstrations of spirituality within the personal life

As noted, an active devotional life is expected as a personal result of a spiritual connection with God. Other expected spiritual attributes may include humility,

sincerity, tolerance, gentleness, compassion, integrity and caring for others. Spiritual people will be easy going and cheerful, but firm when they want to be and have their life "together." Their life will be an "open book." While you may recognise them as a spiritual person when you meet them or "pick them out in a crowd by the way they speak," they will tend to go about quietly living saintly lives. The spiritual life is of central importance and spiritual people will talk naturally about spiritual matters without making another person feel out of place. In fact, they will talk openly about their prayer life, devotional reading and devotional life. There's a sense of peace about spiritual people, and a consistency in their lives, there is no "Saturday [Sabbath] face" that is differentiated from a week-day face. They have a value system, but are nonjudgmental and supportive of others. They stand up for what they believe, have high principles, but are able to look honestly at their own battles and victories, and realise that Jesus is the answer to their problems. They are able to recognise and accept failure in their own lives and in those of others. They have a deep appreciation for spiritual things, something you can see in their lives because it impacts everything they do. You feel good when you are with them because they make you feel inspired, a little closer to God.

Demonstrations of spirituality in relationships with others

There are practical consequences to spirituality, say the respondents, because the love relationship with God becomes a priority and it shows itself in practical ways in relationships with others. Respondents see spiritual people wanting to reach out to others as Jesus did. Spiritual people will not be self-focused, but have an active faith. They will be seen doing more than praying. They will be in tune with people around them and accept people as they are without being judgmental. They will have a social

consciousness and a passion for people and helping others. In spiritual terminology they will be a "blessing" to those they come in contact with and be active in their church. Two illustrations were given of women who, though suffering deprivation, demonstrated their spirituality through helping others. Spiritual people are practical in their faith and in what they do.

This composite picture painted by respondents idealises spiritual people, making them "nice to know," as one woman comments about a friend she feels is a spiritual person. She also notes that everybody is different and some persons are more practical in demonstrating their spirituality, an important recognition that allows for differences within the experience and outworking of spirituality. Having attempted to illustrate Adventist spirituality in this way leaves us with precisely that, an illustration, not a definition. Lacking definition, we have done what Tacey (2000:17) suggests, talked "around the subject and provide[d] some hints and descriptions." Perhaps one respondent is correct when she says of spirituality, "It's indescribable. It's something you can't define, but it's there."

This reflects several realities: Spirituality is a slippery concept without any set definition, which makes it difficult to construct an understood, concrete boundary. Unlike some of its theology, there is no distinctive Adventist understanding of spirituality. In fact, some respondents openly talked of spirituality outside of Christianity and Adventism. Added to this is evidence that there is little that is distinctive between denominations in concepts of spirituality, or at least not in the terminology used (McGrath, 1999:13-14). Finally, spirituality, a relatively recent term within Protestant Christianity (in the past 50 years), would be expected to rate lower than theology or lifestyle, which has a far stronger tradition within the Adventist Church.

Appendix C

Tables Measuring Differences on a Conservative-Liberal Continuum

Table 9.1

Formal involvement in church

(Do you have a formal position/s in your church?)

N=125	Yes	No	Other	Totals %
Liberal	9.6	0.8	1.6	12.0
MOR Lib	19.2	4.8	0.8	24.8
MOR	21.6	2.4	_	24.0
MGR Con	18.4	6.4		24.8
Conservative	5.6	0.8	0.8	7.2
Other	5.6	1.6		7.2
Totals %	80.0	16.8	3.2	100

Key: MOR Lib: Middle of the road with liberal leanings. MOR: Middle of the road. MOR con: Middle of the road with conservative leanings.

Table 9.2

Amount of involvement in church
(How involved are you in your church's activities?

N=125	1	2	3	4	5	6	7	Other	Totals
Liberal	6.4	0.8	0.8	0.8	0.8	1.6	0.8		12.0
MOR Lib	10.4	4.8	4.8	2.4	1.6	8.0			24.8
MOR	6.4	7.2	6.4	2.4	0.8		0.8	-	24.0
MOR Con	10.4	4.8	2.4	1.6	2.4	3.2	-		24.8
Conservative	3.2		4.0						7.2
Other	4.8	1.6		0.8		_			7.2
Totals %	41.6	19.2	18.4	8.0	5.6	5.6	1.6	*****	100

Key: 1 means very involved; 7 means not very involved. MOR Lib: Middle of the road with liberal leanings, MOR: Middle of the road. MOR con: Middle of the road with conservative leanings.

Table 9.3

Attachment to church

(How closely attached to you feel you are to the Adventist Church?

N=125	1 '	2	3	4	5	6	7	Other	Totals
Liberal	5.6	2.4	1.6		_	2.4			12.0
MOR Lib	6.4	11.2	4.8		8.0			1.6	24.8
MOR	15.2	5.6	0.8	1.6	0.8			-	24.0
MOR Con	15.2	4.8	3.2	0.8		_	_	0.8	24.8
Conservative	5.6	1.6		_				_	7.2
Other	4.8	1.6	_	8.0		i-mira	_		7.2
Totals %	52.8	27.2	10.4	3.2	1.6	2.4		2.4	100

Key: 1 means very attached; 7 means not very attached. MOR Lib: Middle of the road with liberal leanings. MOR: Middle of the road, MOR con: Middle of the road with conservative leanings.

Table 9.4

Feelings about being an Adventist
(How do you feel about being an Adventist?)

N=125	Terrific	Good	No feelings	Uncomfortable	Other	Totals
Liberal	5.6	4.8	0.8		0.8	12.0
MOR Lib	8.8	12.8	3.2			24.8
MOR	9.6	12.8	0.8	_	0.8	24.0
MOR Con	14.4	8.0	1.6		0.8	24.8
Conservative	4.8	2.4	_			7.2
Other	4.8	1.6	0.8			7.2
Totals %	48.0	42. r	7.2		2.4	100

Key: MOR Lib: Middle of the road with liberal leanings. MOR: Middle of the road. MOR con: Middle of the road with conservative leanings.

Table 9.5

Record and unity of faith

(A major task of the Record is to help bring about unity of faith.)

N=125	Strongly agree/agree	No opinion	Strongly disagree/disagree	Other	Totals %
Liberal	6.4	1.6	2.4	1.6	12.0
MOR Lib	11.2	8.0	4.8	0.8	24.8
MOR	17.6	2.4	2.4	1.6	24.0
MOR Con	14.4	3.2	5.6	1.6	24.8
Conservative	5.6		0.8	0.8	7.2
Other	4.0		3.2	3.2	7.2
Totals %	59.2	15.2	19.2	6.4	100

Key: MOR Lib: Middle of the road with liberal leanings. MOR: Middle of the road. MOR con: Middle of the road with conservative leanings.

Table 9.6

Record and discussion of issues

(A major task of the Record is to encourage discussion of issues facing the church.)

N=125	Strongly agree/agree	No opinion	Strongly disagree/disagree	Other	Totals %
Liberal	9.6	0.8	0.8	0.8	12.0
MOR Lib	23.2		1.6		24.8
MOR	20.0	3.2	0.8	-	24.0
MOR Con	18.4	0.8	5.6		24.8
Conservative	6.4	<u> </u>	0.8		7.2
Other	5.6	0.8	0.8		7.2
Totals %	83.2	5.6	10.4	0.8	100

Key: MOR Lib: Middle of the road with liberal leanings. MOR: Middle of the road. MOR con: Middle of the road with conservative leanings.

Table 9.7

Record as a forum for discussion

(The Record should provide a forum for discussion of issues facing the church.)

N=125	Strongly agree/agree	No opinion	Strongly disagree/disagree	Other	Totals %
Liberal	8.0	0.8	1.6	1.6	12.0
MOR Lib	22.4	1.6	0.8		24.8
MOR	15.2	4.0	4.8		24.0
MOR Con	16.0	1.6	6.4	0.8	24.8
Conservative	4.8	0.8	0.8	0.8	7.2
Other	6.4	0.8	_		7.2
Totals %	72.8	9.6	14.4	3,2	100

Key: MOR Lib: Middle of the road with liberal leanings. MOR: Middle of the road. MOR con: Middle of the road with conservative leanings.

Table 9.8

Record and enthusiasm for Adventism

(Reading the Record makes me feel more enthusiastic about being an Adventist.)

N=125_	Strongly agree/agree	No opinion	Strongly disagree/disagree	Other	Totals %
Liberal	5.4	0.8	4.0	0.8	12.0
MOR Lib	16.0	4.8	4.0		24.8
MOR	16.0	4.8	3.2		24.0
MOR Con	17.6	2.4	4.8		24.8
Conservative	3.2	0.8	3.2		7.2
Other	3.2	1.6	2.4	0.8	7.2
Totals %	62.4	15.2	21.6	0.8	100

Key: MOR Lib: Middle of the road with liberal leanings. MOR: Middle of the road. MOR con: Middle of the road with conservative leanings.

Table 9.9

Record and expression of opinions

(Even though I may disagree with some of the opinions expressed, the chance to speak candidly in the Letters section is healthy.)

N=125	Strongly agree/agree	No opinion	Strongly disagree/disagree	Other	Totals %
Liberal	8.8	0.8	0.8	1.6	12.0
MOR Lib	23.2	0.8	_	0.8	24.8
MOR	20.8	1.6	1.6		24.0
MOR Con	23.2	_	1.6		24.8
Conservative	5.6	0.8	0.8		7.2
Other	5.6	0.8	0.8		7.2
Totals %	87.2	4.8	5.6	2.4	100

Key: MOR Lib: Middle of the road with liberal leanings. MOR: Middle of the road. MOR con: Middle of the road with conservative leanings.

Appendix D

A Study of Record Surveys

Including the survey conducted as a part of the research for this thesis, six reader surveys have been conducted since *Record* became available free to church members in 1980, the first in 1983. Editors conducted three, with one conducting two surveys at the same time, one for readers, another for ministers in a variety of roles and Adventist schoolteachers. L Fraser Jackson, now emeritus professor of Victoria University, Wellington, New Zealand, was involved in two surveys funded by *Record*, but independent of *Record*. Merolyn Coombs, as a partial requirement for a Master of Applied Science in Information Studies, conducted a limited survey in Sydney.

The surveys are here described according to the person(s) who conducted them and the year the findings were published:

Geoff Garne (1983) placed four copies of a brief readership survey into Record and readers were asked to fill one in, clip it out and return it. Many were bulk mailed from churches. The results were published in the February 5 and 12, 1983 Record. The aim of the survey was to gain some indication of readership habits relative to how often it was read, what was being read, when and where, and by whom else. Information about respondents included what other magazines they read. The returns totalling 3597 readers responding, are significant, but with 25,500 magazines shipped out each week and with multiple copies of surveys in each Record there was the possibility that families would work on this project together. The weakness of this method is that

respondents were self-selected with no safeguards to assure a broad cross section of the church.

The self-stated aim of the M G Townend and L Fraser Jackson survey (1986) was to gain a measure of opinion from church members about *Record*. It was designed to gain information from members that "would help the editors clarify appropriate goals for the magazine and shape the *Record* in a way which would better fulfil their readers' expectations." Further, it was designed to provide an understanding of the readership, their expectations and needs (Townend and Jackson, 1986:2-3). The importance of this survey is found in its breadth and the recognised sampling procedures used. Some 420 usable responses were received from 41 churches in Australia and New Zealand.

James Coffin (1991) published another reader survey in *Record*, which was quite extensive, covering three pages in *Record*. Further, readers were encouraged to copy the survey if other family members wanted to fill it in as well. Whether the size of the task was more daunting or other factors came into play, only 1368 readers responded (compared to 3597 for the Garne survey). The same problems as with the Garne survey are seen here. Importantly, surveys were posted to all ministers and teachers in Adventist schools in Australia and New Zealand (including departmental directors and administrators) and expatriate teachers in the South Pacific islands. Of the 1085 surveys sent out, 342 (32 per cent) responded.

Merolyn Coombs's (1996) survey was of members from three churches in the Sydney area. She sent 200 surveys to people chosen at random from the church rolls of these churches. She had a usable response rate of 51 per cent (102). The stated aim (Coombs, 1996:21) was to determine the level of importance church members have "for particular topics of religious information to support the church and its beliefs" and to determine perceptions of "how well the church provided information to answer these

needs through the two major official publications." Unfortunately, the survey has two weaknesses. It is limited, with only 102 responses, and it relates to two magazines, *Adventist Review* and *Record*. This caused some confusion among respondents (Coombs, 1996:30) and while she makes the assumption that the two publications are closely related and serve the same purpose for her study, the fact that two magazines were involved is not helpful for this study. Statistical data from her survey are used in a limited way.

L Fraser Jackson (1997) conducted a survey the year before the 100th year of publication of *Record*, in which a sampling of 41 churches in Australia and New Zealand were chosen to be involved. All attending secondary school or older were asked to fill in a survey during church time. Of the 41 churches, 36 returned a total of more than 1500 survey forms.

Comparing the surveys

A serious weakness in the attempt to do comparisons between the surveys is the lack of common material carried from one survey to the next. While personal details are asked for in each (to varying degrees), few other questions are common to the surveys. This is unfortunate for it makes it difficult to track trends. It appears that each survey has been prepared with little consideration of previous surveys, or that they have each been prepared with a certain task in mind that is outside what has been previously investigated. This section will concentrate on relating previous surveys to the current one where there can be cross referencing to discover common results or significant differences.

Table D.1 compares the ages of those involved in the surveys. Coombs has almost one-third (31.4 per cent) or her respondents in the 40-49, which only Coffin's

employees come near matching (at 30.7 per cent). Both these are out of step with the other surveys. The current survey, with more than half (51.2 per cent) of its respondents over the age of 50, is similar to Garne's (51.1 per cent), but below those of Coffin's readers (59.8 per cent) and Jackson's 1997 survey (55.6 per cent). Coombs has 41.1 per cent of her respondents 50 years of age or older, a lower figure brought about by the larger group in the 40-49 age group. All surveys, except Coffin's employees and Jackson's 1986 survey, have about 70 per cent of their respondents above the age of 40. Thus, the majority of respondents are middle aged or older. Coffin's employee survey shows only 30.1 per cent over the age of 50. This can be explained by the fact that there are only 2.0 per cent over the age of 65, retirement age. While his employee survey shows a weighting toward the older age group, with almost 60 per cent (58.8 per cent) over the age of 40, because they are still working there is little representation in the over 65 age group.

Jackson's 1986 survey highlights a quandary because its 50-and-more age group is significantly smaller than almost all the others at 38 per cent and it cannot be explained like the Coffin employees survey, or like the Coombs survey with a large 40 to 49 year old group nudging at the borders of the next age group. Jackson (Townend and Jackson, 1986:5) may say that in the 1986 survey the younger members are "under represented," but there is a far greater problem in Jackson's 1997 survey where 55.6 per cent of respondents are over the age of 50. That is 17.6 per cent higher than the 1986 survey. In this case Jackson (1997:6) wonders if "younger persons were busy keeping children quiet and did not fill in survey forms." The first survey was sent to randomly chosen individuals on church rolls. The second was sent to randomly selected churches for all attendees high school age and older to fill in. Did the group involvement add peer

pressure to younger people not to participate? Could they not be bothered? Or is the age of those attending greater than those whose names appear on the church roll?

Overall, with the noted exceptions, the surveys indicate that the age groupings found in the current survey are similar to those found in earlier surveys. Significantly, most are middle aged or older. Table D.1 also shows that Jackson's random selection processes finds age groups that are closest, in general terms, to the Adventist population with the second survey weighted more toward an older age range.

Table D.1

Age comparisons in *Record* surveys from 1983 to 2004

(in percentages)

Age	Garne 1983 N=3597	Jackson 1986 N=420	Coffin 1991 N=1368	Coffin 1991 employ N=342	Coombs 1996 N=102	Jackson 1997 N=1500+	Currenc 2004 N=125	SDA*
> 20	5.1	. 8	2.9	0.3	2.9	7.4	0.8	8
20-29	9.2	14	6.8	9.3	8.8	7.1	10.4	13
30-39	14.8	22	11.3	28.7	14.7	12.8	13.6	16
40-49	13.9	16	18.0	30.7	31.4	17.3	24.0	19
50-64	16.9**	19	28.5	28.1	22.5**	29.4	31.2	22
65+	34.2**	19	31.3	2.0	18.6**	26.2	20.0	22
Total	94.1***	98	98.8	99.1	98.9	100.2	100	100

^{*}Adventist population from the Australian National Church Life Survey, 1996.

Where the current survey is out of step with the others (except Coffin's employee survey) is in the area of gender (see Table D.2). It is expected that Coffin's employee survey would be male dominated (81.6 per cent male respondents) because of a male-dominated ministry among employees within the Adventist Church, but the current survey is also male dominated (at 59.2 per cent). In fact, it is almost the reverse, in percentage rate of male and female participation of all the other surveys except

^{**}These two surveys have a different age break. The percentages given in the 50-64 years category are for 50-59; in the 65+ category the figures given are for 60+.

^{***}While the other figures seem a reasonable allowance for no response to this survey question or for the variation caused by rounding up or down to the decimal point (giving, for instance, Jackson's 1997 survey a 100.2 per cent total), this seems unusually low.

Coombs's. The main reasons are twofold: the surveys include responses from 15 church ministers (12.0 per cent of the whole), all of them male, and there was a tendency for these ministers to choose males to be interviewed. Of the 41 interviewed (32.8 per cent of the whole), 26 (63.3 per cent) were males. The gender mix involved in focus groups who returned survey forms presents a slight female majority (50.7 per cent), but not to the levels of the other surveys. This gender bias toward males does not accurately reflect the Adventist Church membership in Australia and New Zealand with 54.7 per cent females and 45.3 per cent males (Salom, 2002:50).

Table D.2

Gender comparisons in *Record* surveys from 1983 to 2004

(in percentages)

Gender	Garne 1983 N=3597	Jackson 1986 N=420	Coffin 1991 readers N=1368	Coffin 1991 employees N=342	Coombs 1996 N=102	Jackson 1997 N=1500+	Current 2004 N=125
Female	58.6	58	62.2	17.5	51.0	58.3	40.8
Male	38.5	39	36.5	81.6	47.0	41.8	59.2
No answer	2.6	2	1.3	0.9	2.0		
Total	99.7	99	100	100	100	100.1	100

There is a stronger sense of attachment to the church from those involved in the current survey than in the other surveys, with the exception of Coffin's church employees. This is one question that is a constant in five surveys, beginning with Jackson's 1986, then his 1997 survey, Coffin's two surveys and the current survey. The question is asked: "How closely attached do you feel you are to the Adventist Church?" A choice of seven points along a continuum was given from "not very attached" to "very attached" (although the current survey reverses the order). What is evident in all surveys, although to a lesser degree in Jackson's 1986 survey, is that the majority of respondents do have a sense of attachment to the church. The percentages for the top

two "very attached" points in each survey are: Jackson (1986), 64 per cent (much lower than the others); Coffin (1991, readers), 77.9 per cent; Coffin (1991, employees), 80.4 per cent; Jackson (1997), 76 per cent; and the current survey, 79.2 per cent. At the other end of the continuum, the top two "not very attached" points percentages are: Jackson (1986), 6 per cent; Coffin (1991, readers), 6.4 per cent; Coffin (1991, employees), 4.7 per cent; Jackson (1997), 4 per cent; and the current survey, 3.2 per cent. In a sense of attachment, then, respondents to the current survey mostly fit well with those in the earlier ones.

One question in Jackson's 1997 survey is echoed in the current survey, with a slight difference. The current survey asks "What sort of contribution does material in the Record make to your spiritual life and growth?" Jackson's survey has the same wording except the word "Christian" replaces "spiritual." Importantly, both surveys ask for the same responses. Table D.3 shows the differences in those responses. Almost half (48.8 per cent) of the respondents to the current survey say *Record* has only a minor or no contribution to their spiritual life and growth. For Jackson's 1997 survey, 34.5 per cent say Record has a "significant" or "major" contribution to their Christian life. The current survey has half that percentage (at 16.8 per cent) of respondents saying Record has a "major" or "significant" contribution to their spiritual life. Having shown these differences, they should not be teased out too much because the differences between the two questions are marked. While the words "spiritual" and "Christian" may be related for the respondents, they do not have the same meaning. As seen in chapter 9, attempting to define "spiritual" is difficult and the word has flexible meanings. The word "Christian" does not have the same flexibility. So, while the questions are similar and the responses asked for are identical, the question speaks of different concepts with one of them, "spiritual," being quite rubbery.

Table D.3

Comparison of contributions to spiritual and Christian life
What sort of contribution does material in the *Record* make to your spiritual
["Christian," Jackson, 1997] life and growth? (In percentages.)

Surveys	Nil	Minor	Significant	Major	Some material important	No response	Total %
Jackson 1997 N=1500+	4.5	26.9	27.7	6.8	34.1		100
Current N=125	6.4	42.4	13.6	3.2	28.8	5.6	100

There is a close relationship between six questions asked in Jackson's 1986 survey and the current survey. Three of these questions also appear in the Coffin survey. First, though, an explanation of procedure is needed. While the current survey asked for a response on a five-point continuum (strongly agree, agree, no opinion, disagree, strongly disagree), Jackson (1986) offered three responses (agree, no opinion, disagree). Coffin offered a five point continuum, the same as in the current survey, but in pulling the statistics together combined the strongly agree and agree responses, and the strongly disagree and disagree responses. Following Coffin's lead, in comparing these surveys, responses will only be shown as agree, no opinion or disagree. Further, in the questions where Jackson's survey is involved, he has a comparatively high non-response rate (ranging from 9 to 25 per cent, compared to a high of 5.6 per cent in one response in the current survey). This high non-response rate may come from the fact that Jackson's respondents were randomly chosen rather than the willing participants of Coffin's survey or the nurtured (through personal contact) respondents of the current survey. Jackson's survey included 10 per cent who only had occasional access to Record and 1 per cent who had no access. Importantly it included 6 per cent who did not read Record and 38 per cent who spent less than 15 minutes with Record. In order to make

reasonable comparisons, when Jackson's survey is involved the non-response figures are dropped from all surveys and the percentage figures are adjusted accordingly.

In the three questions that had similarities between Jackson's 1986 survey and the current survey, responses show a significant difference of almost 10 per cent in each case. There is less need, according to the current survey, for *Record* to work at developing a unity of faith: the response rate that agrees with the notion that developing a unity of faith is a "major task" of *Record* has dropped from 72.3 per cent in the Jackson survey to 63.6 per cent in the current survey; the number disagreeing has risen from 10.8 per cent to 20.3 per cent. Three influences may be read into this change. The first is the diversity of belief that has been growing within the Adventist Church since the 1970s, the second is the impact of uncertainties brought by theological controversy within the church in the 1980s and the third is the influence coming into the church with the general acceptance of postmodernism within society.

There is less of a desire to express strong opinions about issues affecting society, dropping from 60.8 per cent who agree that *Record* should give these strong opinions in Jackson's survey to 51.2 per cent in the current survey. Added to this is an increase of those with no opinion, while the percentage disagreeing rises from 20.3 to 26.8 per cent. There is a rising sense that this is not what *Record* is about, perhaps signalling the desire that it should concentrate on the internal. The sense that *Record* should keep readers informed rises from 90.4 per cent agreeing in Jackson to 99.2 per cent in the current survey.

The three questions asked in the Jackson (1986), Coffin and the current surveys focus on *Record* providing a forum for viewpoints, being relevant to present needs and reporting news accurately. While 82.9 per cent of Coffin's employees agreed that *Record* should provide a forum for the discussion of various viewpoints, only 69.8 per

cent of Coffin's readers felt that way. This was matched by Jackson's survey at 67.9 per cent. The current survey finds 76.3 per cent agreeing. What is evident is that church employees in 1991 were more enthusiastic about *Record* providing a forum for viewpoints, with the others less persuaded at that time or in the 1986 and current surveys, which contain both ministers and members. There appears to be a slight trend of stronger agreement that articles in *Record* are generally relevant to present needs within the church (see Table D.4). In Jackson's survey, 62.3 per cent see the relevancy of the articles. In Coffin's both readers and employees raise it to the high 70 per cent level. The current survey takes it to 80.6 per cent. There is not a great deal of movement from Coffin's survey to the current survey, but the movement is more dramatic from Jackson's 1986 survey.

Table D.4

Articles in Record are generally perceived as relevant to present needs

(in percentages)

Surveys	Agree	Neutral	Disagree	Total
Jackson 1986 N=420	62.3	21.2	16.5	100
Coffin 1991 readers N=1368	78.4	11.3	10.3	100
Coffin 1991 employees N=342	77.6	14.3	8.2	100
Current N=125	80.6	9.2	10.2	100

What has proven consistent is the strong sense of uncertainty about the accuracy of news reports appearing in *Record*. While the majority believe that church news is reported accurately (see Table D.5), about a third demonstrate their uncertainty by giving a "no opinion" response. The indication is that, as reflected in comments in Coombs's research, some believe *Record* manipulates the news. Perhaps what is found here is the suspicion, but not the evidence (and thus the uncertainty) that the "top-down

influence" is having its impact. Despite the trend showing slightly more confidence in news accuracy, this issue is something that is important for *Record* to address.

Table D.5

Record perceived to report church news accurately
(in percentages)

Surveys	Agree	No opinion	Disagree	Total
Jackson 1986 N=420	53.7	32.9	13.4	100
Coffin 1991 readers N=1368	58.8	33.0	8.2	100
Coffin 1991 employees N=342	61.9	29.9	8.2	100
Current N=125	62.5	30.2	7.3	100

A series of other questions in Coffin's 1991 surveys are repeated in the current survey. From these, there is continued support for the notion that *Record* is to encourage the discussion of issues facing the church (more than 80 per cent agree in all surveys). There has been a shift concerning whether *Record* upholds the fundamental beliefs of the church. In the 1991 survey, 83 per cent of employees and readers agreed that this was so. Four per cent of this (down to 79 per cent who agree in the current survey) has drifted to disagree, and where it was 6 per cent in the 1991 survey, 10 per cent disagree in the current survey. At the same time, there is stronger support for the relevancy of *Record* in the current survey (see Table D.4). While 90 per cent of Coffin's employees agreed that even if respondents disagree with the opinions expressed, the chance to speak candidly in letters to the editor is healthy. Coffin's readers were less certain about that, at 81 per cent, but the current survey found 88 per cent agreement.

That the editorial mix met the needs of the readers found higher acceptance in Coffin's surveys with 86 per cent of employees and 78 per cent of readers agreeing. The current survey rated lower at 73 per cent and the percentage of those who disagreed was

markedly higher at 14 per cent (up from 7 per cent for Coffin's readers and 4 per cent from employees). This result appears to be at variance to the responses that found articles in *Record* were generally relevant to present needs. It may be that what is indicated here is recognition that the church is increasing in complexity.

Finally, the trend appears that for current readers, *Record* makes people feel less enthusiastic about being a Seventh-day Adventist than it did in 1991. Some 73 per cent of Coffin's readers agree that it made them feel more enthusiastic about being Adventist; 67 per cent of employees did the same but, in the current survey, it is down to 62 per cent with a definite shift to a disagree response at 21 per cent (Coffin's readers disagreed at 12 per cent and employees at 10 per cent).

That there are several qualifications needed in comparing these surveys has already been stated. The weakness of readership surveys is found in the self-selection of the respondents with few controls on the sample. Coffin's survey of church employees attempted to include all of them, but this is a limited or specialised, albeit important, readership group. Only Jackson's two surveys had the controls needed to give the sampling strong validity. The Coombs survey used valid sampling techniques, but failed to provide a large pool of respondents and by including another magazine in her research has proved less helpful.

Some weaknesses of the current survey, the limited number and the selection process for most surveyed, have been mentioned, but there is another question, already hinted at, about what influence my personal contact with each of those who responded had on the results. For ministers it was two phone calls, the first to arrange for them to select people for interviews, and then the follow up to ask why they had chosen who they had before sending the survey. For the interviews, those being interviewed knew the researcher was going to visit and talk to them about their survey. Those involved in

focus groups were given surveys at the end of the group sessions where there had been a variety of exchanges during the hour-and-a-half together. The impact this had is difficult to judge.

Appendix E

Planning for Change in Record

In mid-1986 James Coffin became the editor of *Record* after a period of discussion with church administrators from Australia, particularly the South Pacific Division president, Walter Scragg. Coffin, originally from the United States, had studied for ministry at Avondale College, NSW, and served as a pastor in New South Wales before returning to the United States where he also worked in a pastoral capacity until his appointment as an associate editor of *Adventist Review*.

Scragg (1999), an experienced communicator, says he and other senior church administrators felt *Record* had lost its ability to communicate to a wide range of church members. He wanted *Record* to help the church move on from the theological issues that had impacted the church with the Desmond Ford crisis and to present a more balanced perspective on these issues. He was concerned *Record* had taken too conservative a stance on issues to the point where many were saying, "We don't own this paper, it's the voice of very conservative Adventism."

Scragg was keen to have Coffin come as a "younger mind, [he was] probably the youngest person [in his mid-30s] we've had as editor of the *Record*." Coffin was instructed to "make it contemporary" and to enliven it in a "deliberate attempt to move down a generation." Importantly,

Jim [Coffin] was given freedom to use the letters to the editor column, not just to support the church, but also to give a platform for those who wanted to attack some of the church's decisions. In other words, we tried to make *Record* more

representative of the whole church, not just the administration. The idea was that we should convey the idea that the *Record* is owned by the whole church and you have your right to have your voice heard. . . . even though it wasn't something that the editor or the church leadership agreed with (Scragg:1999).

Not only was this transfer or "ownership" expected to give *Record* a better chance of a more effective role in communicating to more members, it indicates a more open approach away from controlling sectarian attitudes. At the same time there was an expectation that church leadership would have a better vehicle of communication for their particular message. This is a significant change point for *Record* and set a model that is currently still followed. An attempt had been made to reposition *Record* to what Morgan (2001:211) calls the "centre," away from the "dissident Right" without moving into the camp of the "revisionist Left."

Appendix F

James Coffin Responds to Reader Concerns

In the editorial appearing on the next page, James Coffin attempts to answer critics concerning letters to the editor and the cartoon that appeared each week with the letters. The letters appeared on page three, which explains the reference to page three in the text.

,

ECOR

Seventh-day Adventist Church South Pacific Division

Editor James Coffin
Associate Editors Gary Krause Boice Manners

Bruce Manners

Assistant Ecitor Joy Totenhofer
Editorial Secretary Glenda Fainil
Copy Editor Graeme Brown
Graphic Designer Wayne Louk
Senior Consulting Editor A. H. Tolhurst
Consulting Editors
Correspondents R. H. Beird, J. T. Banks, R.
L. Coombe, M. Durius, A. Kabu, N. K. Peatey, L.
Solomon, P. B. Weekes

non, P. B. Weekes

Regional Reporters D. D. Blanch, b. Hagarian reputers D. District, R. R. L. J. Brown, R. G. Douglas, G. W. W. Drinkall, L. J. Laredo, M. R. Fotts, L. R. Rice, G. M. Smith, E. I. Totenhofer, R. W. Townend, A. R. Walshe Local Reporters Church Communication

Subscriptions South Pacific Division, \$A25.00 \$NZ28.75. All other regions, \$A48.25 \$NZ35.50. Air mail postage rates on application. Order from Signs Publishing Company, Warbuston, Victoria 1700 Australia

Signs Publishing Company, warrousent, victoria 3799, Australia.

Manuscripta All copy for the paper should be sent to The Editor, RECORD, Signs Publishing Company, Warburton, Victoria 3799, Phone (059) 66 5781. Telefax (059) 66 2988

Printed weekly by Signs Publishing Company.

Directory of the South Pacific Division of the Seventh-day Adventist Church, 148 Fox Valley Road, Waltroonga, NSW 2076; phone (02) 499 7122

Provident Walter Serage Secretary A. H. Tolhurst Treasurer W. T. Andrews Treasurer W. J. Anortws
Associate Secretary V. B. Parmenter
Associate Treasurers O. S. Misson, W. H. Stokes
Field Secretary A. J. Ferch
Administration Projects Director M. G.

Archivist and Statistician R. E. Clifford

Auditor G. J. Bland

Associate Auditors E. N. Hokin, M. E.

Mitchell, E. J. Moffitt, N. F. Savert, K. E. Watts Church Ministries A. E. Birch (Director), A. B. Gane (Youth), R. L. Hodginson (Subbath School), B. K. Cmig (Family Life), P. R. Jack (Personal Ministries), L. R. Chester (Subbath

ication. Public Affairs and Relialous

Liberty R. L. Coombe
Education G. F. Citiford (Director), L. D.
Devine, B. A. Hill, J. I. Howie, R. A. Spoor
Health Food E. W. Grosser Advantist Health D. E. Bain (Director), H. J.

Stante 1 Indicated Association A. D. C. Currie Publishing J. T. Knupper Trust Service

ADRA G. A. Laxton (Director), W. P. Truscott Christian Sendons for the Blind and Hearing Impaired E. C. Lemke

Cover: Pastor Tony Campbell spoke at 15 evangelistic meetings while in Reglampun. Bonny (left) acted as interpreter for him. Photo: Torw Campbell.

EDITORIAI

ear Editor

henever one of the RECORD edi-tors takes an informal poll concerning which section of the RECORD is read first, page three wins every time—overwhelmingly.

But page three is also the most disliked section of the magazine by some rezders.

I scarcely need tell you that not everyone is fond of Berto's cartoons. And perhaps it's just a coincidence, but the letters, which appear on the same page, are the second-most-complained-about RE-CORD feature.

While the complaints about the letters account for a rather small section of the mail to the editor, they do arrive in sufficient quantity that perhaps I should outline our rationale.

As editors, we feel we have been called to minister to as broad a spectrum of people within the Adventist Church as possible. And the church really does cover a broad spectrum-educated, uneducated; old, young; long-time Adventist, new convert; conservative, liberal; New Zealander, Australian, South Pacific islander; Queenslander, Tasmanian.

A small percentage on the far left have written the editors off as mere stooges of the administration. They think we are programmed to do what we are told, when we are told—that we never have an original thought of our own.

On the far right, a small group has written us off as apostates because we even admit that we are trying to minister to a broad spectrum. There is only one way (their way), a narrow way, and anything that doesn't fit within those narrow parameters is anathema.

We've accepted defeat in trying to minister to these two groups. There's no way we can win. But we do try to keep the other 90 per cent of the church constantly in mind, seeking a blend of articles within and between issues that will meet the needs of the total spectrum.

Invariably, if an article adequately meets the needs of one group, we can rest assured that it will not be appreciated by another group. We would hope readers will keep the diversity of readership in

mind when they encounter material that is not catering to their specific needs.

Because we feel communication is a two-way street, we have made the Letters is section a major feature. And in the letters, as in the editorial content, we want to cater to the entire spectrum. We try to give a fair sampling of the kind of mail we receive.

Some readers complain that the letter '* writers are extremists. And they arefor, after all, an extremist is anyone who strongly holds an opinion differing from your own.

Admittedly, a few of the letters we 😘 print primarily because we as editors have a sense of humour. But for the most part, we believe that the letters reflect positions sincerely held—and often strongly held.

By letting the spectrum of Adventism have its say, we are trying to say that we value opinions, that diversity of thought is healthy, and that we don't all have to see eye to eye to love each other as brothers and sisters in Christ.

One of the main concerns about the letters is that they will have negative impact on new Adventists or non-Adventists. Our reply is threefold:

First, while non-Adventists will from time to time read the magazine, it is an in-the-church-family publication, and we will not fail to meet the needs of the family simply because some who aren't family members might read it.

Second, let's not try to whitewash the church when presenting it to others. People appreciate honesty, particularly in these days of misleading advertising. Allowing ourselves to be seen warts and all early in the piece preempts a lot of disillusionment further down the line, but doesn't frighten as many people away as we often think.

Finally, the spirited comments in the RECORD can actually be used as a major selling point. Doesn't the Letters section reflect a high degree of openness? And wouldn't most Adventists prefer that their church not try to muzzle its members, and that it not listen only when comments agree with the party line?

James Coffin.

Bibliography

- Abercrombie, Nicholas, Hill, Stephen and Turner, Bryan S, 1988, *The Penguin Dictionary of Sociology*, Penguin Books, London.
- Adair, R. H., 1943, "Torpedoed," Australasian Record, February 8, page 3.
- Adams, CS, 1974, "An explanation," Australasian Record, July 15, pages 1-2.
- Ad hoc committee, 1999, "Recommendation of the special ad hoc group," *Record*, February 13, page 11.
- "Adventists and Lutherans in conversation," 1998, supplement to the Adventist Review, June 25.
- Albert, Judith Clavir and Albert, Stewart Edward (eds), 1984, The Sixties Papers: Documents of a Rebellious Decade, Praeger, New York.
- Allum, F A, 1943, "The conscientious objector," Signs of the Times, October 11, page 6.
- Allyn, David, 2000, Make Love, Not War: The Sexual Revolution, an Unfettered History, Little, Brown and Company, Boston, USA.
- Altman, Roger, 1944, "An inspiring Autumn council," Australasian Record, March 13, pages 2-3.
- Ammerman, Nancy Tatom, with Farnsley II, Arthur E et al, 1997, Congregation and Community, Rutgers University Press, New Brunswick, New Jersey.
- Anderson, A W, 1941a, "Denominational definition of non-combatancy," Australasian Record, April 28, pages 3-4.
- Anderson, A W, 1941b, "Religious liberty department," Australasian Union Conference Bulletin, number 3, pages 12-15.
- Anderson, AW, 1939, "Seeking peace and finding none," Australasian Record, January 2, page 5.
- Anderson, A W, 1918, "Religious liberty department," Australasian Union Conference Record, October 21, page 12.
- Anderson, Eric, 1987, "The Millerite use of prophecy: A case study of a 'striking fulfillment," in eds Ronald L Numbers and Jonathan M Butler, The

- Disappointed: Millerism and Millenarianism in the Nineteenth Century, Indiana University Press, Bloomington and Indianapolis.
- Anderson, Godfrey T, 1986, "Sectarianism and organisation: 1846-1864," in ed Gary Land, Adventism in America: A History, William B Eerdmans Publishing Company, Grand Rapids, Michigan.
- Anderson, Terry H, 1995, *The Movement and the Sixties*, Oxford University Press, New York.
- Ang, Ien 1991, Desperately Seeking the Audience, Routledge, London.
- Anheier, Helmut K, and Seibel, Wolfgang 1990, "Sociological and political science approaches to the third sector," in *The Third Sector: Comparative Studies of Nonprofit Organizations*, eds Helmut K Anheier, and Wolfgang Seibel. Walter de Gruyter, Berlin, 1990.
- ANN (Adventist News Network), 1999, "GC president resigns," *Record*, February 27, page 12.
- Ansett: The collapse of an Australian Icon, 2002, (videorecording), Video Education Australasia, Bendigo, Vic.
- Anthony, Robert N. and Young, David W, 1990, "Characteristics of nonprofit organisations," in eds David L Gies, Steven J Ott and Jay M Shafritz, The Nonprofit Organization: Essential Readings, Brooks/Cole Publishing Company, Pacific Grove, California.
- Arasola, Kai J, 1990, The End of Historicism: Millerite Hermeneutic of Time Prophecies in the Old Testament, Uppsala, Datem Publishing, Sweden.
- Arthur, David T, 1974, "After the Great Disappointment: To Albany and beyond," *Adventist Heritage*, January, 1974, Vol 1, No 1, pages 5-10.
- Atkin, Charles, 1981, "Campaign Effectiveness," in eds Ronald E Rice and William J Paisley, Public Communication Campaigns, Sage Publications, London.
- Australasian Union Conference, 1942, "Australasian Union Conference annual meetings," Australasian Record, October 5, pages 4-5.
- Australasian Union Conference, 1940, "A message that was read in all our churches," Australasian Record, June 17, page 7.
- Bacchiocchi, Samuele, 1980, Divine Rest for Human Restlessness: A Theological Study of the Good News of the Sabbath for Today, Samuele Bacchiocchi, Berrien Springs, Michigan.
- Bacchiocchi, Samuele, 1977, From Sabbath to Sunday: A Historical Investigation of the Rise of Sunday Observance in Early Christianity, The Pontifical; Gregorian University Press, Rome.

- Backus, Irena, 1994, "Church, communion and community in Bucer's commentary on the Gospel of John," in ed D F Wright, *Martin Bucer: Reforming Church and Community*, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge, Great Britain, pages 61-71.
- Bailey, Anne, Barker, Janet, Brinkley, Christine, Brown, Deborah, Butler, Cath, Grey, Saidie, Penny, Linda, Sheil, Helen, and Webb, Maureen, 1996, More Than One Way: From Research "Hearing Rural Women's Voices," Office of Rural Affairs, published by the Ministry of Agriculture, Energy and Minerals, Victorian State Government, Melbourne.
- Bainbridge, William Sims, 1997, The Sociology of Religious Movements, Routledge, New York.
- Ball, Bryan W, 1981, The English Connection: The Puritan Roots of Seventh-day Adventist Belief, James Clarke, Cambridge.
- Ballis, Peter H, 1999, Leaving the Adventist Ministry: A Study of the Process of Exiting, Praeger, Westport, Connecticut.
- Ballis, Peter H, 1995, Leaving the Adventist Ministry: A Study of the Social Process of Exit, PhD thesis, La Trobe University.
- Ballis, Peter H, 1991, "Adventists, compulsory unionism and the division of labour," in ed Arthur J Ferch, *Journey of Hope*, Signs Publishing Company, Warburton, Vic.
- Ballis, Peter H, 1987, "Adventist cooperators and Jehovah's Witness neutrals during World War 2," unpublished paper.
- Ballis, Peter H, 1985, "Introduction: Seventh-day Adventists in New Zealand," in ed Peter H Ballis, In and Out of the World: Seventh-day Adventists in New Zealand, The Dunmore Press Limited, Palmerston North, New Zealand.
- Ballis, Peter H, 1985, "Seventh-day Adventists and New Zealand Politics," in ed Peter H Ballis, In and Out of the World: Seventh-day Adventists in New Zealand, The Dunmore Press Limited, Palmerston North, New Zealand.
- Ballis, Peter H, 1983, "White for harvest: Seventh-day Adventists and the Maori people: 1886 to 1916," Paper submitted in partial fulfillment of the requirements for the Honours course Religion in New Zealand, Victoria University, Wellington, NZ.
- Barbato, Joseph, 2003, "Writing for nonprofits has its challenges," *The Editorial Eye*, Vol 26, No 4, April, pages 1-3.
- Barkun, Michael, 1986, Crucible of the Millennium: The Burned-Over District of New York in the 1840s, Syracuse University Press, New York.

- Barnes, Leonard S, 1940, "The safeguarding of democracy," Signs of the Times, September 30, pages 1-2.
- Barr, Trevor, 1985, The Electronic Estate: New Communications Media and Australia, Penguin Books, Australia.
- Barr, Trevor, 1977, Reflections on Reality: The Media in Australia, Rigby Limited, Adelaide.
- Barrett, John, 1966, That Better Country: The Religious Aspect of Life in Eastern Australia, 1835-1850, Melbourne University Press, Vic.
- Barth, Fredrik, 1970, Ethnic Groups and Boundaries: The Sociological Organization of Culture Difference, Universitets Forlaget, Bergen-Oslo.
- Beavis, Allan, 2002, "Foreword," in Hugh Mackay, Media Mania: Why Our Fear of Modern Media is Misplaced, New College Lectures, University of New South Wales Press.
- Becker, Howard S, 1998, Tricks of the Trade: How to Think About Your search While You're Doing It, The University of Chicago Press, Chicago, USA.
- Begg, James A, 1841, "A letter from Scotland," Signs of the Times, April 1, page 3.
- Bell, Catherine, 1997, Ritual: Perspectives and Dimensions, Oxford University Press, New York.
- Belleau, George S, 1939, "Gleanings from the Fall Council," Australasian Record, February 6, page 2.
- Bell, Colin and Newby, Howard 1971, Community Studies: An Introduction to the Sociology of the Local Community, George Allen & Unwin Ltd, Great Britain.
- Berger, Peter L and Luckman, Thomas, 1995, Modernity, Pluralism and the Crisis of Meaning: The Orientation of Modern Man, Bertelsmann Foundation Publishers, Gutersloh.
- Berger, Peter L and Luckmann, Thomas, 1969, *The Social Construction of Reality: A Treatise in the Sociology of Knowledge*, Allen Lane, The Penguin Press, London.
- Berger, Peter L, 1979, Facing Up to Modernity: Excursions in Society, Politics, and Religion, Penguin Books, Harmondsworth, Middlesex, England.
- Berger, Peter L, 1973, Invitation to Sociology: A Humanistic Perspective, Penguin Books, Harmondsworth, Middlesex, England.
- Berger, Peter L, 1969, The Social Reality of Religion, Faber and Faber, London.

- Biddle, Jeff E, 1992, "Religious organizations," in ed Charles T Clotfelder, Who Benefits from the Nonprofit Sector? University of Chicago Press, Chicago.
- Billington, Louis, 1987, "The Millerite Adventists in Great Britain, 1840-1850," in eds Ronald L Numbers and Jonathan M Butler, *The Disappointed: Millerism and Millenarianism in the Nineteenth Century*, Indiana University Press, Bloomington and Indianapolis.
- Black, Alan W, 1983, "Introduction," in eds Alan W Black and Peter E Glasner, Practice and Belief: Studies in the Sociology of Australian Religion, Allan and Unwin, Sydney.
- Blaich, Roland, 2002, "Divided loyalties," Spectrum, Winter, Vol 30, No 1, pages 37-51.
- Bodroghkozy, Aniko, 1997, "The Smothers Brothers Comedy Hour' and the youth rebellion," in eds, Lynn Spigel and Michael Curtin, *The Revolution Wasn't Televised: Sixties Television and Social Conflict*, Routledge, New York.
- Bollen, J D, 1972, Protestantism and Social Reform in New South Wales 1890-1910, Melbourne University Press, Melbourne.
- Botting, Heather and Gary 1984, The Orwellian World of Jehovah's Witnesses, University of Toronto Press, Canada.
- Bouma, Gary D, 1996a, The Research Process, Oxford University Press, Melbourne..
- Bouma, Gary D, 1996b, "Religion and identity formation in a multicultural society," in ed Gary D Bouma, *Many Religions, All Australian: Religious Settlement, Identity and Cultural Diversity*, Christian Research Association, Kew, Australia.
- Bouma, Gary D, 1996c, "An introduction to religious settlement in Australia," in ed Gary D Bouma, Many Religions, All Australian: Religious Settlement, Identity and Cultural Diversity, Christian Research Association, Kew, Australia.
- Bouma, Gary D, 1995, "The emergence of religious plurality in Australia: A multicultural society," Sociology of Religion, 56:3, pages 285-302.
- Bouma, Gary D, 1992, Religion: Meaning, Transcendence and Community in Australia, Longman Cheshire Pty Limited, Melbourne.
- Box, Gordon, 2001, interview, November 30.
- Box, Gordon, 1974, "Telos philos," Telos, Vol 4, No 4, page 26.
- Boyd, Tom W, 1994, "Is spirituality possible without religion? A query for the postmodern era," in (ed) Ann W Astell, *Divine Representations: Postmodernism and Spirituality*, Paulist Press, New Jersey.

- Brady, Veronica 1989, preface in Chadwick, Paul, Media Mates: Carving up Australia's Media, The Macmillan Company of Australia, Melbourne.
- Brannen, Julia, "Combining qualitative and quantitative approaches: An overview," in ed Julia Brannen, *Mixing Methods: Qualitative and Quantitative Research*, Avebury Publishing Limited, Aldershot, UK.
- Brown, H F, 1943, "Experience of a war worker," Australasian Record, November 15, page 5.
- Brown, R Pavitt, 1945a, "Atomic bomb finale," Signs of the Times, September 3, page 3.
- Brown, R Pavitt, 1945b, "The way of deliverance," Signs of the Times, September 17, page 2.
- Brown, R Pavitt, 1945c, "Stern warnings," Signs of the Times, December 3, page 2.
- Brummett, Barry, 2000, "Rhetorical epistemology and rhetorical spirituality," in eds Mary Louise Buley-Meissner; Mary McCaslin Thompson; and Elizabeth Bachrach Tan, The Academy and the Possibility of Belief: Essays on Intellectual and Spiritual Life, Hampton Press, Inc, Cresskill, New Jersey.
- Bruner, Jerome, 1986, Actual Minds, Possible Worlds, Harvard University Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts, USA.
- Bull, Malcolm and Lockhart, Keith, 1989, Seeking a Sanctuary: Seventh-day Adventism and the American Dream, Harper and Row, New York.
- Burner, David, 1996, Making Peace with the Sixties, Princeton University Press, Princeton, New Jersey.
- Burns, N C, 1939, "The aroused East," Signs of the Times, July 31, pages 11-13.
- Burt, Merlin D, 2002, The Historical Background, Interconnected Development, and Integration of the Doctrines of the Sanctuary, the Sabbath, and Ellen G White's Role in Sabbatarian Adventism from 1844 to 1849, PhD thesis, Andrews University, Michigan.
- Butler, Jonathan M, 1992, "Introduction: The historian as heretic," in Ronald L Numbers, Prophetess of Health: Ellen G White and the Origins of Seventh-day Adventist Health Reform, revised edition, University of Tennessee Press.
- Butler, Jonathan M, 1987, "The making of a new order: Millerism and the origins of Seventh-day Adventism," in eds Ronald L Numbers and Jonathan M Butler, *The Disappointed: Millerism and Millenarianism in the Nineteenth Century*, Indiana University Press, Bloomington and Indianapolis.

- Butler, Jonathan M and Numbers, Ronald L, 1987, "Seventh-day Adventism," in *The Encyclopedia of Religion*, vol no 13, ed, Mirce and Eliade, New York, Macmillan Publishing Co.
- Butler, Jonathan M, 1974, "Adventism and the American Experience," in ed Edwin S Gaustad, The Rise of Adventism: Religion and Society in Mid-nineteenth Century America, Harper and Row, New York.
- Carey, James W, 1992, Communication as Culture: Essays on Media and Society, Routledge, New York.
- Carswell, W R, 1940, "The work and wanderings of a pioneer," Australasian Record, June 24, pages 4-5.
- Chadwick, Paul 1989, Media Mates: Carving up Australia's Media, The Macmillan Company of Australia, Melbourne.
- Christian, L H, 1939, "Omens of the coming day," Australasian Record, May 29, pages 1-4.
- Chwe, Michael Suk-Young, 2001, Rational Ritual: Culture, Coordination, and Common Knowledge, Princeton University Press, New Jersey.
- Cicourel, Aaron V, 1964, Method and Measurement in Sociology, The Free Press, New York.
- Clapham, Noel P, 1985, "Seventh-day Adventists and local option in New South Wales: 1885-1919," in ed Arthur J Ferch, *Adventist History in the South Pacific: 1885-1918*, Signs Publishing Company, Warburton, Vic.
- Clapham, Noel 1985, "Origins," in ed Noel Clapham, Seventh-day Adventists in the South Pacific: 1885-1985, Signs Publishing Company, Warburton, Vic.
- Clark, E T, 1967, "Types of sects in the United States," in Milton J Yinger, Religion, Society and the Individual: An Introduction to the Sociology of religion, The Macmillan Company, New York.
- Clark, Manning, 1987, A Short History of Australia, third revised edition, a Mentor book, NAL Penguin Inc, New York.
- Clotfelder, Charles T, 1992, "The distributional consequences of nonprofit activities," in ed Charles T Clotfelder, Who Benefits from the Nonprofit Sector? University of Chicago Press, Chicago, 1992.
- Cobb, John B, 1996, "Defining normative community," in eds William Vitek and Wes Jackson, Rooted in the Land: Essays on Community and Place, Yale University Press, New Haven.
- Cockington, James, 1992, Mondo Weirdo: Australia in the Sixties, Mandarin, Port Melbourne, Victoria.

- Coffin, James, 1999, interview, March 21.
- Coffin, James, 1991, "Record surveys: Ministers/teachers and readers," unpublished surveys.
- Coffin, James, 1988, "Dear editor," Record, June 25, page 2.
- Coffin, James, 1986, "My dream for the church," Adventist Review, January 23, pages 8-11.
- Cohen, Anthony P, 1985, The Symbolic Construction of Community, Routledge, London.
- Cohen, Rich, 2004, "It's not news: What today's high school journalist is taught," *Harper's Magazine*, February 2004, pages 64-72.
- Conard, Claude, 1939, "Every cloud has a silver lining," Australasian Record, March 6, page 1.
- Conway, Ronald, 1985, The Great Australian Stupor: An Interpretation of the Australian Way of Life, Sun Books, Melbourne.
- Cook, Guy, 1992, The Discourse of Advertising, Routledge, London.
- Coombs, Merolyn, 1996, Information Dissemination in the Seventh-day Adventist Church, a paper completed as a partial requirement for a Master of Applied Science in Information Studies, University of Technology, Sydney.
- Cornwall, Marie, 1987, "The social basis of religion: A study of factors influencing religious belief and commitment," *Review of Religious Research*, vol 29, no 1.
- Cottrell, Raymond F, 1980, "The Sanctuary Review Committee and its new consensus," Spectrum, November, vol 11, no 2, pages 2-26.
- Craig, Robert L, 1992, "Advertising as Visual Communication," Communication, vol 13, no 3.
- Crimmins, James C and Kiel, Mary 1990, "Enterprise in the nonprofit sector," in eds David L Gies, Steven J Ott and Jay M Shafritz, *The Nonprofit Organization: Essential Readings*, Brooks/Cole Publishing Company, Pacific Grove, California.
- Crosier, Owen R L, 1846, "The sanctuary," The Day-Star Extra, February 7, pages 38-44.
- Cross, Whitney R, 1950, The Burned-Over District: The Social and Intellectual History of Enthusiastic Religion in Western New York, 1800-1850, Harper Torchbooks, Harper and Row, New York.

- Crow, Graham and Allan, Graham 1994, Community Life: An Introduction to Local Social Relations, Harvester Wheatsheaf, Hertfordshire.
- Crowley, David and Mitchell, David, 1994, "Communication in a post-mass mediated world," in eds David Crowley and David Mitchell, Communication Theory Today, Polity Press, Cambridge, UK.
- Curran, James, 1977, "Capitalism and control of the press, 1800-1975" in eds James Curran, Michael Gurevitch and Janet Woollacott, *Mass Communication and Society*, Edward Arnold Publishers Ltd, London.
- Dabrowski, Ray, 2001, personal correspondence, November 7.
- D'Acci, Julie, 1997, "Nobody's woman? 'Honey West' and the new sexuality," in eds, Lynn Spigel and Michael Curtin, *The Revolution Wasn't Televised: Sixties Television and Social Conflict*, Routledge, New York.
- Damsteegt, Gerard P. 1977, Foundations of the Seventh-day Adventist Message and Mission, William B Eerdmans Publishing Company, Grand Rapids, Michigan.
- Datta, Lois-ellin 1994, "Paradigm wars," in eds Charles S Reichardt and Sharon F Rallis, *The Qualitative-Quantitative Debate: New Perspectives*, Jossey-Bass Publishers, San Francisco.
- DeAth, H F, 1942, "The tragedy of banishing God," Signs of the Times, January 19, 1942, pages 1-2.
- Dederen, Raoul, 1982, "Reflections on a theology of the Sabbath," in ed Kenneth A Strand, *The Sabbath in Scripture and History*, Review and Herald Publishing Association, Washington, DC.
- Delbridge, A, Bernard, J R L, Blair, D, Peters, P, Butler, S, 1992, *The Macquarie Dictionary* second edition, The Macquarie Library, Macquarie University, Australia.
- Denzin, Norman K, 1989, Interpretive Interaction, Sage Publications, Newbury Park, California.
- Dervin, Brenda, 1981, "Mass communicating" in eds Ronald E Rice and William J Paisley, *Public Communication Campaigns*, Sage Publications, California.
- Dexter, Lewis Anthony, 1970, Elite and Specialized Interviewing, Northwestern University Press, Evanston, USA.
- Dick, ED, 1941, "Look on the field," Australasian Record, June 2, pages 10-12.
- Dick, Everret N, 1986, "The Millerite movement: 1830-1845," in ed Gary Land, Adventism in America: A History, William B Eerdmans Publishing Company, Grand Rapids, Michigan.

- Doan, Ruth Alden, 1987, The Miller Heresy, Millennialism, and American Culture, Temple University Press, Philadelphia.
- Dougherty, B W, 1941, "Does God forget?" Signs of the Times, August 18, pages 1-2.
- Douglas, Jack D, 1985, Creative Interviewing, Sage Publications Inc, Beverly Hills, California.
- Douglas, Mary, 1970, Purity and Danger: An Analysis of Concepts of Pollution and Taboo, Routledge and Kegan, London.
- Douglass, Herbert E, 1998, Messenger of the Lord: The Prophetic Ministry of Ellen G White, Pacific Press Publishing Association, Nampa, Idaho.
- Durbin, Karen, 1970, "Alphabet soup," in eds, Judith Clavir Albert and Stewart Edward Albert, 1984, The Sixties Papers: Documents of a Rebellious Decade, Praeger, New York.
- Drucker, Peter F, 1995, Managing in a Time of Great Change, Truman Talley Books/Dutton, New York.
- Durkheim, Emile, 1995, *The Elementary Forms of Religious Life*, trans Karen E Fields, The Free Press, New York.
- Durkheim, Emile, 1975, "The elementary forms of the religious life: the totemic system in Australia," in ed W S F Pickering, Durkheim on Religion: A Selection of Readings with Bibliographies, Routledge and Kegan Paul, London, pages 102-166.
- Durkheim, Emile, 1951, Suicide: A Study in Sociology, trans John A Spalding and George Simpson, The Free Press, New York.
- Durkheim, Emile, 1933, *The Division of Labour in Society*, trans George Simpson, The Free Press, New York.
- Easthope, Gary, 1974, A History of Social research Methods, Longman Group Limited, London.
- Eco, Umberto (with Rorty, Richard, Culler, Jonathan and Brooke-Rose, Christine), 1992, Interpretation and Overinterpretation, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Eco, Umberto, 1990, *The Limits of Interpretation*, Indiana University Press, Bloomington and Indianapolis, USA.
- Eco, Umberto, 1979, The Role of the Reader: Explorations in the Semiotics of Texts, Hutchisons, Covent Gardens, London.
- Edson, Hiram, undated, "Life and experiences" also known as "Hiram Edson manuscript."

- Edwards, Walter O, 1940a, Signs of the Times, September 2, pages 12-13.
- Edwards, Walter O, 1940b, Signs of the Times, December 9, pages 6-7.
- Edwards, William (Bill) H, 2002, Recovering Spirit: Exploring Aboriginal Spirituality, Charles Strong Memorial Trust, Flinders Press, Flinders University, SA.
- Eister, Allan W, 1967, "Toward a radical critique of church-sect typologizing," *Journal* for the Scientific Study of Religion, vol 6, no 1, pages 85-90.
- Eldridge, John 1993, News, Truth and Power, London, Glasgow University Media Group.
- Ellwood, Robert S, 1994, The Sixties Spiritual Awakening: American Religion Moving from Modern to Postmodern, Rutgers University Press, New Brunswick, New Jersey.
- Elliott, Philip, 1980, "Media organisations and occupations," in eds James Curran and Herbert J Gans, Deciding What's News: A Study of CBS Evening News, NBC Nightly News, Newsweek and Time, Constable, London.
- Ely, Richard, 1976, Unto God and Caesar: Religious Issues in the Emerging Commonwealth, 1891-1906, Melbourne University Press, Melbourne.
- Emmerson, W L, 1983, *The Reformation and the Advent Movement*, Review and Herald Publishing Association, Hagerstown, Maryland.
- Espy, Siri N, 1986, Handbook of Strategic Planning for Nonprofit Organizations, Praeger, New York.
- Ezzy, Douglas, 2002, Qualitative Analysis: Practice and Innovation, Allen and Unwin, Crows Nest, NSW.
- Fairholm, Gilbert W, 1997, Capturing the Heart of Leadership: Spirituality and Community in the New American Workplace, Praeger, Westport, Connecticut.
- Ferren, J.R., 1945, "Battlefield surgeon," Signs of the Times, May 7, page 7.
- Filstead, William J. 1979, "Qualitative methods: A needed perspective in evaluation research," in eds Thomas D Cook and Charles S Reichardt, Qualitative and Quantitative Methods in Evaluation Research, Sage Publications Inc, Thousand Oaks, California.
- Fiske, John 1992, "Popularity and the politics of information," in eds Peter Dahlgren and Celin Sparks, Journalism and Popular Culture, Sage Publications, London.
- Fiske, John 1989, Reading the Popular, Unwin Hyman, London.

- Foley, Carol A, 1996, *The Australian Flag: Colonial Relic or Contemporary Icon?* The Federation Press, Leichhardt, N.S.W.
- Ford, Desmond, 1971, "Does life have meaning?" Telos, vol 1, no 1, pages 8-11, 14.
- Fordham, Walter W, 1945, "The Vatican in the post-war world," Signs of the Times, October 22, pages 6-7, 12.
- Foster, Lawrence 1987 "Had prophecy failed? Contrasting perspectives of the Millerites and Shakers," in eds Ronald L Numbers and Jonathan M Butler, *The Disappointed*, Indiana University Press, Bloomington and Indianapolis.
- Foucault, Michel, 1994, The Order of Things: An Archaeology of the Human Sciences, Vintage Books, a division of Random House, Inc, New York.
- Foucault, Michel, 1989, in ed Sylvere Lotringer, Foucault Live: Interviews, 1966-84, (trans) John Johnstons, Semiotext(e) Foreign Agents Series, Columbia University, New York.
- Franz, C O and Parmenter, K S, 1980, "Teacher given leave to prepare doctrinal statement," *Australasian Record*, January 14, page 1.
- Froom, LeRoy Edwin, 1946-1954, The Prophetic Faith of Our Fathers: The Historical Development of Prophetic Interpretation, vols 1-4, Review and Herald, Washington, DC.
- Froom, Le Roy Edwin, 1948, *The Prophetic Faith of Our Fathers*, Vol II, Review and Herald, Washington, DC.
- Froom, LeRoy Edwin, 1965, 1966. The Conditionalist Faith of Our Fathers: The Conflict of the Ages Over the Nature and Destiny of Man, vols 1, 2, Review and Herald, Washington, DC.
- Garne, Geoffrey E, 2000, interview, August 15.
- Garne, Geoffrey E, 1981a, "My mandate," Australasian Record, February 2, page 4.
- Garne, Geoffrey E, 1981b, "Time to move on," Australasian Record, November 30, page 4.
- Gates, E H, 1906, "Mission secretary's report," Union Conference Record, October 1, pages 8-11.
- General Conference, 1945, "A message from the General Conference committee," Australasian Record, March 26, pages 2-3.
- General Conference, 1940, "Appeal from the General Conference," Australasian Record, February 12, page 2.

- General Conference, 1939a, "For such a time as this," Australasian Record, February 13, pages 1-2.
- General Conference, 1939b, "A call to greater evangelism," Australasian Record, February 27, page 1.
- Gerster, Robin and Bassett, Jan, 1991, Seizures of Youth: The Sixties and Australia, Hyland House Publishing Pty Limited, Melbourne, Vic.
- Gans, Herbert J, 1980, Deciding What's News: A Study of CBS News, NBC Nightly News, Newsweek and Time, Constable, London.
- Garne, G E, 1983, "What the *Record* reader survey told us," *Australasian Record*, February 5, pages 1, 3.
- Gies, David L, Ott, J Steven and Shafritz, Jay M (eds) 1990, *The Nonprofit Organization: Essential Readings*, Brooks/Cole Publishing Company, Pacific Grove, California.
- Giddens, Anthony, 1999, "Tradition," Reith Lectures, Lecture 3, BBC.
- Giddens, Anthony and Pierson, Christopher, 1998, Conversations with Anthony Giddens: Making Sense of Modernity, Polity Press, Cambridge.
- Giddens, Anthony, 1994, "Living in a post-traditional society," in Beck, Ulrich; Giddens, Anthony and Lash, Scott, 1994, Reflexive Modernization: Politics, Tradition and Aesthetics in the Modern Social Order, Polity Press, Cambridge.
- Giddens, Anthony, 1991, Modernity and Self-identity: Self and Society in the Late Modern Age, Stanford University Press, Stanford, California.
- Giddens, Anthony, 1990, The Consequences of Modernity, Polity Press, Cambridge.
- Gilson, W J, 1943, "Socialism and Christianity," Signs of the Times, July 26, 1943.
- Glasser, Barney G and Strauss, Anselm L, 1967, The Discovery of Grounded Theory: Strategies for Qualitative Research, Aldine Publishing Company, Chicago.
- Goffar, Janine, 1999, Letter to the editor: "The Folkenberg issue," Adventist Today, March-April, pages 4-5.
- Goffman, Erving 1981, Forms of Talk, University of Philadelphia Press, Philadelphia, USA.
- Goldstein, Clifford, 1999, "Publish or they perish: Why Adventists care about print," Adventist Review, June, pages 8-9.
- Goldstone, Ross S, 1986, "Adventist camp meetings—A church growth strategy: 1893-1918," in ed Arthur J Ferch, Adventist History in the South Pacific: 1885-1918, Signs Publishing Company, Warburton, Vic.

- Goldstone, Ross S, 1980, *The Angel Said Australia*, Signs Publishing Company, Warburton, Victoria.
- Goode, William J, 1969, "Community within a community: The professions" in eds, David W Minar and Scott Greer, *The Concept of Community: Readings with Interpretations*, Aldine Publishing Company, Chicago.
- Grant, Lorenzo H, 1980, "Bureaucratic theology?" *Spectrum*, November, vol 11, no 2, pages 2-26.
- Gray, Herman, 1997, "Remembering civil rights: Television, memory, and the 1960s," in eds Lynn Spigel and Michael Curtin, *The Revolutions Wasn't Televised: Sixties Television and Social Conflict*, Routledge, New York.
- Greeley, Andrew M and Rossi, Peter H, 1972, *The Denominational Society: A Sociological Approach to Religion in America*, Scott, Foresman and Company, Glenview, Illinois.
- Guba, Egon G and Lincoln, Yvonna S, 1989, Fourth Generation Evaluation, Nev/bury Park, California.
- Guy, Fritz, 1999, Thinking Theologically: Adventist Christianity and the Interpretation of Faith, Andrews University Press, Berrien Springs, Michigan.
- Hacking, Ian, 1999, The Social Construction of What? Harvard University Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts.
- Hagan, L L and Staunton, J J, 1994, Nonprofit Accounting and Australian Accounting Standards, Working Paper No 86-3, Department of Accounting and Financial Management, University of New England, 1994.
- Hall, Bob, Thorns, David and Willmott, Bill, 1983, Community Formation and Change:

 A Study of Rural and Urban Localities in New Zealand, Working Paper 4,
 University of Canterbury, Christchurch, New Zealand.
- Halliday, H J and Hare, R E, 1940, "The work for today," Australasian Record, March 18, page 6.
- Hamilton, Michael S, and McKinney, Jennifer, 2003, "Turning the mainline around," Christianity Today, August, pages 34-40
- Hamilton, Peter, 1985, "Editor's Foreword," in Anthony P Cohen, *The Symbolic Construction of Community*, Routledge, London.
- Hammersley, Martyn, 1992, "Deconstructing the qualitative-quantitative divide," in ed Julia Brannen, *Mixing Methods: Qualitative and Quantitative Research*, Avebury Publishing Limited, Aldershot, UK.

- Hansen, Donald, 1985, "The Adventist press" in ed Noel P Clapham, Seventh-day Adventists in the South Pacific: 1885-1985, Signs Publishing Company, Warburton, Victoria.
- Hardt, Hanno, 1979, Social Theories of the Press: Early German and American Perspectives, Sage Publications, California.
- Hare, R E, 1941, "A resume of N.E.W.S activities," Australasian Union Conference Bulletin, number 3, pages 6-7.
- Hare, Reuben E, 1939, "National emergency service," Australasian Record, April 17, page 6.
- Haskell, Stephen N, 1874, "The cause is onward," Second Advent Review and Sabbath Herald, May 26, page 190.
- Haskell, Stephen N, 1885, "New Zealand," Second Advent Review and Sabbath Herald, July 28, page 473.
- Hassan, Riaz, 2002, "On being religious: A study of Christian and Muslim piety in Australia," Australian Religious Studies Review, vol 15, no 1, Autumn, pages 87-114.
- Harlock, Paul, 1971, "Am I on the way out?" Australasian Record, February 1, page 1.
- Harrison, C W, E L, 1943, "The authority of the state," *Australasian Record*, February 1, page 6.
- Harvey, J W, 1939, "Seeing beyond: A message for the year 1939, Signs of the Times, February 6, pages 1-2.
- Hay, Marian M, 1945a, "Secret diplomacy creates unease," Signs of the Times, January 29, page 3.
- Hay, Marian M, 1945b, "Can our war dead make contact with us?" Signs of the Times, April 9, pages 4-5.
- Hay, Marian M, 1945c, "Brisbane shocked," Signs of the Times, October 22, page 2.
- Hay, Marian M, 1945d, "Then and now," Signs of the Times, December 3, pages 2-3.
- Hay, Marian M, 1944a, "Is individual freedom endangered?" Signs of the Times, July 17, page 2.
- Hay, Marian M, 1944b, "A potential destroyer of humanity," Signs of the Times, October 16, page 2.
- Hay, Marian M, 1943, "Vatican diplomacy," Signs of the Times, April 19, page 4.
- Hay, Marian M, 1943b, "Saluting the flag," Signs of the Times, August 30, pages 3, 7.

- Hay, Marian M, 1942, "Wanted—a super brain to boss the world," Signs of the Times, April 13, page 4.
- Haynes, CB, 1945, "They are not afraid to die," Signs of the Times, September 3, pages 1.5.
- Haynes, C B, 1944, "Why regimentation won't work," Signs of the Times, May 29, pages 4, 5.
- Haynes, Carlyle B, 1940, "Conscription and non-combatancy," Australasian Record, December 9, pages 2-3.
- Haynes, Donald F, 1941: "Why Napoleon and others failed," Signs of the Times, December 1, pages 1-3.
- Hebdige, Dick, 1979, Subculture: The Meaning of Style, Methuen and Co Ltd, London.
- Hedrick, Terry E, 1994, "The quantitative-qualitative debate: Possibilities for integration," in eds Charles S Reichardt and Sharon F Rallis, *The Qualitative-Quantitative Debate: New Perspectives*, Jossey-Bass Publishers, San Francisco.
- Henderson, Gerard, 1990, "The nine myths of Murdochphobia" in *Issues in Australian Journalism*, ed John Henningham, Longman Cheshire Pty Limited, Melbourne.
- Henningham, John, 1990, "Introduction" in ed John Henningham, Issues in Australian Journalism, Longman Cheshire Pty Limited, Melbourne.
- Henningham, John, 1996, "The shape of daily news: A content analysis of Australia's metropolitan and national newspapers." A paper published by the Department of Journalism, University of Queensland.
- Herman, Edward S and Chomsky, Noam, 1988, Manufacturing Consent: The Political Economy of the Mass Media, Pantheon House, Random House, New York.
- Herndon, Booton 1960, The Seventh Day: The Story of the Seventh-day Adventists, McGraw-Hill Book Company, Inc, New York.
- Heschel, Abraham Joshua, 2000, The Sabbath: Its Meaning for Modern Life, Farrar, Straus and Giroux, New York.
- Hill, Michael, 1973, A Sociology of Religion, Heinemann Educational Books Ltd, London.
- Hillery, Jr, George A, 1982, A Research Odyssey: Developing and Testing a Community Theory, Transaction Books, New Brunswick, New Jersey.
- Himes, Joshua V, 1845, "Meetings in New London, Ct." The Advent Herald and Signs of the Times Reporter, February 5, page 205.

- Himes, Joshua V, 1844, letter to William Miller, September 30.
- Hoffmann, Joan Eakin, 1980, "Problems of access in the study of social elites and boards of directors" in eds William B Shaffir, Robert A Stebbins and Allan Turowetz, Fieldwork Experience: Qualitative Approaches to Social Research, St Martin's Press, New York.
- Hoffmann, R Joseph, 1997, "Preface," in eds, Laurence Brown, Bernard C Farr and R Joseph Hoffmann, *Modern Spiritualities: An Inquiry*, Prometheus Books, Amherst, New York.
- Hogan, Michael, 1987, The Sectarian Strand: Religion in Australian History, Penguin Books, Ringwood.
- Holden, W Sprague, 1962, Australia Goes to Press, Melbourne University Press, Australia.
- Holman, Alan, 2003, "A publishing centenary," Record, September 20, pages 10-11.
- Holmes, Josephine, 1943, "Victory through faith," Australasian Record, February 1, page 8.
- Holstein, James A and Gubrium, Jaber F, 1995, *The Active Interview*, Sage Publications, Inc, Thousand Oaks, California, USA.
- Hook, Milton, 1998, Avondale: Experiment on the Dora, Avondale Academic Press, Cooranbong, NSW.
- Hooper, WT, 1942, "Dear young men," Australasian Record, December 14, page 3.
- Horne, Donald, 1980, *Time of Hope: Australia 1966-72*, Angus & Robertson Publishers, Sydney.
- Horne, Donald, 1971, The Lucky Country, Penguin Books Australia Limited, Adelaide.
- Horsfield, Peter, 1999, "Churches and electronic culture," in eds Peter H Ballis and Gary D Bouma, *Religion in an Age of Change*, Christian Research Association, Kew, Victoria.
- Hudson, Winthrop S, 1974, "A time of religious ferment" in ed Edwin S Gaustad, The Rise of Adventism: Religion and Society in Mid-Nineteenth-Century America, Harper and Row, New York.
- Huengergardt, J F, 1943, "Better people; better world!" Signs of the Times, May 24, pages 1-2.
- Hughes, Philip, 2003, "Social capital and religion in contemporary Australia," in eds Brian Howe and Philip Hughes, Spirit of Australia II: Religion in Citizenship and National Life, ATF Press, Hindmarsh, SA.

- Hughes, Philip, Thompson, Craig, Pryor, Rohan and Bouma, Gary D, 1995, Believe It or Not: Australian Spirituality and the Churches in the 90s, Christian Research Association, Kew, Australia.
- Hurst, John and White, Sally A, 1994, Ethics and the Australian News Media, Macmillan Education Australia Pty Ltd, South Melbourne.
- Isenhart, Myra Warren and Spangle, Warren, 2000, Collaborative Approaches to Resolving Conflict, Sage Publications, Inc, Thousand Oaks, California.
- Iser, Wolfgang, 1991, The Act of Reading: A Theory of Aesthetic Response, John Hopkins University Press, Maryland, USA.
- Jackson, Fraser, 1997, "Report on a survey of readers of *Record:* A picture of Seventh-day Adventist Church attendees in Australia and New Zealand in 1997," unpublished survey.
- Jackson, L Fraser, 1986, "The spread of a religious innovation: Examples in New Zealand 1885-1916," in ed Arthur J Ferch, Adventist History in the South Pacific: 1885-1918, Signs Publishing Company, Warburton, Vic.
- James, Estelle 1990, "Economic theories of the nonprofit sector: A comparative perspective," in eds Helmut K Anheier and Wolfgang Seibel, *The Third Sector: Comparative Studies of Nonprofit Organization*, Walter de Gruyter, Berlin, Germany.
- Johnson, Alan 1996, "It's good to talk': The focus group and the sociological imagination," in *The Sociological Review 1996*, The editorial board, Blackwell Publishers, Oxford, UK, pages 517-38.
- Johnson, Benton, 1971, "Church and sect revisited," Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion, vol 10, pages 124-137.
- Johnson, Benton, 1963, "On church and sect," *American Sociological Review*, vol 28, pages 539-549.
- Johnson, John M, 1975, *Doing Field Research*, The Free Press, a division of Macmillan Publishing Co Inc, New York.
- Johnsson, William, 1999, "Caught in the web," Record, February 13, pages 10-11.
- Johnsson, William G, 1980a, "The Sanctuary Review Committee, characterised by unity and controlled by the Holy Spirit, finds strong support for the church's historic positions," in "Overview of a historic meeting," insert in *Australasian Record*, September 8, page 1-3.
- Johnsson, William G, 1980b, "Looking beyond Glacier View," Australasian Record, December 1, page 3.

- Jones, C P M, 1986, "Preface," in eds Cheslyn Jones, Geoffrey Wainwright, and Edward Yarnold, *The Study of Spirituality*, SPCK, London, pages xxi-xxvi.
- Judd, Wayne R, 1987, "William Miller: Disappointed prophet," in eds Ronald L Numbers and Jonathan M Butler, *The Disappointed: Millerism and Millenarianism in the Nineteenth Century*, Indiana University Press, Bloomington and Indianapolis.
- Kapitzke, Cushla, 1995, Literacy and Religion: The Textual Politics and Practice of Seventh-day Adventism, John Benjamins Publishing Company, Amsterdam/Philadelphia.
- Katz, Neil H and Lawyer, John W, 1985, Communication and Conflict Resolution Skills, Kendall/Hunt Publishing Company, Dubuque, Iowa.
- King, A L, 1944, "A warless new order," Signs of the Times, February 21, page 2.
- King, A L, 1943, "The hand of God in history," Signs of the Times, February 8, page 4.
- King, A L, 1940a, "The dimming of civilization's lamps," Signs of the Times, March 25, pages 6-7.
- King, A L, 1940b, "Conclusion of the Russo-Finnish war," Signs of the Times, April 8, pages 5-6, 13.
- King, A L, 1940c, "Pact between Axis and Japan," Signs of the Times, October 21, page 4.
- King, A L, 1939a, "Record peace-time budgets," Signs of the Times, March 27, pages 3-4.
- King, A L, 1939b, "The guns boom again in Europe," Signs of the Times, September 18, page 4.
- Kirk, Jerome and Miller, Marc L. 1986, Reliability and Validity in Qualitative Research, Sage Publications, Newbury Park, California.
- Kirkpatrick, Frank G, 1986, Community: A Trinity of Models, Georgetown University Press, Washington, DC.
- Kleinman, Sherryl, 1999, "Essaying the personal: Making sociological stories stick," in eds Barry Glassner and Rosanna Hertz, *Qualitative Sociology as Everyday Life*, Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks, California.
- Kleinman, Sherryl 1980, "Learning the ropes as fieldwork analysis" in eds William B Shaffir, Robert A Stebbins and Allan Turowetz, Fieldwork Experience: Qualitative Approaches to Social Research, St Martin's Press, New York.

- Knapp, Martin, Robertson, Eileen and Thomason, Corinne, 1990, "Public money, voluntary action," in Helmut K Anheier and Wolfgang Seibel, *The Third Sector: Comparative Studies of Nonprofit Organizations*, Walter de Gruyter, Berlin.
- Knight, George R, 2003, "Historical and theological introduction to the annotated edition," Seventh-day Adventists Answer Questions on Doctrine: Annotated Edition, Andrews University Press, Berrien Springs, Michigan.
- Knight, George R, 1993, Millennial Fever: And the End of the World, Pacific Press Association, Boise, Idaho.
- Knight, John 1995, "Apocalypse when? Purity or pluralism in the great Adventist movement," Australian Religion Studies Review, Vol 8, No 1, Autumn, pages 43-48.
- Knight, John, 1985, "Fundamentalism and education: A case-study in social ambiguity," *Discourse*, 5 (2): 19-38.
- Knight, John W, 1977, The World Not Turned Upside Down: A Case-study in Sociocultural Change, PhD thesis, University of Queensland.
- Knott, Bill, 1998, "The vanishing middle," Adventist Review, September 17.
- Kotler, Philip 1982, Marketing for Nonprofit Organizations, Prentice-Hall, Inc, Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey, 1982.
- Koyama, Kosuke, 1986, "Interplay with other religions," in eds Cheslyn Jones, Geoffrey Wainwright and Edward Yarnold, *The Study of Spirituality*, SPCK, London, pages 554-62.
- Kramer, Ralph M, 1990, "Nonprofit social service agencies and the welfare state," in eds Helmut K Anheier and Wolfgang Seibel, *The Third Sector: Comparative Studies of Nonprofit Organizations*, Walter de Gruyter, Berlin.
- Krause, Gary D, 1991, "Eating their cake too: Australian Adventist attitudes to the First and Second World Wars," in ed Arthur J Ferch, *Journey of Hope*, Signs Publishing Company, Warburton, Vic.
- Kubo, Sakae, 1998, "Foreword," in Zdravko Plantak, The Silent Church: Human Rights and Adventist Social Ethics, Macmillan Press Ltd, Basingstoke, Hampshire, UK.
- Kurtz, Paul, 1997, "Spiritualism, neospirituality, and the paranormal," in eds Laurence Brown, Bernard C Farr and R Joseph Hoffmann, *Modern Spiritualities: An Inquiry*, Prometheus Books, Amherst, New York.
- Kyle, Richard G, 1985, From Sect to Denomination: Church Types and Their Implications for the Mennonite Brethren History, Center for Mennonite Brethren Studies, Hillsboro, Kansas.

- Land, Gary, 1986, "Coping with change: 1961-1980," in ed Gary Land, Adventism in America: A History, William B Eerdmans Publishing Company, Grand Rapids, Michigan.
- Lawson, Ronald, 1998a, "Broadening the boundaries of church-sect theory: Insights into the evolution of the nonschismatic mission churches of Seventh-day Adventism," *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*, 37 (4), pages 652-672.
- Lawson, Ronald, 1398b, "Adventists and America's courts," *Spectrum*, July, pages 13-29.
- Lawson, Ronald, 1997, "The persistence of apocalypticism within a denominationalizing sect," in eds Thomas Robbins and Susan J Palmer, Millennium, Messiahs, and Mayhem: Contemporary Apocalyptic Movements, Routledge, London.
- Lawson, Ronald, 1996, "World Adventism is becoming worldly," *Spectrum*, Vol 25, No 4, June, pages 42-55.
- Lawson, Ronald, 1995a, "Sect-state relations: Accounting for the differing trajectories of Seventh-day Adventists and Jehovah's Witnesses," Sociology of Religion, 56: 4, pages 351-377.
- Lawson, Ronald, 1995b, "Seventh-day Adventist responses to Branch Davidian notoriety: Patterns of diversity within a sect reducing tension with society," *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*, 34 (3), pages 323-341.
- Leat, Diana, 1990, "Voluntary organizations and accountability: Theory and practice," in eds Helmut Anheier and Wolfgang Seibel, *The Third Sector: Comparative Studies of Nonprofit Organizations*, Walter de Gruyter, Berlin.
- Lee, David and Newby, Howard 1983, The Problem of Sociology: An Introduction to the Discipline, Hutchinson, London.
- Lee, Gordon A, 1974, "Tell it like it is," Australasian Record, June 24, page 1.
- Lester, Elli, 1992, "Buying the exotic 'other': Reading the 'Banana Republic' mail order catalogue," Journal of Communication Inquiry, vol. 16, no 2, Summer.
- Lewis, C S, 1967, A Preface to Paradise Lost, Oxford Paperbacks, Oxford University Press, London.
- Lichtenberg, Judith, 1992, "In defense of objectivity," in eds James Curran and Michael Gurevitch, Mass Media and Society, 1992, Edward Arnold, London.
- Linden, Ingemar, 1982, 1844 and the Shut Door Problem, Uppsala, Libertryck, Stockholm.

- Linden, Ingemar, 1978, The Last Trump: A Historico-genetical Study of Some Important Chapters in the Making and Development of the Seventh-day Adventist Church, Peter Lang, Frankfurt.
- Lineham, Peter J, 1985, "Adventism and the sawdust trail in late nineteenth century New Zealand," in ed Peter H Ballis, In and Out of the World: Seventh-day Adventists in New Zealand, The Dunmore Press Limited, Palmerston North, New Zealand.
- Litster, Glynn, 1985, "The Aborigines," in ed, Noel Clapham, Seventh-day Adventists in the South Pacific: 1885-1985, Signs Publishing Company, Warburton, Vic.
- Liu, H, 1941, "Word from Dr Liu, Chungking," Australasian Record, April 14, page 6.
- Longacre, C S, 1943, "The new order after the war," Signs of the Times, March 29, pages 1-2.
- Longway, E L, 1939, "News from China," Australasian Record, May 3, page 4.
- Lopata, Helena Znaniecki, 1980, "Interviewing American widows," in eds William B Shaffir, Robert A Stebbins and Allan Turowetz, Fieldwork Experience: Qualitative Approaches to Social Research, St Martin's Press, New York.
- "Lord's Day, The," 1844, The Midnight Cry, September 5 and 12, pages 68-69, 76-77.
- Lynch, Clifford, 2001, "The battle to define the future of the book in the digital world," First Monday, vol 6, no 6, June http://firstmonday.org/issues/issue6_6/lynch/mdex.html.
- Lyon, David, 2001, "Would God use email?" Zadok Perspectives, no 71, Winter, pages 20-3.
- Lyons, John, 1999a, "The pope's right-hand man," Bulletin, April 27, pages 25-31.
- Lyons, John, 1999b, "What the ABA didn't hear," Bulletin, November 9, pages 29-33.
- Lyons, Mark, 2001, Third Sector: The Contribution of nonprofit and cooperative enterprise in Australia, Allen & Unwin, Crows Nest, NSW.
- Lyons, Mark, 1994, Australia's Nonprofit Sector, CACOM Working Paper No 13, 2nd Edition, University of Technology, Sydney.
- Maddalena, Lucille A, 1981, A Communications Manual for Nonprofit Organisations, AMACOM, a division of American Management Associations, New York.
- Madgwick, W R A, 1939, "On earth peace': Here or hereafter?" Signs of the Times, December 18, pages 8-9.
- Manners, Bruce, 1999, "Correct decision," Record, March 27, page 10.

- Martin, D A, 1962, "The denomination," The British Journal of Sociology, vol 13.
- Martin, Walter R, 1965, The Kingdom of the Cults: An Analysis of the Major Cult Systems in the Present Christian Era, Zondervan Publishing House, Grand Rapids, Michigan.
- Marwick, Arthur, 2000, "Introduction: Locating key texts amid the distinctive landscape of the sixties," in eds Anthony Aldgate, James Chapman and Arthur Marwick, Windows on the Sixties: Exploring Key Texts of Media and Culture, I B Taurus & Co Ltd London.
- Maxwell, L G, 1943, "Loyalty of native converts," Australasian Record, August 23, page 8.
- Maykut, Pamela and Morehouse, Richard 1994, Beginning Qualitative Research: A Philosophical and Practical Guide, The Falmer Press, London.
- McCall, Michael, 1980, "Who and where are the artists?" in eds William B Shaffir, Robert A Stebbins, and Allan Turowetz, Fieldwork Experience: Qualitative Approaches to Social Research, St Martin's Press, New York.
- McElhany, J L, 1945, "The president's message," Australasian Record, February 26, page 1.
- McElhany, J L and Dick, E D, 1945, "A plea for religious liberty," Australasian Record, August 20, pages 2-3.
- McGrath, Alister E, 1999, Christian Spirituality: An Introduction, Blackwell Publishers, Oxford, UK.
- McLoughlin, William G, 1974, "Revivalism," in ed Edwin S Gaustad, *The Rise of Adventism: Religion and Society in Mid-Nineteenth-Century America*, Harper and Row, New York.
- McLuhan, Marshall, 1994 (1964), Understanding Media: The Extension of Man, The MIT Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts.
- McPhee, Angus, 1980, "The ring of truth," Australasian Record, July 14, pages 13-4.
- McQuail, Denis, 1994, Mass Communication Theory, An Introduction, Sage Publications, London.
- McQuail, Denis, 1991, "Mass media in the public interest: Towards a framework of norms for media performance," in eds James Curran and Michael Gurevitch, Edward Arnold, Mass Media and Society, Hodder and Stoughton, Great Britain.
- McQueen, Humphrey, 1981, Australia's Media Monopolies, Visa Books, Melbourne.
- Media Report, The, 1999, "The ABA inquiry into cash for comment, the productivity commission draft report into broadcasting," Radio National, October 28.

- Medley, Carlos, 1999, "Leaders grapple with controversy," *Record*, February 13, pages 9-10.
- Mellor, Philip A and Shilling, Chris, 1997, Re-forming the Body: Religion, Community and Modernity, Sage Publications, London.
- Miller, William, 1836, Evidences from Scripture and History of the Second Coming of Christ About the Year AD 1843, and of His Personal Reign of 1009 Years, Brandon, Vermont, Vermont Telegraph Office.
- Miller, William, 1842, "Memoir of William Miller," *The Midnight Cry*, November 17, pages 1-2; November 19, pages 1-2.
- Miller, William, 1844a, "Address to second advent believers," Signs of the Times, January 31, pages 195-196.
- Miller, William, 1844b, "Letter from Mr Miller—his position," The Advent Herald and Signs of the Times Reporter, April 10, pages 77-78.
- Miller, William, 1844c, "Brother Miller's letter," *The Midnight Cry*, October 12, pages 121-122.
- Miller, William, 1844d, "Letter from Bro Miller," The Advent Herald and Signs of the Times Reporter, December 11, page 142.
- Mills, C Wright, 1970, The Sociological Imagination, Penguin Books, Ringwood, Victoria.
- Minar, David W, and Greer, Scott 1969, The Concept of Community: Readings with Interpretations, Aldine Publishing Company, Chicago.
- Minchin, E L, 1943, "Lift up your heads," Australasian Record, January 4, page 1.
- Mishler. Elliot G, 1986, Research Interviewing: Context and Narrative, Harvard University Press, Cambridge, Massachusetts.
- Mol, Hans 1976, Identity and the Sacred: A Sketch for a New Social-scientific Theory of Religion, Basil Blackwell, Oxford.
- Morgan, David L, 1988, Focus Groups as Qualitative Research, Sage Publications Inc, Thousand Oaks, California.
- Morgan, Douglas, 2001, Adventism and the American Pepublic: The Public Involvement of a Major Apocalyptic Morgan, The University of Tennessee Press, Knoxville, USA.
- Munoz, Ronaldo 1981, "Ecclesiology in Latin America," in eds Sergio Torres and John Eagleson, *The Challenge of Basic Christian Communities*, Orbis Books, Maryknoll, New York

- Naden, L C, 1943, "Seventh-day Adventists—non-combatants, not non-participants," Australasian Record, April 5, pages 2-3.
- Neff, Merlin L, 1944, "Science creates the superwar," Signs of the Times, July 10, page 3.
- Neff, Merlin L, 1939, "The interpretation of a king's dream of empires," Signs of the Times, April 24, pages 10-11.
- Negus, George, 1994, By George! Twenty Years Behind the Typewriter, ABC Book, Sydney.
- Neufeld, Don F, ed, 1996, Seventh-day Adventist Encyclopedia, Vols 1 and 2, Review and Herald Publishing Association, Hagerstown, Maryland.
- Nevell, Clive, 2003, "Rainy daze," Record, June 28, page 12.
- Neville, Richard, 1995, Hippie Hippie Shake: The Dreams, the Trips, the Trials, the Love-ins, the Screw Ups... the Sixties, Bloomsbury Publishing Plc, London.
- Neuendorf, Kimberly A, 2002, *The Content Analysis Guidebook*, Sage Publications, Thousand Oaks, California.
- Niebuhr, Richard H, 1996, Christ and Culture, HarperCollins Publishers, Inc, San Francisco.
- Niebuhr, Richard H, 1967 (1929), *The Social Sources of Denominationalism*, Meridian Books, The World Publishing Company, Cleveland, Ohio.
- Nijkamp, Peter, Leitner, Helga and Wrigley, Neil 1985, Mrasuring the Unmeasurable, Martinus Nijhoff Publishers (Published in cooperation with NATO Scientific Affairs Division), Dordrecht, Boston, Lancaster.
- Nijkamp, Peter and Wrigley, Neil 1985, "Developing trends in qualitative spatial data analysis," in eds Peter Nijkamp, Helga Leitner and Neil Wrigley, *Measuring the Unmeasurable*, Martinus Nijhoff Publishers (Published in cooperation with NATO Scientific Affairs Division), Dordrecht, Boston, Lancaster.
- Numbers, Ronald L, 1992, Prophetess of Health: Ellen G White and the Origins of Seventh-day Adventist Health Reform, revised edition, University of Tennessee Press.
- O'Connell, Brian 1976, Effective Leadership in Voluntary Organizations, Association Press, New York.
- O'Connor, P S, 1974, "The awkward ones—dealing with conscience, 1916-1918," New Zealand Journal of History, Vol 8, pages 118-36.

- Olds, Margaret, ed, 1993. Australia Through Time: 125 Years of Australian History, Random House Australia Pty Ltd, Sydney.
- Olson, A V, 1941, "Miraculous deliverances in Jugoslavia," Australasian Record, September 8, page 8.
- Olson, A V, 1940a, "Literature work in Europe," Australasian Record, August 5, page 8.
- Olson, A V, 1940b, "In war-torn Europe," Australasian Record, November 18, page 3.
- O'Neill, John, 1995, The Poverty of Postmodernism, Routledge, London.
- Osborne, Graeme and Lewis, Glen 1995, Communication Traditions in 20th Century Australia, Oxford University Press.
- Osborne, Paul, 2002, "From the secretary," ARPA Bulletin: Newsletter of the Australasian Religious Press Association, May, page 2.
- Ouspensky, Leonid, 1978, Theology of the Icon, St Vladimir's Seminary Press, Crestwood, New York.
- Palmer, E R, 1898, "General agents," Union Conference Record, March, vol 2, no 3, page 31.
- Parmenter, K S, 1980, "Meeting of the committee appointed to review the submissions of Dr D Ford," Australasian Record, July 14, page 1.
- Parmenter, K S, 1980a, "Ford document on sanctuary studied: variant views rejected," Australasian Record, September 8, page 3.
- Parmenter, K S, 1980b, "Wedges," Australasian Record, September 8, page 4.
- Parr, Robert H, 2003, interview, November 2.
- Parr, Robert H, 2000, interview, July 27.
- Parr, Robert H, 1972, "Gloria's glorious clanger," Good Health, September-October, page 26.
- Parr, Robert H, 1975a, "A cry in the night," Australasian Record, February 17, page 4.
- Parr, Robert H, 1975b, "The Year of the Woman," Australasian Record, March 17, page 4.
- Parsons, Talcott, 1965, "Introduction," in Max Weber, *The Sociology of Religion*, trans Ephraim Fischoff, Methuen & Co Ltd, London.
- Patton, Michael Quinn, 1980, Qualitative Evaluation Methods, Sage Publications, Beverly Hills, California.

- Patrick, Arthur N, 2003a, "Seminar in church history: Adventist studies," unpublished course outline, April 10.
- Patrick, Arthur N, 2003b, "Learning from Ellen White's perception and use of Scripture: Toward an Adventist hermeneutic for the twenty-first century," unpublished paper presented at the South Pacific Division Theological Conference, February, 2003.
- Patrick, Arthur N, 2003c, "Reflections on unfinished business: Ellen White, studies in historical perspective," unpublished paper, February 12.
- Patrick, Arthur N, 2002, "Ellen White, yesterday and today: understanding and affirming the ministry of the most creative Sabbatarian Adventist," unpublished paper, September 14.

- Patrick, Arthur N, 2002a, "Ellen White's antipodean exile, 1891-1900: reflections on her Australasian years," unpublished paper, October 25.
- Patrick, Arthur N, 2001, private correspondence, May 12.
- Patrick, Arthur N, 1987, "Seventh-day Adventist History in the South Pacific: A Review of Sources," *Journal of Religious History*, vol 14, pages 307-26.
- Patrick, Arthur N, 1986, "Doctrine and deed: Adventism's encounter with its society in nineteenth-century Australia," in ed Arthur J Ferch, Adventist History in the South Pacific: 1885-1918, Signs Publishing Company, Warburton, Vic.
- Patrick, Arthur N, 1984, "Ellen Gould White and the Australian Woman, 1891-1900," Master of Literature thesis, University of New England, Armidale, NSW.
- Pearson, Michael, 1990, Millennial Dreams and Moral Dilemmas: Seventh-day Adventists and Contemporary Ethics, Cambridge University Press, Cambridge.
- Peck, Janice, 1993, "Selling goods and selling God: Advertising, televangelism and the commodity form," *Journal of Communication Inquiry*, vol 17, no 1, Winter.
- Penton, M James, 1985, Apocalypse Delayed: The Story of Jehovah's Witnesses, University of Toronto Press, Canada.
- Petersen, Eugene H, 1994, "Foreword," in Michael Green and Paul R Stevens, New Testament Spirituality: True Discipleship and Spiritual Maturity, Eagle, Inter Publishing Service (IPS), Surrey, United Kingdom.
- Peterson, Adrian M, 1967, "Adventist pastor in the news," Australasian Record, November 27, page 1.
- Pfandl, Gerhard, 1998, "Is historicism dead?" Record, August 22, 1998, page 8.

- Phillips, Walter W, 1986, "The religious climate in Australia at the time of the arrival of the Seventh-day Adventist pioneers," in ed Arthur J Ferch, Adventist History in the South Pacific: 1885-1918, Signs Publishing Company, Warburton, Vic.
- Phillips, Walter, 1981, Defending "A Christian Country": Churchmen and Society in New South Wales in the 1880s and After, University of Queensland Press, St Lucia, Queensland.
- Pierson, Robert H, 1978, "An earnest appeal from the retiring president of the General Conference," *Adventist Review*, October 26, pages 10-11.

energy and the property of the

- Pierson, Robert H, 1977, "When the church is taken to court," *Adventist Review*, March 24, page 6.
- Plantak, Zdravko 1998, The Silent Church: Human Rights and Adventist Social Ethics, Macmillan Press Ltd, Great Britain.
- Pohler, Rolf J, 2000, Continuity and Change in Adventist Teaching: A Case Study in Doctrinal Development, Peter Lang, Frankfurt am Main, Germany.
- "Prophetic commentator," 1943, "Democracy and why no bombs on Rome's Vatican City and Italian churches," Signs of the Times, September 13, pages 5-6.
- Raethel, E A, 1971, "We 'tell it how it is' in the mission field," Australasian Record, June 7, pages 1, 4.
- Read, Herbert, 1955, Icon and Idea: The Function of Art in the Development of Human Consciousness, Faber and Faber, London.
- Reeves, Byron, Chaffee, Steven H and Tims, Albert, 1982, "Social cognition and mass media research," in eds Michael E Roloff and Charles R Berger, Social Cognition and Communication, Sage Publications Inc, California.
- Reichardt, Charles S and Cook Thomas D, 1979, "Beyond qualitative versus quantitative methods," in eds Thomas D Cook and Charles S Reichardt, Qualitative and Quantitative Methods in Evaluation Research, Sage Publications, Beverly Hills, California.
- Report of the Bilateral Conversations Between the Lutheran World Federation and the Seventh-day Adventist Church, 1994-1998, 1998, Adventist Review supplement, June 25.
- Reye, Arnold C, 1986, "Seventh-day Adventists and the 'Bible in Schools' campaign in Victoria and New Zealand," in ed Arthur J Ferch, Adventist History in the South Pacific: 1885-1918, Signs Publishing Company, Warburton, Vic.
- Rice, Richard, 2003, Believing, Behaving, Belonging, The Association of Adventist Forums, Roseville, California.

- Robbins, Thomas and Palmer, Susan J, 1997, "Introduction" in eds Robbins, Thomas and Palmer, Susan J, Millennium, Messiahs, and Mayhem, Routledge, London.
- Robertson, Roland 1967, "The Salvation Army: The persistence of sectarianism," in ed Bryan R Wilson, Patterns of Sectarianism: Organisation and Ideology in Social and Religious Movements, Heinemann, London.
- Robinson, John A T, 1963, *Honest to God*, SCM Press Ltd, printed at Griffin Press, Adelaide.
- Roenfelt, E E, 1939, "The present crisis," Australasian Record, September 18, page 7.
- Roof, Wade Clark, 1994, A Generation of Seekers: The Spiritual Journeys of the Baby Boom Generation, HarperCollins, San Francisco.

- Rosen, Jay, 2002, "Community connectedness: Passwords for public journalism," in ed Roy Peter Clark and Cole C Campbell, *The Values and Craft of American Journalism*, University Press of Florida, Gainesville, Florida, pages 116-22.
- Roten, Johann G, 1994, "The Marian counterpoint of postmodern spirituality," in ed Ann W Astell, *Divine Representations: Postmodernism and Spirituality*, Paulist Press, New Jersey.
- Rowe, David L, 1987, "Millerites: A shadow portrait," in eds Ronald L Numbers and Jonathan M Butler, *The Disappointed: Millerism and Millenarianism in the Nineteenth Century*, Indiana University Press, Bloomington and Indianapolis.
- Rowe, David L, 1985, Thunder and Trumpets: Millerites and Dissenting Religion in Upstate New York, 1800-1850, Scholars Press, Chico, California.
- Rubin, Jerry, 1970, "Do it!" in eds Judith Clavir Albert and Stewart Edward Albert, 1984, The Sixties Papers: Documents of a Rebellious Decade, Praeger, New York.
- Rudge, E B, 1945, "President's opening address," Australasian Record, October 1, pages 2-3.
- Rudge, E B and Adair, R H, 1942, "Shall we go forward?" Australasian Record, January 5, page 1.
- Russell, Anthony, 1986, "Sociology and the study of spirituality in eds Cheslyn Jones, Geoffrey Wainwright and Edward Yarnold, *The Study of Spirituality*, SPCK, London, pages 33-38.
- Salom, Alwyn P, 2002, The Seventh-day Adventist Church in Australia, Christian Research Association, Kew, Vic.
- Salom, Alwyn P, 1996, "Church census shows the reality," Record, March 9.

- Sandeen, Ernest R, 1974, "Millennialism," in ed Edwin S Gaustad, The Rise of Adventism: Religion and Society in Mid-Nineteenth-Century America, Harper and Row, New York.
- Sandeen, Ernest R, 1970, The Roots of Fundamentalism: British and American Millenarianism 1800-1930, The University of Chicago Press, Chicago and London.
- Sanders, Clinton R, 1980, "Rope burns: Impediments to the achievement of basic comfort early in the field research experience," in eds William B Shaffir, Robert A Stebbins and Allan Turowetz, Fieldwork Experience: Qualitative Approaches to Social Research, St Martin's Press, New York.
- Sarantakos, Sotirios, 1993, Social Research, Macmillan Education Australia Pty Ltd, South Melbourne, Vic.
- Sartre, Jean-Paul, 1981, What is Literature? (trans) Bernard Frechtman, Methuen & Co Ltd, Great Britain.
- Sassen, Saskia 1991, The Global City, Princeton University Press, Princeton, New Jersey.
- Schirato, Tony and Yell, Susan, 2000, Communication and Cultural Literacy, Allen and Unwin, St Leonards, NSW.
- Schudson, Michael, 1992, "The sociology of news production revisited" in eds James Curran and Michael Gurevitch, *Mass Media and Society*, Edward Arnold, London.
- Schwartz, Gary, 1970, Sect Ideologies and Social Status, The University of Chicago Press, Chicago.
- Schwarz, R W, 1979, Light Bearers to the Remnant: Denominational History Textbook for Seventh-day Adventist College Classes, Pacific Press Publishing Association, Nampa, Idaho.
- Scragg, Walter, 1999, interview, May 27.
- Seibel, Wolfgang, 1990, "Organizational behavior and organizational function: Toward a micro-macro theory of the third sector," in eds Helmut K Anheier and Wolfgang Seibel, *The Third Sector: Comparative Studies of Nonprofit Organizations*, Walter de Gruyter, Berlin.
- Selznick, Philip 1996, "In search of community," in eds William Vitek and Wes Jackson, Rooted in the Land: Essays on Community and Place, Yale University Press, New Haven.
- Seventh-day Adventists Answer Questions on Doctrine, 1957, Review and Herald Publishing Association, Washington, DC.

- Seventh-day Adventist Church Manual, 1995, General Conference of Seventh-day Adventists, Review and Herald Publishing Association, Hagerstown, Maryland, USA.
- Severin, Werner J and Tankard, James W, 1992, Communication Theories: Origins, Methods, and Uses in the Mass Media, Longman, London.
- Shaffer, Carolyn R and Anundsen, Kristin 1993, Creating Community Anywhere: Finding Support and Connection in a Fragmented World, Jeremy P Tarcher/Putman Book published by G P Putman's Sons, New York.
- Siebert, Fred S, Theodore Peterson and Wilbur Schramm, 1963, Four Theories of the Press, Chicago, University of Illinois Press.

The state of the s

- Silverman, David, 1993, Interpreting Qualitative Data: Methods for Analysing Talk, Text and Interaction, Sage Publications, London.
- Silverman, David, 1985, Qualitative Methodology and Sociology: Describing the Social World, Gower Publishing Company Limited, Aldershot, England.
- Sinclair, John 1993, "Advertising" in eds Stuart Cunningham and Graeme Turner, *The Media in Australia: Industries, Texts, Audiences, Allen and Unwin, St Leonards, Australia.*
- Sinclair, John, 1987, Images Incorporated: Advertising as Industry and Ideology, Croom Helm, London.
- Singleton, Jr, Royce A, Straits, Bruce C and Straits, Margaret Miller, 1993, Approaches to Social Research, second edition, Oxford University Press, New York.
- Skomial, Marcin, 2002, "Wired students prefer campus news on paper," New York Times, April 19 http://www.nytimes.com/2002/08/19/technology/19PAPE.html?todaysheadlines.
- Smith, Leon A, 1940, "Behind the scenes of the world drama," Signs of the Times, 1940, pages 1-2.
- Smith, Mary Lee 1994, "Qualitative plus/versus quantitative: The last word" in eds Charles S Reichardt and Sharon F Railis, *The Qualitative-Quantitative Debate:* New Perspectives, Jossey-Bass Publishers, San Francisco, 1994.
- Snowhill, Lucia, 2001, "E-books and their future in academic libraries," *D-Lib Magazine*, July-August, http://www.dlib.org/dlib/julyo1/snowhill/07snowhill.html.
- South New Zealand Conference, 1941, "Encouraging progress," Australasian Record, August 18, page 4.
- Spectrum team report, 1999, "The Kanaka Valley tragedy," Spectrum, Spring, pages 58-67.

- Spencer, Lloyd, 1999, "Postmodernism, modernity, and the tradition of dissent," in ed Stuart Sim, *The Icon Critical Dictionary of Postmodern Thought*, Icon Books, Cambridge, Great Britain.
- Sperring, H, 1980, "Dare to be a Daniel," Australasian Record, January 28, page 16.
- Stake, Robert E. 1995, *The Art of Case Study Research*, Sage Publications Inc, Thousand Oaks, California.
- Stamm, Keith R, 1985, Newspaper Use and Community Ties: Toward a Dynamic Theory, Ablex Publishing Corporation, USA.
- Standish, Colin D, 1973, "The youth crisis," Australasian Record, December 3, page 5.
- Standish, Russell R, 2001, "The Concerned Brethren speak out," *The Remnant Herald*, February, pages 950-2.
- Stark, Rodney and Bainbridge, William Sims, 1987, A Theory of Religion, Peter Lang, New York.
- Stark, Rodney and Bainbridge, William Sims, 1985, *The Future of Religion:* Secularization, Revival and Cult Formation, University of California Press, Berkeley, California.
- Stark, Rodney and Bainbridge, William Sims, 1979, "Of churches, sects and cults: Preliminary concepts for a theory of religious movements," *Journal for the Scientific Study of Religion*, vol 18, no 2, pages 117-133.
- Stark, Rodney and Glock, Charles Y, 1974, American Piety: The Nature of Religious Commitment, University of California Press, Berkeley and Los Angeles.
- Steley, Dennis, 1986, "Advances and reversals in Polynesia: 1890-1918," in ed Arthur J Ferch, Adventist History in the South Pacific: 1815-1918, Signs Publishing Company, Vic.
- Stewart, A G, 1945a, "Will the church control our politics?" Signs of the Times, February 19, pages 1, 3.
- Stewart, A G, 1945b, "Thy brother's blood crieth," Signs of the Times, July 2, pages 4-5.
- Stewart, A. G., 1945c, "A little time of peace," Australasian Record, May 28, pages 1.
- Storrs, George, 1844, "Come out of her, my people," *The Midnight Cry*, February 15, pages 237-238.
- Sudman, Seymour, Bradburn, Norman M, and Schwarz, Norbert, 1996, *Thinking About Answers: The Application of Cognitive Processes to Survey Methodology*, Jersey Bass Publishers, San Francisco, USA.

- Tacey, David, 2003, The Spiritual Revolution: The Emergence of Contemporary Spirituality, HarperCollins Publishers, Sydney.
- Tacey, David, 2000, Re-enchantment: The New Australian Spirituality, HarperCollins Publishers, Sydney.
- Tall, Deborah 1996, "Dweiling: Making peace with space and place," in eds William Vitek and Wes Jackson, Rooted in the Land: Essays on Community and Place, Yale University Press, New Haven.
- Technology Review, 2003, "Paper speeds video access," Technology Research News, March 4, http://www.technologyreview.com/articles/rnb-030403_2.asp
- Thiele, Edwin R, 1941, "The wicked cannot win," Signs of the Times, September 8, pages 7-8.
- Thirty nine, 1980, "An open letter to President Wilson," Spectrum, November, vol 11, no 2, pages 61-2.
- Thomas, Edward L, 1945, "Objector to war saves 75 in midst of battle," Signs of the Times, November 5, page 5.
- Thomlinson, Ralph, 1965, Sociological Concepts and Research: Acquisition. Analysis, and interpretation of Social Information, Random House, New York.
- Thompson, John B, 1995, *The Media and Modernity: A Social Theory of the Media,* Stanford University Press, Stanford, California.
- Thrift, R A R, 1944, "A rousing call to evangelism," Australasian Record, July 17, pages 1-2.
- "Tide turning, The," 1844, The Advent Herald and Signs of the Times Reporter, December 11, page 141.
- Tiffen, Rodney, 1993, "The press" in eds Stuart Cunningham and Graeme Turner, The Media in Australia: Industries, Texts, Audiences, Allen & Unwin, Australia.
- Tinder, Glenn E, 1980, Community: Reflections on a Tragic Ideal, Louisiana State University Press, Baton Rouge.
- Tinker, Colleen Moore, 1999, "Folkenberg business details revealed," Adventist Today, March-April, pages 22, 24.
- Tonnies, Ferdinand, 1959, Community and Association (Gemeinschaft und Gesellschaft), trans Charles P Loomis, Routledge and Kegan Paul, London.
- Townend, M G and Jackson, L F, 1986, "South Pacific Record: A survey of opinion" unpublished survey.

- Townend, M G, 1974, "The ordination of women," Australasian Record, January 14, pages 6-7.
- Trenoweth, Samantha, 1996, The Future of God: Personal Adventures in Spirituality with Thirteen of Today's Eminent Thinkers, Millennium Books, Australia.
- Trim, John B, 1986, "The origin and development of Adventist health work," in ed Arthur J Ferch, Adventist History in the South Pacific: 1885-1918, Signs Publishing Company, Warburton, Vic.
- Troeltsch, Ernst, 1981 (1911), *The Social Teaching of the Christian Churches*, vol 1, trans Olive Wyon, The University of Chicago Press, Chicago.
- Troeltsch, Ernst 1960, (1911), The Social Teaching of the Christian Churches, vol 2, trans Olive Wyon, Harper Torchbooks, Harper and Rowe Publishers, New York
- Unknown, 1945, "Three missing men now reported lost," Australasian Record, November 19, page 5.
- Unknown, 1943, "Living a spiritual life," Australasian Record, April 26, page 6; May 3, page 6.
- Urquhart, Edward J, 1939, "The Philippines: An Asiatic danger zone," Signs of the Times, March 13, pages 1-2.
- Utley, T E, 1963, "Some reviews," in ed David L Edwards, *The Honest to God Debate*, SCM Press Ltd, London.
- Utt, Walter C, 1980, "Journalistic fairness?" Spectrum, November, vol 11, no 2, pages 63-4.
- Valentine, Gilbert M, 1980, "A difficult question," Australasian Record, April 21, pages 13-4.
- Vance, Laura L, 1999, Seventh-day Adventism in Crisis: Gender and Sectarian Change in an Emerging Religion, University of Illinois Press, Urbana and Chicago.
- Vance, Murl, 1939, "In time of storm," Signs of the Times, November 27, pages 1-2.
- Van Horne, John 1977, "Why did church lawyers use hierarchy language," *Spectrum*, vol 9, no 22, pages 23-29.
- Vaughn, Sharon, Schumm, Jeanne Shay and Sinagub, Jane 1996, Focus Group Interviews in Education and Psychology, Sage Publications Inc, Thousand Oaks, California.
- Waddell, John, 1980, "An interesting comparison," Australasian Record, December 22, pages 12-3.

- Waggoner, J H, 1874, "A necessity and a success," *The True Missionary*, vol 1, no 12, page 96.
- Wallace, John 1990, "Towards an Australian press policy," in ed John Henningham, Issues in Australian Journalism, Longman Cheshire, Melbourne.
- Warren, L Donald, 1941, "Behind the shadows—God" Signs of the Times, February 10, pages 1-2.
- Warren, L Donald, 1940, "Democracy—shall it stand or fall?" Signs of the Times, January 8, pages 1-2, 13.
- Watson, C H, 1940, "A call for loyalty in the present crisis," Australasian Record, July 1, pages 1-3.
- Weber, Max, 1985 (1930), The Protestant Ethic and the Spirit of Capitalism, trans Talcott Parsons, Unwin Paperbacks, London.
- Weber, Max, 1968, Economy and Society: An Outline of Interpretive Sociology, eds Guenther Roth and Clause Wittich, vols 1-3, Bedminster Press, New York.
- Weber, Max, 1965 (1922), *The Sociology of Religion*, trans Ephraim Fischoff, Methuen & Co Ltd, London.
- Webster, L A J, 1981, "Back to the foundations," Australasian Record, March 16, page 13.
- Wellman, Barry, Carrington, Peter J and Hall, Alan, 1000, "Networks as personal communities," in eds Wellman, Barry and Berkowitz, S D, Social Structures: A Network Approach, Cambridge University Press, New York.
- Were, LF, 1942, "Hitler and Japan will crash—why?" Signs of the Times, May 4, pages 4-6.
- Wernick, Andrew, 1991, Promotional Culture: Advertising, Ideology and Symbolic Expression, Sage Publications Ltd, London.
- Westergaard, John, 1977, "Power, class and the media," in eds James Curran, Michael Gurevitch and Janet Woollacott, Mass Communication and Society, Edward Arnold P. Llishers Ltd, London.
- White, Ellen G. 1985, Selected Messages: From the Writings of Ellen G. White, book 1, Review and Herald Publishing Association, Washington, DC.
- White, Ellen G, 1983, *The Publishing Ministry*, Review and Herald Publishing Association, Washington, DC.
- White, Ellen G, 1970 (1946), Evangelism, Review and Herald Publishing Association, Washington, DC.

- White, Ellen G, 1958, Selected Messages, book 2, Review and Herald Publishing Association, Washington, DC.
- White, Ellen G, 1950, The Great Controversy Between Christ and Satan, Pacific Press Publishing Association, Mountain View, California.
- White, Ellen G, 1948, Testimonies for the Church, vol 1, Pacific Press Publishing Association, Mountain View, California.
- White, Ellen G, 1946, Counsels to Writers and Editors, Southern Publishing Association, Nashville, Tennessee.
- White, Ellen G, 1923, Fundamentals of Christian Education: Instruction for the Home, the School and the Church, Southern Publishing Association, Nashville, Tennessee.
- White, Ellen G, 1915, Life Sketches of Ellen G White, Pacific Press Publishing Association, Mountain View, California.
- White, Ellen G, 1905, "Notes of travel—No 2: Moline and Battle Creek," *Review and Herald*, January 26, pages 8-9.
- White, Ellen G, 1903, "An open letter from Mrs Ellen G White to all who love the blessed hope," Review and Herald, January 20, pages 14-15.
- White, Ellen G, 1903a, Manuscript 11, 1903.
- White, Ellen G, 1902, Testimonies for the Church, vol. 7, copyright 1948, Pacific Press Publishing Association, Mountain View, California.
- White, Ellen G, 1902a, Letter 212, 1902.
- White, Ellen G, 1900, letter to W W Prescott, February 17.
- White, Ellen G, 1899, General Conference Daily Bulletin, March 2.
- White, Ellen G, 1899a, "Angels supervising the work," Bible Echo and Signs of the Times, September 18, page 5.
- White, Ellen G, 1899b, "The school and its work," Australasian Union Conference Record, July 2, pages 8-9.
- White, Ellen G, 1899c, "Communication addressed to the shareholder's meeting," Bible Echo and Signs of the Times, September 18, pages 9-11.
- White, Ellen G, 1899d, Manuscript 54, 1899.
- White, Ellen G, 1898, "Week of Prayer in Australia—No 1," Review and Herald, September 27, pages 1-2.

- White, Ellen G, 1898b, Letter to Brethren Irwin, Evans, Smith and Jones, April 21.
- White, Ellen G, 1898c, "The Echo office and commercial work," March 31, Manuscript 47, 1898.
- White, Ellen G, 1897, Letter to "Dear Brother Colcord," February 28.
- White, Ellen G, 1896, Letter 128, 1896.
- White, Ellen G, 1893, "The need of trained workers," Review and Herald, February 14, pages 1-2.
- White, Ellen G, 1892, Excerpts from diary, July 6-13, July 10.
- White, Ellen G, 1882, Early Writings, Review and Herald Publishing Association, Washington, DC.
- White, Elien G, 1882a, "Will a man rob God?" Review and Herald, May 16, pages 1-2.
- White, Ellen G, 1878, "Holiday presents," Review and Herald, November 21, pages 199-200.
- White, Ellen G, 1875, "A remarkable dream," Review and Herald, November 4, pages 167-8.
- White, Ellen G, 1849, "Dear Brethren and Sisters," The Present Truth, August, pages 21-2.
- White, H, 1944, "Liberation," Australasian Record, June 26, page 1.
- White, James, 1857, "The judgment," The Review and Herald, January 29, pages 100-1.
- White, James, 1852a, "Call at the *Harbinger* office," *The Review and Herald*, February 17, pages 94-5.
- White, James, 1852b, "The Review and Herald," The Review and Herald, March 2, page 104.
- White, James 1849, letter to Brother Bowles, November 8.
- Wilcox, F M, 1942, "Be of good cheer . . . be not afraid," Australasian Record, March 16, page 1.
- Williams, Rowan, 1982, "Authority and the bishop in the church," in ed Mark Santer, Their Lord and Ours: Approaches to Authority, Community and the Unity of the Church, SPCK, London.
- Williamson, Judith, 1978, Decoding Advertisements: Ideology and Meaning in Advertising, Marion Boyers, London.

- Williamson, Judith, 1986, Consuming Passions: The Dynamics of Popular Culture, Marion Boyers Publishers, Great Britain.
- Willmott, Peter, 1986, Social Networks Informal Care and Public Policy, Policy Studies Institute, London.
- Wilson, Bryan R, 1990, The Social Dimensions of Sectarianism: Sects and New Religious Movements in Contemporary Society, Clarendon Press, Oxford.
- Wilson, Bryan R, 1982, Religion in Sociological Perspective, Oxford University Press, Oxford.
- Wilson, Bryan R, 1975a, "Sect or denomination: Can Adventism retain its identity?" Spectrum, Spring, pages 34-43.
- Wilson, Bryan R, 1975b, Magic and the Millernium, Granada Publishing Limited, St Albans, Great Britain.
- Wilson, Bryan R, 1966, Religion in Secular Society: A Social Comment, C A Watts & Co Ltd, London.
- Windschuttle, Keith, 1987, The Media: A New Analysis of the Press, Television, Radio and Advertising in Australia, Penguin Books, Ringwood.
- Wolf, Jacquelyn, 1990, "Managing change in nonprofit organisations," in eds David L Gies, J Steven Ott and Jay M Shafritz, The Nonprofit Organization: Essential Readings, Brooks/Cole Publishing Company, Pacific Grove, California.
- Wolf, Thomas 1984, *The Nonprofit Organization: An Operating Manual*, Prentice-Hall, Inc, Englewood Cliffs, New Jersey.
- Wolfgramm, Robert, 1983, Charismatic Delegitimation in a Sect: Ellen White and Her Critics, MA thesis, Chisholm Institute of Technology, Melbourne.
- Wolfsom, Nessa, 1976, "Speech events and natural speech: Some inclinations for the sociological methodology," *Language in Society*, Number 5.
- Wood, K. H., 1980a, "Postscript by the editor, Adventist Review," in "Overview of a historic meeting," insert in Australasian Record, September 8, page 3.
- Wood, K H, 1980b, "Further information," insert in Australasian Record, December 8.
- World Council of Churches, 1973, "So much in common: Documents of interest in the conversations between the World Council of Churches and the Seventh-day Adventist Church," Geneva.
- Wuthnow, Robert, 1998, After Heaven: Spirituality in America Since the 1950s, University of California Press, Ltd, Berkeley, California.

- Yin, Robert K, 1989, Case Study Research: Design and Methods, Sage Publications, Newbury Park, California.
- Yinger, Milton J, 1967, Religion, Society and the Individual: An Introduction to the Sociology of Religion, The Macmillan Company, New York.
- Yob, Iris, 1975, "The four hearts of a woman," Australasian Record, July 21, pages 6-7.
- "Younger generation member," 1970, "A young man in search of answers," Australasian Record, December 7, page 1.
- Zito, George V, 1976, Methodology and Meanings: Varieties of Sociological Inquiry, Praeger Publishers, New York.